

The Epidemiology of HIV Infection Among People Who Inject Drugs in the Middle East and North Africa

GHINA RIAD MOUMTAZ

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of London

2017

Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology

Faculty of Epidemiology and Population Health

LONDON SCHOOL OF HYGIENE & TROPICAL MEDICINE

Co-funded by the Qatar National Research Fund

Research group affiliation(s): MRC Tropical Epidemiology Group

STATEMENT OF OWN WORK

I, Ghina Riad Moumtaz, confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis.

Signed: Thinking Date: January 10, 2017

ABSTRACT

This thesis aims to address a major knowledge gap in understanding the epidemiology of HIV infection among people who inject drugs (PWID) in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) by 1) assessing HIV epidemic state, 2) estimating HIV epidemic potential using hepatitis C virus (HCV) prevalence, and 3) estimating HIV incidence and impact of interventions on incidence. Methods included systematic review and data synthesis, mathematical modelling, and ecological analysis of systematic review data.

There was evidence of HIV epidemics among PWID in at least one-third of countries, most being emerging concentrated epidemics with HIV prevalence of about 10-15%. The overall high injecting risk environment suggests potential for further spread.

Mathematical modelling indicated, across a range of HCV prevalence, overall acceptable precision in predicting endemic HIV prevalence among PWID. Ecological analysis on PWID MENA data also indicated a positive, statistically significant association between HCV and HIV endemic prevalence. Of nine MENA countries with data, five have high and three medium HIV epidemic potential, based on current HCV prevalence.

The estimated HIV incidence rate among PWID ranged between 0.7% per person-year (ppy) and 7.8% ppy. Further, substantial number of HIV infections in the general population were estimated to be due to the dynamics of injecting drug use, namely among ex-PWID and sexual partners of current/ex-PWID. It was predicted that scale-up of antiretroviral therapy and harm reduction services could avert up to 90% and 70% of incident infections among PWID and their sexual partners, respectively.

In conclusion, this thesis identified recent emerging HIV epidemics with high HIV incidence rates among PWID in multiple MENA countries. A novel method for estimating HIV epidemic potential using current HCV prevalence was demonstrated. In MENA, further HIV epidemic growth among PWID is predicted in most countries. Scale-up of HIV/drug interventions is needed to halt the growing epidemics.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This PhD would not have been possible without the help of many individuals and organizations, each of whom contributed to it in their own way, and to whom I am truly grateful.

First and foremost, to my supervisor, Helen Weiss, for her unlimited support and flexibility, trust, thought-provoking questions, and wise guidance over the past five years. I am very fortunate to have gotten the chance, not only to learn from a great scientist and researcher, but also to discover the wonderful person that she is. To my co-supervisor and mentor at the Infectious Disease Epidemiology Group at the Weill Cornell Medical College in Qatar, Laith Abu-Raddad, for believing in me and giving me golden opportunities; for his generosity and unlimited patience, support, and flexibility; and for his willingness to answer questions and solve problems at any time, always with an open heart and mind.

To members of my advisory committee, Sara Thomas, Philippe Mayaud, and Natasha Larke, for their technical advice, rich discussions, and guidance; and to Jenny Fleming for her kind administrative support throughout the PhD.

To all my colleagues and friends, past and present, at the Infectious Disease Epidemiology Group for their help and support; and particularly to Hiam Chemaitelly, Susanne Awad, Silva Kouyoumjian, and Yousra Mohamoud for their friendship, encouragement, and all the good times we had at the office; and to Adona Canlas whose prompt assistance in administrative issues has been a time and life saver. To the Weill Cornell Medical College in Qatar for supporting me in my professional development and in fulfilling my dreams, and to the Qatar National Research Fund for funding this research work.

On a personal note, I am profoundly thankful to my sisters, Nada and Youmna, for reminding me that I can do it, and for always supporting me, each in her own way; to my uncle Saad and aunt Joyce for their unconditional love and warmth; to uncle Abdulrahman, aunt Rajiha, and Dima for their encouragement and understanding; to Lenka for her friendship and support; and to Diala, simply for being the special friend that she is. I am deeply grateful to Desta and Mezeret for being part of our family and for their support with the twins; I would not have been able to do it without them. To my dear husband Mazen, for his love, continuous support, and patience throughout this journey; for being my audience in all of my mock presentations at home, listening intently, and always finding interesting questions to ask; and for always comforting my worries, encouraging me, and helping me make this happen. And to my beautiful children, Abdulrahman and Noura, who surely took this challenge to a different level, but at the same time brought so much joy to the process. Their presence meant that, even in the midst of deadlines and crazy times, there was always room for play, fun, and lots of hugs and kisses.

Last but not least, I cannot express how grateful and thankful I am to my beloved parents, Riad and Zeina, who instilled in me the love of education, gave me unlimited love and support, and were the best role models. Without them, I would not have accomplished any of what I did to date; I dedicate this PhD to them.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

STATEMENT OF OWN WORK	. 2
ABSTRACT	. 3
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	. 4
TABLE OF CONTENTS	. 6
LIST OF TABLES	. 8
LIST OF FIGURES	10
ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS	13

1.	INTRO	DUCTION	14
1.1.	MENA (definition	14
1.2.	Overall	aim and objectives	15
1.3.	Backgro	ound	16
	1.3.1.	Global epidemiology of injecting drug use and associated HIV and HCV infection burden	17
	1.3.2.	HIV and HCV epidemiological links among PWID	17
	1.3.3.	Overview of prevention interventions among PWID	18
	1.3.4.	Context of risk and vulnerability in MENA	20
	1.3.5.	Understanding of HIV epidemiology in MENA	21
	1.3.6.	Context of HIV response in MENA	22
1.4.	Thesis s	structure and research papers outline	23
1.5.	Role of	candidate	25

2.	HIV EPIDEMIOLOGY AMONG PWID IN MENA	27
2.1.	Introduction	27
2.2.	Epidemic state classification	27
2.3.	Research paper 1 – systematic review and data synthesis	32
2.4.	Supplementary online material outline	65
2.5.	Summary of findings	66

3.1.	Introduction	67
3.2.	Research paper 2 - mathematical modelling study	68

3.3.	Supplementary online material outline	88
3.4.	Summary of findings	89

4.	HCV AS A PREDCITOR OF HIV EPIDEMIC POTENTIAL AMONG PWID: APPLIED ECOLOGICAL	
	ANALYSIS IN MENA	90
4.1.	Introduction	90
4.2.	Research paper 3 – ecological analysis	91
4.3.	Supplementary online material outline	104
4.4.	Summary of findings	105

5.	HIV INCIDENCE AMONG PWID IN MENA	106
5.1.	Introduction	106
5.2.	Updated risk group size estimates and HIV IBBSS prevalence data	107
5.3.	Research paper 4 - mathematical modelling study	109
5.4.	Supplementary online material outline	138
5.5.	Summary of findings	139

6.	DISCUS	SION 1	140
6.1.	Summa	ry of findings1	140
	6.1.1.	HIV epidemiology among PWID in MENA1	140
	6.1.2.	Theoretical and ecological explorations of the HCV-HIV association among PWID	I
			147
6.2.	Policy a	nd programming recommendations1	149
6.3.	Researc	h paper 5 - viewpoint	153
6.4.	Recomr	nendations for future research1	158
6.5.	Main sc	ientific contributions of thesis1	161
7.	REFERE	NCES 1	164

8.	APPENDICES	174
8.1.	Appendix A – Research paper 1 supplementary online material	175
8.2.	Appendix B – Research paper 2 supplementary online material	230
8.3.	Appendix C – Research paper 3 supplementary online material	244
8.4.	Appendix D – Research paper 4 supplementary online material	255

LIST OF TABLES

There are two numbering systems for tables. Each research paper has its own independent numbering with the format "Table X", while a table in all other parts of the thesis has the format "Table Chapter number. X"

List of tables in chapters of the thesis

Table 2.1. HIV epidemic states definitions among people who inject drugs.	29
Table 5.1. Updated national estimates of the number and prevalence of people who inject of	drugs
in the Middle East and North Africa.	108
Table 6.1. Summary of key thesis findings: HIV prevalence, incidece, epidemic state, and	
epidemic potential among people who inject drugs at country-level in the Middle East and	
North Africa.	142
Table 6.2. State of needle and syringe programs and opioid substitution therapy programs i	n
Middle East and North Africa countries, 2014.	150

List of tables in Research paper 1

Table 1. Summary of the HIV biological evidence per country.	40
Table 2. National estimates of the number and prevalence of people who inject drugs in	
the Middle East and North Africa as extracted from included reports.	42
Table 3. HIV prevalence among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North	
Africa as extracted from reports included in the systematic review.	43
Table 4. Contribution of injecting drug use as a mode of HIV transmission to the total	
HIV/AIDS cases by country as per various studies/reports and countries' case notification	
reports.	50
Table 5. Characterization of the state of the HIV epidemic among people who inject	
drugs in the Middle East and North Africa based on the HIV biological data and quality	
and scope of the evidence.	51
Table 6. Prevalence of hepatitis C virus (HCV) among people who inject drugs in the	
Middle East and North Africa.	54

List of tables in Research paper 2

Table 1. Description of the dynamical regimes of the overlapping epidemiology of HCV	
and HIV infections among people who inject drugs.	80
Table 2. Effect of behavioral uncertainty on HCV predictions of HIV epidemic scale by	
HCV/HIV epidemiological regime.	81
Table 3. Illustration of the threshold effects in Afghanistan.	83

List of tables in Research paper 3

Table 1. Pooled risk ratio of HCV to HIV prevalence among PWID in MENA.	98
Table 2. Multivariable linear regression models predicting log of HIV among PWID in	
MENA, stratified by HIV epidemic state among PWID.	99
Table 3. Estimated HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium among PWID in MENA.	100

List of tables in Research paper 4

Table 1. Model assumptions in terms of parameter values.	115
Table 2. HIV infection estimations among people who inject drugs and their	
heterosexual sex partners in the Middle East and North Africa.	121
Table 3. Number and proportion of HIV infections averted due to select interventions in	
comparison with baseline (current year) estimations of incidence among people who	
inject drugs and their heterosexual sex partners in the Middle East and North Africa.	122

LIST OF FIGURES

There are two numbering systems for figures. Each research paper has its own independent numbering with the format "Figure X", while a figure in all other parts of the thesis has the format "Figure Chapter number. X"

List of figures in chapters of the thesis

Figure 1.1. Map of the Middle and North Africa.	14	
Figure 2.1. Flow chart of the classification of HIV epidemic states among people who inject		
drugs in the Middle East and North Africa.	28	
Figure 2.2. HIV epidemic states in a prototype key population at increased risk.	30	
Figure 2.3. Data synthesis of the multiple lines of evidence for characterizing the status of th	e	
HIV epidemic among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa.	31	
Figure 6.1. Distribution of countries by HIV epidemic state among people who inject drugs.	141	
Figure 6.2. Summary of HIV epidemic potential among people who inject drugs in the Middle	5	
East and North Africa as predicted using HCV prevalence levels.	145	
Figure 6.3. Summary of the overlapping epidemiology of HCV and HIV infections among peop	ple	
who inject drugs. The figures displays the different dynamical regimes and the HCV thresholds		
for sustainable and concentrated HIV epidemics.	147	

List of figures in Research paper 1

Figure 1. Map of the Middle East and North Africa region.	37
Figure 2. PRISMA flow chart of study selection in the systematic search.	39
Figure 3. Trend of HIV prevalence among male people who inject drugs in Iran and	
Pakistan.	52
Figure 4. Trend of HIV prevalence among people who inject drugs, and when available	
men who have sex with men, in repeated rounds of bio-behavioral surveillance surveys.	53

List of figures in Research paper 2

Figure 1. HCV mathematical model description, equations, and parameter definitions.	73
Figure 2. HIV mathematical model description, equations, and parameter definitions.	74

Figure 3. Relationship between HCV and HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium among	
people who inject drugs, and model fitting to the segmented linear regression statistical	
model that summarizes the global epidemiological data.	76
Figure 4. Sensitivity analyses on the HCV threshold for sustainable HIV epidemic (HIV	
prevalence >1).	77
Figure 5. Sensitivity analyses on the HCV threshold for concentrated HIV epidemic (HIV	
prevalence >5).	78
Figure 6. Estimated HCV thresholds for sustainable and concentrated HIV epidemic	
among people who inject drugs.	79
Figure 7. Epidemiological overlap between HCV and HIV infections among people who	
inject drugs.	79
Figure 8. Effect of behavioral uncertainty on the HCV predictability of HIV epidemic	
expansion.	80
Figure 9. Representative stochastic simulations of HIV epidemic expansion at different	
HCV endemic prevalence levels among people who inject drugs in Iran, and comparison	
with epidemiological data.	81

List of figures in Research paper 3

Figure 1. Mathematical modeling simulation of an HIV epidemic expansion among a	
prototype people who inject drugs population.	96
Figure 2. Sample selection process.	97

List of figures in Research paper 4

Figure 1. HIV transmission pathways in the population arising from injecting drug use.	117
Figure 2. Effect of expanding antiretroviral therapy coverage on HIV incidence among	
people who inject drugs and their heterosexual sex partners in the Middle East and	
North Africa.	123
Figure 3. Effect of two comprehensive intervention packages on HIV incidence among	
people who inject drugs and their heterosexual sex partners in all seven Middle East and	
North Africa countries.	125

List of figures in Research paper 5

Figure 1. Median HCV prevalence among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa as per available studies.

156

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

ART	Antiretroviral therapy
FSW	Female sex worker
GBD	Global Burden of Disease
HCV	Hepatitis C virus
IBBSS	Integrated bio-behavioural surveillance survey(s)
IQR	Interquartile range
КР	Key population at increased risk
MENA	Middle East and North Africa
MSM	Men who have sex with men
NGO	Non-governmental organization
NSP	Needle and syringe programmes
OPT	Occupied Palestinian Territories
<i>OR_{HCV/HIV}</i>	Odds ratio of HCV prevalence to HIV prevalence
OST	Opioid substitution therapy
PLHIV	People living with HIV/AIDS
рру	Per person year
PWID	People/person who inject(s) drugs
ROB	Risk of bias
<i>RR_{HCV/HIV}</i>	Risk ratio of HCV prevalence to HIV prevalence
STI	Sexually transmitted infection
UI	Uncertainty interval
UNAIDS	Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS
WHO	World Health Organization
WHO/EMRO	Eastern Mediterranean Region Office of the World Health Organization

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. MENA DEFINITION

The definition of the boundaries of the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) varies between different regional and international organizations. In this thesis, MENA includes countries that are part of the MENA definitions of all three United Nations agencies leading most HIV/AIDS efforts in the region; the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), the Eastern Mediterranean Region Office of the World Health Organization (WHO/EMRO), and the World Bank. Since the goal of this research is to impact policymaking and facilitate evidence-informed HIV prevention and intervention programming in the region, having an operational definition of MENA that falls into the mandates and catchment areas of these organizations is essential. The definition includes the following 23 countries that share historical, socio-cultural, or linguistic similarities:

Afghanistan, Algeria, Bahrain, Djibouti, Egypt, Iran, Iraq, Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Libya, Morocco, Oman, Pakistan, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Somalia, Sudan (including South Sudan), Syria, Tunisia, United Arab Emirates, West Bank and Gaza (Occupied Palestinian Territories (OPT)), and Yemen.



Figure 1.1. Map of the Middle and North Africa.

1.2. OVERALL AIM AND OBJECTIVES

Rationale

MENA is one of the region where knowledge of the HIV epidemic continues to be limited. Yet, based on scattered available data, the region is thought to have one of the fastest growing HIV epidemics despite overall low HIV prevalence [1, 2]. Much remains to be known about HIV epidemic dynamics in MENA, particularly among key populations at increased risk (KPs) where most HIV infections appear to be happening [3]. One of these KPs is people who inject drugs (PWID), who bear a disproportionate burden of HIV infections globally.

Emerging HIV epidemics have been recently documented among men who have sex with men (MSM) in MENA [4]. There could be similar epidemic trends among the other KPs, namely PWID in a region that is at the centre of major drug production and trade routes. MENA has also a number of social and structural drivers of risk and vulnerability for injecting drug use and HIV such as a political instability, refugee population movements, a large youth population, high unemployment rates, and high levels of stigma and non-supportive policy responses, among others. Fortunately, the recent nature of the documented epidemics in the region means that there is a window of opportunity for prevention that should not be missed to halt the growing epidemics.

Following investments by global donors such as the Global Fund, there has been a remarkable increase in the number of integrated bio-behavioural surveillance surveys (IBBSS) in MENA, particularly among KPs. This large volume of data that became available in the last few years is yet to be analysed and synthesized within a country-specific or a regional context to characterize the HIV epidemics in this region. A critical understanding of the status, scale, and epidemic potential of the epidemic in MENA is critical for evidence-informed political advocacy to control the epidemic and increase commitment to HIV surveillance, prevention, and treatment.

Aims and objectives

The overall aim of this thesis is to address a major gap in knowledge and understanding of the epidemiology of HIV infection among PWID in MENA, by assessing the status of the HIV

epidemic, estimating HIV epidemic potential, and estimating HIV incidence and the impact of interventions on HIV incidence at country-level among this population group.

Specific objectives are as follows:

Objective 1

To provide a critical description of the epidemiology of HIV infection among PWID in MENA through a systematic review, synthesis, and analysis of biological and behavioural data.

Objective 2

To explore, through mathematical modelling, the use of hepatitis C virus (HCV) prevalence as a proxy biomarker of future HIV prevalence, as a novel and practical tool to estimate HIV epidemic potential among PWID in resource-limited settings such as MENA.

Objective 3

To analyse, through ecological analysis of systematic review data, the epidemiological association between HCV and HIV prevalence among PWID in MENA, and to estimate HIV epidemic potential in this population across MENA countries using HCV prevalence data.

Objective 4

To estimate, through mathematical modelling, at country-level in MENA: HIV incidence among PWID that is due to sharing non-sterile injecting equipment, HIV incidence among PWID sexual partners that is due to heterosexual sex with infected PWID, the role of injecting drug use as a driver of the HIV epidemic in the population, and the impact of select interventions on HIV incidence.

1.3. BACKGROUND

This section provides background information on the global epidemiology of injecting drug use and of HIV and HCV among PWID. A discussion of the epidemiological links between HIV and HCV infections among PWID, and an overview of HIV and HCV prevention interventions among PWID are provided. This section also highlights the significance of conducting this research work in MENA, by describing in this region: the context of risk and vulnerability, overall understanding of HIV epidemiology, and, briefly, the status of HIV response.

16

1.3.1. Global epidemiology of injecting drug use and associated HIV and HCV infection burden

PWID are typically one of the most hidden and hard-to-reach KPs. They face criminalization, stigma and discrimination, and are marginalized by family members and society [5]. This makes population size estimates for PWID challenging to ascertain; and hence global estimates for injecting drugs use have wide ranges. It is estimated that there are 11-21 million PWID worldwide, with a middle estimate of 16 million, with China, the USA, and Russia carrying the largest numbers [6]. The population prevalence of injecting drug use across all countries is estimated at 0.36%, and ranges from 0.06% in South Asia to 1.50% in eastern Europe [6]. These estimates by the Reference Group to the UN on HIV and Injecting Drug Use, are based on extrapolations using injecting drug use estimates identified in 61 out of 148 countries where this practice has been documented [6, 7].

Injecting drug use is a major global health issue and contributor to the global burden of disease due to associated morbidity and mortality, largely caused by the transmission of blood-borne viral infections - namely HIV and HCV - through unsafe drug injection [8]. The Reference Group to the UN on HIV and Injecting Drug Use estimates that about 3.0 million PWID worldwide are infected with HIV (range 0.8-6.6 million), leading to a global HIV prevalence of 19% among PWID [6]. HIV prevalence among PWID varies considerably between and within countries and ranges between less than 0.01% to 72% (Estonia) [6]. It is overall highest in countries of Southeast Asia, eastern Europe, and Latin America where it has been reported to exceed 40% among PWID subpopulations [6].

HCV infection burden among PWID is even more substantial, due to more efficient transmission than HIV via the parenteral route [9]. It is estimated that about 10.0 million PWID are anti-HCV positive (range: 6.0-15.2 million) [10]. With the estimated 16 million PWID globally, this leads to an HCV prevalence of 63% among PWID [10]. Out of 77 countries with HCV prevalence data among PWID, anti-HCV prevalence is in the range of 60-80% in 25 countries, and over 80% in 12 countries [10]. It is reported lowest in Paraguay at 10% and highest in Mexico at 97% [10].

1.3.2. HIV and HCV epidemiological links among PWID

Because HIV and HCV are transmitted along the same parenteral route among PWID, they often co-infect the same individuals. HCV is however 4-10 times more transmissible per percutaneous injection than HIV [11-14], and therefore is usually acquired before HIV at the individual level. This also explains why HCV prevalence among PWID is larger than HIV prevalence, and why HCV is hyperendemic among PWID globally but HIV is not [6, 10]. A recent meta-analysis identified that 82% of HIV-infected PWID globally are co-infected with HCV [15]. HIV-positive PWID were found to have a six-time increased odds of HCV infection compared with HIV-negative PWID [15], a finding consistent with the fact that both infections are caused by the same injecting risk behaviour. Although HIV and, in specific situations [16], HCV can be transmitted sexually, sharing of needles/syringes is their main transmission mode among PWID [17].

1.3.3. Overview of prevention interventions among PWID

A number of prevention interventions have proven to be successful in curbing HIV transmission among PWID [18]. Harm reduction strategies include primarily the provision of sterile injecting equipment through needle and syringe programmes (NSP), and opioid substitution therapy (OST) - the supervised administration of psychoactive medications that aim at reducing opioid dependence and withdrawal symptoms [19]. Recent systematic reviews and meta-analyses have documented a reduction in HIV transmission by up to 58% associated with exposure to NSP [20] and by 54% to OST [21]. OST was also associated with improved ART-related outcomes (recruitment onto ART, ART coverage and adherence, and viral suppression) among PWID living with HIV [19].

Evidence on the prevention benefit of ART in reducing HIV parenteral transmission among PWID appears to be confined to one cohort study in Vancouver where a temporal association was observed between PWID community viral load and reduced HIV incidence [22]. However, ART has been proven to reduce heterosexual HIV transmission by up to 96% due to decreased viral load [23, 24], and recent evidence suggested also prevention benefit among MSM [25]. It is therefore plausible and likely that ART could similarly reduce HIV parenteral transmission through the same biological mechanism.

While unsafe injection is the main mode of HIV transmission among PWID, sexual transmission can occur and might not be insignificant among specific sub-populations of PWID who are also MSM or FSWs [26, 27]. Therefore, ART, coupled with sexual-risk reduction strategies including

condom provision and education, play a role in reducing sexual HIV transmission among PWID, and also, importantly, transmission to their non-injecting sexual partners [18, 28].

Each of these prevention interventions, however, may achieve modest reductions in HIV transmission if implemented alone. The evidence indicates that efficient strategies for prevention of HIV infections in PWID need comprehensive packages and combined approaches, in addition to high coverage, especially in settings with high prevalence and substantial levels of risk behaviour [18, 19, 28, 29]. Such comprehensive approaches would include NSP, OST, voluntary counselling and testing, ART, prevention of sexually transmitted infections, education programs, in addition to hepatitis diagnosis and treatment [28].

Although the use of ART for pre-exposure prophylaxis was significantly associated with a 49% reduction in HIV incidence among PWID in a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial [30], more research is needed to establish, not only effectiveness, but also strategies for large-scale implementation of this intervention among PWID [30]. Currently, pre-exposure prophylaxis is not included as part of WHO's recommendations of HIV prevention packages among PWID [31].

While reduction of HCV transmission is also expected with harm reduction services in view of the associated reduction in injecting risk behaviour, there is overall insufficient evidence of these services impact on HCV incidence [32]. However, recent epidemiological and mathematical modeling analyses have suggested that high coverage NSP and OST can reduce HCV incidence and prevalence, especially if in combination [33, 34]. These reductions, nevertheless, are overall modest in scale and would require a long time to materialize, mainly due to high background HCV prevalence among most PWID populations globally [33]. Combining harm reduction services with current HCV treatment were shown to enhance their impact [35], and potentially more so with the new direct-acting antivirals to treat HCV [36].

Despite the prevention benefits of harm reduction services among PWID, coverage remains insufficient globally. In 2014, NSP and OST were implemented respectively in about half of all countries where injecting drug use has been documented [37]. Generally, coverage is lower in low- and middle-income countries, though it varies widely among and within regions and countries [37]. Between 2012 and 2014, the greatest increase in NSP provision was seen in Malaysia, Iran, and Australia, while the most striking scale-up of OST was implemented in

Vietnam [37]. A decrease in provision of services was seen in a few countries including Pakistan and Oman, two MENA countries [37].

1.3.4. Context of risk and vulnerability in MENA

Similar to other regions, MENA has several vulnerability factors for HIV. Overall, the social determinants of health in terms of political conflict, limited resources, and gender inequity continue to challenge the region [38]. Youth constitute a major proportion of MENA populations, with one-fifth of the population aged 15-24 years [39, 40], normally the age of sexual debut [40]. It is estimated that in 2015, the average median age across the 23 MENA countries was 24.0 years [41]. The recent Arab spring revealed the frustrations and challenges youth are experiencing, including high unemployment rates, widening gap between rising aspirations with mass education and lack of political reforms, poverty, and oppression.

MENA has the highest number of refugees and internally displaced persons in the world [42]. In 2015, over half of refugees worldwide came from three MENA countries (Syria, Afghanistan, and Somalia), and 39% of the world's displaced people were hosted by MENA countries [42]. The Arab Middle East has received more than 10% of the world's migrants [43]. The overwhelming majority of these are males, and about half are single or without their spouses [44, 45], and therefore may be vulnerable to practices that increase the risk of exposure to HIV [46].

Denial that HIV exists in society or is an important challenge remains widespread. KPs including PWID, MSM, and female sex workers (FSWs) are highly stigmatized and lack access to comprehensive and confidential services. Despite the emergence of community organizations serving vulnerable groups, their efforts are in most instances not well coordinated and remain insufficient to meet current needs. Health promotion approaches remain didactic, prescriptive, largely non-participatory, and divorced from behavioural theory.

PWID are one of the central KPs in MENA, a region with several vulnerability factors for injecting drug use. For example, 83% of the global supply of heroin is produced in Afghanistan [47], and over 75% of this is trafficked through Iran and Pakistan, which contributed to opioids dependence epidemics in these neighbouring countries [48]. In 2014, Iran bore the highest fraction of the global opium and heroin seizures (75% and 17%, respectively) [49]. Increased

availability and purity of heroin at lower prices in MENA appears to have led to a subsequent rise in injecting drug use [50]. In 2010, one gram of heroin in Afghanistan could be purchased for about US\$4 compared with up to US\$100 in West and Central Europe, US\$200 in the United States and Northern Europe, and US\$370 in Australia [47]. The pattern of heroin dependence epidemics fuelling heroin injection epidemics; in turn fuelling HIV epidemics among IDUs, has been previously documented in settings with a similar risk environment of drug production, trafficking, and use such as Uzbekistan, Tajikistan, and European Russia [50].

The region has also several vulnerability factors for sexual risk behaviour. Within prevailing socio-economic conditions, it has been difficult for youth to start sanctioned sexual activity, and the age at first marriage has increased in most countries by as much as 8 years in 20 years [51]. There appears to be an ongoing socio-cultural transition in multiple countries leading to increased tolerance of practices such as premarital and extramarital sex [52]. This is accompanied by accelerated modernization - including mass education and urbanization, exposure to different cultures, and enhanced communication and technology means [52-54].

1.3.5. Understanding of HIV epidemiology in MENA

MENA is one of the regions where knowledge of the HIV epidemic continues to be limited, and there is a widespread belief that the region is "a real hole in terms of HIV/AIDS epidemiological data" [55]. When this thesis was planned, UNAIDS stated in their 2010 Global Report that "data on the epidemics in MENA remain in short supply" [1], and that the available data suggest that despite overall low HIV prevalence, MENA is one of the regions with the fastest growing HIV epidemic [1, 2]. They estimated that the number of new infections and AIDS-related deaths in their definition of MENA (excluding Afghanistan and Pakistan) increased by almost two-folds between 2001 and 2010 when they reached 84,000 and 39,000 people respectively [2]. More recently, MENA was found to be one of the few regions where the number of new HIV infections increased between 2010 and 2015; and the vast majority of these infections seemed to be happening among KPs and their sexual partners [3].

The apparent lack of data has stimulated an intense debate on the status of the epidemic in MENA [56]. One viewpoint, prominent in the earlier years of the epidemic, was that the region is protected from HIV because of its conservative socio-cultural traditions, including strong prohibitions against premarital and extramarital sex, homosexuality, and alcohol and drug use

[57, 58]. This perhaps has incited a radically opposing view that considered "cultural immunity" a form of denial of a major public health crisis "behind the veil", predicting a severe health burden and mortality among the 15 to 49 year age group if immediate action was not taken [59, 60]. In truth, much of these assumptions seemed to be fuelled by preconceived notions and none were substantiated by scientific evidence [56].

This thesis work comes in the context of a large effort to provide a scientific and data-driven characterization of HIV epidemiology in MENA. As part of this endeavour, an earlier in-depth study was conducted among MSM in the region [4]. This systematic review and data synthesis documented for the first time emerging HIV epidemics among MSM in about half of MENA countries, with a risk environment suggesting potential for further spread [4]. These findings further motivated the need for detailed and in-depth analyses for a better understanding of the HIV epidemic and HIV transmission patterns among the other KPs, including PWID, and to assess the drivers of HIV incidence in this region.

1.3.6. Context of HIV response in MENA

The timid leadership and political commitment to address the sensitive HIV issue remain an important challenge in the region. After years of denial that HIV exists in MENA, there is an increasing recognition in the public sphere that HIV is a domestic public health concern [61]. Nevertheless, most HIV programming efforts are small-scale, not well coordinated, and insufficient to meet current needs. With a median antiretroviral therapy (ART) coverage of 17%, MENA has the lowest ART coverage of all regions globally [62]. Also, HIV response among KPs is still largely the province of non-governmental organizations (NGOs) [63]. Political leaders are often reluctant to even acknowledge the existence of KPs. PWID, MSM, and FSWs continue to be stigmatised and lack access to comprehensive and confidential services [63, 64]. While it is widely perceived that political and socio-cultural sensitivities are behind this lagging response, in truth political leaders are not confronted with concrete data to warrant a sense of urgency to address the epidemic. The low HIV prevalence observed among blood donors and other select general population samples is feeding a culture of complacency towards the epidemic [63, 64]. Most prevention and health promotion efforts remain didactic and geared to the general population, rather than the populations most affected.

The findings of this research work will provide a scientific assessment of the status, scale, and epidemic potential of the HIV epidemic among PWID in MENA, and accordingly will inform HIV policy and programming in the region.

1.4. THESIS STRUCTURE AND RESEARCH PAPERS OUTLINE

This thesis follows the *research paper* style and has resulted in five research papers. Four of these papers have been published, while one is nearly ready to be submitted for publication. Each research paper constitutes an independent chapter, or is incorporated into a broader chapter. Published papers are included in their published formats, which inevitably results in some inconsistencies in formatting, referencing style, and terminology. Research papers are supplemented as appropriate by additional material to provide further methodological information, results, and linking material with other chapters. In most cases, additional methodology details and results pertaining to research papers were published as part of extensive supplementary online material, and they are included as such, in their published format. The supplementary online material of each research paper is included in a separate Appendix to this thesis.

Each research paper includes its own list of references within its corresponding chapter, while references pertaining to all other material in the body of the thesis (excluding appendices) are included together at the end of the thesis. Files in the appendices include their own references each.

The thesis structure is as follows:

Chapter 2 corresponds to **Research paper 1**, which was published in *PLoS Medicine*. This paper provides a first time in-depth characterization of the state of the HIV epidemic among PWID across MENA countries, through a comprehensive systematic review and data synthesis (objective 1). This paper is a basis for the subsequent research papers. The emerging HIV epidemics and the high injecting risk environment it identified motivated the need to estimate HIV epidemic potential (research papers 2 & 3) and how interventions could halt the growing epidemics (research paper 4). It also provided the epidemiological data to conduct the ecological analysis for the HCV-HIV association (research paper 3), and provided the MENA-

specific data needed to parameterize the HIV incidence study using mathematical modelling (research paper 4).

Chapter 3 corresponds to **Research paper 2**, which was published in *BMC Public Health*. This is a mathematical modelling study that theoretically explores the association between HCV and HIV among PWID, and provides the foundation for the concept of using HCV as proxy biomarker of future HIV epidemic spread (objective 2). The main importance of this study is that it provides a practical tool to predict the future size of HIV epidemics using existing data (HCV prevalence). This has important policy-implications as it can inform prioritization and resource allocation for prevention interventions, which is especially valuable in resource-limited settings such as most of MENA.

Chapter 4 corresponds to **Research paper 3**, which was published in *AIDS*. This chapter includes an applied epidemiological analysis of the concept of using HCV as proxy for future HIV epidemic spread demonstrated in Chapter 3. The study is an ecological analysis of the HCV-HIV association in PWID using the epidemiological data extracted in research paper 1. This association is then applied in MENA to predict HIV epidemic potential among PWID at countrylevel using current HCV prevalence (objective 3).

Chapter 5 corresponds to **Research paper 4**, which is nearly ready to be submitted for publication at the *Journal of the International AIDS Society (JIAS)*. This is a mathematical modelling study that estimates, at country-level in MENA, HIV incidence that is due to injecting drug use (objective 4). The study not only provides estimates of HIV incidence among PWID, but also delineates the role of injecting drug use as a driver of HIV infection in the wider population, namely through history of past injection and onward transmission to sexual partners. It also estimates impact of select interventions on HIV incidence. Quantifying HIV incidence among PWID in MENA is timely and warranted, as it provides baseline data to track progress towards the global and regional targets of reducing the number of new HIV infections, as part of UNAIDS 90-90-90 scheme [65].

Finally, **Chapter 6** summarizes the findings of the previous chapters, describes their implications for HIV/drug use policy and programming, and makes recommendations for future research. This chapter includes **Research paper 5**, which provides a high-level summary of HIV and HCV epidemiology among PWID in MENA, with a focus on the response and ways to move forward in the context of the thesis findings. This paper is an invited, peer-reviewed, viewpoint that was published in the *Journal of the International AIDS Society (JIAS*) on the occasion of the World Hepatitis Day - July 28, 2015.

1.5. ROLE OF CANDIDATE

The research work undertaken as part of this thesis falls under the *MENA HIV/AIDS Epidemiology Synthesis Project* [63] which was funded in its initial phase by the World Bank, WHO, and UNAIDS, and, in its subsequent phases, by the Qatar National Research Fund (NPRP 04-924-3-251 and NPRP 9-040-3-008). The *MENA HIV/AIDS Epidemiology Synthesis Project* was conceptualized, proposed, and awarded to my co-supervisor on the thesis, Dr. Laith Abu-Raddad. I was the lead scientist working on the sub-project that addresses HIV epidemiology among PWID in MENA, and which led to this thesis.

I am first and corresponding author on all research papers in the thesis. For all papers, I coconceptualized the studies, conducted the vast majority of the analyses, wrote the first draft, and revised and finalised the paper based on feedback from co-authors.

I wrote the protocol of the systematic review (Research paper 1), devised the search criteria (guided by colleagues), conducted database searches, screened all titles and full-texts, extracted data on a computerized database, devised the quality assessment methodology, and analysed the data.

Research papers 2 and 4 include co-authors who provided technical assistance in Matlab codes pertaining to the mathematical modelling. Research paper 2 includes a co-first author who conducted all the Matlab coding in this study that has a complex dynamical mathematical model. I led the conceptualization of the plan of analysis and interpretation of findings, and along with the co-first author, conducted the analyses. In Research paper 4, I coded the mathematical model and conducted all analyses, while receiving technical programming assistance from a co-author who helped me solve some of the coding issues.

I conducted all the statistical analyses in Research paper 3. The mathematical modelling used in the conceptual framework of this study is based on the same model used in Research paper 2 and hence was developed and coded by my co-authors. Part of the research work undertaken in this thesis was conducted in partnership with the WHO, UNAIDS, and the World Bank. These organizations were co-authors on two of the research papers (Research papers 1 & 4) where they provided or facilitated access to key data, access to which is otherwise difficult. They facilitated communication with national stakeholders and provided strategic data and information pertaining to HIV epidemiology and response in the region.

Further details on my contribution and the role of all co-authors are described in the research papers.

2. HIV EPIDEMIOLOGY AMONG PWID IN MENA

2.1. INTRODUCTION

This chapter aims to provide a critical and systematic assessment of the status of the HIV epidemic among PWID at country-level in MENA. The rationale for this study came from signs of a growing HIV infection burden, in particular among MSM where emerging HIV epidemics were recently documented [4], in a region with several vulnerability factors for HIV and injecting drug use, and where scientific evidence was critically needed to inform an overall limited and non-supportive policy response.

This aim was addressed by conducting a systematic review and data synthesis of all available PWID-related data in the region. The study analysed all aspects of HIV epidemiology among PWID to draw a comprehensive understanding of the status of the HIV epidemic in each country and in the region as a whole. These aspects included the prevalence of injecting drug use; HIV prevalence level, trend, geographical distribution, and quality of data; HIV incidence; injecting and sexual risk behaviour; mixing with other KPs; and prevalence of proxy biomarkers of risk.

2.2. EPIDEMIC STATE CLASSIFICATION

This section provides details on the approach used for the HIV epidemic state assessment and classification, which was described briefly in the published manuscript. Based on the extent of HIV transmission and prevalence in the different population groups in a given country/setting, HIV epidemics can be classified into three different states: low-level, concentrated, and generalised - a classification devised by UNAIDS/WHO to guide surveillance and policy-making at country level [66].

In low-level HIV epidemics, HIV has not spread to significant levels in any sub-population including KPs. In concentrated HIV epidemics, HIV transmission has taken roots in one or more KPs but HIV is rarely transmitted outside of these KPs and their sexual partners. In generalized HIV epidemics, HIV is established in the general population where there is sustainable HIV transmission [66].

I adapted the HIV epidemic state definitions devised by UNAIDS/WHO and applied them to describe the epidemic level in PWID. In addition to the "low level" and "concentrated" states, I added a third category, "at least outbreak-type", to describe a pattern of HIV transmission where the level of evidence is not sufficient to categorize the epidemic into either of the low-level or concentrated epidemic states, but there is evidence for tangible transmission. The classification and definitions of the different epidemic states among PWID are in Figure 2.1 and Table 1, and can be visualized on the epidemic curve of a prototype KP in Figure 2.2.



Figure 2.1. Flow chart of the classification of HIV epidemic states among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa.

Table 2.1. HIV epidemic states definitions among people who inject drugs.

Low-level HIV epidemic among PWID

Definition: Based on the extent of available evidence, HIV has not reached considerable levels among PWID. In a low-level epidemic, HIV may not have been introduced to the PWID population, may have been recently introduced, or may have been spreading for some time but slowly and inefficiently. The latter may reflect infrequent and few repeated transmission contacts among members of the PWID population to sustain higher HIV prevalence, or could be a consequence of stochastic effects where the small number of individuals who introduced HIV to the population happened by chance not to have transmission links that can sustain large transmission chains.

Concentrated HIV epidemic among PWID

Definition: Based on the extent of available evidence, HIV has reached considerable levels and taken root among PWID through transmission chains between members of this population. With no sufficient behaviour changes or introduction of interventions, HIV transmission among members of PWID will continue to take place.

Concentrated epidemics can be further categorised into the following categories based on trends of HIV prevalence:

<u>Emerging epidemic</u>: HIV started its initial growth among this HRP and continues in a trend of increasing HIV prevalence.

<u>Saturated epidemic</u>: The emerging epidemic has reached its peak and HIV prevalence is stabilizing towards its endemic level.

Established epidemic: The saturated epidemic has reached endemic equilibrium.

"At least outbreak-type" transmission among PWID

Definition: Applies to settings where we do not have enough evidence to support a concentrated epidemic, but there is some evidence, usually of lower quality, which suggests that considerable HIV transmission has occurred, or is occurring, among at least some groups of the PWID population.



Figure 2.2. HIV epidemic states in a prototype key population at increased risk. Note: Simulation produced using a stochastic compartmental model [67]

In classifying the HIV epidemics among PWID at country-level in MENA, I followed most recent UNAIDS/WHO guidelines where the proxy threshold defining the different epidemic states (such as the 5% defining a concentrated epidemic) have been discarded [66, 68]. The change was because use of these thresholds caused confusion in interpreting surveillance findings, especially when considered as rigid and conclusive thresholds [66]. Instead, under an updated "know your epidemic" approach, the assessment of the status of the epidemic was based on rigorously grounded epidemiological syntheses and an understanding of transmission dynamics, rather than "arbitrary" prevalence thresholds [68, 69]. This approach takes into consideration that each country has a unique epidemic (or epidemics) and that the epidemic might differ within sub-populations and between geographical areas within a given country [68, 69]. Figure 2.3 describes the triangulation approach used where multiple lines of evidence were synthesized side by side to assess HIV epidemic state among PWID at country-level in MENA.



Figure 2.3. Data synthesis of the multiple lines of evidence for characterizing the status of the HIV epidemic among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa.

2.3. RESEARCH PAPER 1 – SYSTEMATIC REVIEW AND DATA SYNTHESIS

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT www.lshtm.ac.uk

Registry

T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk



RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED <u>FOR EACH</u> RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A – Student Details

Student	Ghina Mumtaz
Principal Supervisor	Prof. Helen Weiss
Thesis Title	The Epidemiology of HIV Infection Among People Who Inject Drugs in the Middle East and North Africa

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	PLoS Medicine		
When was the work published?	June 17, 2014		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

SECTION D – Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	I am first and corresponding author on this paper. I co-conceived the study, wrote the protocol of the systematic review, devised the search criteria, conducted database searches, screened all titles and full-texts, extracted data, devised the quality assessment methodology, and analysed the data. I wrote the first draft of the manuscript.
--	--

www.lshtm.ac.uk

Student Signature:	Alif-
Supervisor Signature:	Mhles

Date: January 10, 2017

Date: _____ January 10, 2017

Research paper 1

Retention of copyright evidence

This article is published in an open access format. PLOS content license agreement allows authors to include the article in its published format as can be seen below:

"PLOS applies the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license to articles and other works we publish. If you submit your paper for publication by PLOS, you agree to have the CC BY license applied to your work. Under this Open Access license, you as the author agree that anyone can reuse your article in whole or part for any purpose, for free, even for commercial purposes. Anyone may copy, distribute, or reuse the content as long as the author and original source are properly cited. This facilitates freedom in re-use and also ensures that PLOS content can be mined without barriers for the needs of research"

PLOS content license agreement can be found at: http://journals.plos.org/plosmedicine/s/content-license

Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license can be found at: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/

PLOS MEDICINE

HIV among People Who Inject Drugs in the Middle East and North Africa: Systematic Review and Data Synthesis



Ghina R. Mumtaz^{1,2*}, Helen A. Weiss², Sara L. Thomas², Suzanne Riome¹, Hamidreza Setayesh³, Gabriele Riedner⁴, Iris Semini³, Oussama Tawil³, Francisca Ayodeji Akala⁵, David Wilson⁶, Laith J. Abu-Raddad^{1,7,8}*

1 Infectious Disease Epidemiology Group, Weill Cornell Medical College - Qatar, Cornell University, Qatar Foundation - Education City, Doha, Qatar, 2 Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Faculty of Epidemiology and Population Health, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom, 3 Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS Regional Support Team, Middle East and North Africa, Cairo, Egypt, 4 Regional Office of the Eastern Mediterranean, World Health Organization, Cairo, Egypt, 5 Human Development Sector, Middle East and North Africa Region, World Bank, Washington (D.C.), United States of America, 6 Global HIV/ AIDS Program, World Bank, Washington (D.C.), United States of America, 7 Department of Healthcare Policy and Research, Weill Cornell Medical College, Cornell University, New York, New York, United States of America, 8 Vaccine and Infectious Disease Division, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, Seattle, Washington, United States of America

Abstract

Background: It is perceived that little is known about the epidemiology of HIV infection among people who inject drugs (PWID) in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA). The primary objective of this study was to assess the status of the HIV epidemic among PWID in MENA by describing HIV prevalence and incidence. Secondary objectives were to describe the risk behavior environment and the HIV epidemic potential among PWID, and to estimate the prevalence of injecting drug use in MENA.

Methods and Findings: This was a systematic review following the PRISMA guidelines and covering 23 MENA countries. PubMed, Embase, regional and international databases, as well as country-level reports were searched up to December 16, 2013. Primary studies reporting (1) the prevalence/incidence of HIV, other sexually transmitted infections, or hepatitis C virus (HCV) among PWIDs; or (2) the prevalence of injecting or sexual risk behaviors, or HIV knowledge among PWID; or (3) the number/proportion of PWID in MENA countries, were eligible for inclusion. The quality, quantity, and geographic coverage of the data were assessed at country level. Risk of bias in predefined quality domains was described to assess the quality of available HIV prevalence measures. After multiple level screening, 192 eligible reports were included in the review. There were 197 HIV prevalence measures on a total of 58,241 PWID extracted from reports, and an additional 226 HIV prevalence measures extracted from the databases. We estimated that there are 626,000 PWID in MENA (range: 335,000-1,635,000, prevalence of 0.24 per 100 adults). We found evidence of HIV epidemics among PWID in at least one-third of MENA countries, most of which are emerging concentrated epidemics and with HIV prevalence overall in the range of 10%-15%. Some of the epidemics have however already reached considerable levels including some of the highest HIV prevalence among PWID globally (87.1% in Tripoli, Libya). The relatively high prevalence of sharing needles/syringes (18%-28% in the last injection), the low levels of condom use (20%-54% ever condom use), the high levels of having sex with sex workers and of men having sex with men (15%-30% and 2%-10% in the last year, respectively), and of selling sex (5%-29% in the last year), indicate a high injecting and sexual risk environment. The prevalence of HCV (31%-64%) and of sexually transmitted infections suggest high levels of risk behavior indicative of the potential for more and larger HIV epidemics.

Conclusions: Our study identified a large volume of HIV-related biological and behavioral data among PWID in the MENA region. The coverage and quality of the data varied between countries. There is robust evidence for HIV epidemics among PWID in multiple countries, most of which have emerged within the last decade and continue to grow. The lack of sufficient evidence in some MENA countries does not preclude the possibility of hidden epidemics among PWID in these settings. With the HIV epidemic among PWID in overall a relatively early phase, there is a window of opportunity for prevention that should not be missed through the provision of comprehensive programs, including scale-up of harm reduction services and expansion of surveillance systems.

Please see later in the article for the Editors' Summary.

Citation: Mumtaz GR, Weiss HA, Thomas SL, Riome S, Setayesh H, et al. (2014) HIV among People Who Inject Drugs in the Middle East and North Africa: Systematic Review and Data Synthesis. PLOS Med 11(6): e1001663. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001663

Academic Editor: David D. Celentano, Johns Hopkins University, United States of America

Received May 18, 2013; Accepted May 8, 2014; Published June 17, 2014

Copyright: © 2014 Mumtaz et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Funding: This publication was made possible by NPRP grant number (NPRP 04-924-3-251) from the Qatar National Research Fund (a member of Qatar Foundation). The authors are also grateful to the World Bank, the MENA Regional Support Team (RST) of the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), and the Eastern Mediterranean Regional Office (EMRO) of the World Health Organization (WHO) for supporting the initial phase of this work. The statements made herein are solely the responsibility of the authors and the funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

1

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

Abbreviations: ART, antiretroviral therapy; HCV, hepatitis C virus; IBBSS, integrated bio-behavioral surveillance surveys; IQR, interquartile range; MENA, Middle East and North Africa; MSM, men who have sex with men; NGO, non-governmental organization; OPT, Occupied Palestinian Territories; PWID, people who inject drugs; pyr, person-years; ROB, risk of bias; STI, sexually transmitted infection; UNAIDS, Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; WHO/EMRO, Eastern Mediterranean Regional Office of the World Health Organization.

* Email: gim2006@qatar-med.cornell.edu (GRM); lja2002@qatar-med.cornell.edu (LJA-R)

Introduction

The Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region has been singled out as the region with little data and where the status of the HIV/AIDS epidemic remained unknown [1–8]. In 2005, the region was characterized as "a real hole in terms of HIV/AIDS epidemiological data" [9]. The MENA region has, however, witnessed a remarkable growth in HIV research over the last decade, with several countries developing surveillance systems to monitor the spread of HIV infection, including among most-at-risk populations [10].

A large fraction of studies conducted in the region has remained unpublished in the scientific literature, and only available in the form of difficult to access country reports. This has meant that data have not been analyzed or synthesized at either country or regional level, and no critical assessment of the quality of available evidence has been conducted. The rationale for this study came from signs of a growing HIV disease burden in the MENA region, which highlighted the urgent need for a critical and comprehensive evaluation of the status of the HIV epidemic and of the quality of evidence among the different population groups to inform HIV policy and programming in the region; this was the mandate of the MENA HIV/AIDS Synthesis Project, the largest HIV study in MENA to date [11].

The present article follows on from a series of studies conducted as part of the Synthesis Project. These studies include a high-level overview of HIV epidemiology in MENA [12], a systematic review of HIV molecular evidence [13], and the first documentation of the emerging HIV epidemic among men who have sex with men (MSM) in MENA [14]. The present study is, to our knowledge, the first systematic review and data synthesis to characterize the status of the HIV epidemic among people who inject drugs (PWID) in MENA. The presented regional analysis takes on an additional importance with the need to capture the volume of bio-behavioral surveillance data that became available within the last few years in MENA, and is yet to be analyzed and synthesized within a country-specific or a regional context [15].

PWID are one of the key populations at high risk of HIV in MENA, a region with several vulnerability factors for injecting drug use. For example, 83% of the global supply of heroin is produced in Afghanistan [16], and over 75% of this is trafficked through Iran and Pakistan. In 2009, Iran bore the highest fraction of the global opium and heroin seizures (89% and 33%, respectively) [16]. Increased availability and purity of heroin at lower prices in MENA appears to have led to a subsequent rise in injecting drug use [17]. In 2010, one gram of heroin in Afghanistan could be purchased for about US\$4 compared with up to US\$100 in West and Central Europe, US\$200 in the United States and Northern Europe, and US\$370 in Australia [16]. Most PWID in the region are young adults and marginalized by family members and society; they are stigmatized and lack access to comprehensive and confidential HIV prevention and treatment services [11].

The primary objective of this study was to assess the status of the HIV epidemic among PWID in MENA by describing HIV prevalence and incidence. The secondary objective was to describe the risk behavior environment and the HIV epidemic potential among PWID by describing (1) their injecting and sexual risk behavior and knowledge, and (2) prevalence of proxy biological markers of these behaviors, namely hepatitis C virus (HCV) and sexually transmitted infections (STIs), respectively. The study also estimated the proportion and number of PWID in MENA.

Methods

We followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) (Text S1) [18,19] and Cochrane Collaboration guidelines [20].

Data Sources and Search Strategy

Our review covered the 23 countries included in the MENA definitions of the three international organizations leading the regional HIV response efforts in the region: the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), the Eastern Mediterranean Regional Office of the World Health Organization (WHO/EMRO), and the World Bank (Figure 1). These countries share specific similarities, whether historical, socio-cultural, or linguistic; and are conventionally included together as part of HIV/AIDS programming for the region.

The following sources of data were searched up to December 16, 2013: (1) Scientific databases (PubMed, Embase, and regional databases [WHO African Index Medicus [21] and WHO Index Medicus for the Eastern Mediterranean Region [22]]), with no publication date or language restrictions. A generic search of 'drug use" in MENA was performed in PubMed and Embase using MeSH/Emtree and text terms. The term "HIV" was not included to avoid detection bias. (2) The MENA HIV/AIDS Synthesis Project database of grey and mainly unpublished literature [11,12]. (3) Abstracts of the International AIDS Conference 2002-2012 [23], the International AIDS Society Conference on HIV Pathogenesis and Treatment 2001-2013 [24], and the International Society for Sexually Transmitted Diseases Research Conferences 2003-2013 [25]. (4) International and regional databases of HIV prevalence measures including the US Census Bureau database of HIV/AIDS [26], the WHO/ EMRO HIV testing database [27], and the UNAIDS epidemiological fact sheets database [28].

Details of the search criteria are provided in Text S2. Reference lists of all relevant papers and review articles were also searched.

Study Selection

Titles and abstracts of all records identified were screened independently by two authors (GRM and SR), and consensus on potential eligibility reached. Full texts of potentially relevant records were retrieved and assessed for eligibility. Studies satisfying any of the below criteria were eligible: (1) The proportion of PWID in the sample was specified, at least half were PWID, and data on any of the following outcomes were included: Prevalence or incidence of HIV; prevalence of injecting or sexual risk


Figure 1. Map of the Middle East and North Africa region. The definition adopted in the review includes the following 23 countires: Afghanistan, Algeria, Bahrain, Djibouti, Egypt, Iran, Iraq, Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Libya, Morocco, Oman, OPT, Pakistan, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Somalia, Sudan (including the newly established Republic of South Sudan), Syria, Tunisia, United Arab Emirates (UAE), and Yemen. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001663.g001

behaviors, or knowledge; prevalence or incidence of HCV; and prevalence or incidence of other STIs. HCV is transmitted primarily through percutaneous exposures and can be used as a proxy of the risk of parenteral exposure to HIV. Among PWID, a threshold HCV prevalence of about 30% implies sufficient risk behavior to sustain HIV transmission [29,30]. Similarly, the prevalence of STIs is a useful marker of sexual risk behavior and potential for HIV sexual acquisition. (2) Data on population-based prevalence of injecting drug use or PWID population size estimates were reported.

Only studies with primary data were included. The only exception was in relation to national estimates of the number and proportion of PWID in a number of MENA countries where the only available source of data was from two global reviews [4,31] that published data compiled through the Reference Group to the UN on HIV and Injecting Drug Use [32].

We used the term report to refer to the documents (papers, conference abstracts, or public health reports) presenting findings of a study [20]. Reports could contribute to more than one outcome. Findings duplicated in more than one report were included only once (using the more detailed report). Outcomes in more than one population/setting within a report were included separately.

Data Extraction

Data were extracted by one of the authors (GRM) using a pre-piloted data extraction form and entered into a computerized database. Double extraction on about 45% of records was confirmed by another author (LA-R). The few discrepancies were settled by consensus or by contacting authors. Data from articles in English, French, and Arabic were extracted from the full -texts. Data from records in Farsi (n = 6) were extracted from the English abstract. There were no records in other languages.

As supporting information, we also analyzed data extracted from countries' reporting on the HIV epidemic to WHO/EMRO in the format of aggregate HIV case notifications.

Scope and Quality of the Evidence

We appraised the status of the evidence on our main outcome, HIV prevalence, at country level by examining the following criteria that take into consideration the quantity, quality, and geographical coverage of available data: (1) the number of HIV prevalence measures and the total sample size they cover, (2) the number of geographic settings with HIV prevalence measures, (3) the number of multi-city studies and the maximum number of cities per study, (4) the number of rounds of integrated

3

bio-behavioral surveillance surveys (IBBSS), and $\langle 5\rangle$ the quality and precision of individual HIV prevalence measures.

The quality of individual HIV prevalence measures was assessed by describing the risk of bias (ROB). Since the number of prevalence measures among female PWID was very small and often based on small sub-samples, the quality appraisal was restricted to HIV prevalence among predominantly male PWID. Based on the Cochrane approach for assessing ROB [20], we classified each HIV prevalence measure as having a low, high, or unclear ROB for three quality domains: the sampling methodology, the type of HIV ascertainment, and the response rate. Low ROB was considered if (1) sampling was probability-based or preceded by ethnographic mapping, (2) HIV was ascertained with a biological assay, and (3) the response rate was over 80%; or over 80% of the target sample size was reached. HIV prevalence measures extracted from international and regional databases were considered of unknown quality since original reports were not available for assessing their ROB.

A minimum sample size of 100 was considered to produce estimates with good precision. For a median HIV prevalence among PWID in MENA of 8% (see Results), this implies a 95% CI of 4%-15%.

The quality of the evidence in each country was assessed by combining the above factors as described in Text S3. For example, quality was considered better if at least one round of IBBSS was conducted, since these surveys use standard methodology including state of the art sampling techniques of hard-to-reach populations (such as respondent-driven sampling). Countries were categorized as having: (1) No evidence: virtually no data. (2) Poor evidence: The majority of HIV biological measures were of poor quality. (3) Limited evidence: The number of HIV biological measures was small, but of reasonable quality. (4) Good evidence: The number of HIV biological measures small, but with good quality and informative data. However, the overall volume of data was not sufficient to be conclusive of the status and scale of the epidemic at the national level. (5) Conclusive evidence: There was a sufficient volume of robust evidence to support the conclusion.

Analysis

The low-bound, middle, and high-bound national estimates of the number and prevalence of injecting drug use in MENA countries were extracted from reports. The pooled number and prevalence of PWID for the MENA region were estimated separately using the extracted country-level estimates. The lower (and upper) bound of our pooled regional estimate of the number of PWID in MENA was calculated by adding the lowest (and highest) reported number of PWID in all MENA countries. The middle figure for the number of PWID in MENA is the sum of the middle estimates in each of the MENA countries. When more than one such estimate was available per country, we used the median of the estimates. The pooled numbers of PWID were rounded up to the next thousand.

Middle estimates of the extracted prevalence of PWID were weighted by adult population size to derive the pooled prevalence of injecting drug use in MENA. When more than one such estimate was available per country, we used the median of the estimates. Adult population size was extracted from the United Nations World Population Database [33]. Sub-national estimates of the number and prevalence of injecting drug use were extracted from reports and described separately.

We calculated 95% CI for HIV and HCV prevalence for all reports with available information. The HIV biological data (HIV prevalence from reports and from databases, HIV incidence, and notified HIV cases) were synthesized at country level to assess the

status of the HIV epidemic among PWID. Recent WHO/ UNAIDS guidelines for classifying HIV epidemics [34,35], which do not recommend use of rigid thresholds [34,36], were adapted to classify the HIV epidemic level in PWID as: (1) Low-level HIV epidemic: HIV has not reached significant levels among PWID. (2) Concentrated HIV epidemic: HIV has reached significant levels and taken root among PWID through transmission chains between members of this population. Concentrated epidemics can be either emerging (HIV has started its initial growth and continues in a trend of increasing HIV prevalence); or established (the epidemic has reached its peak and HIV prevalence is stabilizing towards, or already is at, its endemic level). (3) "At least outbreak-type": Insufficient evidence to support a concentrated epidemic among PWID, but some evidence, usually of lower quality, suggesting that significant HIV transmission has occurred, or is occurring, among at least some PWID groups.

The terms "national" or "at least localized" were assigned to concentrated epidemics to reflect the geographical spread of the epidemic within a given country.

Results

Results of Search Strategy

The study selection process is shown in Figure 2. A total of 6,207 citations were retrieved from PubMed, Embase, and the regional databases. After full-text screening and including reports from the other sources, 192 reports were eligible: 121 from PubMed and Embase, 41 from the MENA HIV/AIDS Synthesis Project, 13 from bibliographies of relevant reports and review articles, 13 from the search of scientific conferences, and four from the regional databases. In addition, 226 HIV point-prevalence measures were extracted from the databases of biological markers (Figure 2).

There were 423 HIV prevalence measures, 197 of which were extracted from the eligible reports and 226 from the databases of HIV prevalence; three HIV incidence measures; 93 HCV prevalence measures; four HCV incidence measures; 38 STI prevalence measures; and 993 behavioral and knowledge measures. There were also 130 and 96 measures on the number and proportion of PWID, respectively (Figure 2).

Scope and Quality of the Evidence

The number and quality of HIV prevalence measures varied by country. The largest volume of data was from Pakistan (101 HIV prevalence measures on a total of 24,445 PWID), Iran (99 HIV prevalence measures on a total of 22,181 PWID), and Egypt (39 HIV prevalence measures on a total of 4,480 PWID) (Table 1). A smaller number of HIV prevalence measures but covering a relatively large number of PWID were conducted in Afghanistan (3,277 PWID), Tunisia (1,522 PWID), and Morocco (880 PWID). Multi-city studies have been conducted in several countries including Pakistan, where up to 16 cities were included in one study [37]. IBBSS have been conducted in Afghanistan [38,39], Egypt [40-42], Iran [43,44], Jordan [45], Lebanon [46], Libya [47], Morocco [48], Occupied Palestinian Territories (OPT) [49], Pakistan [37,50-52], and Tunisia (Table 1) [53,54]. Pakistan has the most repeated rounds of IBBSS with four rounds conducted between 2005 and 2011 [37,50-52].

Of 190 HIV prevalence measures extracted from eligible reports and among predominantly male PWID, 98%, 53%, and 34% had low ROB in terms of HIV ascertainment, sampling methodology, and response rate, respectively. Over 60% of the 190 HIV prevalence measures had low ROB in at least two quality domains and 84% had good precision (Tables S1 and S2).



HCV: Hepatitis C virus; PWID: People who inject drugs; STI: Sexually transmitted infections

Reasons for exclusion:

- Eligibility criteria not met (n=24)
- Full-text did not include data on relevant indicators (n=39)
- Full-text could not be retrieved and abstract does not have data on relevant outcomes (n=3)
- Duplicate (n=27)

Reasons for exclusion:

- Same dataset as another included relevant publication (n=34)
- Paper presents contradictory/unclear numbers that could not be verified (n=2)

Figure 2. PRISMA flow chart of study selection in the systematic search.

doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001663.g002 PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

5

Biological Evidence	Afg	Alg	Bah	iío	Egy	<u>5</u>	Irq	Jor	Kuw	Leb L	Lib	Aor O	ma Ol	PT	ak	lat S	Y.	moš	o png	ýr T	n N	E Yei	E
Number HIV biological studies ^a	2	1	-		~	47	1	-	1	2	т. М	-	-	5						5		1	
Number HIV prevalence measures	19	I	23	Q	39	66	٢	13	17	8	4	5	4	7	-			-	N	1		Ś	
From reports (total sample size)	13 (3,277)	I	1 (242)	I	9 (4,480)	78 (22,181)	I	3 (227)	I	2 (121) (1 5 (328) (8	880) (.	1 (1) (1)	7. 2) (2	7 (4,445) -			1	-	(204) 3 (1	.522)	I	
From databases	9		22	9	30	21	7	10	17	9	3 1	6 12	4 3	5	4			-	2	7		5	
Number HIV incidence measures ^a	-	I		I	I	-	I	I	I	1				-	1				1	1	1	1	
Number cities/ provinces with HIV prevalence measures ^a	٥ م	1	-		7	27	I	m	I	-	4	-	-	Ň	l vo				-	m			
Number multi-city studies (max number cities/ study) ^a	3 (5)	1	1	1	1 (2)	4 (10)	I	1 (4)	1	1		- (2)		-	2 (16) -				1	2	(3)	1	
Number repeated IBBSS ^a	2	I	I	I	7	2	I	-	Ι	-	-	I	-	4	I	'			1	1	Ι	I	
^a With repor Afg, Afghan Sudan; Syr, doi:10.1371/	ts availał istan; Al <u>ç</u> Syria; Tu journal.p	ole. J, Algeria; n, Tunisia	: Bah, Bah ; UAE, Ur 1663.t001	rain; Dji, iited Aral	Djibouti; l b Emirate:	Egy, Egypt; s; Yem, Yer	lrn, Iran; I nen.	irq, Iraq; Jc	or, Jordan;	; Kuw, Kuv	wait; Leb,	Lebanon;	Lib, Libya	; Mor, M	orocco; Om	a, Oman	ı; Pak, Pa	kistan; QA	,, Qatar; S	A, Saudi <i>I</i>	Arabia; Son	, Somalia	ı; Sud,

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

б

On the basis of the quality of the evidence assessment, the evidence was determined to be "conclusive" in Iran and Pakistan; "good" in Afghanistan, Egypt, Jordan, Lebanon, Libya, Morocco, OPT, and Tunisia; "limited" in Bahrain and Syria; and "poor" in Djibouti, Iraq, Kuwait, Oman, Saudi Arabia, Sudan, and Yemen. There was "no evidence" in Algeria, Qatar, Somalia, and the United Arab Emirates. A narrative justification for the classification of the scope and quality of evidence is in Text S3.

Although a formal quality assessment was not made for the secondary outcomes in terms of injecting and sexual risk behavior and knowledge, the majority of these data were extracted from the IBBSS studies using standard survey methodology and large samples. Details of these studies (with information on sample size, population characteristics, and/or sampling technique) can be found in the tables summarizing the prevalence of HIV and HCV among PWID (Tables 3 and 6).

Prevalence of Injecting Drug Use

Table 2 describes national estimates of the number and prevalence of PWID. These national estimates were extracted from included reports where they were derived using different methodologies including indirect methods (such as capture-recapture and multiplier methods), population-based surveys, registered number of PWID, and rapid assessments. In two of the sources of data in Table 2 [4,31], some of the country estimates are the collation of several such country-specific estimates using methods described in the original reports [4,31].

Based on available data, the number of PWID in MENA ranges between a low bound of 335,000 and a high bound of 1,635,000, with a middle estimate of 626,000 PWID. Iran, Pakistan, and Egypt have the largest number, with a median of about 185,000, 117,000, and 89,000 PWID, respectively. The weighted mean prevalence of injecting drug use in MENA is 0.24 per 100 adults. It is lowest in Somalia (0.03%) and highest in Iran (0.43%) (Table 2).

Studies of sub-national populations showed geographical heterogeneity (Table S3). For example, in Iran, the prevalence of injecting drug use varied between 0.0% in rural Babol province [55] to 1.0% in Tehran [56]; and in Pakistan it ranged from 0.02% in Rawalpindi to 0.87% and 1.07% in Sargodha and Faisalabad, respectively [57].

Data on the prevalence of female PWID in MENA were scarce. Overall, the mean proportion of females among PWID in included studies was 2.3% (range: 0%–35%). In two studies in Oman and Syria, 25%–58% [58] and 48% [59] of PWID, respectively, reported knowing at least one female PWID.

HIV Prevalence, Incidence, and Mode of Transmission

HIV prevalence measures from reports and databases are summarized in Tables 3 and S4, respectively. Considerable variation in HIV prevalence was seen, with an overall median of 8% (interquartile range [IQR]: 1%-21%) (Table 3). HIV prevalence among PWID in MENA ranged between 0% in some prevalence measures in almost every country up to 7% in Cairo, Egypt in 2010 (n = 274) [42]; 18% in Afghanistan in one city near the Iranian borders, Herat, in 2009 (n=159) [38]; 21% in Manama, Bahrain, in the early nineties (n = 242) [60]; 27% in Oman among incarcerated PWID (n = 33) [58]; 38% in Nador, northern Morocco, in 2008 (n = 233) [61]; 52% in the third largest metropolis in Pakistan, Faisalabad, in 2011 (n = 364) [37]; 72% in rural Iran in 2004-5 (n=61) [62]; and 87% in Tripoli, Libya in 2010 (n = 328) [47] (Table 3). HIV prevalence was consistently low among PWID in Jordan, Lebanon, OPT, Syria, and Tunisia (0%-3.1%). Substantial intra-country variability in HIV prevalence was

HIV among People Who Inject Drugs in MENA

observed in Afghanistan, Iran, Morocco, and Pakistan (Table 3). In most countries with high HIV prevalence, recent studies report increasing HIV prevalence starting around 2003 (Tables 3 and S4).

Three HIV incidence studies were identified. In Kabul, Afghanistan, HIV incidence among a sample of 479 PWID in 2008 was 2.2/100 person-years (pyr), despite 72% of study participants reporting use of harm reduction services [63]. Among 500 PWID in three cities in Pakistan, HIV incidence was 1.7/100 pyr in 2006 [64]. A very high incidence rate (17.2/100 pyr) was reported in Tehran, Iran, in 2002 among 214 incarcerated PWID [65].

Analysis of notified HIV cases indicated that in 2011, injecting drug use contributed 20% (80/409), 23% (50/216), 38% (6/16), 49% (52/107), and 60% (948/1,588) of all newly notified cases in this year in Egypt, Pakistan, Bahrain, Afghanistan, and Iran, respectively. A smaller contribution was reported in the remaining countries (Table 4).

HIV Epidemic States

The evidence was sufficient to characterize the HIV epidemic state in 13 countries, summarized in Table 5. Details on how the conclusions were reached are in Text S3.

Concentrated HIV epidemics. Concentrated HIV epidemics among PWID were observed in Iran, Pakistan, Afghanistan, Egypt, Morocco, and Libya (Table 5). Iran is the only country with conclusive evidence for an established concentrated epidemic at the national level. The first HIV outbreaks among PWID in Iran were reported around 1996. HIV prevalence then increased considerably in the early 2000s, reaching a peak by the mid-2000s (Figure 3A). HIV prevalence in the 2006 and 2010 multi-city IBBSS was stable at 15% (n=2,853 and n=2,479, respectively) (Figure 4C) [43,44]. The evidence suggests that the HIV epidemic about 15%.

Emerging concentrated epidemics were seen in Pakistan, Afghanistan, Egypt, and Morocco (Table 5). For example, in Pakistan, after almost two decades of very low HIV prevalence among PWID, a trend of increasing prevalence was observed after 2003 (Figure 3B). This trend is national and ongoing, reaching over 40% in recent studies and with no evidence yet of stabilization (Figure 3B). This trend also manifests itself in the multi-province IBBSS where HIV prevalence among PWID has steadily increased from 10.8% in 2005 (n = 2,431) [52], to 15.8% in 2006 (n=4,039) [51], 20.8% in 2008 (n=2,969) [50], and 25.2% in 2011 (n=4,593) [37] (Figure 4A). In view of the high HIV prevalence, the emerging HIV epidemic in Pakistan is considered advanced. Another example is Egypt where HIV prevalence was also very low for about two decades (Tables 3 and S4), including the first round of IBBSS in 2006 [40,41], but increased to 6%-7% in both cities surveyed in the most recent IBBSS in 2010 (n = 284 and n = 274) (Figure 4B) [42]. Consistently, 19.6% of the 409 newly notified HIV cases in 2010 in Egypt were due to injecting drug use, compared with only 1.6% of the total notified cases up to 2008 (Table 4). In Afghanistan (Figure 4E) and Morocco, the HIV epidemic among PWID appears to be emerging in at least parts of the country, with notably high HIV prevalence in some settings, but still low HIV prevalence in others (Table 3)

The HIV epidemic in Libya is also concentrated, but the trend is unclear. Libya has the highest reported prevalence of HIV among PWID in MENA (87.2%, 95% CI 83.1%–90.6% in the IBBSS in Tripoli [47]). Earlier data, although of unclear quality, also indicate prevalence of up to 59% in 2001 among PWID in

		מ הובאמובווכב טו הב	הסטוב אווס וווזברו מ	נמלא ונו נווב ואומר	ווב במאו מווט ואטור		נומרובת ווחווו ווו		
Country	Population 15–64 Years [3	3]Year of Estimate	PWID Estimate (Nur	mber)		PWID Preva	lence (%)		Source
			Low	Middle	High	Low	Middle	High	
Afghanistan	16,119,000	R	22,720	34,080	45,440	0.16	0.24	0.32	[4]
		2005	6,870	6,900	6,930	0.05	0.05	0.05	[31]
		2009	18,000	20,000	23,000				[124]
		2009					0.11		[125]
Algeria	24,246,000	a	26,333	40,961	55,590	0.14	0.22	0.29	[4]
Bahrain	983,000	a	337	674	1,011	0.08	0.16	0.24	[4]
Djibouti		Ι	I	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι
Egypt	51,460,000	a	56,970	88,618	120,265	0.13	0.21	0.28	[4]
Iran	53,132,000	n	70,000	185,000	300,000	0.17	0.46	0.74	[4]
		2004		180,000			0.40		[31]
		2007		250,000					[126]
Iraq	16,967,000	a	23,115	34,673	46,230	0.19	0.28	0.37	[4]
Jordan	3,624,000	a	3,200	4,850	6,500	0.11	0.16	0.22	[4]
Kuwait	1,937,000	n	2,700	4,100	5,500	0.20	0.30	0.41	[4]
Lebanon	2,871,000	B	2,200	3,300	4,400	0.09	0.14	0.19	[4]
Libya	4,148,000	ß	4,633	7,206	9,779	0.15	0.23	0.32	[4]
		2001		1,685			0.05		[31]
Morocco	21,247,000	a		18,500			0.10		[4]
Oman	1,956,000	9	2,800	4,250	5,700	0.20	0.30	0.40	[4]
OPT	2,212,000	a	1,200	1,850	2,500	0.22	0.35	0.47	[4]
Pakistan	104,724,000	a	54,000	462,000	870,000	0.07	0.50	1.12	[4]
		2006	125,000	130,460	150,000	0.13	0.14	0.16	[31]
		2006		102,042			0.25		[57]
		2010		000'66					[126]
Qatar	1,503,000	9	780	1,190	1,600	0.15	0.22	0.30	[4]
Saudi Arabia	18,306,000	e	15,172	23,600	32,028	0.13	0.20	0.27	[4]
		2008		10,000					[126]
Somalia	4,885,000	a		1,000			0.03		[4]
Sudan	24,540,000	e	24,319	37,828	51,337	0.13	0.20	0.28	[4]
Syria	12,073,000	e	4,000	6,000	8,000	0.04	0.07	0.09	[4]
Tunisia	7,294,000	a	8,462	13,163	17,864	0.14	0.21	0.29	[4]
		2009		0'000					[126]
UAE	6,200,000	a	3,200	4,800	6,400	0.20	0.30	0.40	[4]
Yemen	12,800,000	a	12,710	19,770	26,830	0.15	0.23	0.31	[4]
^a The specific year of the estin UAE, United Arab Emirates.	nate was not mentioned in the 1663.t002	: original report, but the	e report covered data fr	om 1998–2005.					

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

8

Country	Citation	Year	City	Study Site	Sampling	Population	Sample Size	HIV Preval	ence
								Percent	95% CI
Afghanistan	MOH, 2012 [39] (Round II)	2012	Herat		RDS	All male	185	13.3 ^a	8.9-19.3
			Kabul		RDS	All male	369	2.4 ^a	1.1–4.6
			Mazar-i-Sharif		RDS	All male	254	0.3 ^a	0.0-2.2
			Jalabad		RDS	All male	236	1.0 ^a	0.1–3.0
			Charikar		RDS	All male	117	0.9 ^a	0.0-4.7
	MOH, 2010 [38] (Round I)	2009	Herat		RDS	All male	159	18.2	12.6-25.1
			Kabul		RDS	All male	286	3.2	1.4-5.9
			Mazar-i-Sharif		RDS	All male	102	1.0	0.0-5.3
	Todd, 2011 [69]	2007–2009	Kabul	Harm reduction center & community	CS	All male	483	2.1	1.0–3.8
	Nasir, 2011 [127]	2006-2008	Herat	VCT	S	99% male	340	3.2	1.6-5.7
			Jalabad	VCT	CS	99% male	96	0.0	Ι
			Mazar-i-Sharif	VCT	S	99% male	187	0.0	Ι
	Todd, 2007 [128]	2005-2006	Kabul	VCT	CS	All male	463	3.0	1.7-5.0
Bahrain	Al-Haddad, 1994 [60]	1991	Manama	Voluntary drug treatment center	S	All male	242	21.1	16.1–26.8
Egypt	MOH/FHI, 2010 [42] (Round II)	2010	Alexandria		RDS	All male	284	6.5 ^a	3.3-10.3 ^a
			Cairo		RDS	All male	274	6.8 ^a	3.9-10.8 ^a
	Elghamrawy, 2012 [129]	2008-2011	Cairo	Harm reduction center	CS	All male	3,222	1.4	1.0-1.9
	Soliman, 2010 [41] (Round I)	2006	Cairo		RDS	All male	413	0.6 ^a	0.1-1.8 ^a
	MOH/FHI, 2006 [40] (Round I)	2006	Cairo		RDS	All female	16	0.0	I
	Saleh, 1998 [130]	1994	Alexandria	Voluntary drug treatment center	S		100	0.0	1
	Attia, 1996 [131]	Ι	Alexandria	Voluntary drug treatment center	CS		54	0.0	I
	Hasan, 1994 [132]	1			S		79	7.6	2.8-15.8
	El-Ghazzawi, 1987 [133]	I	Alexandria		CS		38	0.0	Ι
Iran	Honarvar, 2013 [134]	2012-2013	Shiraz	Voluntary drug treatment center	S	98% male	233	7.7	4.6–11.9
	Mehrejredi, 2013 [135]	2011	Tehran	VCT and harm reduction center	CS	91% male	209	2.9	1.1–6.1
	MOH, 2010 [44] (Round II)	2010	Fars	VCT, Harm reduction center, voluntary drug treatment center, & community	S	98% male	250	31.9	26.3–38.2
			Lorestan	ldem	CS	All male	222	26.4	20.9–32.9
			Tehran	Idem	CS	95% male	567	23.9	20.5-27.7
			Sistan & Baluchestan	Idem	CS	99% male	138	18.3	12.1–25.6
			Kermanshah	Idem	S	99% male	249	16.8	12.4-22.1
			Khouzestan	Idem	S	99% male	198	9.4	5 9_14 6

Table 3. HIV prevalence among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa as extracted from reports included in the systematic review.

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

9

June 2014 | Volume 11 | Issue 6 | e1001663

HIV among People Who Inject Drugs in MENA

43

Table 3. Cont.									
Country	Citation	Year	City	Study Site	Sampling	Population	Sample Size	HIV Preval	ence
								Percent	95% CI
			Mazandaran	Idem	S	97% male	276	7.0	4.2-10.5
			Kerman	Idem	CS	94% male	213	6.2	3.3-10.2
			Azerbaijan Sharghi	Idem	S	100% male	118	3.6	0.9-8.5
			Khorasan Razavi	Idem	CS	99% male	248	2.2	0.7-4.6
	Alipour, 2012 [79]	2010	Tehran, Shiraz, & mashhad	Harm reduction center	S	All male, heterosexually active	226	9.4	5.8-13.9
			Tehran, Shiraz, & mashhad	Harm reduction center	Ŋ	All female, sexual partners of PWID	42	7.7	1.5–19.5
	llami, 2010 [136]	2009–2010	Kohgiloyeh & Boyerahmad		S		158	9.6	5.9–15.9
	Hashemepour, 2013 [137]	2009	North Isfahan	Community	S		82	1.2	0.0-6.6
			South Isfahan	Community	S		589	1.0	0.4-2.2
			West Isfahan	Community	CS		479	1.7	0.7–3.3
			East Isfahan	Community	CS		113	3.5	1.0-8.8
			Isfahan city	Community	S		336	1.5	0.5–3.4
	Dibaj, 2013 [138]	2008-2009	Isfahan	Prison	CS	All male	970	6.4	4.9–8.1
	Javadi, 2013 [139]	2008-2009	Isfahan	Harm reduction center	S	95% male	539	1.1	0.4–2.4
	Eskandarieh, 2013 [140]	2008	Tehran	Mandatory drug treatment center	S	97% male	258	18.8	14.4-24.3
	Zamani, 2010 [141]	2008	Isfahan		RDS	98% male	117	0.7 ^a	0-6–2.3 ^a
	Ghasemian, 2011 [142]	2007-2009	Sari	Clinical setting	CS		88	18.2	10.8-27.8
	Zadeh, 2014 [143]	2007-2008	Tehran	Prison	S		3,044	3.7	3.1-4.4
	SeyedAlinaghi, 2013 [144]	2007-2008	Tehran	Community	S	Beggars	658	2.4	1.4–3.9
	Kazerooni, 2010 [67]	2007	Shiraz	Prison	SRS	All male	363	6.6	4.3-9.7
	Aminzadeh, 2007 [145]	2007	Tehran	Clinical setting	CS		70	30.0	19.6–42.1
	Rahimi_Movaghar, 2010 [146]	2006-2007	Tehran	Voluntary drug treatment center & community	S	All female	38	10.5	2.9–24.8
			Tehran	Voluntary drug treatment center & community	CS	All male	861	10.7	8.7–12.9
	Kheirandish, 2010 [147]	2006	Tehran	Mandatory drug treatment center	CS	All male	459	24.4	20.5-28.6
	MOH, 2008 [43] (Round I)	2006–2007	Azerbaijan Sharghi	Harm reduction center, voluntary drug treatment center, & community	TLS	96% male	294	8.2	5.3-11.9
			Fars	Idem	TLS	92% male	353	24.7	20.2-29.5
			Kerman	Idem	TLS	96% male	162	20.8	15.0-28.1
			Kermanshah	Idem	TLS	99% male	259	30.5	25.0-36.5
			Khorasan Razavi	Idem	TLS	98% male	399	6.5	4.3-9.4
			Khuzestan	Idem	TLS	99% male	168	4.2	1.7-8.4

Research paper 1

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

10

	alence	95% CI	29.0-42.9	7.6-16.6	0.4-6.0	11.9–17.4	18.0-28.3	38.1–57.5		4.1–9.1	0.0-4.1	59.2-82.9	4.3-77.7	17.6–29.5	28.8-63.4	10.7–17.7	0.5-71.6	10.1–21.5	19.7–28.7	17.8–26.5	2.0-25.8	14.6–23.2	11.0-20.3	5.2-40.3	27.4-44.7	0.0-3.7	3.7-13.5	13.5-21.2	I	0.4-4.9
	HIV Prev	Percent	35.7	11.6	2.1	14.4	25.0	47.7	0.0	6.3	0.8	72.1	33.3	23.2	45.7	14.0	20.0	15.2	24.0	22.0	9.7	18.0	15.1	18.2	35.7	0.7	7.8	17.0	0.0	1.6
	Sample Size		196	216	142	664	548 ^a	109	10	400	133	61	9	207	35	401	S	165	371	369	31	333	249	22	126	149	06	371	23	177
	Population		97% male	All male	93% male	98% male	98% male	All male	All female	Cadavers	All male	98% male, rural population	All female	All male	98% male, TB infected PWID	All male	All female	All male	All male, resident inmates	All male, newly 7–admitted inmates	96% male	97% male, hospitalized for ID			98% male	93% male	97% male	87% male	All female, hospitalized for ID	All male, hospitalized for ID
	Sampling		TLS	TLS	TLS	TLS	RDS	CS	CS	S	CS	CS	C	CS	S	C	CS	CS	S	CS	CS	CS	SRS	SRS	CS	SRS	S	SRS	S	CS
	Study Site		Idem	ldem	Idem	Idem		Voluntary drug treatment center & prison	Prison	Clinical setting	Voluntary drug treatment center	Voluntary drug treatment center	Harm reduction center & community	Harm reduction center & community	Clinical setting	Prison	Voluntary drug treatment center	Voluntary drug treatment center	Resident prisoners	Newly admitted prisoners	Clinical setting	Clinical setting	Prison	Prison	Clinical setting	Prison	Voluntary drug treatment center	Prison	Clinical setting	Clinical setting
	City		Lorestan	Mazandaran	Sistan	Tehran	Tehran	Ahfaz	Birjand	Tehran	Shahr-e-Kord	Rural Northwestern Iran	Tehran	Tehran	Tehran	lsfahan, Chaharmahal Bakhtiary, & Lorestan	Tehran	Tehran	Karaj	Karaj	Rafsanjan	Ahfaz	Hormozgan	Gorgan	Tehran	Hamadan	Tehran	Tehran	Kashan	Kashan
	Year						2006-2007	2005-2006	2005	2004	2004	2004–2005	2004		2003–2006	2003	2003-2004		2003		2003	2002-2006	2002	2002-2003	2002-2004	2002	2001-2002		2001-2006	
	Citation						Malekinejad, 2008 [148]	Alavi, 2012 [149]	Ghanbarzadeh, 2006 [150]	Tofigi, 2011 [151]	lmani, 2008 [152]	Mojtahedzadeh, 2008 [62]	Zamani, 2006 [102]		Shamaei, 2009 [153]	Pourahmad, 2007 [154]	Zamani, 2005 [155]		Farhoudi, 2003 [156]		Khodadadizadeh, 2003 [157]	Alavi, 2010 [158]	Davoodian, 2009 [159]	Behnaz, 2007 [160]	Asadi, 2006 [68]	Alizadeh, 2005 [161]	Mir Nasseri, 2011 [162]		Sharif, 2009 [163]	
Table 3. Cont.	Country																													

11

June 2014 | Volume 11 | Issue 6 | e1001663

Research paper 1

Country	Citation	Year	City	Study Site	Sampling	Population	Sample Size	HIV Prevale	nce
								Percent	95% CI
	Alavi, 2009 [164]	2001-2006	Ahfaz	Clinical setting	CS	92% male	142	12.7	7.7-19.3
	Alavi, 2007 [165]	2001-2003	Ahfaz	Clinical setting	CS	All male	154	67.5	59.5-74.8
	Rahbar, 2004 [166]	2001-2002	Mashhad	Voluntary drug treatment center	CS		222	0.0	I
			Mashhad	Prison	C		101	6.9	2.8-13.8
	Sharifi-Mood, 2006 [167]	2000-2005	Zahedan	Clinical setting	S	97% male, hospitalized for ID	31	25.8	11.9-44.6
	Mirahmadizadeh, 2004 [168]	1998	Shiraz	Voluntary drug treatment center	CS		464	1.2	0.5-2.8
	Nowroozi, 1998 [169]	1996	Tehran	Prison	SRS	All male	400	0.0	
	Alavian, 2013 [170]	I	Shiraz	Voluntary drug treatment center	CS	98% male	144	41.7	33.5-50.2
	Azarkar, 2010 [171]	Ι	Birjand	Prison	SRS		17	0.0	I
	Mirahmadizadeh, 2009 [172]		National	National	RCS	96% male	936	20.5	18.0-23.2
	Amini, 2005 [173]		Tehran	Voluntary drug treatment center	CS		34	8.8	1.9–23.7
	Alaei, 2002 [174]		Kermanshah		S		429	19.2	15.5-23.2
Jordan	NAP, 2010 [45] (Round I)	2009	Amman		RDS		133	0.0	I
			Aqaba		RDS		78	0.0	
			Irbid		RDS		16	0.0	I
Lebanon	Mahfoud, 2010 [46] (Round I)	2007-2008	Beirut		RDS	All male	81	0.0	
	Ramia, 2003 [175]	2000-2002	Beirut	Clinical setting	CS	75% male	40	0.0	1
Libya	Mirzoyan, 2013 [47] (Round I)	2010	Tripoli		RDS		328	87.1 ^a	81.5–91.9 ^a
Morocco	MOH, 2012 [117] (Round I)	2011-2002	Nador		RDS	99% male	277	25.1 ^a	16.1–35.0
	MOH, 2012 [117] (Round I)	2010-2001	Tanger		RDS	98% male	261	0.4	0.0–2.1
	MOH, 2010 [61]	2008	Al Hoceima		RDS			0.0	1
			Nador		RDS		233	37.8	31.5-44.3
	Elmir, 2002 [176]	1991–1999	National		CS		109	33	24–43
Oman	MOH, 2006 [58]		Muscat	Voluntary drug treatment center	C	All male	17	12 ^b	2–36
			Muscat	Prison	CS	All male	33	27 ^b	13–46
			Muscat	Community	SBS	All male	85	18 ^b	10-27
ОРТ	MOH, 2010 [177] (Round I)	2010	Al Azaria - East Jerusalem		RDS	98.5% male	199	0.0	I
Pakistan	NAP, 2011 [37] (Round IV)	2011	D G Khan	Community	MSCS	98.4% male	365	49.6	44.3-54.8
			Faisalabad	Community	MSCS	98.4% male	364	52.5	47.2-57.7
			Gurjat	Community	MSCS	98.4% male	208	46.2	39.2-53.2
			Lahore	Community	MSCS	98.4% male	367	30.8	26.1–35.8
			Multan	Community	MSCS	98.4% male	365	24.9	20.6-29.7
			Pakpattan	Community	MSCS	98.4% male	365	3.3	1.7-5.7
			Rahim Yar Khan	Community	MSCS	98.4% male	214	14.9	10.5-20.4

Research paper 1

HIV among People Who Inject Drugs in MENA

Table 3. Cont.

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

12

Table 3. Cont.									
Country	Citation	Year	City	Study Site	Sampling	Population	Sample Size	HIV Prevale	ce
								Percent	5% CI
			Sarghoda	Community	MSCS	98.4% male	365	40.6	5.5-45.8
			Dadu	Community	MSCS	98.4% male	194	16.0	1.1–21.9
			Karachi	Community	MSCS	98.4% male	365	42.2	7.1-47.4
			Larkana	Community	MSCS	98.4% male	365	18.6	4.8-23.0
			Sukkur	Community	MSCS	98.4% male	365	19.2	5.3-23.6
			Haripur	Community	MSCS	98.4% male	65	7.9	.5-17.0
			Peshawar	Community	MSCS	98.4% male	260	20.0	5.3-25.4
			Quetta	Community	MSCS	98.4% male	365	7.1	.7-10.3
			Turbat	Community	MSCS	98.4% male	365	21.4	7.3-25.9
	Nai Zindagi, 2009 [66]	2009	Gurjanwala	Community	S		300	00	-12
			Mandi Bahauddin	Community	S		300	52	6–58
			Rawalpindi	Community	S		300	23	8–28
			Sheikhukupura	Community	S		300	21	7–26
	Nai Zindagi, 2008 [89]	2008	Faisalabad		S	All male, married	104	13	-22
			Lahore		CS	All male, married	103	10	-17
			Sarghoda		CS	All male, married	252	41	5-47
	NAP, 2008 [50] (Round III)	2008	D G Khan	Community	MSCS	99.8% male	345	18.6	4.6-23.1
			Faisalabad	Community	MSCS	99.8% male	400	12.3	.2–15.9
			Hyderabad	Community	MSCS	99.8% male	397	30.5	6.0-35.3
			Karachi	Community	MSCS	99.8% male	403	23.1	9.1–27.5
			Lahore	Community	MSCS	99.8% male	401	14.5	1.2–18.3
			Larkana	Community	MSCS	99.8% male	389	28.5	4.1–33.3
			Peshawar	Community	MSCS	99.8% male	231	12.8	.9–18.0
			Sarghoda	Community	MSCS	99.8% male	403	22.8	8.8–27.2
	Platt, 2009 [178]	2007	Rawalpindi		RDS	98% male	302	2.6	.2-5.2
			Abotabad		RDS	98% male	102	0.0	1
	NAP, 2006–2007 [51] (Round II)	2006-2007	Bannu	Community	MSCS		72	1.4	.0-7.5
			Faisalabad	Community	MSCS		400	13.3	0.1-17.0
			Gurjanwala	Community	MSCS		400	1.0	.3–2.5
			Hyderabad	Community	MSCS		400	29.8	5.3-34.5
			Karachi	Community	MSCS		399	30.1	5.6-34.8
			Lahore	Community	MSCS		400	6.5	.3-9.4
			Larkana	Community	MSCS		399	16.5	3.0-20.6
			Multan	Community	MSCS		400	0.0	1

Research paper 1

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

13

Table 3. Cont.									
Country	Citation	Year	City	Study Site	Sampling	Population	Sample Size	HIV Preval	ence
								Percent	95% CI
			Peshawar	Community	MSCS		180	2.2	0.6-5.6
			Quetta	Community	MSCS		190	9.5	5.7-14.6
			Sarghoda	Community	MSCS		400	51.3	46.2-56.2
			Sukkur	Community	MSCS		399	5.3	3.3-7.9
	Rahman, 2006 [179]	2005	Lahore		CS	All male		0.0	Ι
	Nai zindagi, 2005 [180]	2005	Faisalabad		SRS	All male	200	9.5	5.8-14.4
			Lahore		SRS	All male	200	2.5	0.8-5.7
			Sarghoda		SRS	All male	100	12.0	6.4-20.0
			Sialkot		SRS	All male	100	1.0	0.0-5.4
	NAP, 2005 [52] (Round I)	2005	Faisalabad	Community	TLS		400	13.3	10.1–17.0
			Hyderabad	Community	TLS		398	25.3	21.2-30.0
			Lahore	Community	TLS		400	3.8	2.1-6.1
			Multan	Community	TLS		400	0.3	0.0-1.4
			Peshawar	Community	TLS		284	0.4	0.0-1.9
			Quetta	Community	TLS		147	9.5	5.3-15.5
			Sukkur	Community	TLS		402	19.2	15.4-23.3
	Bokhari, 2007 [83]	2004	Karachi	Community	TLS	All male	402	23.1	19.1–27.6
			Lahore	Community	TLS	All male	397	0.5	0.1-1.8
	Achakzai, 2007 [181]	2004	Quetta	Community	CS		50	24.0	13.1–38.2
	Bokhari, 2006 [182] (Pilot)	2004-2005	Karachi		TLS		400	26.0	21.8–30.6
			Rawalpindi		S		199	0.5	0.0–2.8
	Abbasi, 2005 [183]	2004	Larkana	VCT	S	All male, homeless	3154	8.3	7.4-9.3
	Abbasi, 2009 [184]	2003	Quetta	Voluntary drug treatment center	S	All male	300	0.3	0.0–1.8
	Altaf, 2007 [74]	2003	Karachi	Harm reduction center	CS	All male, 80% homeless	161	0.6	0.0–3.4
	Kuo, 2006 [70]	2003	Lahore	Harm reduction center	CS	All male	255	0.0	Ι
			Quetta	Harm reduction center	CS	98% male	96	0.0	I
	Shah, 2004 [185]	2003	Larkana		CS		175	9.7	5.8-15.1
	Altaf, 2003[75]	2002	Karachi	Harm reduction center	S	All male, 86% homeless	153	0.0	I
	Hadi, 2005 [64]	2002	Rawalpindi, Swat, & Mardan	Mixed	S	65% male	500	3.4	2.0-5.4
	Akhtar, 2004 [186]	2002	Faisalabad	Voluntary drug treatment center	S	All male	74	0.0	Ι
	Nai Zindagi, 1999 [72]	1999	Lahore	Community	CS	All male	200	0.0	I
	Parviz, 2006 [82]	1996	Karachi	Voluntary drug treatment center & community	S	All male	231	0.4	0.0-2.4
	Baqi, 1998 [81]	1994	Karachi	Voluntary and mandatory drug treatment center	CS	All male	120	0.0	I

14

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

HIV among People Who Inject Drugs in MENA

48

Country	Citation	Year	City	Study Site	Sampling	Population	Sample Size	HIV Prevale	nce
								Percent	95% CI
	Iqbal, 1996 [187]	1987-2004	Lahore	Clinical setting	S		77	0.0	Ĩ
	Khanani, 2010 [188]	Ι	Karachi	Clinical setting	S	Afghani refugees	42	19.0	8.6-34.1
	UrRehman, 2002 [189]	I	National				400	0.0	1
Syria	Mental Health Directorate, 2008 [59]	2006	Damascus		SBS	96% male	204	0.5	0.1–2.7
Tunisia	MOH, 2013 [53] (Round II)	2011	Tunis		RDS		506	2.9 ^a	1.3-4.4 ^a
			Bizerte		RDS		301	0.0	I
	MOH, 2010 [54] (Round I)	2009	Tunis, Bizerte, & Sousse		RDS	91% male	715	3.1	1.9–4.6
^b Population-adjuste ^b Self-report.	d estimate.								

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

Table 3. Cont.

CS, convenience sampling; ID, intectious unsease, sampling; VCT, voluntary counseling and testing. I doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001663.t003

convenience sampling; ID, infectious disease; MSCS, multi-stage cluster sampling; RCS, random cluster sampling; RDS, respondent driven sampling; SSS, snow ball sampling; SRS, simple random sampling; TLS, time location

15

June 2014 | Volume 11 | Issue 6 | e1001663

Research paper 1

HIV among People Who Inject Drugs in MENA

Tripoli (Table S4). This indicates a concentrated HIV epidemic among PWID in at least part of Libya. Although the epidemic in Tripoli is most likely to be established, the level of evidence overall is insufficient to characterize whether the national epidemic is emerging, with few outbreaks in the past, or is established with endemic HIV transmission among PWID.

"At least outbreak-type" HIV epidemics. In Bahrain and Oman, data show that there are, or have been, at least some pockets of HIV infection among PWID, with reported prevalence up to 21.1% (Bahrain, n = 242) [60] and 27% (Oman, n = 33) [58]. However, most available data are from studies with unknown methodology or high ROB; therefore, the quality of evidence is insufficient to indicate whether there is a concentrated epidemic in these two countries, even if localized.

Low-level HIV epidemics. The HIV epidemic among PWID is low-level in Jordan, Lebanon, Tunisia, OPT, and Syria (Table 5). In these countries (except Syria), at least one round of IBBSS has been conducted, in addition to other data; all indicate limited HIV spread among PWID (Figure 4D; Tables 3 and S4). The contribution of injecting drug use to the total notified cases also remains minimal in these countries, further confirming a low-level epidemic (Table 4).

Injecting Risk Behavior

Table S5 summarizes injecting risk behavior measures among PWID in MENA. The key risk behavior that exposes PWID to HIV infection is the use of non-sterile injecting equipment. Available data indicate that the lifetime prevalence of sharing needles/syringes among PWID in MENA was as high as 71% [45], 79% [66], 85% [47], 95% [67], and 97% [58] in Jordan, Pakistan, Libya, Iran, and Oman, respectively. The median prevalence of sharing in the last injection was 23% (IQR: 18%–28%). In Pakistan, most injecting occurs in groups and in public places, and reported use of "street doctors" or professional injectors was common, which is associated with high reuse of injecting equipment (Table S5) [50].

In MENA, PWID inject drugs at median of 2.2 injections per day, with reported rates of 3.3 [68] and 5.7 [69] injections per day among some PWID in Iran and Afghanistan, respectively. The median age at first injection was 26 years (IQR: 24–28 years), and the median duration of injecting drugs was 4.6 years (IQR: 3.8–6.1 years) (Table S5).

Sexual Risk Behavior

The majority of PWID in MENA are sexually active (Table S6). On average, 52% have been ever married (IQR: 35%-56%), 43%-89% report having sex with a regular female partner, 29%-60% reported multiple sexual partnerships, and 18%-42% report sex with non-regular female partners in the last year (Table S6). Reported levels of condom use varied but generally were on the low to intermediate range. Overall, 36% of PWID reported ever using condoms (IQR: 20%-54%) with the lowest prevalence in Afghanistan and Pakistan (10%-38% [70-76]), and the highest in Lebanon (88% [77]). Condom use during last sex was reported by 4%-38% of PWID, reaching 66% only in Libya [47]. Only 12%-25% of PWID reported consistent condom use in the last year (Table S6).

Mixing with Other High-Risk Populations

Risk behaviors of PWID in MENA overlap considerably with other high-risk populations, namely MSM and female sex workers. A median of 18% of male PWID in MENA reported ever having sex with men (IQR: 11%-27%), and a median of

Table 4. Contribution of injecting drug use as a mode of HIV transmission to the total HIV/AIDS cases by country as per various studies/reports and countries' case notification reports [126,190].

Country	2011 Cas	e Notification Re	eport ^a	Cumulative Data since the Start of the Epidemic
	n	N	Percent	Percent due to PWID (end year)
Afghanistan	52	107	48.6	44.3% (2011)
Bahrain	6	16	37.5	62.8% (2008)
Egypt	80	409	19.6	1.6% (2008)
Iran	948	1,588	59.7	69.4% (2011)
Iraq	_	_	_	0.0% (2009)
Jordan	0	17	0.0	2.4% (2011)
Kuwait	0	25	0.0	2.2% (2008)
Lebanon	1	51	2.0	6.1% (2009)
Morocco	9	750	1.2	2.7% (2011)
Oman	5	140	3.6	4.3% (2011)
OPT	0	6	0.0	2.8% (2011)
Qatar	0	1	0.0	-
Pakistan	50	216	23.1	33.2% (2008)
Saudi Arabia	46	394	11.7	6.4% (2009)
Syria	0	69	0.0	2.4% (2009)
Tunisia	3	73	4.1	24.4% (2009)
UAE	1	57	1.8	3.6% (2011)
Yemen	1	236	0.4	1.4% (2009)

Only the most recent available report was used.

^aExcept for Bahrain, Egypt, and Iraq (2010 report) and Pakistan (2008 report).

n, number of positive cases that are PWID; N, total number of positive cases; Percent, percent of positive cases that are PWID out of the total number of positive cases; UAE United Arab Emirates

doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001663.t004

7% did so in the last year (IQR: 2%-10%) (Table S6). The highest rates of same-sex sex have been reported in Pakistan. Reported condom use during anal sex was overall very low (Table S6).

1.8%) and chlamydia (0%-0.7%) were available only in Pakistan (Table S6).

PWID in MENA engage in sex work, either through buying or selling sex. A median of 45% reported ever having sex with a sex worker (IQR: 31%-64%), and a median of 23% did so in the last year (IQR: 15%-30%), with generally low levels of condom use (Table S6). Selling sex in the past year was reported by 5%-29% of PWID in Egypt, Iran, Morocco, OPT, and Pakistan (Table S6).

Proxy Biological Markers of Risk Behavior

There was substantial between-and within-country variation in HCV prevalence among PWID, with a median of 44% (IQR: 31%-64%) (Table 6). Very high HCV prevalence was reported such as in Afghanistan (70%, n=185, Herat), Egypt (63%, n = 100, Alexandria), Iran (over 80%, n = 386 prisoners, Tehran), Libya (94%, n = 328, Tripoli), Pakistan (94%, n = 161, Karachi), and Saudi Arabia (75%, n = 1,909, Jeddah) (Table 6). These figures are consistent with the reported high levels of sharing of injection equipment, such as in Iran, Pakistan, and Libya (Table S5).

Available data on the prevalence of syphilis among PWID in Egypt, Iran, Afghanistan, and Pakistan indicate relatively high prevalence up to 3%, 8%, 17%, and 18%, respectively (Table S6). Considerable herpes simplex virus type 2 prevalence has been reported among PWID in Afghanistan (4%-21%) and Pakistan (6%-19%) (Table S6). Data on the prevalence of gonorrhoea (0%-

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

Knowledge of HIV/AIDS

Levels of basic HIV/AIDS knowledge among PWID in MENA were high overall, with a median of 93% having ever heard of HIV/AIDS (IQR: 72%-99%). Still, there was much variation in the proportion of PWID who correctly identified reuse of non-sterile needles/syringes and unprotected sex as modes of HIV transmission (Table S7). Only a median of 45% (IQR: 30%-63%) of PWID perceived themselves at risk of HIV/AIDS (Table S7). With a few exceptions of high levels of HIV testing such as in Lebanon and Oman, the median prevalence of lifetime testing among PWID ranged between 8% (Egypt) and 45% (Iran) (Table S7).

Discussion

Injecting Drug Use in MENA

We estimate that there are 626,000 PWID in the MENA region. Overall, the mean prevalence of injecting drug use (0.24%) is comparable with global figures which range from 0.06% in South Asia to 1.50% in Eastern Europe [31]. Prevalence of injecting drug use in MENA varied between countries and was higher in the eastern part of the region. Injecting drug use appears to be heavily concentrated among men; but female PWID are one of the hardest-to-reach populations in MENA, thereby limiting our knowledge of this vulnerable group. From limited available data, it appears that injecting drug use among females has a strong

Table 5. Characterization of the state of the HIV epidemic among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa based on the HIV biological data and quality and scope of the evidence.

Country	Level of HIV Prevalence	Trend in HIV Prevalence	Geographical Distribution	Quality and Scope of Evidence
Iran	Concentrated	Established	National	Conclusive
Pakistan	Concentrated	Emerging	National	Conclusive
Afghanistan	Concentrated	Emerging	At least localized	Good
Egypt	Concentrated	Emerging	At least localized	Good
Morocco	Concentrated	Emerging	At least localized	Good
Libya	Concentrated	Unknown	At least localized	Good
Bahrain	At least outbreak-type	-	-	Limited
Oman	At least outbreak-type	_	_	Poor
Jordan	Low-level	—	-	Good
Lebanon	Low-level	_	—	Good
ОРТ	Low-level	-	—	Good
Tunisia	Low-level	_	_	Good
Syria	Low-level	-	-	Limited
Djibouti	Unknown	_	_	Poor
Iraq	Unknown	-	-	Poor
Kuwait	Unknown	_	_	Poor
Saudi Arabia	Unknown	_	-	Poor
Sudan	Unknown	_	_	Poor
Yemen	Unknown	_	-	Poor
Algeria	Unknown	_	_	No evidence
Qatar	Unknown	-	-	No evidence
Somalia	Unknown	_	-	No evidence
UAE	Unknown	—	—	No evidence

Countries are sorted by level of HIV prevalence, trend in HIV prevalence, geographical distribution, quality and scope of evidence, then alphabetical order. UAE, United Arab Emirates.

doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001663.t005

association with sex work and having a PWID sexual partner [78,79].

Emerging HIV Epidemics and HIV Epidemic Potential among PWID

After synthesizing a large body of data, we documented HIV epidemics among PWID in one-third of MENA countries. The HIV epidemic is in a concentrated state in about half the countries with available data. Iran is the only country with an established concentrated epidemic, while the most common pattern is that of emerging concentrated epidemics. Most observed epidemics in the region are recent, occurring only in the last decade; around the same time that HIV epidemics among MSM appear to have emerged (2003) [14]. Of note, our classification of epidemic states did not depend only on the size of the epidemic, but also on the trend of HIV prevalence and other biological data. For example in Pakistan, despite high HIV prevalence, the epidemic was classified as emerging since HIV prevalence continues in an increasing trend. HIV prevalence among PWID in MENA countries with concentrated epidemics is overall in the range of 10%-15%, which is in the intermediate range compared to global figures [31]. However, there are settings with very high prevalence, most notably in Tripoli, Libya, which appears to have one of the highest HIV prevalence reported globally (87.1%) [31,47].

In about 20% of MENA countries, the HIV epidemic among PWID was low level, with HIV prevalence consistently low for many years including the most recent IBBSS. In some countries, such as Jordan, Lebanon, and OPT, no HIV infections were found in the IBBSS. The available evidence in countries at low level is restricted to a few cities, and there could be hidden sub-epidemics in other sites. Nevertheless, the low prevalence could be reflective of the intrinsic HIV transmission dynamics, levels of risk behavior, and/or injecting network structure. HIV may not have been introduced to the PWID community, may have been recently introduced, or may have been spreading slowly and inefficiently for some time. The latter may reflect injecting networks with infrequent and few repeated transmission contacts among PWID to sustain HIV dynamics. In Lebanon and Syria for example, it appears that PWID form closed small networks with injecting occurring in private homes and among friends, and not in large groups or at shooting galleries [59,80]. The low prevalence could also be a consequence of stochastic effects where the small number of individuals who introduced HIV to the PWID population happened by chance not to have links that could sustain transmission chains.

Whilst it is conceivable that HIV prevalence may not grow in countries currently at low level, there are settings where HIV prevalence increased considerably in a short period of time. For example in Karachi, Pakistan, after several years of near zero prevalence [74,75,81,82], HIV prevalence in 2004 increased to

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

17



Figure 3. Trend of HIV prevalence among male people who inject drugs in (A) Iran and (B) Pakistan. This graph displays all available HIV prevalence measures for these two countries as extracted from eligible reports (Table 3) and various databases (Table 54). Each dot represents one HIV prevalence measure for the specific year, and the bars around it define the 95% confidence interval. A pattern of established HIV epidemic is observed in Iran (A), while a trend of emerging HIV epidemic is observed in Pakistan (B). doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001663.g003

23% in less than 6 months [83], and reached 42% in 2011 [37]. This pattern is not surprising given the reported risky practices and high HCV prevalence. When HIV prevalence was still very low in Karachi, HCV prevalence was over 85% [74,75], indicating substantial use of non-sterile injecting equipment and suggesting

connectivity of injecting networks. In Iran, the substantial HCV prevalence (up to 80%) was predictive of the explosive HIV epidemic that occurred subsequently. In both Iran and Pakistan, injecting networks often seem to be well connected and we found reports of injecting and sharing occurring among persons who are

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

18



Figure 4. Trend of HIV prevalence among people who inject drugs, and when available men who have sex with men, in repeated rounds of bio-behavioral surveillance surveys. These graphs display the trend of HIV prevalence in repeated rounds of bio-behavioral surveillance surveys using state of the art sampling techniques for hard-to-reach populations including respondent driven sampling and time-location sampling. Country level and aggregate data of multiple cities/provinces are displayed. For consistency between countries and between different rounds within a given country, unadjusted sample estimates are displayed. Three main patterns of HIV epidemics among PWID are depicted. A pattern of emerging concentrated epidemics is observed in Pakistan (A) and Egypt (B); a pattern of established concentrated epidemic is observed in Iranisia (D). In Afghanistan (E), there is an emerging epidemic among PWID in apparently only part of the country; the effect of which was diluted in the second round with the inclusion of new cities with still very limited prevalence. The potential overlap of the HIV epidemics among PWID and MSM is depicted in Pakistan and Egypt. In Pakistan, an emerging HIV epidemic among PWID (B). In Tunisia, the potential link between the MSM and PWID epidemics is not clear because the studies were conducted after the epidemic aha already risen. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001663.g004

not necessarily socially related, e.g. in shooting galleries [84,85]. Data on HCV prevalence among PWID in MENA countries with low-level HIV epidemics are limited. However, HCV prevalence of 40%–61% among some PWID groups such as in Lebanon, OPT, and Syria suggest moderate HIV epidemic potential once the virus is introduced to the PWID community.

Bridging of the HIV Epidemic to Other Population Groups

We found considerable overlap of risk behavior between PWID and other high-risk groups in MENA; this could play a role in emerging HIV epidemics, as it creates opportunities for an infection circulating in one population to be bridged to another one. In Pakistan, the rapidly growing HIV epidemic among PWID was followed closely by an emerging epidemic among transgender

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

sex workers (Figure 4A). Phylogenetic analyses found clustering of subtypes between the two populations, suggesting that the infection might have bridged from PWID to the transgender population [86]. A similar pattern, but in the opposite direction, may have occurred in Egypt where an emerging epidemic among MSM [14] preceded the nascent epidemic among PWID (Figure 4B). While supported by behavioral data [40,42], this needs to be confirmed by phylogenetic analyses.

Our analysis, focused on the HIV disease burden among PWID, still masks the role of these epidemics in driving the onward transmission of HIV to the sexual partners of PWID and further in the population. The majority of PWID are sexually active and about half are married. They often engage in risky sexual behavior as confirmed by the prevalence of STIs. This puts sexual partners

Table 6. Prevalence of h	epatitis C viru.	s among people	e who inject drugs	t in the Middle East	and North Africa.		
Country	HCV Prevale	nce	Year	Sample Size	Population Characteristics	City	Source
	%	95% CI					
Afghanistan	70.0	63.1–76.8	2012	185	Predominantly male	Herat	[39]
	57.9	49.8-65.6	2009	159	Predominantly male	Herat	[38]
	49.1	43.7-54.6	2006-2008	340	Predominantly male	Herat	[127]
	37.1	31.5-42.9	2009	286	Predominantly male	Kabul	[38]
	36.6	32.1-41.1	2006-2008	463	Predominantly male	Kabul	[127]
	36.1	31.7-40.5	2007-2009	483	Predominantly male	Kabul	[69]
	27.6	23.1–32.5	2012	369	Predominantly male	Kabul	[39]
	25.5	17.4–35.1	2009	102	Predominantly male	Mazar-i-Sharif	[38]
	25.0	17.3–33.6	2012	117	Predominantly male	Charikar	[39]
	24.1	18.1–30.8	2006-2008	187	Predominantly male	Mazar-i-Sharif	[127]
	18.8	14.3–24.3	2012	254	Predominantly male	Mazar-i-Sharif	[39]
	12.5	6.6-20.8	2006-2008	96	Predominantly male	Jalalabad	[127]
	9.5	5.9-13.8	2012	236	Predominantly male	Jalalabad	[39]
Egypt	63.0	52.8-72.4	1994	100		Alexandria	[130]
Iran	95.4	77.2–99.9	2002-2003	22	Prisoners	Gorgan	[160]
	88.9	80.0-94.8	2003	81	Predominantly male prisoners	Guilian	[191]
	80.5	76.3-84.4	2001-2002	386	Predominantly male prisoners	Tehran	[162]
	80.1	76.2-83.7	1998	464		Shiraz	[168]
	80.0	76.0-83.5	2006	454	Predominantly male	Tehran	[192]
	76.8	72.4–80.9	2003	401	Predominantly male prisoners	Isfahan, Chaharmahal Bakhtiary, & Lorestan	[154]
	67.4	49.5-82.6	I	34		Tehran	[173]
	65.9	59.8-71.7	2008	258	Predominantly male	Tehran	[140]
	64.8	58.4-70.6	2002	249	Prisoners	Hormozgan	[159]
	63.3	56.2-70.0	2005-2007	199		Hamadan	[193]
	59.4	47.4–68.7	2008	117	Predominantly male	Foulad-Shahr	[141]
	59.4	49.2-69.1	2001-2002	101	Prisoners	Mashhad	[166]
	52.9	35.1-70.2	2007	34	Predominantly male, homeless	Tehran	[194]
	52.1	43.6-60.6	2001-2006	142	Predominantly male	Ahfaz	[164]
	52.0	44.9–59.0	2004	202	Predominantly male	Tehran	[195]
	50.0	11.8-88.2	2008-2009	9	Incarcerated juveniles	Isfahan	[196]
	50.0	21.1–78.9	2006	12		Kermanshah	[197]
	50.0	41.4–58.6	I	138	Predominantly male	Shiraz	[170]
	47.1	42.8–51.4	2008-2009	531	Predominantly male	Isfahan	[198]

20

21

Table 6. Cont.							
Country	HCV Prevalen	ce	Year	Sample Size	Population Characteristics	City	Source
	%	95% CI					
ОРТ	40.3	29.2-52.2	2010	192	Predominantly male	East Jerusalem	[177]
Pakistan	94.3	89.7–97.4	2003	161		Karachi	[74]
	92.9	89.1–95.8	2003	255	Predominantly male	Lahore	[20]
	91.8	88.6-94.4	2004	380	Predominantly male	Lahore	[205]
	89.0	83.8-93.0	1999	200	Predominantly male	Lahore	[72]
	89.0	85.5-91.9	I	400		National	[189]
	87.0	83.3-90.1	2004	399	Predominantly male	Karachi	[205]
	86.9	80.5-91.8	2002	153	Homeless	Karachi	[75]
	76.0	I	2005	I	Predominantly male	Lahore	[179]
	75.0	65.1-83.3	2003	96	Predominantly male	Quetta	[20]
	62.5	24.5-91.5	2007-2009	00	Remote rural population	Kech	[206]
	60.0	45.2-73.6	2004	50		Quetta	[181]
	46.4	34.5-57.9	I	76	Predominantly male prisoners	Kabul	[207]
	45.2	29.8-61.3	Ι	42	Afghani refugees	Karachi	[188]
	44.7	39.0-50.5	2003	300	Predominantly male	Quetta	[184]
	42.0	37.6-46.5	2002	500	35% female	mix of cities	[64]
	31.5	25.1-38.4	I	200	Predominantly male	Khyber pakhtunkhwa	[208]
	17.3	13.1–22.0	2007	302	Predominantly male	Rawalpindi	[178]
	14.3	5.4-28.5	I	42		Khyber pakhtunkhwa	[209]
	8.0	3.4–14.9	2007	102	Predominantly male	Abotabad	[178]
Saudi Arabia	74.6	72.6-76.5	1995-1996	1909	Predominantly male	Jeddah	[210]
	69.0	64.7–72.9	1995–1996	505			[211]
	38.1	32.9-43.4	I	344			[212]
Syria	60.5	43.4-76.0	2006	38	Predominantly male	Damascus	[213]
	21.0 ^a	11.4–33.9	2006	57	Predominantly male	Damascus	[59]
Tunisia	35.8	29.1–42.5	2011	506	Predominantly male	Tunis	[53]
	29.1	25.8-32.6	2009	701	Predominantly male	Tunis, Bizerte, & Sousse	[54]
	2.4	0.6-4.1	2011	301	Predominantly male	Bizerte	[23]
The table is sorted by country th	en by descending	order of HCV preva	alence.				
doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.100166	3.t006						

22

of PWID at risk of HIV. A substantial number of infections in MENA have been documented in women who acquired HIV from their PWID husbands; and in some countries, the majority of HIV infections among women were acquired from a PWID sexual partner [79,87–89]. This highlights the vulnerability of sexual partners of PWID, who are often female spouses. An illustration of the role of the HIV epidemics among PWID in driving the onward transmission of HIV emerges from recent mode of transmission (MoT) modeling studies in the region [90–92]. For example, in Iran, PWID directly contributed 56% of the total HIV Incidence; and indirectly, only through infections to their current sexual partners, an additional 12% of the total incidence [92]. More onward HIV transmissions would arise if the sexual partners of PWID transmitted the infection to their other sexual partners.

Study Limitations

One limitation of our study is that the quantity and quality of data varied by countries. There were virtually no HIV data in four countries, and the data quality in six others was insufficient to assess the status of the epidemic. Longitudinal repeated IBBSS data were available in only five countries. Six countries have recently conducted their first round of IBBSS; and in most of these, subsequent rounds are either planned or being implemented. The quality of data was "good" or "conclusive" in ten out of the 23 countries.

While most of the data were from cross sectional surveys, there was a substantial improvement in the quality of data over time. Many studies were conducted with state of the art research methodologies in HIV research. These consist of IBBSS studies using innovative sampling methodologies for hard-to-reach populations such as respondent-driven sampling and time-location sampling. Most of these studies benefited from large sample sizes and some from broad geographical coverage at the national level.

Of note that in several countries there were no recent national estimates of the number and proportion of PWID. The only national data available for these countries were extracted from earlier global reviews of injecting drug use [4,31]. The reviews were based mainly on estimates by the Reference Group to the UN on HIV and Injecting Drug Use, which systematically collects and analyses global data on injecting drug use and HIV [32]. The Reference Group is considered the main reference for PWID estimates globally, providing the estimates to the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC), WHO, and UNAIDS secretariats. We complemented the Reference Group data with PWID national risk-group size estimation studies that were conducted in the last few years in five countries namely Afghanistan, Iran, Pakistan, Saudi Arabia, and Tunisia. Since we partly relied on secondary sources of data and since the data that we used came from studies using different methodologies, our pooled estimates of the number and prevalence of PWID in MENA should be considered as approximate figures.

In assessing the status of the epidemic at the country-level, we did not limit our analysis to one line of evidence, but synthesized and corroborated findings from different data sources and types such as HIV prevalence and incidence, notified HIV cases, injecting and sexual risk behavior, and other related and contextual data. Thus we could make a comprehensive assessment of the epidemic status and address potential limitations in any one line of evidence [93]. We did a rigorous appraisal of the scope and quality of the evidence within each country by assessing the amount and geographical coverage of available data, as well as the ROB and precision of individual point estimates. A qualifier for the scope and quality of the evidence at the country level was integrated with each HIV epidemic state assigned. Our search

HIV among People Who Inject Drugs in MENA

criteria were expansive, covering different literature sources. Before the present submitted work, the status of the epidemic across MENA country was poorly understood. On the basis of our integrated data synthesis and using rigorous methodology and data quality assessment, we were able to concretely qualify the epidemic status in 13 countries (over half of MENA countries), and to document the overall trend of emerging epidemics. The lack of evidence in several MENA countries does not preclude the possibility of hidden epidemics among PWID in these settings.

HIV Response among PWID in MENA

Not only does the region overall lag behind in responding to the emerging HIV epidemics among PWID; in occasions misguided policy has contributed to these epidemics. Most notably in Libya, the large HIV epidemic among PWID appears to have been exacerbated by restrictions imposed on the sale of needles and syringes at pharmacies in the late 1990s [11,94]. Overall, harm reduction programs still remain limited in MENA, and there is a need to integrate such programs within the socio-cultural framework of the region [95]. Several countries though have made significant strides in initiating such programs in recent years [11,96]. Needle/syringe exchange programs are currently implemented in nine countries, and opioid substitution therapy in five [96]. Iran remains the leader in the provision of harm reduction services to PWID with the highest coverage of needle/syringe exchange programs in the region [12,96]. It appears also to be the only country in MENA to provide such services in prisons [96,97] and to provide female-operated harm reduction services targeted at female drug users [96].

Iran has also initiated triangular clinics that integrate services for treatment and prevention of injecting drug use, HIV/AIDS, and other STIs; and these clinics have received international recognition as best practice [98–100]. Among other interventions implemented in Iran are drop-in centers, integration of substance use treatment and HIV prevention into the rural primary health care system, and community education centers [62,101–105]. These efforts appear to have been successful in reducing sharing of injecting equipment [106–108], though the coverage of harm reduction continues to be lower than adequate [104].

Other countries in the region have also made progress in revising their policies, adopting harm reduction programs, and integrating such programs in their national strategic plans such as Afghanistan, Egypt, Lebanon, Morocco, Pakistan, and Tunisia [11,109]. Access to antiretroviral therapy (ART) has also expanded in MENA in recent years, and treatment outcomes reported by country ART programs are comparable to globally reported outcomes [110,111]. Good adherence to ART has been also observed, such as in Morocco [112], though some non-adherence and treatment interruptions, among other obstacles, have been also reported in several countries [112–114].

Non-governmental organizations (NGOs) have been instrumental to the success in harm reduction in MENA. It can be noted that in countries where NGOs are strong, HIV response has been also strong [11,109]. The Iranian NGO Persepolis, for example, played an important role in the transformation to effective policies in Iran [115]. Building on the growing role of NGOs, a regional civil society network was established in 2007 covering 20 countries in MENA; the Middle East and North Africa Harm Reduction Association (MENAHRA) [116]. MENAHRA has the objective of building the capacity of civil society organizations in harm reduction efforts through training, sharing of information, networking and providing direct support to NGOs to initiate or scale-up harm reduction services. The network is a collaborative initiative by regional and international organizations with funding

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

23

from international donors, and has been influential in promoting harm reduction.

Despite the recent progress in harm reduction, HIV prevention efforts among PWID in MENA remain impeded by generic and routine planning, competing priorities, limited human capital, and lack of monitoring and evaluation [7]. National policies remain inadequate and not sufficiently reflecting evidence-informed approaches [7]. The scope and coverage of prevention services remain patchy across and within countries [11,96,109]. An indicator of the low effective coverage is that only a minority of PWID report ever being tested, and a smaller proportion report being tested within the last year [11]. In Morocco and Pakistan, two countries with a strong HIV response, only 32.5% [117], 47.8% [117], 6.1% [51], and 20.7% [50] of PWID in different surveys reported ever being tested. Even where services are available, PWID may not be aware of them, and when aware of them, they may not utilize them. In Pakistan for example, 37% of PWID in one study were aware of HIV prevention programs in their city, but only 19% ever used them [52]. There is an urgent need to expand the provision, scope, and coverage of HIV interventions among PWID in MENA to be ahead of the growing HIV epidemics.

Conclusion

Our study identified a large volume of HIV-related biological and behavioral data among PWID in the MENA region, including quality data that appear in the scientific literature for the first time. The in-depth analyses, the quality assessment of evidence, and the comprehensive synthesis of data facilitated, for the first time to our knowledge, a rigorous characterization of the state of the epidemic among PWID across different countries in this region.

We found robust evidence for HIV epidemics among PWID in multiple countries, most of which have emerged only recently and continue to grow. The high risk and vulnerability context suggest potential for further HIV spread. HIV surveillance among PWID must be expanded to detect and monitor these budding and growing HIV epidemics, and to inform effective HIV policy and programming. This mainly includes conducting IBBSS studies among PWID in countries where such surveys have not been conducted yet, and implementing subsequent rounds, for the provision of longitudinal data, in countries that are already developing their surveillance base. Population size estimations and mapping and ethnographic studies are also needed for a better understanding of the profile and injecting and sexual networks of PWID in MENA.

The window of opportunity to control the emerging epidemics should not be missed. HIV prevention among PWID must be made a priority for HIV/AIDS strategies in MENA; and obstacles must be addressed for the provision of comprehensive services and enabling environments for PWID [118]. There is need to review current HIV programs among PWID in light of the emerging epidemics, and to develop service delivery models with embedded links between community-based prevention (needle/syringe exchange programs and condom provision), HIV testing, and treatment (opioid substitution and ART). Such comprehensive approach has already proven its utility in preventing HIV transmission among PWID [119–121], but would require better resource allocation and sufficient services in priority areas for PWID.

Prevention efforts need to prioritize those most likely to be reluctant to approach facility-based services, and those with multiple and overlapping risks. Outreach and peer education can provide a means to reach those most at risk with information and services. Access to ART should be expanded in such a region with

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

HIV among People Who Inject Drugs in MENA

one of the lowest ART coverage globally [122]. Such expansion must address the low diagnosis rate among people living with HIV [110]. Reaching the at-risk populations even in discreet unpublicized ways would contribute positively to HIV prevention [14,123]. Improving HIV programming among PWID in MENA is essential not only to confront the growing HIV problem in this population group, but also to prevent the onward transmission of HIV, and the bridging of the infection to other groups as has already occurred in parts of the region.

Supporting Information

Table S1 Precision and risk of bias of individual HIV prevalence measures among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa as extracted from eligible reports. (DOCX)

 Table S2
 Summary of precision and risk of bias of HIV

 prevalence measures as extracted from eligible reports.

Table S3 Subnational estimates of the number and prevalence of people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa.

(DOCX)

(DOCX)

Table S4 HIV point-prevalence measures among people who inject drugs as extracted from various databases including the US Census Bureau database, the WHO/ EMRO testing database, the UNAIDS epidemiological fact sheets databases, and other sources of data with unidentified reports. (DOCX)

Table S5 Measures of injecting risk behavior among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa.

Table S6 Measures of sexual risk behavior and sexually transmitted infections prevalence among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa.

Table S7 HIV/AIDS knowledge, perception of risk, and HIV testing among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa. (DOCX)

Text S1 PRISMA checklist.

(DOCX)

Text S2 Search criteria. (DOCX)

Text S3 Narrative justification for quality of the evidence and status of the epidemic at the country level. (DOCX)

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: GRM IJA HAW SLT. Performed the experiments: GRM SR IJA. Analyzed the data: GRM IJA HAW. Contributed reagents/materials/analysis tools: HS GR FAA IS OT DW. Wrote the first draft of the manuscript: GRM. Contributed to the writing of the manuscript: GRM HAW ST SR HS GR FAA IS OT DW IJA. ICMJE criteria for authorship read and met: GRM HAW ST SR HS GR FAA IS OT DW IJA. Agree with manuscript results and conclusions: GRM HAW ST SR HS GR FAA IS OT DW IJA.

References

- Obermeyer CM (2006) HIV in the Middle East. BMJ 333: 851-854.
- UNAIDS (2010) Global Report: UNAIDS report on the global AIDS epidemic. Available: http://www.unaids.org/documents/20101123_ GlobalReport_em.pdf. Accessed 16 May 2014. Accijas C, Stimson GV, Hickman M, Rhodes T (2004) Global overview of 3
- injecting drug use and HIV infection among injecting drug users. AIDS 18: 2295-2303.
- Aceijas C, Friedman SR, Cooper HL, Wiessing L, Stimson GV, et al. (2006) Estimates of injecting drug users at the national and local level in developing and transitional countries, and gender and age distribution. Sex Transm Infect 82 Suppl 3; iii10-iii17.
- Lopez AD, Mathers CD, Ezzati M, Jamison DT, Murray CJ (2006) Global and regional burden of disease and risk factors, 2001: systematic analysis of population health data. Lancet 367: 1747–1757. van Griensven F, de Lind van Wijngaarden JW, Baral S, Grulich A (2009) The
- 6. global epidemic of HIV infection among men who have sex with men. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 4: 300–307.
- Kilmarx PH (2009) Global epidemiology of HIV. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 4: 7. 240 - 246
- 240–240. Alkaiyat A, Weiss MG (2013) HIV in the Middle East and North Africa: priority, culture, and control. Int J Public Health 58: 927–937. Bohannon J (2005) Science in Libya. From pariah to science powerhouse? Science 308: 182–184. 9
- Saba HF, Kouyoumjian SP, Mumtaz GR, Abu-Raddad LJ (2013) Character-ising the progress in HIV/AIDS research in the Middle East and North Africa.
- ising the progress in HIV/AIDS research in the Middle East and North Airica. Sex Transm Infect 89 Suppl 3: iii5–iii9.
 11. Abu-Raddad L, Akala FA, Semini I, Riedner G, Wilson D, et al. (2010) Characterizing the HIV/AIDS epidemic in the Middle East and North Africa: time for Strategic Action. Middle East and North Africa HIV/AIDS Epidemiology Synthesis Project. World Bank/UNAIDS/WHO Publication. Available: http://www.wds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContent Computer 2012 (2012) (2 Server/WDSP/IB/2010/06/04/000333038_20100604011533/Rendered/ PDF/548890PUB0EPI11C10Dislosed061312010.pdf. Accessed 16 May 2014. Washington (D.C.): The World Bank Press. Abu-Raddad IJ, Hilmi N, Mumtaz G, Benkirane M, Akala FA, et al. (2010)
- 12. Epidemiology of HIV infection in the Middle East and North Africa. AIDS 24 Suppl 2: S5-23.
- Mumtaz G, Hilmi N, Akala FA, Semini I, Riedner G, et al. (2011) HIV-1 molecular epidemiology evidence and transmission patterns in the Middle East and North Africa. Sex Transm Infect 87: 101–106. Mumtaz G, Hilmi N, McFarland W, Kaplan RL, Akala FA, et al. (2011) Are 13.
- 14. HIV epidemics among men who have sex with men emerging in the Middle East and North Africa?: a systematic review and data synthesis. PLoS Med 8: e1000444.
- Mumtaz GR, Riedner G, Abu-Raddad LJ (2014) The emerging face of the 15. HIV epidemic in the Middle East and North Africa. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 9: 183-191.
- UNODC (2011) United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2011). World Drug Report. Available: http://www.unodc.org/documents/data-and-analysis/WDR2011/World_Drug_Report_2011_ebook.pdf. Accessed 16 May 2014.
- Beyrer C, Wirtz AL, Baral S, Peryskina A, Sifakis F (2010) Epidemiologic links between drug use and HIV epidemics: an international perspective. J Acquir 17. Immune Defic Syndr 55 Suppl 1: S10–S16. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG (2009) Preferred reporting items
- 18. for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med 6: e1000097.
- Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gotzsche PC, et al. (2009) The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. PLoS Med 6: e1000100.
- The Cochrane collaboration (2008) Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions. Higgins JPT, Green S, editors. Hoboken (New Jersey): Wiley-20. Blackweill
- World Health Organization African Index Medicus (AIM). Available: http:// 21.
- world Health Organization Infrain mets Medicus (AM). Available: http:// indexmedicus.afro.who.int/. Accessed 16 May 2014. World Health Organization Index Medicus for the Eastern Mediterranean Region (IMEMR). Available: http://www.emro.who.int/lin/imemr.htm. Ac-cessed 16 May 2014. 22.
- 23.
- 24.
- 25
- ccsed 16 May 2014. International AIDS Society International AIDS Conference Abstracts. Available: http://www.iasociety.org/Default.aspx?pageld = 7. Accessed 16 May 2014. International AIDS Society IAS Conference on HIV Pathogenesis and Treatment Abstracts. Available: http://www.iasociety.org/Default. aspx?pageld = 7. Accessed 16 May 2014. International Society for Sexually Transmitted Diseases Research (ISSTDR) ISSTDR Conference Abstracts. Available: http://www.isstdr.org/previous-meetings.php. Accessed 16 May 2014. U.S Department of Commerce United States Census Bureau International Database, Washington (D.C.). Available: http://www.census.gov/population/ international/data/hiv/interactive/. Accessed 16 May 2014. 26. international/data/hiv/interactive/. Accessed 16 May 2014.

25

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

- 27. WHO/EMRO Regional database on HIV testing. Cairo: WHO Regional UNAIDS (2008) UNAIDS/WHO/UNICEF Epidemiological Fact Sheets
- 28. database on HIV and AIDS. Geneva: UNAIDS
- Vickerman P, Martin NK, Hickman M (2012) Understanding the trends in HIV and hepatitis C prevalence amongst injecting drug users in different 29 settings-implications for intervention impact. Drug Alcohol Depend 123: 122-
- Vickerman P, Hickman M, May M, Kretzschmar M, Wiessing L (2010) Can hepatitis C virus prevalence be used as a measure of injection-related human immunodeficiency virus risk in populations of injecting drug users? An ecological analysis. Addiction 105: 311–318. 30.
- Mathers BM, Degenhardt L, Phillips B, Wiessing L, Hickman M, et al. (2008) Global epidemiology of injecting drug use and HIV among people who inject drugs: a systematic review. Lancet 372: 1733–1745. IDU Reference Group, The reference group to the UN on HIV and Injecting Drug Use. Available: https://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/project/injecting-drug-use acference group reference group to the UN on HIV and Injecting.
- 32 users-reference-group-reference-group-un-hiv-and-injecting-drug-use. Accessed 16 May 2014.
- United Nations Population Division. World Population Prospects: the 2010 Revision Population Database. Available: http://esa.un.org/unpd/wpp/index. 33 htm. Accessed 16 May 2014.
- UNAIDS/WHO working group on global HIV/AIDS and STI surveillance 34. (2011) Guidelines on surveillance among populations most at risk for HIV. Geneva: WHO Press. Available: http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/ contentassets/documents/epidemiology/2011/20110518_Surveillance_ among_most_at_risk.pdf. Accessed 16 May 2014. Wilson D, Halperin DT (2008) "Know your epidemic, know your response": a useful approach, if we get it right. Lancet 372: 423-426.
- 35.
- UNAIDS/WHO working group on global HIV/AIDS and STI surveillance UNAIDS/WHO working group on global HIV/AIDS and STI surveillance (2011) Guidelines for second generation HIV surveillance: an update: know your epidemic. Geneva: WHO Press. Available: http://apps.who.int/iris/ bitstream/10665/85511/1/9789241505826_eng.pdf. Accessed 16 May 2014. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2011) HIV second generation surveillance In Pakistan. National report round IV. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Available: http://apus.national.pdf.
- Varilable: http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&&%20 Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-HASP/HIV%20Second%20 Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-%20National%20 report%20Round%20IV%202011.pdf. Accessed 16 May 2014.
- Aghanistan National AIDS Control Program (2010) Integrated Behavioral & Biological Surveillance (IBBS) in Afghanistan: year 1 report. HIV Surveillance Project Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health. Kabul, Afghanistan. Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program (2012) Integrated Behavioral & Biological Surveillance (IBBS) in selected cities of Afghanistan: findings of 2012
- IBBS survey and comparison to 2009 IBBS survey. Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health. Kabul, Afghanistan
- Health, Kabul, Aignamistan.
 Family Health International and Ministry of Health Egypt (2006) HIV/AIDS Biological & Behavioral Surveillance Survey: round one summary report, Cairo, Egypt 2006. FHI in collaboration with the Ministry of Health and support from USAID IMPACT project. Available: http://www.fhi360.org/ sites/default/files/media/documents/EgyptBioBSSsummaryreport2006.pdf. 40 Accessed 16 May 2014.
- Soliman C, Rahman IA, Shawky S, Bahaa T, Elkamhawi S, et al. (2010) HIV 41. prevalence and risk behaviors of male injection drug users in Cairo, Egypt. AIDS 24 Suppl 2: S33–38. Family Health International and Ministry of Health Egypt (2010) HIV/AIDS
- Biological & Behavioral Surveillance Survey: Round Two Summary Report, Cairo, Egypt 2010. FHI in collaboration with the Ministry of Health and support from the Global Fund. Available: http://www.hi360.org/sites/ default/files/media/documents/BBSS%202010_0.pdf. Accessed 16 May 2014.
- Iran Ministry of Health and Medical Education, Kvoto University School of 43. Public Health (Japan) (2008) Integrated bio-behavioral surveillance for HIV infection among injecting drug users in Iran. Draft of the 1st analysis on the
- Intection among injecting drug users in Iran. Draft of the 1st analysis on the collected data. Tehran: Iran Ministry of Health and Medical Education. Iran Ministry of Public Health (2010) HIV bio-behavioral surveillance survey among injecting drug users in the Islamic Republic of Iran. Final report [Persian], Tchran: Iran Ministry of Public Health. Jordan National AIDS Program (2010) Preliminary analysis of Jordan IBBSS 44.
- among injecting drug users. Amman: Ministry of Health. Mahfoud Z, Afifi R, Ramia S, El Khoury D, Kassak K, et al. (2010) HIV/
- AIDS among female sex workers, injecting drug users and men who have sex with men in Lebanon: results of the first biobehavioral surveys. AIDS 24 Suppl 2: S45-S54.
- Mirzoyan L, Berendes S, Jeffery C, Thomson J, Ben Othman H, et al. (2013) New evidence on the HIV epidemic in Libya: why countries must implement

prevention programs among people who inject drugs. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 62: 577–583.

- Kingdom of Morocco Ministry of Public Health (2012) Country Report on 48. UNGASS Declaration of Commitment. Rabat: Kingdom of Morocco Ministry of Public Health
- Palestine Ministry of Health (2011) HIV bio-behavioral survey among injecting drug users in the East Jerusalem Governorate, 2010. Ramallah: Palestine Ministry of Health.
- Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2008) HIV second generation surveillance in Pakistan. National Report Round III. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS surveillance in Fakistan. National Keport Kound III. Canada-Fakistan FIIV/ALDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Almistry Of Health, Pakistan. Available: http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20 Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-%20National%20report%20Round%20III%202008.pdf. Accessed 16 May 2014.
- Pakistan National ALIS Control Program (2006-07) HIV second generation surveillance in Pakistan. National Report Round II. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Available: http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20 Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-HASP/ HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-
- HIV %20Second%200Generation%20Surveillance%20m%20Pakistan%20-%20Round%2020%20Report%2020206-07.pdf Last accessed 16 May 2014.
 Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2005) HIV second generation surveillance in Pakistan. National Report Round I. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Available: http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20& Research / HIV AIDS %20 Surveillance %20 Project HA SP / UV/20 Research / HIV AIDS %20 Surveillance %20 Project HA SP / UV/20 Pakistan HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-%20Round%201%20Report%20-%202005.pdf. Accessed 16 May 2014.
- Tunisia Ministry of Health, Tunisian Association for Information and Orientation on HIV (2013) Enquête sérocomportementale du VIH et des hépatites virales C auprès des usagers de drogues injectables en Tunisie [French]. Biobehavioral surveillance of HIV and Hepatitis C among injecting drug users in Tunisia. Tunisi: Tunisia Ministry of Health, Tunisian Association for Information and Orientation on HIV.
- Tunisia Ministry of Health (2010) Synthèse des enquêtes de séroprévalence et sérocomportementales auprès de trois populations à vulnérables au VIH: Les usagers de drogues injectables, les hommes ayant des rapports sexuels avec des hommes et les travailleuses du sexe clandestines en Tunisie [French]. Synthesis of biobehavioral surveillance among the three populations vulnerable to HIV in Tunisia: Injecting drug users, men who have sex with men, and female sex vorkers. Tunis: Tunisia Ministry of Health.
- workers. Lunis: Lunisa Ministry of Health. Meysamie A, Sedaghat M, Mahmoodi M, Ghodsi SM, Eftekhar B (2009) Opium use in a rural area of the Islamic Republic of Iran. Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal 15: 425–431. Merat S, Rezvan H, Nouraie M, Jafari E, Abolghasemi H, et al. (2010) 55
- Seroprevalence of hepatitis C virus: the first population-based study from Iran. Int J Infect Dis 14 Suppl 3: e113–116.
- Emmanuel F, Blanchard J, Zaheer HA, Reza T, Holte-McKenzie M, et al. (2010) The HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project mapping approach: an innovative 57. approach for mapping and size estimation for groups at a higher risk of HIV in Pakistan. AIDS 24 Suppl 2: S77–84.
- Oman Ministry of Health (2006) HIV risk among heroin and injecting drug 58 users in Muscat, Oman. Quantitative survey. Preliminary data. Muscat: Oman Ministry of Health.
- Syria Mental Health Directorate, Syria National AIDS Programme (2008) Assessment of HIV risk and sero-prevalence among drug users in greater Damascus. Damascus: Syrian Ministry of Health. UNODC. UNAIDS.
- Al-Haddad MK, Khashaba AS, Baig BZ, Khalfan S (1994) HIV antibodics among intravenous drug users in Bahrain. J Commun Dis 26: 127–132. 60.
- Morocco Ministry of Health (February 2010) Situation épidémiologique du VIH/Sida et des IST au Maroc [French]. Epidemiological assessment of HIV/ 61. AIDS and STIs in Morocco. Rabat Morocco Ministry of Health. Mojtahedzadeh V, Razani N, Malekinejad M, Vazirian M, Shoaee S, et al.
- 62.
- (2008) Injection drug use in Rural Iran: integrating HIV prevention into iran's rural primary health care system. AIDS Behav 12: S7–S12.
 63. Todd C, Nasir A, Stanekzai MR, Rasuli MZ, Fickert, et al. (2010) Hepatitis C and HIV incidence among injecting drug users in Kabul, Afghanistan [Abstract HOP Departure]. MOPDC101]. In: Proceedings of AIDS 2010 - XVIII International AIDS Conference; 18–23 July 2010; Vienna, Austria.
- Conference; 18–23 July 2010; Vienna, Austra.
 Hadi DHMH, Shujaat PDMGSH, Waheed PDWuZ, Masood PDMGMA (2005) Incidence of hepatitis C virus and HIV among injecting drug users in Northern Pakistan: a prospective cohort study [Abstract MoOa0104]. In Proceedings: IAS 2005 The 3rd IAS Conference on HIV Pathogenesis and Treatment; 24–27 July 2005; Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.
 Jahani MR, Kheirandish P, Hosseini M, Shirzad H, Seyedalinaghi SA, et al. (2000) IW aspecture in pinetion determing in Jahara 64
- 65. (2009) HIV seroconversion among injection drug users in detention, Tehran, Iran. AIDS 23: 538–540.
- Nai Zindagi, Punjab Provincial AIDS Control Program (2009) Rapid situation assessments of HIV prevalence and risk factors among people injecting drugs in four cities of the Punjab. Punjab: Nai Zindagi, Punjab Provincial AIDS Control 66. Program
- Kazerooni PA, Lari MA, Joolaci H, Parsa N (2010) Knowledge and attitude of male intravenous drug users on HIV/AIDS associated high risk behaviors in

26

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

Shiraz Pir-Banon jail, Fars Province, Southern Iran. Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal 12: 334-336.

- Asadi S, Marjani M (2006) Prevalence of intravenous drug use-associated infections. Iranian Journal of Clinical Infectious Diseases 1: 59–62. 68. 69
- Todd CS, Nasir A, Stanckzai MR, Fickert K, Rasuli MZ, et al. (2011) Prevalence and correlates of HIV, syphilis, and hepatitis B and C infection and harm reduction program use among male injecting drug users in Kabul, Afghanistan: A cross-sectional assessment. Harm Reduct J 8: 22.
- Kuo I, ul-Hasan S, Galai N, Thomas DL, Zafar T, et al. (2006) High HCV seroprevalence and HIV drug use risk behaviors among injection drug users in Pakistan. Harm Reduct J 3: 26.
- Paustan, Haim Reduct J. 20.
 Paque N, Zafar T, Brahmbhatt H, Imam G, ul Hassan S, et al. (2004) High-risk sexual behaviours among drug users in Pakistan: implications for prevention of STDs and HIV/AIDS. Int J STD AIDS 15: 601–607.
 Nai Zindagi, UNODCCP, UNAIDS. (1999) Baseline study of the relationship the distribution of the prevention of the prevention of the prevention of STDs and HIV/AIDS. Int J STD AIDS 15: 601–607. 71.
- 72.
- needle sharing among injection drug users in Pakistan during the Afghanistan war. Drug Alcohol Depend 71: 17–24.
- Altaf A, Shah SA, Zaidi NA, Memon A, Nadeem ur R, et al. (2007) High risk behaviors of injection drug users registered with harm reduction programme in Karachi, Pakistan, Harm Reduct J 4: 7. Altaf A, Shah SA, Memon A (2003) Follow up study to assess and evaluate
- 75. Huai A, Shaii SA, McInoi A (2005) Follow up study to assess and coalade knowledge, attitude and high risk behaviors and prevalence of HIV, HBV, HCV and Syphilis among IDUS at Burns Road DIC, Karachi. External report submitted to UNODC. Karachi: Marie Adelaide Habilitation Programme.
- Todd CS, Nasir A, Raza Stanckzai M, Abed AM, Strathdee SA, et al. (2010) Prevalence and correlates of syphilis and condom use among male injection 76. drug users in four Afghan citics. Sex Transm Dis 37: 719-725.
- Aaraj ${\rm E}$ Report on the situation analysis on vulnerable groups in Beirut, Lebanon. Beirut: Lebanon Ministry of Health. 77.
- Burns K (2007) Women injecting drug users in Morocco: a study of women's vulnerability to HIV. Unofficial translation from the original French. GTZ Morocco.
- Alipour A, Haghdoost AA, Sajadi L, Zolala F (2013) HIV prevalence and 79. related risk behaviours among female partners of male injecting drugs users in Iran: results of a bio-behavioural survey, 2010. Sex Transm Infect 89 Suppl 3: iii41–iii44.
- Mishwar IBBS_Lebanon (2008) Mishwar. An integrated bio-behavioral 80 surveillance study among four vulnerable groups in lebanon: men who have sex with men; prisoners; commercial sex workers and intravenous drug users. Mid-term Report. Beirut: Mishwar IBBS_Lebanon.
- Baqi S, Nabi N, Hasan SN, Khan AJ, Pasha O, et al. (1998) HIV antibody seroprevalence and associated risk factors in sex workers, drug users, and prisoners in Sindh, Pakistan. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 18: 73-79.
- Parviz S, Fatmi Z, Altaf A, McCormick JB, Fischer-Hoch S, et al. (2006) Background demographics and risk behaviors of injecting drug users in Karachi, Pakistan. Int J Infect Dis 10: 364–371.
- Bokhari A, Nizamani NM, Jackson DJ, Rehan NE, Rahman M, et al. (2007) HIV risk in Karachi and Lahore, Pakistan: an emerging epidemic in injecting 83. and commercial sex networks. Int J STD AIDS 18: 486-492.
- 84. Razzaghi EM, Moyaghar AR, Green TC, Khoshnood K (2006) Profiles of risk: a qualitative study of injecting drug users in Tehran, Iran. Harm Reduct J 3:
- Emmanuel F, Fatima M (2008) Coverage to curb the emerging HIV epidemic 85. among injecting drug users in Pakistan: delivering prevention services where most needed. Int J Drug Policy 19 Suppl 1: S59–S64.
- Khanani M, Somani M, Rehmani SS, Veras NM, Salemi M, et al. (2011) The spread of HIV in Pakistan: bridging of the epidemic between populations. PLoS ONE 6: e22449.
- Ramczani A, Mohraz M, Gachkar L (2006) Epidemiologic situation of human 87. immunodeficiency virus (HIV/AIDS patients) in a private clinic in Tehran, Iran. Arch Iran Med 9: 315–318. Burrows D, Wodak A, WHO (2005) Harm reduction in Iran. Issues in national
- 88. scale-up. Report for World Health Organization. Geneva: WHO. Nai Zindagi, Punjab Provincial AIDS Control Program (2008) The hidden
- 89 truth: a study of HIV vulnerability, risk factors and prevalence among men injecting drugs and their wives. Lahore: Government of Punjab. Mumtaz G, Hilmi N, Zidouh A, El Rhilani H, Alami K, et al. (2010) HIV
- modes of transmission analysis in Morocco. Rabat: Kingdom of Morocco Ministry of Health and National STI/AIDS Programme, Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, and Weill Cornell Medical College - Qatar. Mumtaz GR, Kouyoumjian SP, Hilmi N, Zidouh A, El Rhilani H, et al. (2013)
- 91 The distribution of new HIV infections by mode of exposure in Morocco. Se Transm Infect 89 Suppl 3: iii49-iii56. Gouws E, Cuchi P, on behalf of the International Collaboration on Estimating
- HIV Incidence by Modes of Transmission (including Laith J. Abu-Raddad and Ghina R. Mumtaz) (2012) Focusing the HIV response through estimating the major modes of HIV transmission: a multi-country analysis. Sex Transm Infect 88: i76–i85.

- 93. Rutherford GW, McFarland W, Spindler H, White K, Patel SV, et al. (2010) Public health triangulation: approach and application to synthesizing data to understand national and local HIV epidemics. BMC Public Health 10: 447. Tawilah J, Ball A (2003) WHO/EMRO & WHO/HQ Mission to Libyan Arab Jamahiriya to Undertake an Initial Assessment of the HIV/AIDS and STI
- 94.
- Situation and National AIDS Programme. Tripoli. 15–19 June 2003. Hasnain M (2005) Cultural approach to HIV/AIDS harm reduction in Muslim 95. ountries. Harm Reduct J 2: 23.
- Harm Reduction International (2012) The global state of harm reduction 2012: 96. towards an integrated response. Available: http://www.ihra.net/files/2012/ 07/24/GlobalState2012_Web.pdf. Accessed 16 May 2014.
- Asfhar P, Kasrace F (2005) HIV prevention experiences and programs in Iranian Prisons [MoPC0057]. In: Proceedings Seventh International Congress 97. on AIDS in Asia and the Pacific; 1–5 July 2005; Kobe, Japan. WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean (2004) Best practice in
- 98. HIV/AIDS prevention and care for injecting drug abusers: the triangular clinic in Kermanshah, Islamic Republic of Iran. Cairo: WHO Regional Office for the astern Mediterranean.
- Razani N, Mohraz M, Kheirandish P, Malekinejad M, Malekafzali H, et al. 99 (2007) HIV risk behavior among injection drug users in Tehran, Iran. Addiction 102: 1472–1482.
- Nassirimanesh B, Trace M, Roberts M (2005) The rise of harm reduction in the Islamic Republic of Iran. Briefing Paper Eight, for the Beckley Foundation, Drug Policy Program. Oxford: The Beckley Foundation.
- Iran Ministry of Health (2006) Treatment and medical education. Islamic Republic of Iran HIV/AIDS situation and response analysis. Tehran: Iran 101 Ministry of Health.
- Zamani S, Kihara M, Gouya MM, Vazirian M, Nassirimanesh B, et al. (2006) High prevalence of HIV infection associated with incarceration among community-based injecting drug users in Tehran, Iran. J Acquir Immune 102. Defic Syndr 42: 342-346
- UNAIDS/WHO (2004) AIDS epidemic update 2004. Geneva: UNAIDS/ 103. WHO
- Todd CS, Nassiramanesh B, Stanekzai MR, Kamarulzaman A (2007) 104 Emerging HIV epidemics in Muslim countries: assessment of different cultural responses to harm reduction and implications for HIV control. Curr HIV/ AIDS Rep 4: 151–157.
- Zamani S, Farnia M, Tavakoli S, Gholizadeh M, Nazari M, et al. (2010) A 105. qualitative inquiry into methadone maintenance treatment for opioid-dependent prisoners in Tehran, Iran. Int J Drug Policy 21: 167–172. Vazirian M, Nassirimanesh B, Zamani S, Ono-Kihara M, Kihara M, et al.
- (2005) Needle and syringe sharing practices of injecting drug users participating in an outreach HIV prevention program in Tehran, Iran: a cross-sectional study. Harm Reduct J 2: 19.
- 107. Zamani S, Vazirian M, Nassirimanesh B, Razzaghi EM, Ono-Kihara M, et al. Zamani S, Vazirian M, Nassirimanesh B, Kazzaghi EM, Ono-Kihara M, et al. (2010) Needle and syringe sharing practices among injecting drug users in Tehran: a comparison of two neighborhoods, one with and one without a needle and syringe program. AIDS Behav 14: 885–890. Bolhari J, Alvandi M, Afshar P, Bayanzadeh A, Rezaii M, et al. (2002) Assessment of drug abuse in Iranian Prisons. New York: United National Drug Control Programme (UNDCP). Abus Badda L, Akale E, Saxwini L Biadwar C, Wilson D, et al. (2010) B. ".
- Control Programme (UNDCP).
 109. Abu-Raddad L, Akala FA, Semini I, Riedner G, Wilson D, et al. (2010) Policy notes. Characterizing the HIV/AIDS epidemic in the Middle East and North Africa: time for strategic action. Middle East and North Africa HIV/AIDS Epidemiology Synthesis Project. World Bank/UNAIDS/WHO Publication. Washington (D.C.): The World Bank Press.
- 110. WHO/EMRO (2007) Progress towards Universal Access to HIV prevention, treatment and care in the health sector: report on an indicator survey for the year 2007 in the WHO Eastern Mediterranean Region. Geneva: WHO/ . EMRO.
- 111. WHO/EMRO (2008) Progress towards Universal Access to HIV Prevention, treatment and care in the health sector; report on an indicator survey for the year 2007 in the WHO Eastern Mediterranean Region. Geneva: WHO/ EMRO.
- Benjaber K, Rey JL, Himmich H (2005) A study on antiretroviral treatment 112. compliance in Casablanca (Morocco) [French]. Med Mal Infect 35: 390–395. Al Dhahry SH, Scrimgeour EM, Al Suwaid AR, Al Lawati MR, El Khatim
- HS, et al. (2004) Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in Oman: antiretroviral therapy and frequencies of drug resistance mutations. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 20: 1166–1172. UNAIDS RST MENA(2008) Notes on AIDS in the Middle East and North
- 114. Africa. Cairo: UNAIDS RST MENA.
- Razzaghi E, Nassirimanesh B, Afshar P, Ohiri K, Claeson M, et al. (2006) HIV/AIDS harm reduction in Iran. Lancet 368: 434–435. 115. 116.
- Middle East and North Africa Harm Reduction Association (MENAHRA)
- Middle East and North Africa Harm Reduction Association (MENAHRA). Available: http://www.menahra.org/. Accessed 16 May 2014. Morocco Ministry of Health, National Aids Control Program, National Institute of Hygiene, UNAIDS, Global Fund to Fight AIDS Tuberculosis and Malaria (2012) HIV integrated behavioral and biological surveillance surveys-Morocco 2011–2012: injecting drug users in Tanger and Nador, Morocco. Rabat, Morocco. Rabat: Morocco Ministry of Health, National Aids Control Program, National Institute of Hygiene, UNAIDS, Global Fund to Fight AIDS Tuberculosis and Malaria. 117.

27

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

118. Collumbien M, Chow J, Qureshi AA, Rabbani A, Hawkes S (2008) Multiple risks among male and transgender sex workers in Pakistan. J LGBT Health Res 4: 71-79

- Des Jarlais DC, Marmor M, Paone D, Titus S, Shi Q, et al. (1996) HIV incidence among injecting drug users in New York City syringe-exchange programmes. Lancet 348: 987–991. 119.
- Metzger DS, Woody GE, McLellan AT, O'Brien CP, Druley P, et al. (1993) Human immunodeficiency virus seroconversion among intravenous drug users in- and out-of-treatment: an 18-month prospective follow-up. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 6: 1049-1056.
- van Ameijden EJ, Watters JK, van den Hoek JA, Coutinho RA (1995) Interventions among injecting drug users: do they work? Aids 9 Suppl A: S75-**S**84
- WHO/UNAIDS/UNICEF (2008) Towards universal access: scaling up 122. priority HIV/AIDS interventions in the health sector. Progress report 2008. Geneva: WHO/UNAIDS/UNICEF.
- Jenkins C, Robalino DA (2003) HIV in the Middle East and North Africa: the cost of inaction. Orientations in Development Series: Washington (D.C.): World Bank
- Afghanistan Ministry of Public Health, Director General of Preventive 124. Agnanistan Ministry of Fubic Health, Director General of Preventive Medicine and Primary Health Care, Communicable Disease Directorate (CDC) (2012) Islamic Republic of Afghanistan. Country report on UNGASS Declaration of Commitment. Kabul: Afghanistan Ministry of Public Health, Director General of Preventive Medicine and Primary Health Care, Communicable Disease Directorate (CDC). UNODC (2010) Afghanistan drug use survey 2009: executive summary. Kabul: UNODC Afdvanistan Offica
- UNODC Afghanistan Office. World Health Organization Eastern Mediterranean Region (2013) HIV
- 126. surveillance systems: regional update 2012. Cairo: WHO Eastern Mediterranean Region.
- Nasir A, Todd CS, Stanekzai MR, Bautista CT, Botros BA, et al. (2011) Prevalence of HIV, hepatitis B and hepatitis C and associated risk behaviours 127. amongst injecting drug users in three Afghan cities. Int J Drug Policy 22: 145–
- Todd CS, Abed AMS, Strathdee SA, Scott PT, Botros BA, et al. (2007) HIV, hepatitis C, and hepatitis B infections and associated risk behavior in injection 128. drug users, Kabul, Afghanistan. Emerging Infectious Diseases 13: 1327–1331. Elghamrawy E, Abaza O, Abou Elmagd S, Ramy H, Atallah S, et al. Risk
- Laghannawy E, Aoiza G, Aloua E, Jiangu S, Kainy H, Adalan S, et al. Risk behaviours among male injecting drug users in Egypt [Abstract MOPE227 2012]. In Proceedings AIDS 2012 XIX International AIDS Conference; July 22–27; Washington (D.C.), United States of America. Saleh E, El-Chazzawi E, El-Sherbini I, Drew W, McFarland W, et al. (1998) Sentinel surveillance for HIV and high risk behaviors among injection drug users in Alexandria, Egypt [Abstract 13124]. In: Proceedings AIDS 1998 XII International AIDS Conference: 28 Iune-3 Luly 1998; Geneza Switzerland
- International AIDS Conference; 28 June–3 July 1998; Geneva, Switzerland.
 Attia, Medhat S (1996) HIV seropositivity and KAP towards AIDS among drug addicts in Alexandria. Bull High Inst Public Health 26: 1–8.
- drug addicts in Alexandria. Buil High Inst Public Health 26: 1–8.
 Hasan M, Farag A, Ismail M (1994) AIDS and intravenous drug users in Egypt [Abstract PC0143]. In: Proceedings AIDS 1994 X International AIDS Conference; 1994; Yokohama, Japan.
 El-Ghazzawi E, Hunsmann G, Schneider J (1987) Low prevalence of antibodies to HIV-1 and HTLV-1 in Alexandria, Egypt. AIDS Forsch 2: 639.
 Hornsmar P, Odcown N, Mechadami M, Alexar Kargenergh P, Hassnahedd A.
- 134. Honarvar B, Odoomi N, Moghadami M, Afsar Kazerooni P, Hassanabadi A, Honarvar B, Odoomi N, Mognadami M, Alsar Kazeroomi F, Hassanabadi A, et al. (2013) Blood-borne hepatitis in opiate users in iran: a poor outlook and urgent need to change nationwide screening policy. PLoS ONE 8: e82230. Mehrjerdi ZA, Abarashi Z, Noroozi A, Arshad L, Zarghami M (2013) Correlates of shared methamphetamine injection among methamphetamine-tamical and the screening policy. PLoS ONE 8: e82230.
- Correlates or shared methamphetamine injection annog methamphetamine-injecting treatment seekers: the first report from Iran. Int J STD AIDS.
 136. Ilami O, Sarkari B, Khosravani A, Akbartabar Tori M, Hosseini Z (2012) HIV Seroprevalence among high-risk groups in Kohgiloyeh and Boyerahmad Province, southwest of Iran, a behavioral surveillance survey. AIDS Behav 16: 86-90.
- Hashemipour M, Nokhodian Z, Yaran M, Ataei B, Tayeri K, et al. (2013) Prevalence of HIV infection in individuals with history of intravenous drug use via community announcement in Isfahan-Iran. Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences 29: 395-398
- 138. Dibaj R, Ataei B, Yaran M, Nokhodian Z, Tayeri K, et al. (2013) Prevalence of HIV infection in inmates with history of injection drug use and evaluation of risk factors, in Isfahan, Iran. Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences 29: 399-402.
- Javadi A, Ataei B, Yaran M, Nokhodian Z, Kassaian N, et al. (2013) Prevalence of HIV infection and related risk factors in Isfahan Drop in Centers. Pakistan 139.
- Journal of Medical Sciences 29: 346–350. Eskandarieh S, Nikfarjam A, Tarjoman T, Nasehi A, Jafari F, et al. (2013) 140. Descriptive aspects of injection drug users in Iran's national harm reduction program by methadone maintenance treatment. Iran J Public Health 42: 588-593.
- Zamani S, Radíar R, Nematollahi P, Fadaie R, Meshkati M, et al. (2010) Prevalence of HIV/HCV/HBV infections and drug-related risk behaviours amongst IDUs recruited through peer-driven sampling in Iran. Int J Drug 141. Policy 21: 493-500.
- Ghasemian R, Najafi N, Amirkhanloo K (2011) The study of infections due to injection drug abuse in the injecting drug users hospitalized at Imam Khomeini Hospital in Sari and Razi Hospital in Ghaemshahr in 2007–2009. Journal of Mazandaran University of Medical Sciences 21: 8-15.

- 143. Zadeh AOT, SeyedAlinaghi S, Hassanzad FF, Hajizadeh M, Mohamadi S, et al. (2014) Prevalence of HIV infection and the correlates among homeless in Tehran, Iran. Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine 4: 65–68.
- Alinaghi SAS, Zadeh AOT, Zaresefat H, Hajizadeh M, Mohamadi SN, et al. (2013) Prevalence of HIV infection and the correlates among beggars in
- Tehran, Iran. Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Disease 3: 76–78. Aminzadeh Z (2007) Seroepidemiology of HIV, syphilis, hepatitis B and C in intravenous drug users at Loghman Hakim hospital]. Iran J Med Meicrobiol 1: 145. 53 - 56
- Rahimi-Movaghar A, Razaghi EM, Sahimi-Izadian E, Amin-Esmacili M (2010) HIV, hepatitis C virus, and hepatitis B virus co-infections amo injecting drug users in Tehran, Iran. Int J Infect Dis 14: e28–33.
- Kheirandish P, Seyedalinaghi SA, Hosseini M, Jahani MR, Shirzad H, et al. (2010) Prevalence and correlates of HIV infection among male injection drug 147.
- users in detention in Tehran, Iran. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 53: 273–275. Malekinejad M, Mohraz M, Razani N, Khairandish P, McFarland W, et al. 148. (2008) HIV and related risk behaviors of injecting drug users (IDU) in Iran: findings from the first respondent-driven sampling (RDS) survey of IDU in Tehran in 2006–2007 [Abstract THAC0202] 2008; Mexico. Alavi SM, Nadimi M, Shokri S, Zamani G (2012) Seroepidemiology of human
- Jundishapur Journal of Microbiology 5: 474–478.
- Ghanbarzadeh N, Nadjafi Semnani M (2006) A study of HIV and other sexually transmitted infections among female prisoners in Birjand [Persian]. Journal of Birjand University of Medical Sciences 13: 69–75.
- Tofigi H, Ghorbani M, Akhlaghi M, Yaghmaei A, Mostafazadeh B, et al. (2011) Incidence of hepatitis B and HIV virus at cadaver of IV drug abusers in 151. Tehran. Acta Med Iran 49: 59-63.
- Imani R, Karimi A, Rouzbahani R, Rouzbahani A (2008) Seroprevalence of HBV, HCV and HIV infection among intravenous drug users in Shahr-e-Kord, Islamic Republic of Iran. East Mediterr Health J 14: 1136–1141.
- Shamaei M, Marjani M, Baghaei P, Chitsaz E, Rezaei Tabar E, et al. (2009) Drug abuse profile patient delay, diagnosis delay and drug resistance pattern -153.
- among addict patients with tuberculosis. Int J STD AIDS 20: 320–323. Pourahmad M, Javady A, Karimi I, Ataei B, Kassaeian N (2007) Seroprevalence of and risk factors associated with hepatitis B, hepatitis C, 154 and human immunodeficiency virus among prisoners in Iran. Infect Dis Clin Prac 15: 368-372.
- 155. Zamani S, Kihara M, Gouva MM, Vazirian M, Ono-Kihara M, et al. (2005) Prevalence of and factors associated with HIV-1 infection among drug users visiting treatment centers in Tchran, Iran. AIDS 19: 709–716.
- Farhoudi B, Montevalian A, Motamedi M, Khameneh MM, Mohraz M, et al. (2003) Human immunodeficiency virus and HIV - associated tuberculosis infection and their risk factors in injecting drug users in prison in Iran. Tehran: Iran Ministry of Health.
- Khodadadizadeh A, Esmaeili Nadimi A, Hossieni SH, Shabani Sharbabaki Z (2006) The prevalence of HIV, HBV and HCV in narcotic addicted persons referred to the out patient clinic of rafsanjan university of medical sciences in 2003 [Persian]. J Rafsanjan Univ Med Sci 5: 21-30.
- 158. Alavi SM, Behdad F (2010) Seroprevalence study of hepatitis C and hepatitis B virus among hospitalized intravenous drug users in Ahvaz, Iran (2002–2006). Hepat Mon 10: 101–104.
- Davoodian P, Dadvand H, Mahoori K, Amoozandeh A, Salavati A (2009) Prevalence of selected sexually and blood-borne infections in Injecting drug 159. abuser inmates of bandar abbas and roodan correction facilities, Iran, 2002. Braz J Infect Dis 13: 356–358.
- Behnaz K, Abdollah A, Fateme F, Mohammadreza R (2007) Prevalence and risk factors of HIV, hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infections in drug addicts among Gorgan prisoners. Journal of Medical Sciences 7: 252–254. 160.
- 161. Alizadeh AH, Alavian SM, Jafari K, Yazdi N (2005) Prevalence of hepatitis C virus infection and its related risk factors in drug abuser prisoners in Hamedan– Iran, World J Gastroenterol 11: 4085-4089.
- Mir-Nasseri MM, Mohammadkhani A, Tavakkoli H, Ansari E, Poustchi H (2011) Incarceration is a major risk factor for blood-borne infection among intravenous drug users. Hepat Mon 11: 19–22.
- Sharif M, Sherif A, Sayyah M (2009) Frequency of HBV, HCV and HIV infections among hospitalized injecting drug users in Kashan. Indian J Sex 163 Transm Dis 30: 28-30.
- Alavi SM, Alavi L (2009) Seroprevalence study of HCV among hospitalized 164. intravenous drug users in Ahvaz, Iran (2001-2006). J Infect Public Health 2: 47-51.
- Alavi SM, Etemadi A (2007) HIV/HBV, HIV/HCV and HIV/HTLV-1 co infection among injecting drug user patients hospitalized at the infectious disease ward of a training hospital in Iran. Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences $23 \cdot 510 - 513$
- Rahbar AR, Rooholamini S, Khoshnood K (2004) Prevalence of HIV infection 166. and other blood-borne infections in incarcerated and non-incarcerated injection drug users (IDUs) in Mashhad, Iran. International Journal of Drug Policy 15: 151–155.
- Sharifi-Mood B, Metanat M (2006) Infection among hospitalized injection drug users. Journal of Medical Sciences 6: 686-689.
- 168. Mirahmadizadeh A, Kadivar M, Hemmati A, Javadi A (2004) Infection with HIV and hepatitis C and B viruses among injecting drug users in Shiraz,

28

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

Southern Iran [Abstract WePeC5981]. In: Proceedings AIDS 2004 - XV

- Southern Iran [Abstract WereC5961]. In: Proceedings AIDS 2004 XV International AIDS Conference; 11–16 July 2004; Bangkok, Thailand. Nowroozi A, Zali M, Gooya M, Kowsarian P, Raoufi M (1998) The simultanity of HIV, and HBV, HCV and syphilis among the addicted prisoners [Abstract 60835]. AIDS 1998 XII International AIDS Conference; 28 June-3 169 July 1998; Geneva, Switzerland. Alavian SM, Mirahmadizadeh A, Javanbakht M, Keshtkaran A, Heidari A,
- 170. et al. (2013) Effectiveness of methadone maintenance treatment in prevention of hepatitis C virus transmission among injecting drug users. Hepat Mon 13: 9.
- Azarkar Z, Sharifzadeh G (2010) Evaluation of the prevalence of Hepatitis B, Hepatitis C, and HIV in inmates with drug-related convictions in Birjand, Iran 171.
- in 2008. Hepat Mon 10: 26–30. Mirahmadizadeh AR, Majdzadeh R, Mohammad K, MH F (2009) Prevalence 172. of HIV and hepatitis C virus infections and related behavioral determinants among injecting drug users of drop-in centers in Iran. Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal 11: 325–329.
- Amini S, Mahmoodabadi SA, Lamian S, Joulaie M, Farahani MM (2005) 173.Animi S, Mamioodabadi SA, Lannah S, Johae M, Farahan MH (2007) Prevalence of hepatitis G virus (HGV) in high-risk groups and blood donors in Tehran, Iran. Iranian Journal of Public Health 34: 41–46.
 Alaei K, Alaei A, Mansoori D, Tabar, Heravi, et al. (2002) The epidemiological status of IDU and HIV infection in addict cases submitted to HIV/STI/IDU
- Counseling and Care Center in Kermanshah province [Abstract LbPp2211]. In: Proceedings: AIDS 2002 XIV International AIDS Conference; 7–12 July 2002; Barcelona, Spain. Ramia S, Klayme S, Naman R (2003) Infection with hepatitis B and C viruses
- and human retroviruses (HTLV-I and HIV) among high-risk Lebanese patients. Ann Trop Med Parasitol 97: 187–192.
- Elharti E (2002) HIV epidemiology in Morocco: a nine-year survey (1991– 1999). ElHarti E, personal communication, updated data up to 2008. International journal of STD and AIDS 13: 839–842. Stulhofer A, Chetty A, Rabie RA, Jwehan I, Ramlawi A (2012) The prevalence of HIV, HBV, HCV, and HIV-related risk-taking behaviors among Palestinian incircular dura users in the Text Incontent of Compared to Utera Macht 800 176.
- 177. injecting drug users in the East Jerusalem Governorate. J Urban Health 89: 671-676
- 671–676. Platt L, Vickerman P, Collumbien M, Hasan S, Lalji N, et al. (2009) Prevalence of HIV, HCV and sexually transmitted infections among injecting drug users in Rawalpindi and Abbottabad, Pakistan: evidence for an emerging injection-related HIV epidemic. Sex Transm Infect 85 Suppl 2: ii17–22. Rahman K, Akhtar A, Aslam M (2006) Seroprevalence of HIV, HBV & HCV in the Reliater (Abstrate (DVC0007). Unpresented ADDC 2006)
- in drug users in Pakistan [Abstract CDC0097]. In: Proceedings AIDS 2006 -XVI International AIDS Conference; 13–18 August 2006; Toronto, Canada. 180
- Nai Zindagi, Punjab Provincial AIDS Control Program (2005) The lethal overdose: injecting drug use and HIV/AIDS. Lahore: Government of Punjab. 181.
- Achakzai M, Kassi M, Kasi PM (2007) Seroprevalences and co-infections of HIV, hepatitis C virus and hepatitis B virus in injecting drug users in Quetta, Pakistan. Trop Doct 37: 43–45. Bokhari A, Emmanuel F, Abbas S (2006) Integrated biological & behavioral
- 182. surveillance: results of pilot studies in Pakistan [Abstract MOPE0552]. In: Proceedings AIDS 2006 - XVI International AIDS Conference; 13–18 August 2006; Toronto, Canada.
- Abbasi B, Somroo F (2005) HIV outbreak among injecting drug users in larkana, pakistan a serious threat for generalized epidemic [Abstract WeOa0305} IAS 2005 - The 3rd IAS Conference on HIV Pathogenesis and Treatment; 24–27 July 2005; Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. 184. Abbasi S, Faqir F, Khan S, Zaidi SK, Ahmed SQ, et al. (2009) A serological
- study of hepatitis C and human immunodeficiency virus in a cohor intravenous drug users in Quetta, Balochistan. Journal of Postgraduate Medical Institute 23: 3-6.
- Shah SA, Altaf A, Mujeeb SA, Memon A (2004) An outbreak of HIV infection among injection drug users in a small town in Pakistan: potential for national implications. Int J STD AIDS 15: 209.
- Akhtar A, Aslam M, Zafar M (2004) Determinants of HIV risky behaviors among drug users in Faisalabad Pakistan [Abstract C11530]. In: Proceedings 186 AIDS 2004 - XV International AIDS Conference; 11-16 July 2004; Bangkok, Thailand.
- 187.
- Inaliand. Iqbal J, Rehan N (1996) Sero-prevalence of HIV: six years' experience at Shaikh Zayed Hospital, Lahore. J Pak Med Assoc 46: 255–258. Khanani MR, Ansari AS, Khan S, Somani M, Kazmi SU, et al. (2010) Concentrated epidemics of HIV, HCV, and HBV among Afghan refugees. 188. Infection 61: 434-437.
- UrRehman N (2002) Injecting drug use and HIV/AIDS in pakistan [Abstract 189. MoPeD3667]. In: Proceedings AIDS 2002 - XIV International AIDS Conference; 7–12 July 2002; Barcelona, Spain.
- World Health Organization Database of notified HIV/AIDS cases. Cairo: Eastern Mediterranean Region Office of the World Health Organization. 190. 191
- Mohtasham Amiri Z, Rezvani M, Jafari Shakib R, Jafari Shakib A (2007) Prevalence of hepatitis C virus infection and risk factors of drug using prisoners in Guilan province. East Mediterr Health J 13: 250–256. Kheirandish P, SeyedAlinaghi S, Jahani M, Shirzad H, Seyed Ahmadian M,
- 192. et al. (2009) Prevalence and correlates of hepatitis C infection among male injection drug users in detention, Tehran, Iran. J Urban Health 86: 902–908.
- Keramat F, Eini P, Majzoobi MM (2011) Seroprevalence of HIV, HBV and HCV in persons referred to hamadan behavioral counseling center, west of 193. Iran. Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal 13: 42-46.

of drug injection in Isfahan, Iran. International Journal of Preventive Medicine

- Vahdani P, Hosseini-Moghaddam SM, Family A, Moheb-Dezfouli R (2009) Prevalence of HBV, HCV, HIV and syphilis among homeless subjects older than fifteen years in Tehran. Arch Iran Med 12: 483–487. 195.
- Zamani S, Ichikawa S, Nassirimanesh B, Vazirian M, Ichikawa K, et al. (2007) Prevalence and correlates of hepatitis C virus infection among injecting drug
- Prevalence and correlates of nepatuls C virus milection among injecting drug users in Tehran. Int J Drug Policy 18: 359–363.
 Nokhodian Z, Ataei B, Kassiaan N, Yaran M, Hassannejad R, et al. (2012) Seroprevalence and risk factors of hepatitis C virus among juveniles in correctional center in Isfahan, Iran. International Journal of Preventive Molecular US.
- Medicine 3: S113–117. Sayad B, Saeed FS, Keyvani H, Rezali M, Asadi T, et al. (2008) Seroepidemiology of hepatitis C in Kermanshah (West of Iran, 2006). Hepat 197 Mon 8: 141-146.
- Nokhodian Z, Meshkati M, Adibi P, Ataei B, Kassaian N, et al. (2012) Hepatitis 198.
- Hoshoulan Z, Meshaau M, Aubi F, Ataci D, Kassulan N, et al. (2012) Hepatitis C among intravenous drug users in Isfahan, Iran: A study of seroprevalence and risk factors. International Journal of Preventive Medicine 3: S131–138.
 Zali MR, Aghazadeh R, Nowroozi A, Amir-Rasouly H (2001) Anti-HCV antibody among Iranian IV drug users: is it a serious problem. Arch Iranian Med 4: 115–119.
- Ataei B, Babak A, Yaran M, Kassaian N, Nokhodian Z, et al. (2011) Hepatitis 200. C in intravenous drug users: Seroprevalence and risk factors [Persian]. Journal of Isfahan Medical School 28: 1–9. Sarkari B, Eilami O, Khosravani A, Akbartabartori M, Tabatabaee M (2011)
- 201. High prevalence of hepatitis C infection among high risk groups in Kohgiloyeh and Boyerahmad Province, Southwest of Iran. International Journal of Infectious Diseases 15: S82.
 Kaffashian A, Nokhodian Z, Kassaian N, Babak A, Yaran M, et al. (2011) The
- experience of hepatitis C screening among prison inmates with drug injection history [Persian]. Journal of Isfahan Medical School 28.
- Kassaian N, Adibi P, Kafashaian A, Yaran M, Nokhodian Z, et al. (2012) Hepatitis C virus and associated risk factors among prison inmates with history 203.

- Nobari RF, Meshkati M, Ataei B, Yazdani MR, Heidari K, et al. (2012) 204. Identification of patients with hepatitis c virus infection in persons with background of intravenous drug use: the first community announcementbased study from Iran. International Journal of Preventive Medicine 3. Rehan N, Bokhari A, Nizamani NM, Jackson D, Naqvi HR, et al. (2009)
- 205. National study of reproductive tract infections among high risk groups of Lahore and Karachi. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak 19: 228–231. Ahmed F, Irving WL, Anwar M, Myles P, Neal KR (2011) Prevalence and risk factors for hepatitis C virus infection in Kech District, Balochistan, Pakistan:
- 206. most infections remain unexplained. A cross-sectional study. Epidemiol Infect: 1-8.
- 1-0. Butt A, Jafri W, Janjua N, Pasha O (2010) Seroprevalence and risk factors for hepatitis C infection among male prisoners in Karachi, Pakistan. Am J Gastroenterol 105: S112. Ur Rehman L, Ullah I, Ali I, Khan IA, Iqbal A, et al. (2011) Active hepatitis C 207.
- 208 Ur Kehman L, Ullah I, Ah I, Khan IA, Iqbal A, et al. (2011) Active hepatitis C infection and HCV genotypes prevalent among the IDUs of Khyber Pakhtunkhwa. Virology Journal 8. Ali I, Siddique L, Rehman LU, Khan NU, Iqbal A, et al. (2011) Prevalence of HCV among the high risk groups in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa. Virol J 8: 296. Njol J, Zimmo S (1997) Prevalence of antibodies to hepatitis C virus in drug-dependent patients in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. East Afr Med J 74: 89–91.
- 209. 210.
- 211. Iqbal N (2000) Substance dependence. A hospital based survey. Saudi Med J
- 21: 51-57. 212. Alzahrani AJ, Dela Cruz DM, Obeid OE, Bukhari HA, Al-Qahtani AA, et al.
- Abaman May, Deta Chu, Dav, Oled OL, Judian Tr., Al-Qantan AA, et al. (2009) Molecular detection of hepatitis B, hepatitis C, and torque teno viruses in drug users in Saudi Arabia. J Med Virol 81: 1343–1347.
 Othman BM, Monem FS (2002) Prevalence of hepatitis C virus antibodies among intravenous drug abusers and prostitutes in Damascus, Syria. Saudi Med J 23: 393–395.

Editors' Summary

Background. About 35 million people worldwide are currently infected with HIV, the virus that causes AIDS, and around 2.3 million people become newly infected every year. HIV is mainly transmitted through unprotected sex with an infected partner. However, people who inject drugs (PWID) have a particularly high risk of HIV infection because blood transfer through needle and syringe sharing can transmit the virus. Worldwide, 5%-10% of all HIV-positive people are PWID but in some regions of the world the fraction of all HIVpositive people that are PWID is even higher. To meet the global health challenge of the high HIV prevalence (the proportion of a population that has a specific disease) among PWID, the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/ AIDS (UNAIDS) and other international bodies endorse harm reduction strategies to prevent risky injection behaviors among PWID. These strategies include education and the provision of clean needles, syringes, and opioid substitution therapy.

Why Was This Study Done? To maximize the effect of these harm-reduction strategies in specific regions, it is important to understand the status of the HIV epidemic among PWID. Although surveillance systems provide the information on HIV infection needed to track the progress of HIV epidemics among PWID in many regions, little is known about the HIV epidemic among PWID in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA, a geographical region that encompasses countries that share historical, socio-cultural, linguistic, and religious characteristics). Several factors contribute to the likelihood of individuals injecting drugs in MENA. For example, Afghanistan (a MENA country) produces most of the world's supply of heroin, which is largely trafficked through Iran and Pakistan (also MENA countries). In this systematic review and data synthesis, the researchers use predefined criteria to identify all the published and unpublished data on HIV prevalence and incidence (the number of new cases of a disease in a population in a given time) among PWID in MENA and combine (synthesize) these data to assess the status of the HIV epidemic in this key population for HIV transmission in MENA.

What Did the Researchers Do and Find? The researchers identified 192 reports that reported the prevalence/incidence of HIV, other sexually transmitted infections and infection with hepatitis C virus (HCV, another virus transmitted through drug injection) among PWID, the prevalence of injecting or sexual risk behaviors among PWID, or the number/proportion of PWID in MENA. From these data, the researchers estimated that there are about 600,000 PWID in MENA (a prevalence of 0.24 per 100 adults, which is comparable with figures from other regions). The data provided evidence for HIV epidemics among PWID in at least a third of MENA countries, mainly emerging concentrated epidemics (epidemics that are still growing but in which HIV infection and transmission are already considerable). HIV prevalence among PWID in MENA varied considerably, reaching an extremely high prevalence of 87.1% in Tripoli, Libya. The data also revealed a high injecting and sexual risk environment among PWID in MENA (for example, on average, about a quarter of PWID shared a needle or syringe in their most recent injection and only a third reported ever

using condoms) that, together with a high prevalence of HCV and sexually transmitted infections among PWID, indicates the potential for more and larger HIV epidemics.

What Do These Findings Mean? These findings indicate that substantial amounts of HIV-related data have been collected from PWID in MENA but that the coverage and quality of these data vary widely between countries. They provide robust evidence for growing HIV epidemics, most of which have emerged within the past decade, among PWID in several MENA countries, but do not preclude the possibility of hidden epidemics among PWID in additional MENA countries. Overall, these findings suggest that the HIV epidemic among PWID in MENA is at a relatively early stage. This window of opportunity to control the emerging epidemics should not be missed, warn the researchers. HIV surveillance among PWID in MENA must be expanded to detect and monitor emerging and growing HIV epidemics, they suggest, and to inform effective HIV policy and programming. Improvements in HIV prevention and treatment among PWID in MENA are essential, they conclude, to confront the growing HIV problem in this population and, to prevent the onward transmission of HIV from PWID to other population groups.

Additional Information. Please access these websites via the online version of this summary at http://dx.doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pmed.1001663.

- A 2010 report produced by the World Bank, UNAIDS, and WHO provides information on the status of the HIV epidemic in the Middle East and North Africa; the UNAIDS Middle East and North Africa Regional Report on AIDS 2011 provides further information
- The 2013 UNAIDS World AIDS Day Report provides up-todate information about the AIDS epidemic and efforts to halt it
- The Middle East and North Africa Harm Reduction Association (MENAHRA) provides information about harm reduction efforts, services, and programs in the Middle East and North Africa; Harm Reduction International provides information about harm reduction concepts, strategies, programs, and publications globally
- Information is available from the US National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases on HIV infection and AIDS
- NAM/aidsmap provides basic information about HIV/AIDS, and summaries of recent research findings on HIV care and treatment
- Information is available from Avert, an international AIDS charity, on many aspects of HIV/AIDS, including information on people who inject drugs and HIV/AIDS and on harm reduction and HIV prevention (in English and Spanish)
- The US National Institute on Drug Abuse also provides information about drug abuse and HIV/AIDS (in English and Spanish)
- Personal stories about living with HIV/AIDS are available through Avert, Nam/aidsmap, and Healthtalkonline

PLOS Medicine | www.plosmedicine.org

2.4. SUPPLEMENTARY ONLINE MATERIAL OUTLINE

The following is the outline of the supplementary online material as cited in Research paper 1. The corresponding files are found in Appendix A.

- Text S1. PRISMA checklist
- Text S2. Search criteria
- Text S3. Narrative justification for quality of the evidence and status of the epidemic at the country level
- Table S1.Precision and risk of bias of individual HIV prevalence measures among peoplewho inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa as extracted from eligiblereports
- Table S2.Summary of precision and risk of bias of HIV prevalence measures as extractedfrom eligible reports
- Table S3.Subnational estimates of the number and prevalence of people who inject drugsin the Middle East and North Africa
- Table S4.HIV point-prevalence measures among people who inject drugs as extracted
from various databases including the US Census Bureau database, the
WHO/EMRO testing database, the UNAIDS epidemiological fact sheets
databases, and other sources of data with unidentified reports
- Table S5.Measures of injecting risk behaviour among people who inject drugs in theMiddle East and North Africa
- Table S6.Measures of sexual risk behaviour and sexually transmitted infectionsprevalence among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa
- Table S7.HIV/AIDS knowledge, perception of risk, and HIV testing among people whoinject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa

2.5. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

This study identified a large volume of HIV-related biological and behavioural data among PWID, including quality IBBSS in multiple countries. The population proportion of injecting drug use in MENA was found to be comparable to global figures. There is evidence for HIV epidemics among PWID in one third of countries, most of which are concentrated emerging HIV epidemics that emerged in the last decade. Iran is the only country where there is conclusive evidence for an established HIV epidemic at a national level. The status of the HIV epidemics is unknown in about half of countries, and the lack of sufficient evidence does not preclude the possibility of hidden epidemics among PWID in these settings. The high injecting and sexual risk behaviour environment suggests potential for further HIV spread among PWID. There is also overlap of risk behaviour between PWID and the other KPs which facilitates bridging of the HIV epidemic from one KP to the other, as has happened in Pakistan and possibly in Egypt. Since most HIV epidemics among PWID in MENA are nascent, there is a window of opportunity for prevention.

3. HCV AS A PREDCITOR OF HIV EPIDEMIC POTENTIAL AMONG PWID: THEORETICAL UNDERPINNINGS

3.1. INTRODUCTION

Chapter 2 documented a pattern of nascent HIV epidemics and a high risk environment among PWID in several MENA countries. Considerable overlap of risk behaviour with other KPs, such as MSM, who may be experiencing HIV epidemics was also documented. All these findings suggest that there could be further HIV spread in these settings. Also, in many countries with insufficient data to characterize HIV epidemic state, there could be undetected HIV transmission and similar epidemic patterns. Sharp increases in HIV prevalence among PWID over short periods of time have been observed in the region, such as in Pakistan [70], testifying to the prevailing high risk environment and high HIV epidemic potential.

These findings highlighted the necessity to identify settings in the region that are at high risk of future HIV spread and potentially large HIV epidemics among their PWID populations. Most MENA countries, however, have limited resources for conducting repeated surveys to track the course of the HIV epidemic. Also, in a context of emerging, and at times rapidly growing, epidemics, time is an important factor for consideration. For example, in Egypt, the first round of IBBSS was conducted in 2006 and found very little HIV transmission among PWID (1% prevalence) [71, 72]. It was only until 2010 that the second round was implemented, by which time HIV prevalence among PWID had reached over 7% [73]. Relying on existing sources of data to predict the future spread of HIV is a cost-effective and practical way to prioritize PWID populations for HIV prevention and treatment, and to inform policy and resource allocation. One of these existing sources of data is HCV prevalence data. HCV infection is transmitted among PWID along the same parenteral route, and could be used as a proxy biomarker of injecting risk behaviour and, hence, of future HIV spread.

In this chapter, mathematical modelling is used to theoretically explore the association between HCV and HIV infections among PWID and to demonstrate whether HCV could be used as a predictor of future HIV epidemic spread. This chapter lays the theoretical foundation for the application of this concept among PWID in MENA (Chapter 4).

3.2. RESEARCH PAPER 2 - MATHEMATICAL MODELLING STUDY

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT www.lshtm.ac.uk

Registry

T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk



RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED <u>FOR EACH</u> RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A – Student Details

Student	Ghina Mumtaz
Principal Supervisor	Prof. Helen Weiss
Thesis Title	The Epidemiology of HIV Infection Among People Who Inject Drugs in the Middle East and North Africa

<u>If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C</u>

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	BMC Public Health		
When was the work published?	December 3, 2016		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

- Ality

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

SECTION D – Multi-authored work

the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary) contributed to the conduct of analyses, lead the interpretation of findings, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript.
--

Student Signature:

January 10, 2017

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

Supervisor Signature: ____ ULQcons ____ Date: ____ January 10, 2017

Improving health worldwide

Page 2 of 2

www.lshtm.ac.uk

Retention of copyright evidence

This article is published in an open access format.

"Copyright on any open access article in a journal published by BioMed Central is retained by the author(s). Authors grant BioMed Central a license to publish the article and identify itself as the original publisher."

BioMed Central content license agreement for open access articles can be found at: https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/submission-guidelines/copyright

Akbarzadeh *et al. BMC Public Health* (2016) 16:1216 DOI 10.1186/s12889-016-3887-y

RESEARCH ARTICLE



BMC Public Health



HCV prevalence can predict HIV epidemic potential among people who inject drugs: mathematical modeling analysis

Vajiheh Akbarzadeh^{1,2†}, Ghina R. Mumtaz^{1,3*†}, Susanne F. Awad¹, Helen A. Weiss⁴ and Laith J. Abu-Raddad^{1,2,5*}

Abstract

Background: Hepatitis C virus (HCV) and HIV are both transmitted through percutaneous exposures among people who inject drugs (PWID). Ecological analyses on global epidemiological data have identified a positive association between HCV and HIV prevalence among PWID. Our objective was to demonstrate how HCV prevalence can be used to predict HIV epidemic potential among PWID.

Methods: Two population-level models were constructed to simulate the evolution of HCV and HIV epidemics among PWID. The models described HCV and HIV parenteral transmission, and were solved both deterministically and stochastically.

Results: The modeling results provided a good fit to the epidemiological data describing the ecological HCV and HIV association among PWID. HCV was estimated to be eight times more transmissible per shared injection than HIV. A threshold HCV prevalence of 29.0% (95% uncertainty interval (UI): 20.7-39.8) and 46.5% (95% UI: 37.6-56.6) were identified for a sustainable HIV epidemic (HIV prevalence >1%) and concentrated HIV epidemic (HIV prevalence >5%), respectively. The association between HCV and HIV was further described with six dynamical regimes depicting the overlapping epidemiology of the two infections, and was quantified using defined and estimated measures of association. Modeling predictions across a wide range of HCV prevalence indicated overall acceptable precision in predicting HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium. Modeling predictions were found to be robust with respect to stochasticity and behavioral and biological parameter uncertainty. In an illustrative application of the methodology, the modeling predictions of endemic HIV prevalence in Iran agreed with the scale and time course of the HIV epidemic in this country.

Conclusions: Our results show that HCV prevalence can be used as a proxy biomarker of HIV epidemic potential among PWID, and that the scale and evolution of HIV epidemic expansion can be predicted with sufficient precision to inform HIV policy, programming, and resource allocation.

Keywords: HIV, Hepatitis C virus, People who inject drugs, Mathematical modeling, Prediction

Background

Prioritization of populations and settings for HIV prevention interventions is critical to increase the costeffectiveness of programs [1]. This is particularly the case in resource-limited settings such as most of the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) where HIV

* Correspondence: Ghina.Mumtaz@lshtm.ac.uk; lja2002@qatarmed.cornell.edu surveillance among most-at-risk populations, including people who inject drugs (PWID), remains deficient [2]. In this region, emerging and sometimes rapidly rising HIV epidemics have been recently documented among PWID [3]. Identification of settings with high HIV epidemic potential among PWID would help in prioritization and resource allocation for prevention interventions before HIV prevalence reaches high endemic levels. In this work, we provide the theoretical foundation, and describe an application in MENA, for an innovative approach to identify PWID populations at high



© The Author(s). 2016 **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Jubic Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

[†]Equal contributors

¹Infectious Disease Epidemiology Group, Weill Cornell Medical College – Qatar, Cornell University, Doha, Qatar

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

risk of future HIV epidemic expansion. The concept is to use prevalence data on hepatitis C virus (HCV) to predict HIV epidemic potential.

Both HCV and HIV are transmitted through percutaneous exposures, and among PWID, sharing of nonsterile injecting equipment is the main mode of transmission [4]. However, HCV is more transmissible than HIV [5], has a higher prevalence, and is hyperendemic in most PWID populations [6, 7]. Globally, 63% of PWID are HCV infected [6, 7] while only 19% are HIV infected [6]. A recent meta-analysis identified that 82% of HIV-infected PWID are co-infected with HCV [8]. At the individual level, with HCV being most often transmitted before HIV along the same route of transmission, it could be used as a marker of the risk of exposure to HIV.

Few studies have investigated the association between HCV and HIV among PWID [9-13]. Ecological analyses on global [10] and MENA [9] epidemiological data have identified a positive association between the two infections. The association was found to be most robust when both infections are at endemic equilibrium [9], and is characterized by a threshold effect whereby HIV prevalence is likely to be negligible below a certain HCV prevalence of about 30% [10]. Two mathematical modeling studies reproduced the epidemiological epidemic dynamics [11, 13]. They projected the presence of an HCV threshold effect for a sustainable HIV epidemic; but the value of this HCV threshold was found to be highly sensitive to a number of behavioral parameters such as heterogeneity in risk, level of mixing, and duration of injecting [11, 13]. The models were also able to reproduce, above the threshold, the diversity of HCV and HIV epidemics occurring in different settings [11, 13]. These models however, with the uncertainty in behavioral parameters, questioned the utility of HCV prevalence in predicting HIV epidemic scale.

In this study, we re-examine the HCV-HIV association among PWID using a modeling approach that accommodates stochasticity and a complex injecting contact structure. We estimate the HCV thresholds for HIV epidemic expansion, and assess the extent to which this threshold is affected by variations in behavioral and HCV/HIV biological parameters. We also examine new aspects in the HCV-HIV association that include 1) estimating the HCV to HIV infectiousness ratio, 2) identifying the different dynamical regimes in the overlapping HCV-HIV epidemiology, and 3) developing and estimating summary measures that quantify the association between the two infections and that can be used, beyond modeling, for predictions of HIV epidemic potential among PWID. We further quantify the margins in HCV predictability of HIV epidemic scale across a wide range of HCV prevalence, through the conduct of uncertainty analyses. Finally, an application is provided for one MENA country where the HCV-HIV association is used to predict the scale and evolution of the HIV epidemic.

Methods

HCV and HIV models structure

Two population-level compartmental models were constructed to simulate the evolution of HCV and HIV epidemics among PWID (Figs. 1 and 2, and Additional file 1). The models describe HCV/HIV parenteral transmission through sharing of non-sterile needles/syringes, and were solved both deterministically and stochastically. The deterministic versions of the models were expressed each through a system of coupled nonlinear differential equations, and stratified the PWID population into compartments according to HCV/HIV status, stage of HCV/ HIV infection, and level of injecting risk behavior. The stochastic versions used the same transition rates in the deterministic systems to generate the stochastic processes. HIV progression in the HIV model was divided into three stages: acute, latent, and advanced; while progression in the HCV model was divided into stages of acute (primary infection), chronic, and secondary acute. The latter denotes the acute phase following HCV reinfection, in the event the primary infection was cleared.

Both the HCV and HIV models used the same injecting behavior structure and parameter values. To accommodate heterogeneity in injecting risk behavior, we stratified the PWID population into seven risk groups with increasing level of injecting risk behavior. We assumed that individuals become PWID at a constant rate and remain in the same risk group until the end of their injecting career or death. We also assumed that the distribution of the PWID population across the seven risk groups follows a gamma distribution, as motivated by previous theoretical and applied mathematical modeling work [14–19] (Eq. 1 and Additional file 1).

$$p(i) = \frac{1}{b^a \Gamma(a)} i^{a-1} e^{\frac{-i}{b}} \tag{1}$$

Here a is the shape parameter and b is the scale parameter in the gamma distribution. With such a distribution, the majority of the PWID population belongs to relatively lower risk groups while a small fraction belongs to the higher risk groups. PWID of different risk groups interact according to a mixing matrix with a continuous spectrum between assortative (choosing injecting partners from within their risk group) and proportionate (choosing partners with no preferential bias based on the type of risk group) mixing.

The level of risk behavior was modeled by the effective partnership change rate. While expressed in units of injecting partners per year, the effective partnership
Page 3 of 17



in Additional file 1

change rate is a complex summary measure of the overall risk of exposure to HCV/HIV infections. It captures effectively different factors that reflect the nature of injecting risk behavior and networks, but are difficult to quantify, such as clustering within networks, concurrency, and variability in risk behavior [20–24]. Accordingly, the effective partnership change rate reflects the distribution and strength of the risk of exposure to HCV/HIV infection. Motivated by previous mathematical modeling work [25–29], the distribution of the level of injecting risk behavior, that is of the effective partnership change rate, across the seven risk groups was defined through the following power law function where the level of risk behavior grows larger and larger with the risk group number (Eq. 2 and Additional file 1):

$$\rho_{P_i} = C i^{\alpha} \tag{2}$$

where α is the exponent in the power-law function and *C* is an overall constant. The different HCV/HIV epidemic scales were generated by changing the value of the average effective partnership change rate in the PWID population. Further details on model structure can be found in Additional file 1.

Data sources and model fitting

The model parameters were derived using recent empirical HCV/HIV natural history and epidemiology data, as well as through model fitting for some of the parameters. All HCV/HIV biological and behavioral parameter values and their references are summarized in Additional file 2. Further justification for the parameter values are provided in Additional file 1, Section 4.

HCV and HIV model predictions were fitted to global epidemiological HCV and HIV prevalence data among PWID [10]. These data were identified in an earlier systematic review of literature and included 863 paired HCV-HIV data points among PWID from 343 different geographical areas in 61 countries [10]. The paired

Page 4 of 17



HCV-HIV prevalence data were then fitted to a statistical segmented linear regression model, indicating a positive ecological association between HCV and HIV prevalence [10]. Our modeling predictions of endemic HCV and HIV prevalence at various levels of injecting risk behavior were fitted to this ecological statistical association describing the epidemiological global HCV-HIV data [10]. The main purpose of the fitting was to determine the best-fit value for the HCV/HIV infectiousness ratio (that is the ratio of the HCV transmission probability per shared injection to that of HIV), a biological parameter and not a population-specific parameter. This fitting insured that our modeling predictions describe the actual HCV-HIV association observed empirically among PWID. The fitting was made in the range of HCV prevalence of 40-60%, where there is the highest volume of epidemiological data [10]. We used a nonlinear least-square fitting method incorporating the Nelder-Mead simplex algorithm as described in Lagarias et al. to find the best fit [30]. The method, as well as most of our modeling analyses, were implemented in MATLAB [31, 32].

In addition to the infectiousness ratio of HCV to HIV, three other measures were derived through the optimum fit to the global epidemiological data: The scale and shape parameters of the gamma distribution of the population across injecting risk groups, and the exponent parameter of the power law distribution of the level of injecting risk behavior across risk groups.

Plan of analysis

HCV thresholds for HIV epidemic expansion

Derivation After fitting to global epidemiological data, we used the best-fit parameters in applying the HCV

and HIV models. As a first step, we examined the association between the prevalence of the two infections in broad epidemic scales by plotting, at endemic equilibrium, HIV prevalence as a function of HCV prevalence. This was done by varying the average injecting risk behavior parameter (effective partnership change rate) and generating endemic HCV and HIV prevalence for each value of average injecting risk behavior, using the deterministic versions of the models. The endemic HCV prevalence at which the corresponding endemic HIV prevalence became greater than 1% was identified as the HCV threshold for sustainable HIV epidemic, and the endemic HCV prevalence that corresponded to an endemic HIV prevalence of 5% was identified as the threshold for concentrated HIV epidemic.

Sensitivity analysis We conducted extensive univariate sensitivity analyses to explore the HCV-HIV association at broad ranges of changes in each model parameter, including not only plausible but also extreme values that are not even seen empirically. We examined the sensitivity of our modeling predictions of the HCV thresholds, for both sustainable and concentrated HIV epidemics, to variations in 1) the infectiousness ratio of HCV to HIV, 2) several injecting risk behavior parameters including: the degree of assortative mixing, the scale and shape parameters of the gamma distribution of the population across injecting risk groups, the exponent parameter of the power law distribution of the level of injecting risk behavior, and the duration of injecting and 3) scaleup of antiretroviral therapy (ART) among those eligible for treatment. We assumed that all infected

PWID in the advanced HIV stage and half of those in the latent HIV stage would be eligible for ART treatment, which corresponds roughly to a CD4 cell count criterion for treatment of 500 cells/ μ l [33]. We assumed that the efficacy of ART in reducing HIV transmission among PWID is 100%, based on a clinical trial of treatment for prevention and other observational data [34, 35]. We also assumed that, by slowing disease progression, 100% coverage among those eligible for ART would double the average duration from onset of infection to death among the total HIV infected population. Wide ranges of values for the parameters of the sensitivity analyses were chosen to produce a broad range of epidemics.

Uncertainty analyses

Two separate multivariate uncertainty analyses were conducted to specify ranges of uncertainty in the predicted HCV thresholds, for both sustainable and concentrated HIV epidemics, with respect to 1) biological parameters and 2) behavioral parameters. The biological parameters that were varied included: the probabilities of HCV and HIV transmission per shared injection in each infection stage, the duration of each HCV and HIV stage, and the proportions of virus clearance for HCV primary infection and HCV reinfection. The behavioral parameters that were varied included: the duration of injecting, the degree of assortative mixing, the scale and shape parameters of the gamma distribution of the population across risk groups, the exponent parameter of the power law distribution of the level of risk behavior, and the frequency of sharing acts per partnership. These were the same set of parameters that were varied in all subsequent behavioral uncertainty analyses (as discussed below).

The parameters of the uncertainty analyses were varied within 20% of their point estimates (Additional file 2). We implemented 5,000 runs of the deterministic HCV and HIV models using Monte Carlo sampling from uniform probability distributions for the uncertainty in these parameters. Estimates for the mean values and associated 95% uncertainty intervals (UI) for the predicted HCV thresholds were determined by fitting a log-normal distribution to the range of values as described elsewhere [36].

Overlapping epidemiology of HCV and HIV infections

We quantified the epidemiological association between HCV and HIV among PWID using the risk ratio $(RR_{HCV/HIV})$ and odds ratio $(OR_{HCV/HIV})$ of HCV prevalence to HIV prevalence. The two measures were defined as follows:

$$RR_{HCV/HIV} = \frac{P_{HCV} - P_{threshold}}{P_{HIV}}$$
(3)

$$OR_{HCV/HIV} = \left(\frac{P_{HCV} - P_{threshold}}{1 - (P_{HCV} - P_{threshold})}\right) / \left(\frac{P_{HIV}}{1 - P_{HIV}}\right)$$
(4)

where P_{HCV} is HCV prevalence, $P_{threshold}$ is the minimum HCV prevalence for a sustainable HIV epidemic, and P_{HIV} is HIV prevalence.

HCV and HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium, $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ and $OR_{HCV/HIV}$ were examined as a function of the average injecting risk behavior, that is the effective partnership change rate, to qualitatively and quantitatively describe the overlapping dynamics of the two infections at variable epidemic scales.

Effect of behavioral uncertainty on HCV-based predictions of HIV epidemic scale

Our overarching aim is to use the above observed association between HCV and HIV infections to predict the future size of HIV epidemics using HCV prevalence. We assessed the precision of HCV prevalence in predicting HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium by quantifying, across the whole spectrum of HCV prevalence, the effect of behavioral uncertainty on our modeling prediction of HIV prevalence. For each value of HCV prevalence, increasing in increments of 4%, we implemented 50 runs of the deterministic model using the uncertainty analysis methods described above. The new set of parameter values was used to refit the model to the specific HCV prevalence. We then compared, at each HCV prevalence level, the difference between the baseline prediction of HIV prevalence and the 50 predictions of HIV prevalence including the behavioral uncertainty.

Application to Iran

HIV epidemic size prediction We applied the concept of using HCV prevalence to predict HIV epidemic scale in Iran as an illustrative example. We applied the deterministic version of the HCV model, and varied the average injecting risk behavior until the model generated the observed HCV prevalence in Iran. This specific value of the average injecting risk behavior was then used in applying the stochastic HIV model and predicting the time course of the HIV epidemic in this country.

The predicted time course of the HIV epidemic was compared to the observed HIV prevalence levels in the two conducted nationally-representative surveillance surveys among PWID in Iran [37, 38]. In addition to these two quality national data points, there are close to 100 HIV point prevalence measures over time among PWID in Iran [3]. These data show a clear trend for the HIV PWID epidemic which started its emergence in the late 1990s, reached a peak around the year 2005, then stabilized over the last decade or so at a national prevalence of about 15% [3] (Additional file 3). This large volume of HIV prevalence data was used to inform the fitting in Iran by ensuring that it generates a result that is in line with the trend described by the epidemiological data. In the absence of nationally-representative HCV prevalence data among PWID, we used the median, 25th percentile, and 75th percentile of all available HCV prevalence data in Iran, as identified in a recent systematic review of PWID in MENA [3], and therefore produced three predicted HIV epidemic time courses.

HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium in Iran was also predicted directly, by subtracting the HCV threshold for sustainable HIV epidemic from each of the three HCV prevalence levels (25^{th} , 50^{th} , or 75^{th} percentile), then dividing by the deterministically model-estimated $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ corresponding to each HCV prevalence level—that is using Eq. 3.

Effect of stochasticity Since epidemic stochasticity could affect our modeling predictions by generating different HIV epidemic scales for the same HCV prevalence level, we examined the effect of stochasticity on our predictions of HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium and also on $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ and $OR_{HCV/HIV}$ in Iran. We used the behavioral parameter values which correspond to the HCV prevalence level (25th, 50th, or 75th percentile) that agrees most with the observed HIV prevalence data in Iran. We generated 5,000 stochastic epidemic simulations and calculated the mean value and 95% UI for the predicted HIV prevalence, $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ and $OR_{HCV/HIV}$ by fitting a log-normal distribution to the range of values.

Uncertainty analyses We also examined the precision of our predictions of the HIV epidemic course in Iran. We conducted two separate multivariate biological and

behavioral uncertainty analyses, using the methods described above, to specify the range of uncertainty in the predicted HIV prevalence, $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ and $OR_{HCV/HIV}$ that correspond to the HCV prevalence level that agrees most with the observed HIV prevalence data in Iran. At each run, the model was refit to this specific HCV prevalence.

Results

HCV to HIV infectiousness ratio

The HCV and HIV model projections provided a good fit to the global epidemiological data describing the ecological association between HCV and HIV among PWID (Fig. 3). The optimum fitting value of the infectiousness ratio of HCV to HIV was found to be 7.8 (Additional file 2), suggesting that HCV is about eight times more transmissible per shared injection than HIV.

Epidemiologic association and threshold effect

The fitted models were used to generate a broad spectrum of HCV and HIV prevalence and their epidemiological overlap (Fig. 3). As shown in Fig. 3, the predictions indicate a positive association between HCV and HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium, with a threshold HCV prevalence of 27.9% for a sustainable HIV epidemic (>1%) and 45.2% for a concentrated HIV epidemic (>5%).

Based on results of the sensitivity analyses (Figs. 4 and 5), changes in the HCV/HIV infectiousness ratio and in injecting risk behavior parameters within the specified wide ranges had a rather small effect on the existence or values of the HCV thresholds for sustainable and concentrated HIV epidemics. More specifically, there was a large reduction in the HCV thresholds only when the HCV/HIV infectiousness ratio was <7, while the effect of higher values of this ratio on the HCV thresholds was limited (Figs. 4 and 5 (a)). The HCV thresholds were mildly sensitive to changes in the degree of assortative mixing, except near the extremes of fully proportionate



Fig. 3 Relationship between HCV and HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium among people who inject drugs, and model fitting to the segmented linear regression statistical model that summarizes the global epidemiological data as derived by Vickerman et al. [10]

Page 7 of 17



behavior (e), duration of injecting (t), and anti-retroviral therapy (ART) coverage (g). For each set of parameter values in these graphs, the average injecting risk behavior was varied; endemic HCV and HIV prevalence for each value of average injecting risk behavior were generated; and the HCV threshold for sustainable HIV epidemic was identified and plotted

or fully assortative mixing (Figs. 4 and 5 (b)). Similarly, the HCV thresholds showed somewhat mild dependence to variation in the exponent parameter of the power law distribution of risk behavior, with a more pronounced effect when the exponent was closer to one (Figs. 4 and 5 (e)). There were small and limited effects, respectively, of the scale and shape parameters of the gamma distribution of the population across risk groups (Figs. 4 and 5 (c and d)). The duration of injecting and ART scale up had likewise a rather

small effect on both thresholds. The effect of ART was most pronounced at very high coverage of above 90% (Figs. 4 and 5 (f and g)).

Figure 6 shows our prediction and 95% UI of the HCV thresholds per the uncertainty analysis including all behavioral parameters. Results indicate a mean HCV threshold for sustainable and concentrated HIV epidemics of 29.0% (95% UI: 20.7-39.8) and 46.5% (95% UI: 37.6-56.6), respectively. The effect of the biological uncertainly on the HCV thresholds was smaller with a

Page 8 of 17



mean HCV prevalence of 27.5% (95% UI: 23.2-31.9) and of 44.7% (95% CI: 39.8-49.4) for sustainable and concentrated HIV epidemics, respectively.

Overlapping epidemiology of HCV and HIV infections

The epidemiological overlap between HCV and HIV infections among PWID is illustrated in Fig. 7. Six dynamical epidemiological regimes were discerned based on the qualitative behavior of the prevalence of both infections, the $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ and the $OR_{HCV/HIV}$ (Fig. 7). The regimes are summarized in Table 1.

In regime I, both HCV and HIV infections are below epidemic sustainability. In regime II, there is sustainable HCV transmission but HCV prevalence is low scale (below 30%); HIV is still below epidemic sustainability. In regime III, HCV prevalence is in the range of 28–45%. At this stage, HIV passed into epidemic sustainability but is below 5%, the threshold defining a concentrated HIV epidemic. In regime IV, HIV is in a

Page 9 of 17



concentrated state (prevalence 5–24%) since HCV prevalence is already above the threshold for a concentrated HIV epidemic (HCV prevalence >45%). In regime V, HCV prevalence is between 70 and 80%, and HIV prevalence is large scale, in the range of 25–42%. In regime VI where HCV prevalence is approaching maximum possible prevalence (100%), the HIV epidemic is very large scale and eventually also approaches maximum possible prevalence (100%) (Fig. 7, Table 1).

These six epidemiological regimes are also reflected in the trend and range of $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ and $OR_{HCV/HIV}$. These two measures of association become expressed only in regimes III-VI where both infections are above epidemic sustainability (Fig. 7, Table 1). In regime III, HCV epidemic expansion is substantially faster than that of HIV, resulting in $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ and $OR_{HCV/HIV}$ of 3.7-3.5 and 4.1-4.0, respectively. However, in subsequent regimes, HIV epidemic expansion gradually catches up with HCV



Fig. 7 Epidemiological overlap between HCV and HIV infections among people who inject drugs. These graphs describe the epidemiological relationship between HCV and HIV infections by plotting endemic HCV and HIV prevalence (**a**), the risk ratio of endemic HCV to HIV prevalence ($RR_{HCV/HIV}$) (**b**), and the odds ratio of endemic HCV to HIV prevalence ($OR_{HCV/HIV}$) (**c**), as a function of the average injecting risk behavior (effective partnership change rate). Six epidemiological regimes linking HIV prevalence and HCV prevalence are discerned (**a**). The $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ (**b**) and $OR_{HCV/}$ (**c**) are displayed for regimes III-VI with sustainable epidemics for both infections

, .						
	HCV prev	alence	HIV preva	ilence	RR ^{ab} HCV/HIV	OR ^{ab}
	Range	Description	Range	Description	Range	Range
Regime I	<1%	Below sustainability	<1%	Below sustainability		
Regime II	1-28%	Above sustainability - low scale HCV epidemic	<1%	Below sustainability		
Regime III	28–45%	Large scale HCV epidemic	1–5%	Above sustainability threshold for HIV epidemic expansion and below concentration threshold	3.7-3.5	4.1-4.0
Regime IV	45-70%	Large scale HCV epidemic	5-24%	Concentrated HIV epidemic	3.5-1.8	4.0-2.3
Regime V	70-80%	Very large scale HCV epidemic	24-42%	Large scale HIV epidemic	1.8-1.2	2.3-1.5
Regime VI	>80%	Approaching maximum prevalence	>42%	Very large scale HIV epidemic and approaching maximum prevalence	<1.2	<1.5

Table 1 Description of the dynamical regimes of the overlapping epidemiology of HCV and HIV infections among people who inject drugs

^a We are reporting the range of *RR* and *OR* excluding those corresponding to the immediate vicinity of the HCV threshold for HIV sustainable transmission ^b The *RR*_{HCV/HIV} and *OR*_{HCV/HIV} are reported in descending order to reflect the decreasing trend in the ratios as a function of injecting risk behavior as per Fig. 7

epidemic expansion. This is reflected in the decreasing trend in $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ and $OR_{HCV/HIV}$ which reach 1.8 and 2.3 by the end of regime IV, respectively; and 1.2 and 1.5 by the end of regime V, respectively. In regime VI where both infections eventually reach maximum prevalence, the $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ and $OR_{HCV/HIV}$ ultimately reach their final asymptotic values (Fig. 7, Table 1).

Predicting HIV epidemic scale using HCV prevalence: Effect of behavioral uncertainty

The effect of behavioral uncertainty on the prediction of HIV epidemic scale (HIV prevalence) across a wide range of HCV prevalence settings is shown in Fig. 8 and summarized by HCV/HIV dynamical regime in Table 2. Overall, 20% uncertainty in behavioral parameters resulted in a

median of <1% and a maximum of <10% absolute HIV prevalence difference with the baseline prediction for HIV prevalence. The effect of behavioral uncertainty was negligible in regimes I & II and increased with higher regimes, until it reached a maximum in regimes IV and V with a median HIV prevalence difference of 1.9% (IQR: 0.9–3.4% and 0.9–3.8%, respectively) between the baseline prediction of HIV prevalence and the prediction including behavioral uncertainty (Fig. 8, Table 2).

Case study: Iran

Predicting the time course of the HIV epidemic

Based on available studies among PWID in Iran, the median HCV prevalence is 43.4% (interquartile range (IQR) 35.1–59.4%) [3]. The predicted time course of the HIV





	HCV prevalence (%)	Predicted HIV prevalence (%)	HIV prevalence prediction diffe	ence (%)ª
	Range	Range	Median	IQR
Regime I	<1	<1	N/A	N/A
Regime II	1–28	<1	0.1	0.0-0.3
Regime III	28–45	1–5	1.1	0.6-1.7
Regime IV	45–70	5–24	1.9	0.9-3.4
Regime V	70–80	24–42	1.9	0.9-3.8
Regime VI	>80	>42	1.7	0.8-3.9
All regimes			0.9	0.2-2.2

Table 2 Effect of behavioral uncertainty on HCV predictions of HIV epidemic scale by HCV/HIV epidemiological regime

IQR interguartile range

Difference between baseline prediction of HIV prevalence and prediction of HIV prevalence including behavioral uncertainty

epidemic corresponding to each of these HCV prevalence levels is shown in Fig. 9 for three representative stochastic model runs. The predicted scale and time evolution of the HIV epidemic corresponding to the 75th percentile of HCV prevalence agreed best with the actual time course of the HIV epidemic observed in Iran, whereby two rounds of nationally-representative surveillance surveys reported an HIV prevalence of 15.3% in 2006-7 [37] and 15.1% in 2010 [38]. An HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium of 14.5% was predicted by the indicated stochastic run corresponding to 59.4% HCV prevalence (Fig. 9). The HIV stochastic predictions at the 25th percentile and median HCV prevalence levels could not generate the observed HIV prevalence in Iran as they are below or just at the threshold for concentrated HIV epidemic, respectively.

To illustrate a simpler method for predicting HIV endemic prevalence using HCV prevalence, HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium in Iran was also predicted using Eq. 3 involving the RR_{HCV/HIV} as derived from the deterministic modeling results presented above. As per Fig. 7, we predicted a $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ of 2.5 for an observed HCV prevalence of 59% in Iran, resulting in predicted

HIV prevalence of 13%. This value is comparable with the 15% HIV prevalence currently observed among PWID in this country [37, 38] and also with the value predicted above in a representative stochastic run (Fig. 9). Identical results were also obtained, as expected, when we used Eq. 4 in terms of the $OR_{HCV/HIV}$ and its predicted value of 3.2 for HCV prevalence of 59% (Fig. 7).

Effect of stochasticity and behavioral and bioloaical uncertainty on the predicted epidemic time course

The effect of stochasticity and of behavioral and biological uncertainty on our modeling predictions of endemic HIV prevalence, $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ and $OR_{HCV/HIV}$ in Iran corresponding to an HCV prevalence of 59.4% are shown in Additional file 4. Stochasticity generated a normal distribution of the natural log of HIV prevalence, $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ and $OR_{HCV/HIV}$, with a mean of 14.3% (95%) UI: 13.0-15.5), 2.4 (95% UI: 2.2-2.6), and 3.1 (95% UI: 2.8-3.5), respectively. Uncertainty in behavioral parameters generated a skewed distribution of the natural log of HIV prevalence, $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ and $OR_{HCV/HIV}$ with a mean of 12.1% (95% UI: 5.4-21.1), 2.6 (95% UI: 1.5-5.8), and 3.3 (95% UI: 1.7-8.0), respectively. Uncertainty in



biological parameters generated a normal distribution of the natural log of HIV prevalence, $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ and $OR_{HCV/HIV}$ with a mean of 13.5% (95% UI: 10.5–17.4%), 2.3 (95% UI: 1.8-3.0), and 2.9 (95% UI: 2.2-3.9), respectively.

Discussion

Our mathematical modeling approach reproduced the epidemiologically-observed ecological association between HCV prevalence and HIV prevalence among PWID [10]. We estimated that HCV infection is 7.8 times more infectious per shared injection than HIV, and confirmed the existence of an HCV threshold for a sustainable HIV epidemic, which we estimated at 29.0%. We further estimated an HCV threshold of 46.5% for a concentrated HIV epidemic. These thresholds were independent of the uncertainty in biological parameters, and largely insensitive to the details of injecting risk behavior, except near extreme values of mixing pattern and variation in risk behavior among the different risk groups in a PWID population. The association between HCV and HIV was further described with six distinct dynamical regimes depicting the overlapping epidemiology of the two infections, and was quantified using defined and estimated measures of association.

Our main aim was to use this association between HCV and HIV to predict HIV epidemic potential using HCV prevalence. We showed, across a wide range of HCV prevalence settings, that behavioral uncertainty, arising from our limited knowledge of the details of the risk behavior environment in PWID, resulted in acceptable difference compared with our modeling predictions of HIV epidemic scale. This was demonstrated for data from Iran, where our modeling predictions reproduced the actual time course of the HIV epidemic, even in context of epidemic stochasticity and biological and behavioral uncertainty. All of these findings support our hypothesis that HCV prevalence can be used to make at least broad predictions of the future size of the HIV epidemic among PWID; and that these predictions can be further refined by applying mathematical models at specific HCV prevalence levels and potentially also for specific risk behavior environments.

HCV is known to be more infectious per percutaneous exposure than HIV, but the infectiousness ratio of the two infections via the parenteral route has not been estimated precisely. Evidence from needle-stick injury studies suggests that HCV is 4–10 times more transmissible per percutaneous injection than HIV [39–42]. By fitting our modeling approach to global epidemiological data for HCV and HIV prevalence, we provided, using a very different methodology, an independent estimate of the HCV to HIV infectiousness ratio among PWID at 7.8, which is in line with the above range.

The natural dynamics of our modeling approach generated a threshold behavior in the HCV-HIV association and estimated, in agreement with epidemiological data [10], a minimum HCV prevalence of about 30% below which HIV prevalence would be negligible. Earlier modeling work indicated that this threshold is dependent on the risk environment and thus likely to vary by setting, potentially explaining why some settings with similar HCV prevalence may have varying HIV prevalence levels [11, 13]. Because it is constrained by fitting to the epidemiologically-observed HCV-HIV association, our modeling did not lead to as wide variation in the value of the threshold. Despite accounting for uncertainty in biological and behavioral parameters, the HCV threshold was estimated within a reasonable range that is sufficient to inform policy and programming. Our modeling predicted that the HCV threshold of about 30% for a sustainable HIV epidemic is likely to apply in most global settings, except in unusual injecting settings where some risk behavior features are not typical of the common patterns of injecting networks.

One possible explanation for the diversity in HCV/ HIV epidemics observed above the sustainability threshold could be that a number of the HIV epidemics globally may not have reached endemic equilibrium. Analysis of HCV-HIV epidemiological data among PWID has shown that the association between the two infections is strongest in settings of established HIV epidemics where HIV has reached an endemic level [9]. In MENA, for example, most HIV epidemics among PWID are emerging and have not reached endemic equilibrium [3]; this could be the case in other regions/settings where HIV prevalence levels are not typical of HCVbased predictions. Another possible explanation could be established harm reduction programs that are differentially effective in preventing HIV. This could be either due to the higher biological transmissibility of HCV compared to HIV, or because these programs were introduced after HCV reached endemic equilibrium but before HIV started its epidemic expansion. One such example is possibly Australia, a country with wellestablished needle-syringe exchange programs and where HIV prevalence has been low at about 1% despite HCV prevalence of 50-70% [43, 44].

Prioritization of affected populations for prevention interventions is tied to the potential for concentrated HIV epidemics (HIV prevalence >5%). We therefore derived the threshold HCV prevalence necessary for a concentrated HIV epidemic, which we estimated at about 45%. The effect of this threshold is manifested in settings of low intensity HIV epidemics where there is some HIV transmission among PWID, but the level of injecting risk behavior, as reflected by HCV prevalence of <45%, is not high enough to sustain concentrated HIV epidemics.

Page 13 of 17

The diverse HIV epidemic dynamics within Afghanistan provides an example of this threshold phenomenon (Table 3). HCV prevalence among PWID in Jalalabad and Mazar-i-Sharif (10–26%) is below the predicted sustainability threshold for HIV, and indeed HIV prevalence in these two cities has not exceeded 1% [45–47]. In Kabul however, where HCV prevalence at 28–37% is over the predicted sustainability threshold for HIV, but below the predicted concentration threshold for HIV, HIV prevalence, as expected, is in the range of 2–3% [45–47]. In Herat nonetheless, the high HCV prevalence of 49–70% is predicted to sustain a large concentrated HIV epidemic, and as expected, HIV prevalence has increased from 3% in 2007 to 13–18% in subsequent surveys [45, 46] (Table 3).

Six epidemiological regimes incorporating the HCV thresholds were discerned in describing the overlapping epidemiology of HCV and HIV infections among PWID (Figs. 7 and 8). In the first regime, the level of injecting risk behavior is extremely low and does not sustain an HCV nor HIV epidemic. In the second regime, the level of injecting risk behavior is relatively low, but enough to sustain a low scale HCV epidemic. With HIV being eight times less transmissible than HCV, an injecting risk network in this regime cannot sustain an HIV epidemic; HIV spreads slowly and inefficiently at very low level and is sensitive to stochastic fluctuations. In the third regime, the level of risk behavior is above the threshold needed to maintain a sustainable HIV epidemic, but is still not high enough to maintain an HIV prevalence larger than 5%. In the fourth and apparently most common regime globally [10], the level of risk behavior is substantial, as reflected by an HCV prevalence of 45-70%, and this level of risk behavior is large enough to maintain concentrated HIV epidemics reaching up to about 25% in HIV prevalence. In the fifth regime, HCV prevalence increases very slowly with risk behavior as it has already

attained extreme values reflecting infection transmission saturation (>70%). However, HIV prevalence increases substantially even with very small increments in HCV prevalence, resulting in large scale HIV epidemics. In the last regime, HCV continues its very slow growth with risk behavior, while HIV is still growing noticeably, though at slower pace compared with the fourth regime. In this last regime, both infections eventually reach maximum possible prevalence.

In sum, HIV epidemic behavior in a PWID population can be broadly predicted based on the regime HCV prevalence belongs to. Any public health intervention aiming at reducing injecting risk behavior among PWID (such as education and awareness programs) may, if successful, shift endemic HCV and HIV prevalence levels to a new regime where HCV will still be predictive of HIV but according to the HCV-HIV association characterized by the new regime (Fig. 7).

The boundaries of each of these six epidemiological regimes were further described in our study by the RR_{HCV/HIV} and OR_{HCV/HIV} which were defined and estimated to quantify the association between HCV and HIV infections. The ranges of RR_{HCV/HIV} and OR_{HCV/HIV} in each regime were found to be relatively narrow. For example, in the fourth regime where a large fraction of the HIV PWID epidemics worldwide belongs [10], the RR_{HCV/HIV} and OR_{HCV/HIV} are relatively stable and hover around a value of 3 (Fig. 7b and c, Table 1). This indicates that when HCV prevalence is in the range of 45-70%, HIV prevalence will be about three times smaller than the observed HCV prevalence minus 27.9%, the threshold HCV prevalence for a sustainable HIV epidemic (Eq. 3). We found that behavioral uncertainty, and to a lesser extent biological uncertainty and stochasticity, could affect the predicted values of the RR_{HCV/HIV} and OR_{HCV/HIV}, but overall in a predictable way that does not undermine their potential programmatic use to

Table 3 Illustration of the threshold effects	s in Afghanistan
---	------------------

	Year	HCV prevalence (%)	Status	HIV prevalence (%)	Study
Jalalabad	2007	12.5	Below sustainability threshold	0.0	[47]
	2012	9.5		1.0	[46]
Mazar-i-Sharif	2007	24.1	Below sustainability threshold	0.0	[47]
	2009	25.5		1.0	[45]
	2012	18.8		0.3	[46]
Kabul	2005-6	36.6	Above sustainability threshold &	3.0	[56]
	2008	36.1	below concentration threshold	2.1	[57]
	2009	37.1		3.2	[45]
	2012	27.6		2.4	[46]
Herat	2007	49.1	Above concentration threshold	3.2	[47]
	2009	57.9		18.2	[45]
	2012	70.0		13.3	[46]

Page 14 of 17

characterize HCV-HIV overlapping epidemiology and to make predictions of future HIV epidemic scale.

Our findings provide a rationale for using HCV prevalence as a predictor of future HIV epidemic scale in PWID. This approach provides also several specific prediction methods with different levels of precision. First, the derived HCV thresholds can be used in conjunction with observed HCV prevalence to predict, in a broad term, whether a PWID population is likely or not to experience a sustainable or concentrated HIV epidemic (such as in the example of Table 3). Second, linking a PWID population with its epidemiological regime based on HCV prevalence, that is one of the six epidemiological regimes in Table 1, can provide a range for the predicted future HIV prevalence. For example, a PWID population with an HCV prevalence of 50% belongs to regime IV and is therefore likely to experience an HIV epidemic with an HIV prevalence in the range of 5–24%. Third, a more precise HIV prevalence range can be estimated using the derived $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ (or $OR_{HCV/HIV}$) range for each specific epidemiological regime and Eq. 3 (or Eq. 4). For example, the $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ in regime IV ranges between 1.8 and 3.5. For a PWID population at 50% HCV prevalence, this $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ range translates, through Eq. 3, into a predicted HIV prevalence range of 6-12%. Finally, the most precise estimation of HIV epidemic scale can be obtained by applying the mathematical models directly at a specific HCV prevalence. For a 50% HCV prevalence, modeling predicts an HIV prevalence of 7%. Uncertainty analyses can be also conducted on the later estimate, using also the models, to provide an uncertainty interval for this estimate, as was done for Iran above.

There were several limitations in our study. Although we used an elaborate mathematical model structure, we may not have captured some of the complexities of injecting risk networks and of HCV/HIV dynamics. For example, we did not allow movement of PWID between different risk groups, and did not incorporate the effect of HCV-HIV co-infection and its potential effect on HCV transmission and spontaneous clearance. We also did not consider the sexual transmission of HIV since its relative importance among PWID is small except among specific sub-populations of PWID who are also men who have sex with men or female sex workers [3, 10, 39, 48]. In most of MENA settings where our applications are aimed at, the HIV epidemics are characterized by limited sexual HIV transmission not only among PWID, but even among populations at high risk of HIV sexual transmission such as men who have sex with men and female sex workers and their clients [49-52]. It is therefore unlikely that sexual transmission of HIV would affect our results and their applications in MENA. Our model could be extended in future research to include sexual HIV transmission where it would be of value to estimate the relative contribution of sexual versus parenteral HIV transmission. This would be especially relevant for applications of the methodology to settings other than MENA where sexual transmission may be more prominent.

The HIV model did not include scale-up of ART, but ART coverage was included in a sensitivity analysis where it had overall a minor effect on the HCV thresholds except near extreme values of coverage (>90%). Currently MENA has the lowest ART coverage of all regions globally at 17% [30], with unpublished data suggesting even lower coverage among PWID (World Health Organization, unpublished). Similarly, and with the very low coverage among PWID [53], the model did not include the effect of HCV treatment. However, with the newly available direct-acting antivirals to treat HCV, scale-up of HCV treatment among PWID is expected to increase, thus possibly influencing HCV transmission dynamics and complicating the relationship between HIV and HCV. In this case, our models would need to be extended to capture HCV treatment scale up and coverage, in addition to uneven healthcare services among PWID, to adjust the modeling predictions of future HIV prevalence based on existing HCV prevalence levels.

Our modeling predictions can be also constrained by limitations in the data input of our models. Nevertheless, a wide range was attached to the biological and behavioural parameters to capture the uncertainty in our knowledge of these parameters. We also fitted our modeling predictions to available global epidemiological data [10] to derive key parameters that are not precisely measured, mainly the HCV/HIV infectiousness ratio. While admittedly the epidemics in different global settings could be in different stages, and not all epidemics of substantial HCV and HIV prevalence are at equilibrium, we fitted to all global data rather than to the temporal trend of the epidemic in a specific setting, since the main purpose was to derive this biological and not setting-specific parameter. Also, fitting our dynamical model to the actual epidemiological data and their time series would have been superior to fitting to the regression line that summarizes these data [10]. Finally, predictions of HIV epidemic scale using the methodology we propose will depend on the quality and representativeness of HCV prevalence data, in the same way any other prediction method is dependent on the quality of input data. This highlights the importance of collecting quality and representative HCV prevalence data among PW/ID

Despite these limitations, we structured our models through a parsimonious approach to ensure that the models complexity is constrained by the available data, and predictions are robust even with broad ranges in parameter values. Biological parameters in our model are generally obtained from primary and most recent empirical data, similar to comparable mathematical modeling studies in the literature. Admittedly, behavioral parameters have more uncertainty but the extensive sensitivity and uncertainty analyses we conducted indicated overall a minor effect on our model's predictions of HCV thresholds and endemic HIV prevalence. Our model further fitted well the global epidemiological data and was able to reproduce a number of the findings of previous ecological and modeling work [9–11, 13].

Our findings, and the concept we present, have important policy, programming, and resource allocation implications. We demonstrated that HCV can be used to predict future HIV epidemics and their scale. Because of stochasticity and biological and behavioural uncertainty, predictions may not be very precise in terms of the exact HIV prevalence foreseen. However even with coarse predictions, such an approach can be effective in pinpointing settings that are likely to experience substantial HIV epidemics in the future, and accordingly need to be prioritized for prevention interventions. In this sense, HCV acts as a temperature scale of the level of risk behavior in an injecting network, and can be used as an index to measure the risk and severity of potential HIV epidemics among PWID. This is, in essence, a population-based diagnostic test or a screening approach, similar to other individual-based diagnostic tests or public health screening programs, such as for heart disease or breast cancer. While such diagnostics or screening programs may not have perfect sensitivity or specificity for the disease of interest, they have an important public health impact by averting or controlling disease through early detection. Moreover, studies have shown that identifying and targeting most-at-risk populations significantly improve the cost-effectiveness of interventions [1]. For example, a recent study has indicated that by dividing the population into two groups of high and low risk behavior, targeting those at higher risk of acquiring HIV would increase the effectiveness of an intervention (voluntary medical male circumcision) ten-fold [54, 55]. By dividing the population into six risk groups, the intervention becomes 80 times more effective if the highest risk group is targeted compared to targeting the lowest risk group [54, 55].

Conclusions

We investigated and characterized the poorlyunderstood association between HCV and HIV infections among PWID. The overlapping epidemiology of the two infections was described using distinct dynamical regimes and quantified with devised measures of association. Despite the complexity of the models and of the HCV-HIV association, these measures offered a simple applied tool for policy makers and program officers to predict HIV epidemic potential in PWID populations. We also proposed several methods with varying levels of precision for predicting HIV epidemic scale, and this concept was demonstrated in a specific country, Iran. The methodology proposed in the present study has a practical relevance which can be disseminated directly at the level of national stakeholders or in consultation with the international organizations leading the HIV/HCV response in the region, namely the World Health Organization, Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, and the World Bank.

By identifying and targeting settings where HIV prevalence among PWID is currently at low level, but where the level of risk behavior as reflected by HCV prevalence is indicative of substantial future HIV epidemics, the proposed methodology not only helps in prioritization of PWID populations with high HIV epidemic potential, but also will lead to higher cost-effectiveness of HCV/ HIV interventions. This is particularly critical in resource-limited settings, such as MENA and other regions in the world.

Additional files

Additional file 1: Mathematical models description. (DOCX 302 kb) Additional file 2: Models assumptions in terms of parameter values. (DOCX 95 kb)

Additional file 3: Trend of HIV prevalence among PWID in Iran as described by available HIV point-prevalence measures 1990–2013. (TIF 1115 kb)

Additional file 4: Effect of stochasticity (purple) and of behavioral (blue) and biological (red) uncertainty on the modeling predictions of the endemic HIV prevalence, $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ and $OR_{HCV/HIV}$ at 59.4% HCV prevalence in Iran. (TIF 3208 kb)

Abbreviations

ART: Antiretroviral therapy; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; IQR: Interquartile range; MENA: Middle East and North Africa; OR_{HCV/FHV}: Odds ratio of HCV prevalence to HIV prevalence; PWID: People who inject drugs; RR_{HCV/FHV}: Risk ratio of HCV prevalence to HIV prevalence; UI: Uncertainty interval

Acknowledgements

Funding

None.

This publication was made possible by NPRP grant number 9-040-3-008 from the Qatar National Research Fund (a member of Qatar Foundation). The statements made herein are solely the responsibility of the authors and the funder had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript. The authors are also grateful for infrastructure support provided by the Biostatistics, Epidemiology, and Biomathematics Research Core at Weill Cornell Medicine-Qatar.

Availability of data and materials

There are no primary data in this study. All relevant data supporting the conclusions of this article are within the article and its additional files.

Authors' contributions

VA coded the models, generated simulations, and conducted analyses. GRM contributed to the conception of the study, conducted analyses, and wrote

Page 15 of 17

Page 16 of 17

Akbarzadeh et al. BMC Public Health (2016) 16:1216

the first draft of the manuscript. SFA contributed to the coding and simulations. HAW contributed to the conception and design of the study. LJA conceived the study and simulations, and contributed to the analyses. All authors have read and agreed with the final version of the manuscript.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

Ethics approval and consent to participate Not applicable.

Author details

¹Infectious Disease Epidemiology Group, Weill Cornell Medical College – Qatar, Cornell University, Doha, Qatar. ²Department of Healthcare Policy and Research, Weill Cornell Medical College, Cornell University, New York, USA. ³Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Faculty of Epidemiology and Population Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT, UK. ⁴Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, MRC Tropical Epidemiology Group, Faculty of Epidemiology and Population Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK. ⁵College of Public Health, Hamad bin Khalifa University, Doha, Qatar.

Received: 23 April 2016 Accepted: 28 November 2016 Published online: 03 December 2016

References

- Anderson SJ, Cherutich P, Kilonzo N, Cremin I, Fecht D, Kimanga D, Harper M, Masha RL, Ngongo PB, Maina W, et al. Maximising the effect of combination HIV prevention through prioritisation of the people and places in greatest need: a modelling study. Lancet. 2014;384(9939):249–56.
- in greatest need: a modelling study. Lancet. 2014;384(9939):249–56.
 Saba HF, Kouyoumjian SP, Mumtaz GR, Abu-Raddad LJ. Characterising the progress in HIV/AIDS research in the Middle East and North Africa. Sex Transm Infect. 2013;89 Suppl 3iii5–9.
- Mumtaz GR, Weiss HA, Thomas SL, Riome S, Setayesh H, Riedner G, Semini I, Tawil O, Akala FA, Wilson D, et al. HIV among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa: systematic review and data synthesis. PLoS Med. 2014;11(6):e1001663.
- Nelson K, Williams CM, editors. Infectious disease epidemiology: theory and practice, Second edition edn. Boston, MA: Jones and Barlett publishers; 2007.
- Cainelli F. Hepatitis C virus and human immunodeficiency virus transmission routes: differences and similarities. World J Hepatol. 2013;5(5):234–6.
- Mathers BM, Degenhardt L, Phillips B, Wiessing L, Hickman M, Strathdee SA, Wodak A, Panda S, Tyndall M, Toufik A, et al. Global epidemiology of injecting drug use and HIV among people who inject drugs: a systematic review. Lancet. 2008;372(9651):1733–45.
- Nelson PK, Mathers BM, Cowie B, Hagan H, Des Jarlais D, Horyniak D, Degenhardt L. Global epidemiology of hepatitis B and hepatitis C in people who inject drugs: results of systematic reviews. Lancet. 2011; 378(9791):571–83.
- Platt L, Easterbrook P, Gower E, McDonald B, Sabin K, McGowan C, Yanny I, Razavi H, Vickerman P. Prevalence and burden of HCV co-infection in people living with HIV: a global systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2016;16(7):797–808.
- Murntaz GR, Weiss HA, Vickerman P, Larke N, Abu-Raddad LJ. Using hepatitis C prevalence to estimate HIV epidemic potential among people who inject in the Middle East and North Africa. AIDS, in Press 2015.
- Vickerman P, Hickman M, May M, Kretzschmar M, Wiessing L. Can hepatitis C virus prevalence be used as a measure of injection-related human immunodeficiency virus risk in populations of injecting drug users? an ecological analysis. Addiction. 2010;105(2):311–8.
- Vickerman P, Martin NK, Hickman M. Understanding the trends in HIV and hepatitis C prevalence amongst injecting drug users in different settings–implications for intervention impact. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2012;123(1–3):122–31.

- Vickerman P, Platt L, Hawkes S. Modelling the transmission of HIV and HCV among injecting drug users in Rawalpindi, a low HCV prevalence setting in Pakistan. Sex Transm Infect. 2009;85 Suppl 2:ii23–30.
- de Vos AS, van der Helm JJ, Prins M, Kretzschmar ME. Determinants of persistent spread of HIV in HCV-infected populations of injecting drug users. Epidemics. 2012;4(2):57–67.
- Anderson RM, Medley GF, May RM, Johnson AM. A preliminary study of the transmission dynamics of the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), the causative agent of AIDS. IMA J Math Appl Med Biol. 1986;3(4):229–63.
- Hamilton DT, Handcock MS, Morris M. Degree distributions in sexual networks: a framework for evaluating evidence. Sex Transm Dis. 2008;35(1):30–40.
- Handcock MS, Jones JH. Likelihood-based inference for stochastic models of sexual network formation. Theor Popul Biol. 2004;65(4):413–22.
- Ghani AC, Garnett GP. Risks of acquiring and transmitting sexually transmitted diseases in sexual partner networks. Sex Transm Dis. 2000; 27(10):579–87.
- Awad SF, Abu-Raddad LJ. Could there have been substantial declines in sexual risk behavior across sub-Saharan Africa in the mid-1990s? Epidemics. 2014;8:9–17.
- Omori R, Chemaitelly H, Abu-Raddad LJ. Dynamics of non-cohabiting sex partnering in sub-Saharan Africa: a modelling study with implications for HIV transmission. Sex Transm Infect. 2015;91:451–7.
- Kretzschmar M, Morris M. Measures of concurrency in networks and the spread of infectious disease. Math Biosci. 1996;133(2):165–95.
- Morris M. Sexual networks and HIV. Aids. 1997;11:5209–16.
 Watts CH, May RM. The influence of concurrent partnerships on the
- dynamics of HIV/AIDS. Math Biosci. 1992;108(1):89–104. 23. Abu-Raddad LJ, Longini Jr IM. No HIV stage is dominant in driving the HIV
- epidemic in sub-Saharan Africa. AIDS. 2008;22(9):1055–61. 24. May RM, Anderson RM. The transmission dynamics of human
- immunodeficiency virus (Hiv). Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 1988; 321(1207):565–607.
 Awad SF, Cuadros DF, Abu-Raddad LJ. Generic patterns of HIV infection
- distribution in human populations. Under preparation. 2016. Barrat A, Barthelemy M, Pastor-Satorsa R, Vespignani A. The architecture of
- Barrat A, Barthelemy M, Pastor-Satorras R, Vespignani A. The architecture of complex weighted networks. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(1):3747–52.
- 27. Boccaletti S, Latora V, Moreno Y, Chavez M, Hwang DU. Complex networks: structure and dynamics. Phys Rep. 2006;424(4–5):175–308.
- Watts DJ, Strogatz SH. Collective dynamics of 'small-world' networks. Nature. 1998;393(6684):440–2.
- Barabási AL. Linked: how everything is connected to everything else and what it means for business, science and everyday life. London: First Plume Printing; 2003.
- Lagarias JC, Reeds JA, Wright MH, Wright PE. Convergence properties of the nelder-MeadSimplex method in low dimensions. SIAM J Optimization. 1998; 9(1):112–47.
- Shampine LF, Reichelt MW. The matlab ode suite. SIAM J Sci Comput. 1997; 18(1):1–22.
- MATLAB*. The Language of Technical Computing. (R2014b) ed: The MathWorks, Inc.
- Group HIVMCTaPEW. HIV treatment as prevention: models, data, and questions-towards evidence-based decision-making. PLoS Med. 2012;9(7): e1001259.
- Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, Gamble T, Hosseinipour MC, Kumarasamy N, Hakim JG, Kumwenda J, Grinsztejn B, Pilotto JH, et al. Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(6):493–505.
- Donnell D, Baeten JM, Kiarie J, Thomas KK, Stevens W, Cohen CR, McIntyre J, Lingappa JR, Celum C, Partners in Prevention HSVHIVTST. Heterosexual HIV-1 transmission after initiation of antiretroviral therapy: a prospective cohort analysis. Lancet. 2010;375(9731):2092–8.
- Chemaitelly H, Awad SF, Abu-Raddad LJ. The risk of HIV transmission within HIV-1 sero-discordant couples appears to vary across sub-Saharan Africa. Epidemics. 2014;6:1–9.
- Iran Ministry of Health and Medical Education, Kyoto University School of Public Hleath (Japan). Integrated bio-behavioral surveillance for HIV infection among injecting drug users in Iran. Draft of the 1st analysis on the collected data, Tehran, Iran. 2008.
- Iran Ministry of Public Health. HIV bio-behavioral surveillance survey among injecting drug users in the Islamic Republic of Iran. Final report [Persian], Tehran, Iran. 2010.

- Baggaley RF, Boily MC, White RG, Alary M. Risk of HIV-1 transmission for parenteral exposure and blood transfusion: a systematic review and metaanalysis. AIDS. 2006;20(6):805–12.
- Hofmann F, Michaelis M, Rieger MA, Hasselhorn HM, Berthold H. [Occupational medicine significance of hepatitis C in health care employees]. Gesundheitswesen. 1997;59(7):452–60.
- Ryoo ŚM, Kim WY, Kim W, Lim KS, Lee CC, Woo JH. Transmission of hepatitis C virus by occupational percutaneous injuries in South Korea. J Formos Med Assoc. 2012;111(2):113–7.
- Tomkins SE, Elford J, Nichols T, Aston J, Cliffe SJ, Roy K, Grime P, Ncube FM. Occupational transmission of hepatitis C in healthcare workers and factors associated with seroconversion: UK surveillance data. J Viral Hepat. 2012; 19(3):199–204.
- Kwon JA, Anderson J, Kerr CC, Thein HH, Zhang L, Iversen J, Dore GJ, Kaldor JM, Law MG, Maher L, et al. Estimating the cost-effectiveness of needlesyringe programs in Australia. AIDS. 2012;26(17):2201–10.
- Kwon JA, Iversen J, Maher L, Law MG, Wilson DP. The impact of needle and syringe programs on HIV and HCV transmissions in injecting drug users in Australia: a model-based analysis. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2009;51(4):462–9.
- Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program. Integrated behavioral & biological surveillance (IBBS) in Afghanistan: year 1 report. HIV surveillance project. Kabul: Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health; 2010.
- 46. Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program. Integrated behavioral & biological surveillance (IBBS) in selected cities of Afghanistan: findings of 2012 IBBS survey and comparison to 2009 IBBS survey. Kabul: Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health; 2012.
- Nasir A, Todd CS, Stanekzai MR, Bautista CT, Botros BA, Scott PT, Strathdee SA, Tjaden J. Prevalence of HIV, hepatitis B and hepatitis C and associated risk behaviours amongst injecting drug users in three Afghan cities. Int J Drug Policy. 2011;22(2):145–52.
- Boily MC, Baggaley RF, Wang L, Masse B, White RG, Hayes RJ, Alary M. Heterosexual risk of HIV-1 infection per sexual act: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Lancet Infect Dis. 2009;9(2):118–29.
- Abu-Raddad L, Akala FA, Semini I, Riedner G, Wilson D, Tawil O. Characterizing the HIV/AIDS epidemic in the Middle East and North Africa: Time for Strategic Action. Middle East and North Africa HIV/AIDS Epidemiology Synthesis Project. World Bank/UNAIDS/WHO Publication. Found at http://www-wds.worldbank.org/external/default/ WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2010/06/04/00033038_20100604011533/ Rendered/PDF/548890PUB0EPI11C10Dislosed061312010.pdf, Last Accessed 30 Nov 2016. Washington DC: The World Bank Press; 2010.
- Abu-Raddad LJ, Hilmi N, Mumtaz G, Benkirane M, Akala FA, Riedner G, Tawil O, Wilson D. Epidemiology of HIV infection in the Middle East and North Africa. AIDS. 2010;24 Suppl 2:S5–23.
- Sajadi L, Mirzazadeh A, Navadeh S, Osooli M, Khajehkazemi R, Gouya MM, Fahimfar N, Zamani O, Haghdoost AA. HIV prevalence and related risk behaviours among female sex workers in Iran: results of the national biobehavioural survey. 2010. Sex Transm Infect. 2013;89 Suppl 3iii37–40.
- Moayedi-Nia S, Bayat Jozani Z, Esmaeeli Djavid G, Entekhabi F, Bayanolhagh S, Saatian M, Sedaghat A, Nikzad R, Jahanjoo Aminabad F, Mohraz M. HIV, HCV, HBV, HSV, and syphilis prevalence among female sex workers in Tehran, Iran, by using respondent-driven sampling. AIDS Care. 2016;28(4):487–90.
- Arain A, Robaeys G. Eligibility of persons who inject drugs for treatment of hepatitis C virus infection. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20(36):12722–33.
- Awad SF, Sgaier SK, Tambatamba BC, Mohamoud YA, Lau FK, Reed JB, Njeuhmeli E, Abu-Raddad LJ. Investigating voluntary medical male circumcision program efficiency gains through subpopulation prioritization: insights from application to Zambia. PLoS One. 2015;10(12):e0145729.
- Awad SF, Sgaier SK, Ncube G, Xaba S, Mugurungi OM, Mhangara MM, Lau FK, Mohamoud YA, Abu-Raddad LJ. A reevaluation of the voluntary medical male circumcision scale-up plan in Zimbabwe. PLoS One. 2015;10(11):e0140818.
- Todd CS, Abed AM, Strathdee SA, Scott PT, Botros BA, Safi N, Earhart KC. HIV, hepatitis C, and hepatitis B infections and associated risk behavior in injection drug users, Kabul, Afghanistan. Emerg Infect Dis. 2007;13(9):1327–31.
- Todd CS, Nasir A, Stanekzai MR, Fiekert K, Rasuli MZ, Vlahov D, Strathdee SA. Prevalence and correlates of HIV, syphilis, and hepatitis B and C infection and harm reduction program use among male injecting drug users in Kabul, Afghanistan: A cross-sectional assessment. Harm Reduct J. 2011;8:22.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and we will help you at every step:

- We accept pre-submission inquiries
- Our selector tool helps you to find the most relevant journal
- We provide round the clock customer support
- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- · Inclusion in PubMed and all major indexing services
- Maximum visibility for your research

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit



Page 17 of 17

3.3. SUPPLEMENTARY ONLINE MATERIAL OUTLINE

The following is the outline of the supplementary online material as cited in Research paper 2. The corresponding files are found in Appendix B.

- Additional file 1. Mathematical models description
- Additional file 2. Models assumptions in terms of parameter values
- Additional file 3. Trend of HIV prevalence among PWID in Iran as described by available HIV point-prevalence measures 1990-2013
- Additional file 4. Effect of stochasticity (purple) and of behavioural (blue) and biological (red) uncertainty on the modeling predictions of the endemic HIV prevalence, $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ and $OR_{HCV/HIV}$ at 59.4% HCV prevalence in Iran

3.4. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

This study characterized the poorly-understood association between HCV and HIV infections among PWID. HCV was found to be eight times more transmissible per shared injection than HIV. There is a threshold HCV prevalence of 29% below which HIV is not sustainable in a PWID population (HIV prevalence <1%). There is also a threshold HCV prevalence of 47% needed to sustain a concentrated HIV epidemic among PWID (HIV prevalence >5%). Both HCV thresholds for sustainable and concentrated HIV epidemics are largely insensitive to the details of injecting risk behaviour, except near extreme values of some behavioural attributes.

The association between HCV and HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium is characterized with six dynamical regimes which define the nature and magnitude of the association between HCV and HIV prevalence. Existing HCV prevalence levels in a PWID population can predict future endemic HIV prevalence, and HIV predictions across a wide range of HCV prevalence are overall robust with respect to behavioural uncertainty. HCV acts like a temperature scale of the level of risk behaviour in an injecting network and can be used as an index to measure the risk and severity of potential HIV epidemics among PWID.

This study offers a simple applied tool for policy makers and program officers to make predictions for HIV epidemic potential in PWID populations using existing HCV prevalence levels. Although the priority for public health programs should be settings already at high HIV prevalence, this method helps in prioritizing PWID populations that are likely to experience such HIV infection spread before it actually happens.

4. HCV AS A PREDCITOR OF HIV EPIDEMIC POTENTIAL AMONG PWID: APPLIED ECOLOGICAL ANALYSIS IN MENA

4.1. INTRODUCTION

After the concept of using HCV prevalence as a predictor of future endemic HIV prevalence was theoretically demonstrated in Chapter 3, Chapter 4 follows with an epidemiological application of this concept in MENA. In this study, the paired HCV-HIV epidemiological data (that is HCV and HIV prevalence on the same PWID population) extracted from Chapter 2 systematic review are used to analyse and quantify the association between HCV and HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium. This association is then used to make predictions of HIV epidemic potential among PWID at country-level, based on existing HCV prevalence levels.

Chapter 2 documented relatively high levels of sharing needles/syringes among PWID in MENA which suggest that there could be room for further HIV spread, especially that the observed HIV epidemics are for the most part probably in their early phase. However, measures of injecting risk behaviour could be subject to reporting bias, whether under-reporting or over-reporting. Also injecting risk behaviour is a complex phenomenon that encompasses factors that are beyond simple measures of needles sharing, such as patterns of partnership formation and heterogeneity in levels of risk and mixing. The levels of these risks are in large part dictated by network structure [74-77], which is not easy to capture, measure, or quantify. For these reasons, the behavioural data need to be complemented by other more objective biological measures, such as HCV infection, which reflect levels of injecting risk behaviour, and also can be used as summary proxy measures to indicate HIV epidemic potential.

In this chapter, we complement our epidemiological understanding of the injecting risk behaviour environment in MENA, by using measured levels of HCV prevalence to make quantitative (estimate HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium) and qualitative (classify HIV epidemic growth relative to current levels) estimations of HIV epidemic potential among PWID at country-level in MENA.

4.2. RESEARCH PAPER 3 – ECOLOGICAL ANALYSIS

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT www.lshtm.ac.uk

Registry

T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk



RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED <u>FOR EACH</u> RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A – Student Details

Student	Ghina Mumtaz
Principal Supervisor	Prof. Helen Weiss
Thesis Title	The Epidemiology of HIV Infection Among People Who Inject Drugs in the Middle East and North Africa

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	AIDS		
When was the work published?	August 24, 2015		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Alt

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

SECTION D - Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	I am first and corresponding author on this paper. I designed the study, conducted all statistical analyses, interpreted the findings, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript.
--	--

Student Signature:

Date: January 10, 2017

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

Supervisor Signature: _____ January 10, 2017

Improving health worldwide

Page 2 of 2

www.lshtm.ac.uk

Retention of copyright evidence

This article is published in an open access format.

"Authors retain their copyright for all articles they opt to publish open access. Authors grant Wolters Kluwer a license to publish the article and identify itself as the original publisher."

Wolters Kluwer content license agreement for open access articles can be found at: http://journals.lww.com/aidsonline/layouts/15/oaks.journals/openaccess.aspx

OPEN

Using hepatitis C prevalence to estimate HIV epidemic potential among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa

Ghina R. Mumtaz^{a,b}, Helen A. Weiss^b, Peter Vickerman^c, Natasha Larke^b and Laith J. Abu-Raddad^{a,d,e}

Objectives: The objective of this study is to understand the association between HIV and hepatitis C virus (HCV) among people who inject drugs (PWIDs) in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA), and to estimate HIV epidemic potential among PWIDs using HCV prevalence.

Design/methods: Using data from a systematic review of HIV and HCV among PWID in MENA, we conducted two analyses, stratified by HIV epidemic state: a meta-analysis of the risk ratio of HCV to HIV prevalence ($RR_{HCV/HIV}$) using DerSimonian-Laird random-effects models, and multivariable linear regression predicting log HIV prevalence. The HCV-HIV association from both analyses was used to estimate HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium. We compared predicted with current HIV prevalence to classify HIV epidemic potential at country-level as low, medium or high, using predefined criteria.

Results: The review identified 88 HCV prevalence measures among PWID in MENA, of which 54 had a paired HIV prevalence measure. The pooled RR_{HCV/HIV} were 16, 4 and 3 in low-level, emerging and established HIV epidemics, respectively. There was a significant linear relationship between HCV and HIV at endemic equilibrium (P = 0.002). The predicted endemic HIV prevalence ranged between 8% (Tunisia) and 22% (Pakistan). Of the nine countries with data, five have high and three medium HIV epidemic potential. Only one country, Pakistan, appears to have reached saturation.

Conclusion: HCV prevalence could be a predictor of future endemic HIV prevalence. In MENA, we predict that there will be further HIV epidemic growth among PWID. The proposed methodology can identify PWID populations that should be prioritized for HIV prevention interventions. Copyright © 2015 Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. All rights reserved.

AIDS 2015, 29:1701-1710

Keywords: epidemic, hepatitis C virus, HIV, Middle East and North Africa, people who inject drugs, prediction

Introduction

People who inject drugs (PWID) are a key population at risk for HIV infection in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) [1]. A recent systematic review documented emerging HIV epidemics among PWID in at least one-third of MENA countries [2]. Most epidemics are recent and suggest potential for further

Correspondence to Ghina R. Mumtaz, Weill Cornell Medical College - Qatar, Qatar Foundation - Education City, P.O. Box 24144, Doha, Qatar.

Tel: +974 4492 8406; fax: +974 4492 8422; e-mail: gim2006@qatar-med.cornell.edu Received: 17 December 2014; revised: 26 May 2015; accepted: 28 May 2015.

DOI:10.1097/QAD.000000000000761

ISSN 0269-9370 Copyright © 2015 Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. All rights reserved. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 License, where it is permissible to download and share the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be changed in any way or used commercially.

Copyright © 2015 Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. All rights reserved.

1701

^aInfectious Disease Epidemiology Group, Weill Cornell Medical College - Qatar, Cornell University, Qatar Foundation - Education City, Doha, Qatar, ^bMRC Tropical Epidemiology Group, Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Faculty of Epidemiology and Population Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, ^cSchool of Social and Community Medicine, University of Bristol, Bristol, UK, ^dDepartment of Healthcare Policy and Research, Weill Cornell Medical College, Cornell University, Ithaca, New York, and ^eVaccine and Infectious Disease Institute, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, Seattle, Washington, USA.

1702 AIDS 2015, Vol 29 No 13

growth [2]. Our research question is to estimate the HIV epidemic potential among PWID, that is to estimate the predicted growth in HIV prevalence to the time it reaches endemic equilibrium, in order to inform policy and intervention programmes.

Although HIV and, in rare instances [3], hepatitis C virus (HCV) can be transmitted sexually, sharing of needles/ syringes is their main transmission mode among PWID [4]. HCV is about 10 times more infectious than HIV through percutaneous exposure [5-7], partially explaining why HCV is hyperendemic among PWID globally, but HIV is not [8,9]. As HCV is transmitted more rapidly than HIV along the same transmission route, it could be used as a marker of HIV potential spread among PWID. Ecological studies and mathematical modelling have found a positive association between HCV and HIV among PWID globally, with a threshold HCV prevalence of about 30% to sustain HIV transmission [6,7,10]. The relationship between the two infections is however complex, dependent on the setting and risk environment, and overall remains poorly understood [7].

The use of HCV as a population-level marker of injecting risk behaviour and, consequently, HIV risk and epidemic potential is appealing with the constrained resources for HIV research and programming. In MENA, wherein surveillance is rather limited and difficult to implement, using existing data to make inferences about future size of HIV epidemics is a potentially efficient strategy.

The aims of this study are to understand analytically the epidemiological links and association between HCV and HIV infections among PWID, and to estimate HIV epidemic potential in this population across MENA countries, using data compiled through the systematic review of HIV and HCV among PWID in MENA [2].

Materials and methods

Conceptual framework and hypotheses

We hypothesize that endemic HCV prevalence predicts HIV prevalence among PWID, as both infections result from injecting risk behaviour. We further hypothesize that the relationship between HCV and HIV prevalence is dependent on the HIV epidemic state among PWID, whether low-level (HIV has not reached significant levels), emerging (HIV prevalence has started its initial growth and is increasing) or established/saturated (the epidemic has reached its peak and HIV prevalence is approaching, or already is at, its endemic level) [2]. We hypothesize that the association between HCV and HIV in established HIV epidemics can be used to predict HIV epidemic potential among PWID in other settings, even where the HIV epidemic is still at low level or emerging. Our hypothesis is motivated by theoretical mathematical modelling work on the joint epidemiology of HCV and HIV. A stochastic compartmental model was built to simulate HCV and HIV epidemic trajectories among a prototype PWID population (V. Akbarzadeh, G.R. Mumtaz, L.J. Abu-Raddad, in preparation). Figure 1a depicts a case scenario wherein HIV is introduced into a PWID population originally naive to HIV and where HCV is endemic at high prevalence indicating substantial injecting risk behaviour. When the HIV epidemic is still at low level, HCV prevalence is not predictive of the level of HIV prevalence (Fig. 1a). When the HIV epidemic emerges, HCV prevalence becomes associated with HIV prevalence; however, the magnitude of this association varies with time, as HIV prevalence is still increasing (Fig. 1a). It is only when the HIV epidemic becomes established, that the association between HCV and HIV prevalence becomes stable and simply quantified, as both infections have reached endemicity (Fig. 1a). This pattern is reflected in the risk ratio of HCV to HIV prevalence (RR_{HCV/HIV}) (Fig. 1b). As the HIV epidemic emerges, the $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ decreases until it reaches a plateau, with a stable RR_{HCV/HIV}, when the HIV epidemic reaches equilibrium (established HIV epidemic, Fig. 1b). Endemic HCV prevalence can accordingly be used to predict the future size (at endemic equilibrium) of the HIV epidemic among PWID. Varying levels of endemic HCV prevalence entail varying levels of endemic HIV prevalence.

On the basis of the above analytical framework, we will stratify our analyses by HIV epidemic state to explore the differential association between HCV and HIV in the three epidemic states. Results of the analyses in settings of established HIV epidemics will be used to predict HIV epidemic potential among PWID.

Sources of data

This study used data extracted from a recent systematic review whose main objective was to assess the status of the HIV epidemic among PWID in 23 MENA countries that are part of the MENA definition of the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), WHO and World Bank [2]. In brief, the review followed PRISMA guidelines and included all studies on PWID, published in PubMed, Embase and regional databases, and unpublished in the form of country reports, until 16 December 2013 [2].

In the present study, we started with 197 HIV and 93 HCV prevalence measures among PWID (Fig. 2) [2]. After excluding four HIV and five HCV self-reported prevalence measures, there were 71 paired biological HCV-HIV data points, that is HCV and HIV prevalence on the same PWID population. As we are studying the relationship between the two infections, the analysis was restricted to settings wherein HIV has already been introduced, and thus, 16 HCV-HIV data points with zero

HIV epidemic potential among people who inject drugs Mumtaz et al. 1703



Fig. 1. Mathematical modelling simulation of an HIV epidemic expansion among a prototype PWID population. (a) A case scenario for an HIV epidemic expansion in a PWID population wherein HCV is endemic at a prevalence level of about 75% indicating high injecting risk behaviour. HIV is introduced in 1990, starts emerging with increasing prevalence about two decades later in the late 1990s, and saturates near the year 2020 at a prevalence of about 20%. The corresponding three HIV epidemic states – low level, emerging and established – are shown on the graph. (b) The risk ratio of HCV to HIV prevalence (RR_{HCV/HIV}) among this PWID population.

HIV prevalence were excluded. One outlier (89% HIV prevalence in Libya [11]) was further excluded, leaving 54 paired HCV-HIV prevalence measures in the statistical analysis (Fig. 2).

Classification by HIV epidemic state

Country-specific criteria were devised to classify the data into one of three HIV epidemic states: low-level, emerging or established [2]. This classification was a main aim of the MENA PWID systematic review, wherein a comprehensive analysis of available HIV biological data was performed using rigorous methodology to characterize HIV epidemic state at country-level [2]. HCV biological data were not part of the criteria to characterize HIV epidemic states. Details of the methods, classification criteria and findings that led to these epidemic states can be found in the corresponding publication [2]. The epidemic states for countries in the present study are summarized in Table S1. This baseline classification was adjusted in specific cases to accommodate for geographic heterogeneity in HIV epidemic dynamics within a single country [2]. For example, in Iran, all data points after 2006 were classified as 'established', except for one province, Isfahan, where HIV prevalence among PWID has been consistently negligible [2].

Data analysis

Analyses were performed in STATA/SE 13.0 (Stata Corp., College Station, Texas, USA). Two types of analyses were conducted to understand the association between the two infections: a meta-analysis of the

1704 AIDS 2015, Vol 29 No 13



Fig. 2. Sample selection process.

 $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ and linear regression to quantify the extent to which any change in HIV prevalence is related to change in HCV prevalence. Results of these analyses were used to predict future HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium among PWID at country-level.

Meta-analysis

Three meta-analyses of the RR_{HCV/HIV} in each of the three HIV epidemic states were applied. The RR_{HCV/HIV} is an 'ecological' risk ratio defined as the ratio of the prevalence ('risk') of HCV to that of HIV in the same population. The objective of using this measure was to quantify the association between the two infections at the population level.

The 54 $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ were pooled using DerSimonian– Laird random-effects models with inverse variance weighting using the *metan* command [12]. The I^2 statistic was calculated as a measure of heterogeneity in effect size, which is the proportion of overall between-study variation in $RR_{HCV/HIV}$ that is due to differences between studies in effect size and not chance [12].

Linear regression

Three multivariable linear regression models, one in each HIV epidemic state, were fitted to the data. Log HIV prevalence was the dependent variable. Explanatory variables included HCV – our main predictor of interest – country and study characteristics including sampling technique (probability versus nonprobability-based), sample size (<100 or \geq 100) and study site (community, facility-based or prison). The regression analyses used robust standard errors to adjust for heteroscedasticity. Each data point was weighed by its sample size. As a first step, all explanatory variables were included in the model and only variables significant at *P* value less than 0.1 (in addition to HCV) were kept in the final model.

HIV epidemic potential prediction

The final regression model predicting HIV prevalence in settings of established HIV epidemics was used to estimate the prevalence and 95% confidence intervals of HIV at endemic equilibrium among PWID, using the *margins* command. On the basis of predictions of the fitted model, *margins* calculate HIV prevalence for specific values of covariates in the model. The predictions were made using the mean HCV prevalence among PWID per country using all available biological HCV prevalence measures (including where HIV is zero) [11,13–78]. The prevalence of HIV at endemic equilibrium was also estimated using results of the meta-analysis by dividing the mean HCV prevalence by the pooled RR_{HCV/HIV} Results of the two methods of prediction were compared.

We devised criteria to classify HIV epidemic potential. They depend on comparing the predicted HIV prevalence with the most recent representative HIV prevalence as extracted from surveillance studies [2]. HIV epidemic potential was classified as high, moderate or low. High epidemic potential was considered if the estimated HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium was at least 10 absolute percentage points higher than current HIV prevalence and at least twice as high as current HIV prevalence (estimated/ current HIV prevalence >2). Low epidemic potential was considered if the estimated HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium was less than five absolute percentage points higher than current HIV prevalence (estimated/current HIV prevalence <1.2). Moderate epidemic potential was considered in remaining scenarios.

Results

The 54 paired HCV-HIV prevalence measures among PWID were from five countries: Iran (n=31), Afghanistan (n=11), Pakistan (n=8), Morocco (n=2) and

Tunisia (n=2). There were 20 paired HCV-HIV measures in low-level, 22 in emerging, and 12 in established HIV epidemic settings. Iran was the only country in the established epidemic strata. The data are summarized in Table S2.

The meta-analyses showed that the RR_{HCV/HIV} is highest in low-level HIV epidemics at 16.3 [95% confidence interval (95% CI) 11.5–23.1], followed by that in emerging HIV epidemics at 3.8 (95% CI 3.1–4.7), while the lowest RR_{HCV/HIV} was observed in established HIV epidemics at 2.8 (95% CI 2.1–3.6) (Table 1). The corresponding forest plots are in Figures S1–S3. These results suggest that HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium is about one-third of the endemic HCV prevalence, assuming no major confounding effect by other predictors. There was evidence of heterogeneity between studies in the three epidemic states with an I^2 of 80–87% (P < 0.001), indicating that the variation in RR_{HCV/HIV} between studies is due to differences in effect size, and not chance.

Table 2 summarizes the final multivariable regression models predicting log HIV prevalence. HCV prevalence was not associated with HIV in low-level HIV epidemics ($\beta = -1.3$, 95% CI -3.4 to 0.9). In these settings, country and study site were the significant predictors of HIV. HCV was a significant predictor of HIV prevalence in sites wherein the HIV epidemic is emerging or established. In emerging epidemics, HCV was significantly associated with the highest increase in log HIV prevalence compared with the other epidemic states ($\beta = 5.4$, 95% CI 2.7–8.2). Country and study site were also significant predictors of HIV in emerging epidemic states. In established epidemics, HCV prevalence was the only predictor of HIV ($\beta = 1.7$, 95% CI 0.8–2.7) (Table 2).

Table 3 displays the predicted HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium among PWID in MENA using results of both regression analysis and meta-analysis. The two methods predicted similar endemic HIV prevalence, with a median difference of 10% between the two methods. The median estimated HIV prevalence across countries was 17% [interquartile range (IQR): 13-20%] and 19% (IQR: 13-22%) as predicted by the regression and meta-analysis models, respectively. The highest estimated endemic HIV prevalence was 20-22% in Egypt,

Morocco, Pakistan, Saudi Arabia and Syria. The lowest was 8% in Tunisia (Table 3).

HIV epidemic potential was found to be high among PWID in Egypt, Lebanon, Palestine, Saudi Arabia and Syria, and moderate in Afghanistan, Morocco and Tunisia. Apart from Iran that was used to derive the predictive relationship, Pakistan was the only country with low epidemic potential and where the HIV epidemic among PWID is predicted to have reached or is close to saturation (Table 3).

Discussion

This study illustrates our hypothesis that HCV prevalence can be used to predict HIV epidemic potential among PWID. With HCV being hyperendemic among PWID globally, its prevalence is indicative of the level of injecting risk behaviour and therefore could possibly predict future HIV prevalence. Our analyses in MENA suggest that HIV prevalence will reach, at endemic equilibrium, about one-third of HCV prevalence in a given PWID population wherein HIV is introduced.

The association between HCV and HIV among PWID is complex and varied depending on HIV epidemic state, as postulated in our hypothesis and motivated by the modelling simulations. When the HIV epidemic was at low level, HCV was not predictive of HIV prevalence. HIV may have been recently introduced, or may have been spreading for some time but slowly and inefficiently due to stochastic effects. In these settings, HIV prevalence is not a reflection of the level of injecting risk behaviour. In an emerging HIV epidemic, the intensity of HIV prevalence growth depends on the level of injecting risk behaviour, and this is confirmed by the observed association between HCV and HIV prevalence. However, there are also other predictors of epidemic expansion intensity including time since epidemic emergence, and other factors such as setting of injection and country, both of which were significant predictive proxies for the risk environment (Table 2). In established HIV epidemics, and confirming our hypothesis (Fig. 2), HCV was the only significant predictor of HIV prevalence. This highlights how HCV is a proxy of injecting risk behaviour in PWID

Table 1	. Pooled risk ratio	of hepatitis C	virus to HIV	prevalence (RR _{HCV/HIV})	among people	who inject d	rug in Middle	East and North Africa
---------	---------------------	----------------	--------------	--------------	-------------------------	--------------	--------------	---------------	-----------------------

		Total up weighted	Total up weighted	Studios PD	Pooled R	R _{HCV/HIV}	
Epidemic state	No datasets	HCV prevalence	HIV prevalence	Median (IQR)	% (95% CI)	l^2	Р
Low level	20	3264/7699 (42.4%)	217/7730 (2.8%)	13.8 (9.6-56.9)	16.3 (11.5-23.1)	80.2%	0.000
Emerging	22	2200/3749 (58.7%)	554/3698 (15.0%)	4.4 (3.1-5.6)	3.8 (3.1-4.7)	79.5%	0.000
Established	12	1635/3498 (51.1%)	605/3508 (23.2%)	3.3 (2.1-4.2)	2.8 (2.1-3.6)	87.2%	0.000

CI, confidence interval; HCV, hepatitis C virus; IQR, interquartile range.

1706 AIDS 2015, Vol 29 No 13

Table 2. Multivariable linear regression models^a predicting log of HIV among people who inject drug in Middle East and North Africa, stratified by HIV epidemic state among people who inject drug.

HIV epidemic state	Variables	β	95% CI	Р	R^2
Low level $(n = 16)$	HCV prevalence ^b	-1.3	-3.4 to 0.9	0.216	0.754
	Country			0.000	
	Afghanistan	ref			
	Iran	-0.3	-1.6 to 1.0		
	Morocco	-1.8	−3 to −0.6		
	Pakistan	-0.6	-2.4 to 1.1		
	Tunisia	0.3	-1.0 to 1.6		
	Study site			0.025	
	Community	ref			
	Prison	1.3	-0.3 to 3.0		
	Facility-based	-0.1	-1.7 to 1.5		
	Mixed	0.4	-1.3 to 2.1		
Emerging $(n=21)$	HCV prevalence ^b	5.4	2.7-8.2	0.001	0.724
0 0 0	Country			0.001	
	Afghanistan	ref			
	Iran	-2.2	-3.1 to -1.4		
	Morocco	-0.6	-1.1 to -0.2		
	Pakistan	-1.3	-2.2 to -0.3		
	Study site			0.000	
	Community	ref			
	Prison	1.0	0.1-2.0		
	Facility-based	2.8	1.3-4.2		
	Mixed	2.8	2.0-3.7		
Established $(n = 12)$	HCV prevalence ^b	1.7	0.8-2.7	0.002	0.340

CI, confidence interval.

^aWeighting for sample size and using robust methods to adjust for heteroscedasticity. The displayed final models include only statistically significant covariates.

^bProportion.

and can be used to generate inferences on the size of HIV epidemics, regardless of current HIV epidemic state. HCV prevalence 'summarizes' collectively the risk environment and acts as a 'temperature scale' of the level of risk behaviour and HIV epidemic potential in a PWID population.

We estimated HIV epidemic potential in nine countries where HCV prevalence data were available. Both the regression analysis and meta-analysis produced similar results, not a surprising outcome, as HCV was the only significant predictor of HIV in the regression analysis of established HIV epidemics. In most countries, we found room for further HIV growth, with five of these having high and three moderate HIV epidemic potential, highlighting the emerging and growing nature of the HIV epidemic among PWID in MENA, as suggested recently [1,2]. Although HIV prevalence in Pakistan showed an increasing trend from 10.8% in 2005 to 25.2% in 2011 [79-82], our predictions suggest that the HIV epidemic could be reaching saturation with limited potential for further growth. Still, HIV incidence remains considerable in such settings of high HIV prevalence, and the limited epidemic potential should not be interpreted as low priority for prevention interventions.

Our findings have important policy implications, as they provide a simple tool to identify PWID populations at a high risk of future HIV epidemic expansion. In half of MENA countries with considerable epidemic potential,

the HIV epidemic is still at low level, and therefore, there is significant benefit in preventing the infection from taking root in this population. In countries where epidemic status is unknown, using HCV prevalence data could help identify hidden HIV epidemics before they grow substantially. One example is Saudi Arabia where the high HCV prevalence suggests the potential for substantial, though undetected, HIV transmission. Recent case notification data also hint at this conclusion [1]. Although the top priority for public health programmes should be settings already at known high HIV incidence, such country-specific predictions highlight the need to also implement intervention packages and conduct surveillance studies in settings with high HIV epidemic potential and where there could be complacency in view of the current low HIV prevalence.

There were several limitations in our study. The analysis used a relatively simple approach to a probably complex association. We assumed a linear association between HCV and HIV, which fitted well our data. However, the effect size can be affected by heterogeneity in risk and nonlinearity in this association, as suggested by the observed high I^2 values, earlier modelling work [7,10] and an ecological analysis [6]. The latter also suggests a threshold effect where HIV prevalence would remain negligible in countries with low HCV prevalence [6], such as Tunisia. The HCV-HIV association can also be affected by interventions, if they affect each infection differentially, such as antiretroviral therapy (ART) that

	Z	Mean HCV	HIV epidemic	Most recent	Estimated preva re	l endemic HIV lence using gression	Estimated preval meta	endemic HIV ence using a-analysis	HIV
	datasets	prevalence	PWID ^a [2]	prevalence [2]	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	potential
Afghanistan	13	34.2%	Emerging	4.4%	12.5	8.7-18.0	12.3	9.6-15.9	Medium
Egypt	_	63.0%	Emerging	7.2%	20.7	16.1 - 26.6	22.7	17.6 - 29.3	High
ran	42	47.1%	Established	15.1%	15.7	11.8 - 20.9	17.0	13.2-21.9	Low
Lebanon	2	29.0%	Low-level	0.0%	11.4	7.7-17.1	10.5	8.1-13.5	High
Morocco	2	57.6%	Emerging	13.0%	18.9	14.6 - 24.3	20.8	16.1 - 26.8	Medium
Palestine		43.8%	Low-level	0.0%	14.8	10.9 - 20.0	15.8	12.2 - 20.4	High
Pakistan	19	60.7%	Emerging	25.2%	19.9	15.5 - 25.6	21.9	17.0 - 28.3	Low
Saudi Arabia	3	60.5%	Unknown	0.6%	19.8	15.4 - 25.5	21.8	16.9 - 28.2	High
Syria	-	60.5%	Low-level	0.5%	19.8	15.4 - 25.5	21.8	16.9 - 28.2	High
Túnisia	ŝ	22.6%	Low-level	3.0%	10.2	6.5 - 16.0	8.2	6.3 - 10.5	Medium

HIV epidemic potential among people who inject drugs Mumtaz et al. 1707

affects survival with HIV and infection transmission. In MENA, ART coverage is low across countries, with a median of 16% (IQR: 6-17%) [83]. If ART coverage increases substantially in the coming years, our current predictions may underestimate endemic HIV prevalence with the longer survival effect. ART can affect the quantitative HCV-HIV association, but not its existence nor the principle behind it. When applied to settings with substantial ART coverage, a more generic association could be derived by including ART coverage as one additional covariate in the regression models.

We assumed that HCV and HIV among PWID are transmitted through sharing of needles/syringes and that there is limited sexual transmission of these infections in this population. We also assumed a negligible effect of background HCV prevalence due to iatrogenic transmission, as HCV prevalence in the population at large is generally much smaller than HCV prevalence among PWID [2,84,85]. We further assumed that HCV is at endemic equilibrium. All of these assumptions are only approximately valid.

The small sample size of paired HCV-HIV measures limited the range of mathematical complexity that could be explored and number of potential confounders to control for and prevented us from conducting metaregressions to account for heterogeneity in effect size. Iran was also the only country providing data in the established HIV epidemic state, but this could introduce bias if the data from other countries are not representative of the same generic HCV-HIV epidemiological association. The predictions of HIV epidemic potential also depend on the quality of HCV prevalence data. For some countries, there were few measures and these may not be representative of the PWID population at large. Our predictions were also made at the national level, but there could be geographic heterogeneity in risk environment, leading to geographically clustered HCV prevalence and predicted HIV epidemic size. For example in Pakistan, HCV prevalence of over 90% was observed in Karachi and Lahore [2], while the mean prevalence at the country-level was only 61%. Finally, our methodology provides only the scale and not the timeframe of predicted epidemic growth. It is expected, however, based on generic mathematical modelling results [11,86], that the pace of an epidemic should correlate with its HIV epidemic potential, as estimated here.

Despite these limitations, our study provides important insights into a poorly understood and barely investigated association [6,7]. Using a mechanistic and analytical methodology, our study confirms that the HCV-HIV association is robust and characterized differentially by HIV epidemic state. The association can also be described, at least grossly, using a simple methodology that can be easily and widely applied to assess HIV epidemic potential. Even if some of the input data used to generate the

1708 AIDS 2015, Vol 29 No 13

predictions may prove unrepresentative with further empirical data, the value of this work remains in delineating a powerful concept of using data on one infection, HCV, to estimate the scale of epidemics of another infection, HIV. This concept exploits the epidemiological links that underpin the dynamics of two infections sharing the same mode of transmission and propagating on the same network structure. With further data over the coming years, and use of global data on PWID beyond MENA, the value of this approach can be enhanced for a wider applicability across countries and contexts, including fine-grained predictions at small geographic scales. Moreover, if combined with appropriate dynamic mathematical modelling, our results could be used to generate predictions for the time evolution of epidemics.

In conclusion, we described a concept that has a pragmatic and useful application, to predict future HIV epidemics and their scales using HCV prevalence. The proof of concept was manifested by modelling the HCV-HIV association in few countries, and then generating predictions for more countries with limited HIV data. In addition to informing our theoretical understanding of the overlapping epidemiology of these two infections, this approach optimizes the use of available data and informs resources allocation and planning of interventions and research studies. Findings from this proposed methodology can complement those of other methods of measurement and estimation such as prospective incidence studies, and indirect estimations of HIV incidence using the innovative HIV incidence assays and mathematical models [87,88]. Triangulation of complimentary approaches will allow the corroboration of findings across different methods, the adjustment of potential limitations in each one of them and is essential for the formulation of an optimal HIV response.

Acknowledgements

G.R.M. designed the study, conducted the analyses and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. H.A.W. coled the study design, study conduct and analyses. P.V. and N.L. contributed to the development of the study methodology. L.J.A. conceived the study and co-led the study design, study conduct and analyses. All authors contributed to the interpretation of findings and drafting of the manuscript. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

This publication was made possible by NPRP grant number (NPRP 04-924-3-251) from the Qatar National Research Fund (a member of Qatar Foundation). Additional support was provided by the Biostatistics, Epidemiology and Biomathematics Research Core at the Weill Cornell Medical College in Qatar. The statements made herein are solely the responsibility of the authors

and the funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish or preparation of the manuscript.

Conflicts of interest

There are no conflicts of interest.

References

- 1.
- Mumtaz GR, Riedner G, Abu-Raddad LJ. The emerging face of the HIV epidemic in the Middle East and North Africa. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* 2014; 9:183–191. Mumtaz GR, Weiss HA, Thomas SL, Riome S, Setayesh H, Riedner G, et al. HIV among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa: systematic review and data synthesis. *PLoS Med* 2014; 11:e1001663. Gorgos L. Sexual transmission of viral hepatitis. *Infect Dis Clin Narth Am* 2013; 27:811–836
- North Am 2013: 27:811–836.
- Nelson K, Williams C. *Infectious disease epidemiology: theory and practice*. 2nd ed. Boston, MA: Jones and Barlett Publishers; 2007.
- Cainelli F. Hepatitis C virus and human immunodeficiency virus transmission routes: Differences and similarities. *World J Hepatol* 2013; 5:234–236. 5.
- J Hepatol 2013; 5:234–236. Vickerman P, Hickman M, May M, Kretzschmar M, Wiessing L. Can hepatitis C virus prevalence be used as a measure of injection-related human immunodeficiency virus risk in popu-lations of injecting drug users? An ecological analysis. Addic-tion 2010; **105**:311–318. Vickerman P, Martin NK, Hickman M. Understanding the trends in HIV and hepatitis C prevalence amongst injecting drug users in different settings implications for intervention impact. Drug Alcohol Depend 2012; **123**:122–131. Mathers BM, Degenhardt L, Phillips B, Wiessing L, Hickman M, Strathdee SA, et al. Global enidemiology of injecting drug use

- Mathers BM, Degenhardt L, Phillips B, Wiessing L, Hickman M, Strathdee SA, et al. Global epidemiology of injecting drug use and HIV among people who inject drugs: a systematic review. Lancet 2008; **372**:1733–1745. Nelson PK, Mathers BM, Cowie B, Hagan H, Des Jarlais D, Horyniak D, et al. Global epidemiology of hepatitis B and hepatitis C in people who inject drugs: results of systematic reviews. Lancet 2011; **378**:571–583.
- reviews. Lancet 2011; 378:571–583. de Vos AS, van der Helm JJ, Prins M, Kretzschmar ME. Deter-minants of persistent spread of HIV in HCV-infected popula-tions of injecting drug users. Epidemics 2012; 4:57–67. Mirzoyan L, Berendes S, Jeffery C, Thomson J, Ben Othman H,
- 11. Danon L, et al. New evidence on the HIV epidemic in Libya: why countries must implement prevention programs among people who inject drugs. / Acquir. Immune Defic Syndr 2013; 62:577–583. Borenstein M, Hedges LV, Higgins JPT, Rothstein HR. Introduction to meta-analysis. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.; 2009. Nasir A, Todd CS, Stanekzai MR, Bautista CT, Botros BA, Scott
- 12
- 13. PT, et al. Prevalence of HIV, hepatitis B and hepatitis C and associated risk behaviours amongst injecting drug users in three Afghan cities. Int J Drug Policy 2011; 22:145–152. Todd CS, Abed AM, Strathdee SA, Scott PT, Botros BA, Safi N,
- 14 *et al.* **HIV**, hepatitis **C**, and hepatitis **B** infections and associated risk behavior in injection drug users, Kabul, Afghanistan. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2007; **13**:1327–1331. Todd CS, Nasir A, Stanekzai MR, Fiekert K, Rasuli MZ, Vlahov
- 15. D, et al. Prevalence and correlates of HIV, syphilis, and hepatitis B and C infection and harm reduction program use
- among male injecting drug users in Kabul, Afghanistan: a cross-sectional assessment. Harm Reduct / 2011; 8:22. Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program. Integrated Beha-vioral & Biological Surveillance (IBBS) in Afghanistan: Year 1 Beapert Hull Surveillance Breister, Johan Handison, Liniversity 16.
- vioral & Biological Surveillance (IBBS) in Atghanistan: Year 1 Report. HIV Surveillance Project Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health. Kabul, Afghanistan; 2010. Saleh E, El-Ghazzawi E, El-Sherbini I, Drew W, McFarland W, Mandel J, et al. Sentinel surveillance for HIV and high risk behaviors among injection drug users in Alexandria, Egypt [Abstract no. 13124]. AIDS 1998 XII International AIDS Con-ference: 28 lung. 20 luly 1998. Compute Surfaced and ference; 28 June–3 July 1998, Geneva, Switzerland.

HIV epidemic potential among people who inject drugs Mumtaz et al. 1709

- Sarkari B, Eilami O, Khosravani A, Akbartabartori M, Tabata-baee M. High prevalence of hepatitis C infection among high risk groups in Kohgiloyeh and Boyerahmad Province, South-west of Iran. Int J Infect Dis 2011; 15:S82. 18.
- Kaffashian A, Nokhodian Z, Kassaian N, Babak A, Yaran M, Shoaei P, et al. The experience of hepatitis C screening among prison inmates with drug injection history [Persian]. J Isfahan Med School 2011; 28:28. 19.
- Ataei B, Babak A, Yaran M, Kassaian N, Nokhodian Z, Meshkati M, et al. Hepatitis C in intravenous drug users: seroprevalence and risk factors [Persian]. J Isfahan Med School 2011; 28:1–9. Keramat F, Eini P, Majzoobi MM. Seroprevalence of HIV, HBV 20.
- 21.
- and HCV in persons referred to hamadan behavioral counsel-ing center, west of Iran. Iran Red Cresc Med J 2011; 13:42–46. Ghasemian R, Najafi N, Amirkhanloo K. The study of infections due to injection drug abuse in the injecting drug users hospi-talized at Imam Khomeini Hospital in Sari and Razi Hospital in Chaemshahr in 2007–2009. J Mazandaran Univ Med Sci 2011; 22. **21**:8–15
- 21:8–15. Rahimi-Movaghar A, Razaghi EM, Sahimi-Izadian E, Amin-Esmaeili M. HIV, hepatitis C virus, and hepatitis B virus co-infections among injecting drug users in Tehran, Iran. Int J Infect Dis 2010; 14:e28–e33. Merat S, Rezvan H, Nouraie M, Jafari E, Abolghasemi H, Radmard AR, et al. Seroprevalence of hepatitis C virus: the first population-based study from Iran. Int J Infect Dis 2010; 14(6):mpl 20:e112, 0116. 23.
- 24.
- 25
- first population-based study from Iran. Int J Infect Dis 2010; 14(Suppl 3):e113–e116. Kheirandish P, SeyedAlinaghi S, Jahani M, Shirzad H, Seyed Ahmadian M, Majidi A, et al. Prevalence and correlates of hepatitis C infection among male injection drug users in detention, Tehran, Iran. J Urban Health 2009; 86:902–908. Nobari RF, Meshkati M, Ataei B, Yazdani MR, Heidari K, Kassaian N, et al. Identification of patients with hepatitis c virus infection in persons with background of intravenous drug use: the first community announcement based study from Iran. Int J Prevent Med 2012; 3:S170–S175. 26.
- 27.
- Int J Prevent Med 2012; 3:S170–S175. Nokhodian Z, Meshkati M, Adibi P, Ataei B, Kassaian N, Yaran M, et al. Hepatitis C among intravenous drug users in Isfahan, Iran: a study of seroprevalence and risk factors. Int J Prevent Med 2012; 3:S131–S138. Kassaian N, Adibi P, Kafashaian A, Yaran M, Nokhodian Z, Shoaei P, et al. Hepatitis C virus and associated risk factors among prison inmates with history of drug injection in Isfahan, Iran. Int J Prevent Med 2012; 3:S156–S161. Alavi SM, Behdad F. Seroprevalence study of hepatitis C and hepatitis B virus among hospitalized intravenous drug users in 28.
- 29 hepatitis B virus among hospitalized intravenous drug users in Ahvaz, Iran (2002–2006). Hepatitis Month 2010; 10:101–104. Davoodian P, Dadvand H, Mahoori K, Amoozandeh A, Salavati
- 30. A. Prevalence of selected sexually and blood-borne infections in injecting drug abuser inmates of bandar abbas and roodan correction facilities, Iran, 2002. Braz J Infect Dis 2009; 13:356-358.
- 31. Sharif M, Sherif A, Sayyah M. Frequency of HBV, HCV and HIV Infections among hospitalized injecting drug users in Kashan. Indian J Sex Transm Dis 2009; **30**:28–30.
- 32
- Indian J Sex Transm Dis 2009; 30:26–30. Alavi SM, Alavi L. Seroprevalence study of HCV among hospi-talized intravenous drug users in Ahvaz, Iran (2001–2006). / Infect Public Health 2009; 2:47–51. Vahdani P, Hosseini-Moghaddam SM, Family A, Moheb-Dez-fouli R. Prevalence of HBV, HCV, HIV and syphilis among homeless subjects older than fifteen years in Tehran. Arch Iran Med 2009; 12:483–487. 33. Med 2009: **12**:483–487
- Med 2009; 12:483–487. Mirahmadizadeh AR, Majdzadeh R, Mohammad K, Forouzan-far MH. Prevalence of HIV and hepatitis C virus infections and related behavioral determinants among injecting drug users of drop-in centers in Iran. Iran Red Cresc Med J 2009; 11:325– 220. 34.
- Mir-Nasseri MM, Mohammadkhani A, Tavakkoli H, Ansari E, Poustchi H. Incarceration is a major risk factor for blood-borne 35. infection among intravenous drug users. Hepatitis Month 2011; **11**:19–22
- Savad B, Saeed FS, Kevvani H, Rezali M, Asadi T, Vaziri S, et al. 36.
- Sayad B, Saeed FS, Keyvani H, Rezali M, Asadi T, Vaziri S, et al. Seroepidemiology of hepatitis C in Kermanshah (West of Iran, 2006). Hepatitis Month 2008; 8:141–146. Zamani S, Ichikawa S, Nassirimanesh B, Vazirian M, Ichikawa K, Gouya MM, et al. Prevalence and correlates of hepatitis C virus infection among injecting drug users in Tehran. Int J Drug Policy 2007; 18:359–363. 37.

- Pourahmad M, Javady A, Karimi I, Ataei B, Kassaeian N. Seroprevalence of and risk factors associated with hepatitis Seroprevalence of and risk factors associated with nepatitis B, hepatitis C, and human immunodeficiency virus among prisoners in Iran. Infect Dis Clin Pract 2007; 15:368–372. Sharifi-Mood B, Metanat M. Infection among hospitalized in-jection drug users. J Med Sci 2006; 6:686–689. Amini S, Mahmoodabadi SA, Lamian S, Joulaie M, Farahani MM. Prevalence of hepatitis G virus (HGV) in high-risk groups and blood donors in Tohran Iran. Iran. J. Public Health 2005; 39.
- 40. and blood donors in Tehran, Iran. Iran J Public Health 34:41-46.
- Alizadeh AH, Alavian SM, Jafari K, Yazdi N. Prevalence of hepatitis C virus infection and its related risk factors in drug abuser prisoners in Hamedan Iran. World J Gastroenterol 2005; **11**:4085–4089.
- Rahbar AR, Rooholamini S, Khoshnood K. Prevalence of HIV infection and other blood-borne infections in incarcerated and
- Interction and other biodonoborne interctions in incarcerated and nonincarcerated injection drug users (IDUs) in Mashhad, Iran. Int J Drug Policy 2004; **15**:151–155. Zali MR, Aghazadeh R, Nowroozi A, Amir-Rasouly H. Anti-HCV antibody among Iranian IV drug users: is it a serious problem. Arch Iranian Med 2001; **4**:115–119. Mirahmadizadeh A, Kadivar M, Hemmati A, Javadi A. Infection with LIW and hearthic Carad
- 44. with HIV and hepatitis C and B viruses among injecting drug users in Shiraz, Southern Iran [Abstract no. WePeC5981]. AIDS 2004 - XV International AIDS Conference; 11–16 July 2004, Bangkok, Thailand.
- Aminzadeh Z. Seroepidemiology of HIV, syphilis, hepatitis B 45.
- and C in intravenous drug users at Loghman Hakim hospital]. Iran J Med Meicrobiol 2007; 1:53–56. Mahfoud Z, Afifi R, Ramia S, El Khoury D, Kassak K, El Barbir F, et al. HIV/AIDS among female sex workers, injecting drug users and men who have sex with men in Lebanon: results of the first 46.
- biobehavioral surveys. AIDS 2010; 24 Suppl 2:S45–S54. Ramia S, Klayme S, Naman R. Infection with hepatitis B and C viruses and human retroviruses (HTLV-I and HIV) among high-risk Lebanese patients. Ann Trop Med Parasitol 2003; 97:187– 47
- 192. Ahmed F, Irving WL, Anwar M, Myles P, Neal KR. Prevalence and risk factors for hepatitis C virus infection in Kech District, Balochistan, Pakistan: most infections remain unexplained. A cross-sectional study. *Epidemiol Infect* 2012; **120**:716–723. Ali I, Siddique L, Rehman LU, Khan NU, Iqbal A, Munir I, *et al.* Prevalence of HCV among the high risk groups in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa. *Virol J* 2011; **8**:296. Ur Rehman L, Ullah I, Ali I, Khan IA, Iqbal A, Khan S, *et al.* Active hepatitis C infection and HCV genotypes prevalent among the IDUs of Khyber Pakhtunkhwa. *Virol J* 2011; **8**:327. Khanani MR, Ansari AS, Khan S, Somani M, Kazmi SU, Ali SH. Concentrated epidemics of HIV, HCV, and HBV among Afghan refugees. *J Infect* 2010; **61**:434–437. 48.
- 49.
- 50.
- 51.
- refugees. J Infect 2010; 61:434-437. Platt L, Vickerman P, Collumbien M, Hasan S, Lalji N, Mayhew S, et al. Prevalence of HIV, HCV and sexually transmitted infections among injecting drug users in Rawalpindi and Abbottabad, Pakistan: evidence for an emerging injection-related HIV epidemic. Sex Transm Infect 2009; 85 Suppl 2: 117–1122 ii17-II22
- ii17-1122. Rehan N, Bokhari A, Nizamani NM, Jackson D, Naqvi HR, Qayyum K, et al. National study of reproductive tract infections among high risk groups of Lahore and Karachi. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak 2009; 19:228–231. Abbasi S, Faqir F, Khan S, Zaidi SK, Ahmed SQ, Sattar A, et al. A serological study of hepatitis C and human immunodeficiency virus in a cohort of intravenous drug users in Quetta, Baluchi-stan. J Postgrad Med Inst 2009; 23:3–6. Altaf A, Shah SA, Zaidi NA, Memon A, Nadeem ur R, Wray N. High risk behaviors of injection drug users registered with 53.
- 55. High risk behaviors of injection drug users registered with harm reduction programme in Karachi, Pakistan. Harm Reduct 2007: 4:7
- Achakzai M, Kassi M, Kasi PM. Seroprevalences and co-infec-56.
- Achakzai M, Kassi M, Kassi M, Seroprevalences and co-infec-tions of HIV, hepatitis C virus and hepatitis B virus in injecting drug users in Quetta, Pakistan. *Trop Doct* 2007; 37:43–45. Kuo I, ul-Hasan S, Galai N, Thomas DL, Zafar T, Ahmed MA, et al. High HCV seroprevalence and HIV drug use risk beha-viors among injection drug users in Pakistan. *Harm Reduct J* 2006: 2:26 2006; **3**:26.
- UrRehma N. Injecting drug use and HIV/AIDS in Pakistan [Abstract no. MoPeD3667]. AIDS 2002 XIV International AIDS Conference; 7–12 July 2002, Barcelona, Spain. 58.

AIDS 2015, Vol 29 No 13 1710

- Rahman K, Akhtar A, Aslam M. Seroprevalence of HIV, HBV & HCV in drug users in Pakistan [Abstract no. CDC0097]. *AIDS* 2006 XVI International AIDS Conference; 13–18 August 2006, 59. Toronto, ON
- Toronto, ON. Hadi DHMH, Shujaat PDMGSH, Waheed PD.WuZ, Masood PDMGMA. Incidence of hepatitis C virus and HIV among injecting drug users in Northern Pakistan: a prospective cohort study [Abstract no. MoOa0104]. IAS 2005 The 3rd IAS Conference on HIV Pathogenesis and Treatment; 24–27 July 2005. Pio do Japoier Provid 60.
- Conterence on HIV Pathogenesis and Treatment; 24–27 July 2005, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Nai Zindagi, UNODCCP, UNAIDS. Baseline study of the relationship between injecting drug user, HIV and hepatitis C among male injecting drug users in Lahore. Nai Zindagi, Punjab, Pakistan, 1999. Alzahrani AJ, Dela Cruz DM, Obeid OE, Bukhari HA, Al-Qahtani AA, Al-Ahdal MN. Molecular detection of hepatitis B, hepatitis C, and torque teno viruses in drug users in Saudi Arabia. J Med Virol 2009; 81:1343–1347.
- Iqbal N. Substance dependence. A hospital based survey. Saudi Med I 2000: 21:51-5
- Med J 2000; 21:51–57. Njoh J, Zimmo S. Prevalence of antibodies to hepatitis C virus in drug-dependent patients in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. East Afr Med J 1997; 74:89–91. Othman BM, Monem FS. Prevalence of hepatitis C virus anti-
- 65.
- Othman BM, Monem FS. Prevalence of hepatitis C virus anti-bodies among intravenous drug abusers and prostitutes in Damascus, Syria. Saudi Med J 2002; 23:393–395. Stulhofer A, Chetty A, Rabie RA, Jwehan I, Ramlawi A. The prevalence of HIV, HBV, HCV, and HIV-related risk-taking behaviors among Palestinian injecting drug users in the East Jerusalem Governorate. J Urban Health 2012; 89:671–676. Khodadadizadeh A, Esmaeili Nadimi A, Hossieni SH, Shabani Sharbabaki Z. The prevalence of HIV, HBV and HCV in narcotic addicted persons referred to the out patient clinic of Rafsanjan university of medical sciences in 2003 [Persian]. J Rafsanjan Univ Med Sci 2006; 5:21–30. Altaf A, Shah SA. Follow up study to assess and evaluate knowledge, attitude and high risk behaviors and prevalence of HIV, HBV, HCV and Syphilis among IDUS at Burns Road DIC, Karachi. External report submitted to UNODC. Pakistan, 67
- 68. DIC, Karachi. External report submitted to UNODC. Pakistan, 2003
- Tunisia Ministry of Health. Synthèse des enquêtes de séropré-valence et sérocomportementales auprès de trois populations à vulnérables au VIH: Les usagers de drogues injectables, les hommes ayant des rapports sexuels avec des hommes et les 69. travailleuses du sexe clandestines en Tunisie [French, Synthesis of biobehavioral surveillance among the three populations vulnerable to HIV in Tunisia: injecting drug users, men who have sex with men, and female sex workers]. Tunis, Tunisia; 2010.
- Morocco Ministry of Health, National AIDS Control Program, National Institute of Hygiene, UNAIDS, Global Fund to Fight AIDS Tuberculosis and Malaria. HIV integrated behavioral and biological surveillance surveys: Morocco 2011–2012: injecting users in Tanger and Nador, Morocco. Rabat, Morocco; 2012
- Tunisia Ministry of Health, Tunisian Association for Information 71. and Orientation on HIV. Énquête sérocomportementale du VIH et des hépatites virales C auprès des usagers de drogues in-jectables en Tunisie [French]. Biobehavioral surveillance of HIV and Hepatitis C among injecting drug users in Tunisia. Tunis,
- Alipour A, Haghdoost AA, Sajadi L, Zolala F. HIV prevalence and related risk behaviours among female partners of male injecting drugs users in Iran: results of a bio-behavioural survey, 2010. Sex Transm Infect 2013; 89 (Suppl 3):iii41– iii4. iii44.
- Alavian SM, Mirahmadizadeh A, Javanbakht M, Keshtkaran A, Heidari A, Mashayekhi A, et al. Effectiveness of methadone maintenance treatment in prevention of hepatitis C virus transmission among injecting drug users. Hepat Mon 2013; 12:0 73. 13:9.
- 13:9. Butt A, Jafri W, Janjua N, Pasha O. Seroprevalence and risk factors for hepatitis C infection among male prisoners in Karachi, Pakistan. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2010; 105:S112. Nokhodian Z, Ataei B, Kassaian N, Yaran M, Hassannejad R, Adibi P. Seroprevalence and risk factors of hepatitis C virus among juveniles in correctional center in Isfahan, Iran. *Int J Prevent Med* 2012; 3:S113–S117. 75

- Eskandarieh S, Nikfarjam A, Tarjoman T, Nasehi A, Jafari F, Saberi-Zafarghandi MB. **Descriptive aspects of injection drug users in Iran's National Harm Reduction Program by metha** 76. done maintenance treatment. Iran J Public Health 2013; **42**:588–593.
- Honarvar B, Odoomi N, Moghadami M, Afsar Kazerooni P, Hassanabadi A, Zare Dolatabadi P, et al. Blood-borne hepatitis in opiate users in Iran: a poor outlook and urgent need to change nationwide screening policy. *PLoS One* 2013; 8:e82230.
- Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program. Integrated Beha-Arghanistan National AIDS Control Program. Integrated Bena-vioral & Biological Surveillance (IBBS) in selected cities of Afghanistan: findings of 2012 IBBS survey and comparison to 2009 IBBS survey. Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health, Kabul, Afghanistan: Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health, 2012.
- Public Health; 2012. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program. HIV second genera-tion surveillance in Pakistan. National Report Round IV. Cana-da-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry of Health, Pakistan. http://www.nacp. gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS %20Surveillance%20Project-HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation %20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-%20National% 20report%20Round%20IV%202011.pdf [Accessed 9 June 2015]
- Pakistan National AIDS Control Program. HIV second generation surveillance in Pakistan. National Report Round III. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control 80. Program, Ministry of Health, Pakistan. http://www.nacy.gov.pk/ library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20 Surveillance%20Project-HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation% 20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-%20National%20report%
- 20Round%20III%2008.pdf [Accessed 9 June 2015]. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program. HIV second genera-tion surveillance in Pakistan. National Report Round II. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control
- tion surveillance in Pakistan. National Report Round II. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry of Health, Pakistan. http://www.nacp.gov.pk/ library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20 Surveillance%20In%20Pakistan%20-%20Round%202%20 Report%202006-07.pdf [Accessed 9 June 2015]. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program. HIV second genera-tion surveillance in Pakistan. National Report Round I. Canada-Pakistan National AIDS Sontrol Program. HIV second genera-tion surveillance in Pakistan. National Report Round I. Canada-Pakistan National AIDS Sontrol Program. HIV second genera-tion surveillance in Pakistan. National Report Round I. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry of Health, Pakistan. http://www.nacp.gov.pk/ library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20 Surveillance%20Project-HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation% 20Surveillance%20Project-HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation% 20Surveillance%20Project-HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20F Report%20-%202005.pdf [Accessed 9 June 2015]. Wohamoud YA, Miller FD, Abu-Raddad LJ. Potential for human immunodeficiency virus parenteral transmission in the Middle East and North Africa: an analysis using hepatitis C virus as a proxy biomarker. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20:12734-12752. Abu-Raddad L, Akala FA, Semini I, Riedner G, Wilson D, Tawil O. Cha
- 83.
- 84
- 85. Audraduda J, Kalar JA, Karan J, Sehihi N, Keldiel G, Wilson D, Characterizing the HIV/AIDS epidemic in the Middle East and North Africa: time for strategic action. Middle East and North Africa HIV/AIDS Epidemiology Synthesis Project. World Bank/UNAIDS/WHO Publication. http://www-wds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2010/06/04/000333038_20100604011533/Rendered/PDF/548890PUB0EPI11C10Dislosed061312010.pdf [Accessed 9] June 2015]. Washington, DC: The World Bank Press; 2010. Abu-Raddad LJ, Schiffer JT, Ashley R, Mumtaz G, Alsallaq RA, Akala FA, et al. HSV-2 serology can be predictive of HIV epidemics potential and hidden sexual risk behavior in the Middle East and North Africa. *Epidemics* 2010; 2:173–182. Incidence Assay Critical Path Working Group. More and better information to tackle HIV epidemics: towards improved HIV incidence assays. *PLoS Med* 2011; 8:e1001045. Bao L, Ye J, Hallett TB. Incorporating incidence information within the UNAIDS Estimation and Projection Package framework: a study based on simulated incidence assay data. *AIDS* 2014; 28 (Suppl 4):5515–5522.

- 88.

4.3. SUPPLEMENTARY ONLINE MATERIAL OUTLINE

The following is the outline of the supplementary online material as cited in Research paper 3. The corresponding files are found in Appendix C.

Table S1.	HIV epidemic states among people who inject drugs in select Middle				
	East and North Africa countries with sufficient data to explore the				
	HCV-HIV association				
Table S2.	Summary of the 54 paired HCV-HIV prevalence data among people				
	who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa				
Figure S1.	Forest plot for the meta-analysis of the risk ratio of HCV to HIV				
	prevalence among people who inject drugs in Middle East and North				
	Africa settings of low-level HIV epidemics				
Figure S2.	Forest plot for the meta-analysis of the risk ratio of HCV to HIV				
	prevalence among people who inject drugs in Middle East and North				
	Africa settings of emerging HIV epidemics				
Figure S1.	Forest plot for the meta-analysis of the risk ratio of HCV to HIV				
	prevalence among people who inject drugs in Middle East and North				
	Africa settings of established HIV epidemics				

4.4. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

This ecological analysis in MENA supports the theoretical findings of Chapter 3, whereby HCV prevalence was a significant predictor of HIV prevalence in settings where the HIV epidemic is established and therefore where both HCV and HIV infections are at endemic equilibrium. Our analyses in MENA suggest that HIV prevalence will reach, at endemic equilibrium, about one third of HCV prevalence in a given PWID population where HIV is introduced. Using this association, it is predicted that there will be further HIV epidemic growth among PWID in several MENA countries, based on existing HCV prevalence levels. Out of nine MENA countries with HCV prevalence data among PWID, five have high HIV epidemic potential, three have medium HIV epidemic potential, and one has low HIV epidemic potential. Settings with limited current HIV transmission among PWID, but where further HIV epidemic expansion is predicted, should be prioritized for HIV/drug use prevention interventions, alongside settings with already large HIV PWID epidemics.

5. HIV INCIDENCE AMONG PWID IN MENA

5.1. INTRODUCTION

Chapter 2 documented emerging HIV epidemics among PWID in several MENA countries, some of which are already at high prevalence exceeding 10-15%. The potential for larger HIV epidemics in these countries was predicted using HCV prevalence levels which suggest high levels of sharing and connectivity of injecting networks (Chapter 3). Considerable HIV epidemic potential was also predicted in several countries where the HIV PWID epidemic is currently at low-level or of unknown status (Chapter 3).

All of these findings suggest that there is or could be substantial incidence occurring among PWID in MENA, and that, if appropriate interventions are not implemented, the region may witness large HIV epidemics among PWID. This is even more of a concern in a region where the HIV response to the growing HIV epidemics among PWID lags far behind other regions and behind current needs [78]. ART coverage levels in MENA are the lowest in the world and the HIV treatment cascade among PWID suggest even lower ART coverage and retention in care than in all those living with HIV [62]. In a region where the HIV epidemic appears to be strongly driven by injecting drug use, reducing incidence among this pivotal population group is essential to reach the Fast-Track target of reducing the number of new infections by 75% in MENA by 2020 [65].

In this study, mathematical modeling is used to estimate HIV incidence among PWID in MENA countries and the impact of interventions on incidence. The study further explores the role of injecting drug use as a driver of HIV incidence in the wider population, mainly through onward transmission to sexual partners.

5.2. UPDATED RISK GROUP SIZE ESTIMATES AND HIV IBBSS PREVALENCE DATA

The mathematical model used in this chapter was parameterized mainly using country-specific bio-behavioural data extracted as part of the systematic review of PWID in MENA conducted in Chapter 2.

The size of the PWID population and HIV prevalence among PWID at country-level are two central parameters in the estimations of HIV incidence in this study. To check whether any important new data were generated after my systematic review was conducted, the evidence on these two measures were updated with recent data, as provided by partner international organizations and national country-level collaborators and stakeholders conducting/overseeing main mapping studies and IBBSS in the region.

A number of PWID risk group size estimates were performed in several countries of the region since research paper 1 was published. These estimates were compiled and provided by WHO-EMRO [79]. In total, there were ten new estimates of the number of PWID in the following countries: Afghanistan, Bahrain, Egypt, Kuwait, Lebanon, Morocco, Pakistan, Syria, and Tunisia. Table 5.1 below is an updated version of Table 2 in research paper 1. It summarizes available national estimates of the number of PWID in MENA countries. The table also includes updated estimates of the total adult population in each country (for the year 2015 versus 2010 in the publication of research paper 1).

In this study, HIV incidence was conducted in countries with epidemiological evidence indicating HIV prevalence greater than 1%. At the time that estimations were conducted, no new (since Research paper 1 was published) IBBSS were conducted among PWID and that found HIV infections among PWID. HIV prevalence data as published in Research paper 1 was therefore used in parameterizing the model.

Country 1-64 years [at)Population 1-54 years [at)Population 1-54 years [at)Population 1-54 years [at)Population 1-54 years [at]Population 1-54 years [at]Populating [at]Population 1-54		PWID estimate (number)							
Afghanistan 17,398,120 22,720 34,080 45,440 * [80] Afghanistan 17,398,120 22,720 34,080 45,440 * [80] 6,870 6,900 6,930 2005 [6] 18,000 20,000 23,000 2009 [81] 2009 [82] 1,465 17,640 23,000 2012 [79] Algeria 25,990,793 26,333 40,961 55,590 * [80] Bahrain 1,048,273 337 674 1,011 * [80] Djibouti 560,045 -	Country	Population 15-64 years [41]	Low	Middle	High	Year of estimate	Source		
6,8706,9006,9302005[6]18,00020,00023,0002009[81]20,00023,0002012[79]Algeria25,990,79326,33340,96155,590*[80]Bahrain1,048,2733376741,011*[80]Djibouti560,045Egypt56,386,78656,97088,618120,255*[80]Iran56,428,18070,000185,000300,000*[80]Jordan4,609,0303,2004,8506,500*[80]Jordan4,609,0303,2004,8506,500*[80]Kuwait2,946,5562,7004,1005,500*[80]Lebanon3,970,9752,2003,3004,400*[80]Morocco22,898,7571,6837,2069,779*[80]QOT2,989,7571,68515,0002011[79]Libya1,14,295,35754,0004,2505,700*[80]QOT2,898,7571,200130,460150,0002013[81]QOT2,652,5091,200130,460150,0002014[80]QAtar3,453,1432,8004,2505,700*[80]QAtar1,861,9477801,3005,500*[80]QAtar1,861,9477801,30,46150,000[81]QAtar	Afghanistan	17,398,120	22,720	34,080	45,440	*	[80]		
Image: sector of the sector			6,870	6,900	6,930	2005	[6]		
Algeria25,990,793 25,990,793 Bahrain1,465 26,33317,640 40,96123,000 55,5902012 (79) (80)Bahrain25,990,793 10,048,273337 			18,000	20,000	23,000	2009	[81]		
Algeria25,990,79326,33340,96155,590*[80]Bahrain1,048,27326,33340,96155,590*[80]Bahrain1,048,2733376741,011*[80]Djibouti560,045Egypt56,386,78656,97088,618120,265*[80]Djibouti56,428,18070,000185,000300,000*2014[79]Iran56,428,18070,000185,000300,000*[80]Jordan4,609,0303,2004,6336,500*[80]Kuwait2,946,5562,7004,6336,500*[80]Lebanon3,970,9752,2003,3004,400*[80]Morocco22,898,7571,6855,700*[80]Morocco22,898,7571,6855,700*[80]OPT3,453,1432,8004,2505,700*[80]OPT2,652,5095,000462,000870,000*[80]Pakistan114,295,3577801,30050,000*[80]Opt1,681,9477801,3001,600*[80]Saudi Arabia2,444,3487801,400*[80]Sudan2,5259,9407724,3193,6302,028*[80]Sudan2,5259,940777801,600*[80]Coman <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>2009</th> <th>[82]</th>						2009	[82]		
Algeria 25,990,793 26,333 40,961 55,590 * [80] Bahrain 1,048,273 337 674 1,011 * [80] Djibouti 560,045			1,465	17,640	23,000	2012	[79]		
Bahrain1,048,2733376741,011*[80]Djibouti560,045	Algeria	25,990,793	26,333	40,961	55,590	*	[80]		
Djibouti560,045Egypt56,386,78656,970180,000119,000119,000180,000180,000180,000180,000180,000180,000180,000180,000101190180,000101190 <t< th=""><th>Bahrain</th><th>1,048,273</th><th>337</th><th>674</th><th>1,011</th><th>*</th><th>[80]</th></t<>	Bahrain	1,048,273	337	674	1,011	*	[80]		
Djibouti560,045Egypt56,386,78656,97088,618120,265*[80]Iran56,428,18070,000185,000300,000*[80]180,0002004[6]250,0002007[83]Iraq20,382,89823,11534,67346,230*[80]Jordan4,609,0303,2004,8506,500*[80]Kuwait2,946,5562,7004,1005,500*[80]Lebanon3,970,9752,2003,3004,400*[80]Libya4,120,3174,6337,2069,779*[80]Morocco22,898,75718,500*[80][81]Oman3,453,1432,8004,2505,700*[80]OPT2,652,5091,200185,002,500*[80]Pakistan114,295,35754,000462,000870,000*[80]Qtar1,861,9477801,1901,600*[80]Somalia5,444,3487801,1901,600*[80]Somalia5,444,3484,0006,0008,000*[80]Soudan22,599,40724,31937,82851,337*[80]				3,200	30,000	2006	[79]		
Egypt 56,386,786 56,970 88,618 120,265 * [80] Iran 56,428,180 70,000 185,000 300,000 * [80] Iraq 20,382,898 23,115 34,673 46,230 * [80] Jordan 4,609,030 3,200 4,850 6,500 * [80] Kuwait 2,946,556 2,700 4,100 5,500 * [80] Lebanon 3,970,975 2,200 3,300 4,400 * [80] Libya 4,120,317 4,633 7,206 9,779 * [80] Morocco 22,898,757 18,500 * [80] [81] Oman 3,453,143 2,800 4,250 5,700 * [80] OPT 2,652,509 1,200 1,850 2,500 * [80] OPT 2,652,509 1,200 1,850 2,500 * [80] OPT 2,652,509 1,200	Djibouti	560,045							
Iran 56,428,180 86,000 93,000 119,000 2014 [79] Iraq 20,382,898 23,115 34,673 46,230 * [80] Jordan 4,609,030 3,200 4,850 6,500 * [80] Kuwait 2,946,556 2,700 4,100 5,500 * [80] Lebanon 3,970,975 2,200 3,300 4,400 2014 [79] Lebanon 3,970,975 2,200 3,300 4,400 2015 [79] Libya 4,120,317 4,633 7,206 9,779 [80] Morocco 22,898,757 18,500 * [80] Oman 3,453,143 2,800 4,250 5,700 * [80] OPT 2,652,509 1,200 1,850 2001 [80] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 * [80] Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 1,600	Egypt	56,386,786	56,970	88,618	120,265	*	[80]		
Iran 56,428,180 70,000 185,000 300,000 . [80] Iraq 20,382,898 23,115 34,673 46,230 . [80] Jordan 4,609,030 3,200 4,850 6,500 . [80] Kuwait 2,946,556 2,700 4,100 5,500 . [80] Lebanon 3,970,975 2,200 3,300 4,400 12,000 2014 [79] Lebanon 3,970,975 2,200 3,300 4,400 . [80] Morocco 22,898,757 4,633 7,206 9,779 . [80] Morocco 22,898,757 18,500 . . [80] Oman 3,453,143 2,800 4,250 5,700 . [80] OPT 2,652,509 1,200 1,850 2001 [80] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 . [80] Saudi Arabia 2,622,717			86,000	93,000	119,000	2014	[79]		
180,000 2004 [6] 250,000 2007 [83] Jordan 4,609,030 3,200 4,850 6,500 * [80] Kuwait 2,946,556 2,700 4,100 5,500 * [80] Lebanon 3,970,975 2,200 3,300 4,400 * [80] Libya 4,120,317 4,633 7,206 9,779 * [80] Morocco 22,898,757 1,685 2001 [6] Morocco 22,898,757 1,8500 2011 [79] 18,000 2013 [80] Oman 3,453,143 2,800 4,250 5,700 * [80] OPT 2,652,509 1,200 1,850 2001 [81] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 * [80] Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 150,000 2010 [81] Saudi Arabia 5,444,348 151,727 23,600 32,028 * [80] Sudan <td< th=""><th>Iran</th><th>56,428,180</th><th>70,000</th><th>185,000</th><th>300,000</th><th>*</th><th>[80]</th></td<>	Iran	56,428,180	70,000	185,000	300,000	*	[80]		
Iraq 20,382,898 23,115 34,673 46,230 * [80] Jordan 4,609,030 3,200 4,850 6,500 * [80] Kuwait 2,946,556 2,700 4,100 5,500 * [80] Lebanon 3,970,975 2,200 3,300 4,400 * [80] Libya 4,120,317 4,633 7,206 9,779 * [80] Morocco 22,898,757 18,500 9,779 * [80] Morocco 22,898,757 18,500 2011 [79] Jondan 3,453,143 2,800 4,250 5,700 * [80] Oman 3,453,143 2,800 4,250 5,700 * [80] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 * [80] Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 1,600 * [80] Saudi Arabia 5,444,348 1,5172 23,600 32,028 * [80] Morocco 1,861,947 780				180,000		2004	[6]		
Iraq 20,382,898 23,115 34,673 46,230 * [80] Jordan 4,609,030 3,200 4,850 6,500 * [80] Kuwait 2,946,556 2,700 4,100 5,500 * [80] Lebanon 3,970,975 2,200 3,300 4,400 * [80] Libya 4,120,317 4,633 7,206 9,779 * [80] Morocco 22,898,757 18,500 * [80] Jonan 3,453,143 2,800 4,250 5,700 * [80] Oman 3,453,143 2,800 4,250 5,700 * [80] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 * [80] Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 150,000 2011 [7] Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 1,600 * [80] Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>250,000</th> <th></th> <th>2007</th> <th>[83]</th>				250,000		2007	[83]		
Jordan 4,609,030 3,200 4,850 6,500 * [80] Kuwait 2,946,556 2,700 4,100 5,500 * [80] Lebanon 3,970,975 2,200 3,300 4,400 * [80] Libya 4,120,317 4,633 7,206 9,779 * [80] Morocco 22,898,757 18,500 * [80] Morocco 22,652,509 18,500 * [80] Oman 3,453,143 2,800 4,250 5,700 * [80] OPT 2,652,509 1,200 1,850 2,500 * [80] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 * [80] Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 1,600 * [80] Saudi Arabia 2,1622,717 15,172 23,600 32,028 * [80] Somalia 5,444,348 1,000 * [80] [81] Sudan 22,599,407 24,319 37,828 51,337 <t< th=""><th>Iraq</th><th>20,382,898</th><th>23,115</th><th>34,673</th><th>46,230</th><th>*</th><th>[80]</th></t<>	Iraq	20,382,898	23,115	34,673	46,230	*	[80]		
Kuwait 2,946,556 2,700 4,100 5,500 * [80] Lebanon 3,970,975 2,200 3,300 4,400 * [80] Libya 4,120,317 2,200 3,300 4,400 * [80] Morocco 22,898,757 4,633 7,206 9,779 * [80] Morocco 22,898,757 18,500 * [80] [81] Morocco 22,898,757 18,500 * [80] J000 2011 [79] [80] [84] Oman 3,453,143 2,800 4,250 5,700 * [80] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 * [80] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 * [80] Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 1,600 * [80] Saudi Arabia 21,622,717 15,172 23,600 32,028 *	Jordan	4,609,030	3,200	4,850	6,500	*	[80]		
Lebanon 3,970,975 2,200 3,300 4,400 2014 [79] Libya 4,120,317 4,633 7,206 9,779 * [80] Morocco 22,898,757 4,633 7,206 9,779 * [80] Morocco 22,898,757 18,500 * [80] Morocco 22,898,757 18,500 2011 [79] Moro 20,652,509 1,200 1,850 2,500 80] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 * [80] Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 1,600 * [80] Saudi Arabia 2,444,348 1,000 * [80] Somalia 5,444,348 1,000 * [80] Sudan 22,599,407 24,319 37,828 51,337 * <	Kuwait	2,946,556	2,700	4,100	5,500	*	[80]		
Lebanon 3,970,975 2,200 3,300 4,400 [80] 812 3,114 5,416 2015 [79] Libya 4,120,317 4,633 7,206 9,779 * [80] Morocco 22,898,757 18,500 * [80] Morocco 22,898,757 18,500 2011 [79] 3,000 2013 [84] Oman 3,453,143 2,800 4,250 5,700 * [80] OPT 2,652,509 1,200 1,850 2,500 * [80] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 * [80] Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,30,460 150,000 2016 [81] Saudi Arabia 21,622,717 15,172 23,600 32,028 * [80] Sudan 22,599,407 24,319 37,828 51,337 * [80]				4,000	12,000	2014	[79]		
812 3,114 5,416 2015 [79] Libya 4,120,317 4,633 7,206 9,779 * [80] Morocco 22,898,757 18,500 * [80] Morocco 22,898,757 18,500 * [80] 0man 3,453,143 2,800 4,250 5,700 * [80] OPT 2,652,509 1,200 1,850 2,500 * [80] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 * [80] Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 1,600 * [80] Saudi Arabia 2,444,348 1,000 * [80] Somalia 5,444,348 1,000 * [80] Sudan 22,599,407 24,319 37,828 51,337 * [80]	Lebanon	3,970,975	2,200	3,300	4,400	*	[80]		
Libya 4,120,317 4,633 7,206 9,779 [80] Morocco 22,898,757 1,685 2001 [6] 1,685 2001 [79] 3,000 2013 [84] Oman 3,453,143 2,800 4,250 5,700 * [80] OPT 2,652,509 1,200 1,850 2,500 * [80] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 * [80] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 * [80] 125,000 130,460 150,000 2006 [6] 102,042 2006 [85] 99,000 2010 [83] 104,804 2011 [79] Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 1,600 * [80] Saudi Arabia 21,622,717 15,172 23,600 32,028 * [80] 10,000 2008 [83] Somalia 5,444,348 1,000 * [80] Sudan 22,599,407 24,319 37,828 51,337 * [80] Syria 10,881,822 4,000 6,000 8,000 * [80]			812	3,114	5,416	2015	[79]		
Morocco 22,898,757 1,685 2001 [6] Morocco 22,898,757 18,500 * [80] 18,000 2013 [84] Oman 3,453,143 2,800 4,250 5,700 * [80] OPT 2,652,509 1,200 1,850 2,500 * [80] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 * [80] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 * [80] Qatar 1,861,947 780 130,460 150,000 2006 [85] Saudi Arabia 21,622,717 780 1,190 1,600 * [80] Somalia 5,444,348 1,000 2008 [83] Sudan 22,599,407 24,319 37,828 51,337 * [80] Svria 10,881,822 4,000 6,000 8,000 * [80]	Libya	4,120,317	4,633	7,206	9,779	*	[80]		
Morocco 22,898,757 18,500 Image: Second Seco				1,685		2001	[6]		
Markan	Morocco	22,898,757		18,500			[80]		
Oman 3,453,143 2,800 4,250 5,700 * [80] OPT 2,652,509 1,200 1,850 2,500 * [80] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 * [80] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 * [80] Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 1,600 * [80] Saudi Arabia 21,622,717 15,172 23,600 32,028 * [80] Somalia 5,444,348 1,000 * [80] Sudan 22,599,407 24,319 37,828 51,337 * [80] Svria 10,881.822 4,000 6,000 8,000 * [80]				18,000		2011	[79]		
Oman 3,453,143 2,800 4,250 5,700 [80] OPT 2,652,509 1,200 1,850 2,500 * [80] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 * [80] Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 1,600 * [80] Saudi Arabia 21,622,717 15,172 23,600 32,028 * [80] Somalia 5,444,348 1,000 * [80] Sudan 22,599,407 24,319 37,828 51,337 * [80]	_			3,000		2013	[84]		
OPT 2,652,509 1,200 1,850 2,500 [80] Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 * [80] 125,000 130,460 150,000 2006 [6] 102,042 2006 [85] 99,000 2010 [83] 104,804 2011 [79] Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 1,600 * [80] Saudi Arabia 21,622,717 15,172 23,600 32,028 * [80] Somalia 5,444,348 1,000 * [80] Sudan 22,599,407 24,319 37,828 51,337 * [80] Svria 10,881.822 4,000 6,000 8,000 * [80]	Oman	3,453,143	2,800	4,250	5,700	*	[80]		
Pakistan 114,295,357 54,000 462,000 870,000 [80] 125,000 130,460 150,000 2006 [6] 102,042 2006 [83] 99,000 2011 [79] Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 1,600 * [80] Saudi Arabia 21,622,717 15,172 23,600 32,028 * [80] Somalia 5,444,348 1,000 * [80] Sudan 22,599,407 24,319 37,828 51,337 * [80] Svria 10,881.822 4,000 6,000 8,000 * [80]	OPI	2,652,509	1,200	1,850	2,500	*	[80]		
125,000 130,460 150,000 2006 [6] 102,042 2006 [85] 99,000 2010 [83] 104,804 2011 [79] Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 1,600 * [80] Saudi Arabia 21,622,717 15,172 23,600 32,028 * [80] Somalia 5,444,348 1,000 * [80] Sudan 22,599,407 24,319 37,828 51,337 * [80] Syria 10,881.822 4,000 6,000 8,000 * [80]	Pakistan	114,295,357	54,000	462,000	870,000	2005	[80]		
102,042 2006 [85] 99,000 2010 [83] 104,804 2011 [79] Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 1,600 * [80] Saudi Arabia 21,622,717 15,172 23,600 32,028 * [80] Somalia 5,444,348 1,000 * [80] Sudan 22,599,407 24,319 37,828 51,337 * [80] Svria 10,881.822 4,000 6,000 8,000 * [80]			125,000	130,460	150,000	2006	[6]		
Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 1,600 * [80] Saudi Arabia 21,622,717 15,172 23,600 32,028 * [80] Somalia 5,444,348 1,000 * [80] Sudan 22,599,407 24,319 37,828 51,337 * [80] Svria 10,881.822 4,000 6,000 8,000 * [80]				102,042		2006	[85]		
Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 1,600 * [80] Saudi Arabia 21,622,717 15,172 23,600 32,028 * [80] Somalia 5,444,348 1,000 * [80] Sudan 22,599,407 24,319 37,828 51,337 * [80] Svria 10,881.822 4,000 6,000 8,000 * [80]				99,000		2010	[83]		
Qatar 1,861,947 780 1,190 1,600 [80] Saudi Arabia 21,622,717 15,172 23,600 32,028 * [80] Somalia 5,444,348 1,000 * [80] Sudan 22,599,407 24,319 37,828 51,337 * [80] Svria 10,881.822 4,000 6,000 8,000 * [80]	Oatar	1 961 047	790	104,804	1 600	2011 *	[79]		
Saudi Arabia 21,622,717 13,172 23,600 52,028 [80] 10,000 2008 [83] Somalia 5,444,348 1,000 * [80] Sudan 22,599,407 24,319 37,828 51,337 * [80] Svria 10,881.822 4,000 6,000 8,000 * [80]	Qatar Saudi Arabia	1,801,947	/80 15 172	1,190	1,600	*	[00]		
Somalia 5,444,348 1,000 * [80] Sudan 22,599,407 24,319 37,828 51,337 * [80] Svria 10,881.822 4,000 6,000 8,000 * [80]	Saudi Arabia	21,022,717	15,172	23,000	32,028	2000	[00]		
Solitalia 3,444,348 1,000 [80] Sudan 22,599,407 24,319 37,828 51,337 [80] Svria 10.881.822 4.000 6.000 8.000 * [80]	Somolio	E 444 249		1 000		2008 *	[00]		
Sutain 22,399,407 24,319 37,828 51,557 [80] Svria 10.881.822 4.000 6.000 8.000 * [80]	Sultan	5,444,540 22 500 407	2/ 210	1,000 27 020	51 227	*	[00]		
SVIId 10.001.022 4.000 0.000 0.000 1001	Suria	10 001 000	24,319 4 000	57,020 6.000	21,337 8 000	*	[00]		
	Syria	10,001,022	+,000	10 000	0,000	2011	[80] [79]		
Tunisia 7 770 711 8 462 13 163 17 864 * [20]	Tunisia	7 770 711	8 462	13 163	17 864	*	[80]		
	i allisia	,,,,,,,,,	0,402	9 000	17,004	2009	[83]		
ومع) 2003 و2003 و2003 و2003 [201] 2012 [201] 9			9 000	11 000		2003	[33] [79]		
3,000 11,000 2013 [79] ΙΙΔΕ 7 776 519 3 200 4 800 6 400 * [20]	IIΔF	7 776 519	3,000	4 800	6 400	*	[80]		
Yemen 15.280.727 12.710 19.770 26.830 * [80]	Yemen	15.280.727	12,710	19,770	26.830	*	[80]		

Table 5.1. Updated national estimates of the number and prevalence of people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa.

OPT: Occupied Palestinian Territories, UAE: United Arab Emirates * The specific year of the estimate was not mentioned in the original report, but the report covered data from 1998-2005
5.3. **RESEARCH PAPER 4 - MATHEMATICAL MODELLING STUDY**

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT www.lshtm.ac.uk

Registry

T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk



RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED FOR EACH RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A – Student Details

Student	Ghina Mumtaz
Principal Supervisor	Prof. Helen Weiss
Thesis Title	The Epidemiology of HIV Infection Among People Who Inject Drugs in the Middle East and North Africa

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?			
When was the work published?			
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Choose an item.	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Choose an item.

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	Journal of the International AIDS Society (JAIDS)
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Not yet submitted

SECTION D - Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	I am first and corresponding author on this paper. I conducted all the simulations and analyses, interpreted findings, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript.
--	--

Student Signature:

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

Supervisor Signature: ____ Mh.Qu.____ Date: ____ January 10, 2017

HIV INCIDENCE AMONG PEOPLE WHO INJECT DRUGS IN THE MIDDLE EAST AND NORTH AFRICA: MATHEMATICAL MODELING ANALYSIS

Ghina R. Mumtaz,^{1,2§} Susanne F. Awad,¹ Ali Feizzadeh³ Helen A. Weiss,⁴ and Laith J. Abu-Raddad^{1,5,6}

 ¹Infectious Disease Epidemiology Group, Weill Cornell Medical College - Qatar, Cornell University, Doha, Qatar
 ²Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Faculty of Epidemiology and Population Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom
 ³Regional Support Team for the Middle East and North Africa, Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, Cairo, Egypt
 ⁴MRC Tropical Epidemiology Group, Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Faculty of Epidemiology and Population Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom
 ⁵Department of Healthcare Policy and Research, Weill Cornell Medical College, Cornell University, New York, USA
 ⁶College of Public Health, Hamad bin Khalifa University, Doha, Qatar

Number of tables: 3 Number of figures: 3

Correspondence to:

Ghina Mumtaz, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street, London, WC1E 7HT. Telephone: +(961) 7166-1176. E-mail: <u>Ghina.Mumtaz@lshtm.ac.uk</u>

Laith J. Abu-Raddad, PhD, Weill Cornell Medical College - Qatar, Qatar Foundation - Education City, P.O. Box 24144, Doha, Qatar. Telephone: +(974) 4492-8321. Fax: +(974) 4492-8333. E-mail: <u>lja2002@qatar-med.cornell.edu</u>

Email addresses of authors:

- GRM: <u>Ghina.Mumtaz@lshtm.ac.uk</u>
- SFA: <u>sua2006@qatar-med.cornell.edu</u>
- AF: feizzadeha@unaids.org
- HAW: <u>Helen.Weiss@lshtm.ac.uk</u>
- LJA: <u>lja2002@qatar-med.cornell.edu</u>

Keywords:

HIV, people who inject drugs, Middle East and North Africa, incidence, prevalence, mathematical modeling, intervention

ABSTRACT

Introduction Emerging HIV epidemics have been documented among people who inject drugs (PWID) in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA). This study estimates HIV incidence among PWID that is due to sharing needles/syringes in MENA. It also delineates injecting drug use role as a driver of the epidemic in the population, and estimates impact of interventions.

Methods A mathematical model of parenteral HIV transmission among PWID was applied in the seven MENA countries with sufficient epidemiological evidence and HIV prevalence \geq 1%. Estimations of incident and/or prevalent infections among PWID, ex-PWID, and sexual partners of infected current and ex-PWID were conducted.

Results Estimated HIV incidence rate among PWID ranged between 0.7% per person-year (ppy) in Tunisia and 7.8% ppy in Pakistan, with Libya being an outlier (24.8% ppy). The number of annual incident infections was lowest in Tunisia (n=79) and Morocco (n=99), and highest in Iran and Pakistan (about n=6,700 each). In addition, 20-2,208 and 5-837 incident annual infections were estimated across countries among sexual partners of PWID and ex-PWID, respectively. Since epidemic emergence, the number of total incident infections across countries was 706-90,015 among PWID, 99-18,244 among PWID sexual partners, and 16-4,360 among ex-PWID sexual partners. The estimated number of prevalent infections across countries was 341-23,279 among PWID, 119-16,540 among ex-PWID, 67-10,752 among PWID sexual partners, and 12-2,863 among ex-PWID sexual partners. Increasing ART coverage to the global target of 81% - factoring in ART adherence and current coverage - would avert about half of total incident infections among PWID and their sexual partners. Combining ART with harm reduction could avert as much as 90% and 70% of incident infections among PWID and their sexual partners, respectively.

Conclusions We estimated considerable HIV PWID incidence among PWID in MENA. Of all incident infections due to injecting drug use, about 75% are occurring among PWID and the rest among sexual partners. Out of all prevalent infections attributed to injecting drug use as epidemic driver, about half are among PWID, 30% among ex-PWID, and 20% among PWID/ex-PWID sexual partners. These findings call for scale up of services for PWID and their retention throughout the treatment cascade.

INTRODUCTION

As part of the global commitment to end the AIDS epidemic by 2030, the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) stipulated the ambitious '90-90-90' target calling to diagnose 90% of all people living with HIV/AIDS (PLHIV), provide antiretroviral therapy (ART) for 90% of those diagnosed, and achieve viral suppression for 90% of those treated, all by 2020 for all countries [1]. With gaps persisting along this HIV cascade, the United Nations General Assembly agreed in 2016 that staying on the Fast-Track to ending AIDS by 2030 would only be possible if key populations at higher risk of infection (KPs) have access to comprehensive prevention services [2]. These populations and their sexual partners were estimated to account for 36% of new HIV infections globally in 2015; yet are among those with the least access to HIV prevention, care, and treatment services [2].

The Middle East and North Africa (MENA), which includes 24 countries extending from Morocco in the West to Afghanistan and Pakistan in the East, is one of the few regions where the number of new HIV infections increased between 2010 and 2015 [2]. The vast majority of these infections seem to be occurring among KPs, including people who inject drugs (PWID) and their sexual partners [2]. Emerging HIV epidemics have been recently documented among PWID in one-third of MENA countries, with a risk environment suggesting potential for further HIV spread [3, 4]. As a central population to the epidemic in several MENA countries [3], PWID are a priority population if the Fast-Track target of reducing the number of new HIV infections by 75% by 2020 is to be achieved [5].

PWID remain, globally and more so in MENA, one of the hardest-to-reach KPs. They face stigma, discrimination, and criminalization which hinder the delivery of HIV prevention, diagnosis, and treatment services. This also impedes the collection of epidemiological data to track PWID through the HIV cascade and inform policy and programs [5-8]. Despite noticeable progress in the collection of HIV prevalence data among PWID in MENA, HIV incidence data remain scarce [3]. Quantifying HIV incidence among PWID in MENA is urgently needed to provide baseline data to track progress towards UNAIDS target of reducing the number of new HIV infections.

In this study, we use mathematical modeling to estimate, at country-level in MENA, HIV incidence among PWID due to sharing non-sterile injecting equipment. We also estimate HIV incidence among sexual partners of PWID due to heterosexual sex with infected PWID, and

delineate the role of injecting drug use as a driver of the HIV epidemic in the population. Our approach is to explore and quantify HIV dynamics surrounding PWID from a comprehensive perspective that factors in the different HIV transmission pathways that are initiated by injecting drug use.

The specific objectives of our study are to estimate in each country: 1) the number of incident HIV infections among PWID and their sexual partners, 2) the total number of HIV infections that occurred among PWID and their sexual partners since the emergence of the PWID HIV epidemic, 3) the number of HIV infections among ex-PWID and their sexual partners, where ex-PWID are individuals who acquired HIV infection while injecting but are no longer injecting, and hence could be missed by programs targeting current drug users, and 4) the impact of select interventions on HIV incidence among PWID and their sexual partners.

METHODS

Description of the model

We adapted the model developed by Kwon et al [9], a mathematical model of parenteral HIV transmission among PWID, to estimate HIV incidence among PWID. The model assumes that sharing of needles/syringes occurs in groups of specific size, where PWID share in random order, and where each PWID injects once per sharing event. The model uses input data on HIV prevalence, number of times a needle/syringe is reused before disposal, and levels of effective syringe cleaning to estimate number of HIV transmissions per sharing event. The model then estimates HIV incidence in the total PWID population using data on size of the PWID population, frequency of injecting, and levels of sharing. We adapted the model by adjusting for the effect of ART and allowing heterogeneity in injecting risk behavior. We also allowed the number of times a needle/syringe is reused to be a function of the sharing group size, instead of assuming a fixed number. Further details on model structure and equations are in Additional file 1.

To account for heterogeneity in risk behavior, we assumed that the size of the sharing group in each country follows a gamma distribution. With this distribution, the majority share injections in smaller groups whereas a small fraction shares in larger groups (such as at shooting galleries). This pattern is suggested by behavioral and qualitative studies whereby injecting in larger groups has been reported in a few settings in Iran, Pakistan, and Libya; but the most common pattern, even in these countries, appears to be among closed small networks [3, 8]. In absence of clear data to parameterize the variability in injecting risk behavior, the structure of the model was informed by data on the variability in sexual risk behavior and networking, and assumed that the variance of the gamma distribution is equal to its mean [10].

Data sources

The model parameters, their values, and justifications are listed in Table 1, and are based on recent empirical HIV natural history and epidemiology data. Whenever available, country-specific parameter values were used, as informed mainly by a recent systematic review of PWID in MENA [3]. MENA-wide aggregate data [3] and global data were used to complement country-specific data as needed (Table 1). Model fitting was used to derive one parameter, the average size of the sharing group (mean of the gamma distribution). We used a deterministic compartmental model [11] to fit the trend in HIV prevalence in two countries with sufficient available trend data (Iran and Pakistan), and then used the estimated incidence rate and the present adapted Kwon et al model to predict, using fitting, the value of the sharing group size (Table 1). The fitting was implemented by minimizing the residual sum of squares between all data points and model predictions [12].

Parameter	Value	Source
Biological parameters		
Transmission probability per unsterile injection	0.007	Systematic review and meta-analysis [13] and long-term cohort study [14]
Transmission probability per unprotected coital act (non-commercial)	0.003	Systematic review and meta-analysis [15]
Efficacy of ART in reducing HIV transmission	0.96	Clinical trial of treatment for prevention and other observational data [16, 17]
Effectiveness of ART in reducing HIV transmission	0.69	Calculated as the product of ART efficacy and adherence
Epidemiology parameters		
Total number of PWID	See Table 2	MENA PWID data [3, 18-22]
ART coverage	See Table 2	UNAIDS country estimates for ART coverage among all people living with HIV/AIDS [23]
HIV prevalence among PWID	See Table 2	MENA PWID data [3]
HIV prevalence among sexual partners	One-third of HIV prevalence in PWID	Bio-behavioral survey in Iran [24], consistent with similar modeling work in the region [25]
Natural history parameters		
Natural mortality rate	0.02	Cohort studies [26, 27]
HIV disease mortality rate	0.091	UNAIDS data compilation [28] and cohort studies [29-31]
Behavioral parameters		
Adherence of PWID to ART	0.72	Systematic review and meta-analysis [32]
Stopping injection rate	0.10	MENA PWID data [3]
Number of years of injecting after	4.7 years	Estimated from the natural mortality, HIV
seroconversion		disease mortality, and stopping injection rates
Average size of sharing group	Ira: 3, Pak: 2,	Iran and Pakistan: model fitting to
	Others: 3	epidemiological data

Table 1. Model assumptions in terms of parameter values.

Parameter	Value	Source
		Others: informed by Iran and Pakistan fitted
		values and epidemiological data from Iran [33,
Proportion of PWID who inject daily	0.50	34] Global survey data [9-35]
Number of injections per PWID per day among	Ira: 3.3. Pak: 2.2.	Iran and Pakistan: country-specific
those who inject daily	Others: 2.2	epidemiological data [3]
		Others: median of all MENA measures [3]
Average time between two subsequent	14 days	Global survey data [9]
injections for PWID who inject less frequently		
than daily		
Average frequency of injecting per PWID per	Ira: 602, Pak: 402,	Calculated as a weighted average of daily and
year Proportion of DW/ID who share injustions	Others: 402	non-daily injectors [9]
Proportion of PWID who share injections	AIg: 0.29, Egy: 0.40,	MENA PWID data [3]
	Mor: 0.35, Elb. 0.43,	
	0.60. Tun: 0.30	
Proportion of the injections that are shared for	Egy: 0.62, Ira: 0.28,	Egypt, Iran, and Pakistan: country-specific
PWID who share injections	Mor: 0.52, Pak:	epidemiological data [3]
	0.40, others: 0.40	Others: calculated using MENA measures [3]
Average number of times a shared	Equal to the size of	
needle/syringe is used before disposal	the sharing group,	
	with a maximum	
Drepartian of DM/ID with regular covial partners	value of 10	MENA DW/D data [2]
in the last year	0.000	MENA PWID data [3]
Proportion of PWID with non-regular sexual	0.337	MENA PWID data [3]
partners in the last year	0.007	
Number of yearly coital acts with regular sexual	50	Bio-behavioral survey in Iran [24]
partners		
Number of yearly coital acts with regular sexual	20	Bio-behavioral survey in Iran [24]
partners		
Condom use with regular sexual partners	0.295	MENA PWID data [3]
Condom use with non-regular sexual partners	0.359	MENA PWID data [3]
Needle/Syringe cleaning parameters	0.75	Medeling work [0] based on [26] and [27]
Effectiveness of needle/syringe cleaning Proportion of charact injections that are cleaned	U./5 0.15	WENA DWID data [2] & modeling work [29]
Froportion of shared injections that are cleaned	0.13	based on [39]

Afg: Afghanistan, ART: antiretroviral therapy, Egy: Egypt, Ira: Iran, Lib: Libya, MENA: Middle East and North Africa, Mor: Morocco, Pak: Pakistan, PWID: people who inject drugs, Tun: Tunisia

Plan of analysis

The following estimations were applied to seven MENA countries with sufficient epidemiological evidence and HIV prevalence ≥1% [3]: Afghanistan, Egypt, Iran, Libya, Morocco, Pakistan, and Tunisia. Remaining MENA countries have either zero or unknown HIV prevalence among PWID [3]. The estimations capture the different HIV transmission pathways that arise from injecting drug use in the population and that are described in Figure 1A. They include estimations of incident and/or prevalent HIV infections among PWID, ex-PWID, and sexual partners of infected current and ex-PWID. We estimated incidence due to heterosexual sex between infected PWID and their partners, and did not account for anal sex. In this study, HIV incidence was defined as the number of new HIV infections per year. Incidence *rate* was defined as the number of new HIV infections per susceptible person per year.



Figure 1. HIV transmission pathways in the population arising from injecting drug use. Panel (A) displays the various HIV transmission pathways that are due to injecting drug use, starting among PWID and percolation of infection to the wider non-injecting community - mainly sexual partners of current and ex-PWID. Panels (B) and (C) provide one example from Pakistan for the number of incident (B) and prevalent (C) infections that are caused by these transmission pathways and that affect the different members of the injecting and non-injecting communities.

Current year estimations

The model was applied to estimate, based on observed HIV prevalence and injecting risk data, HIV incidence for the current year (rate and number of incident infections). The estimated number of incident infections among PWID was compared to the number of incident HIV infections in the total population as estimated by UNAIDS SPECTRUM model [40]. The number of incident infections among sexual partners of PWID living with HIV for the current year was estimated using input data on the proportion of PWID who had a sexual partner in the last year, HIV prevalence among PWID and among their sexual partners, and the annual number of unprotected coital acts per partnership. Separate parameterization and estimations were made for regular and non-regular sexual partners, with their sum being reported in the results. The number of incident infections among sexual partners of infected ex-PWID were similarly estimated.

Analysis of past exposures

We estimated the total number of HIV infections that occurred since the start of the epidemic among PWID in each country. This was done by retracing the course of the HIV epidemic among PWID starting from the year of epidemic emergence, informed by epidemiological data [3] (Table 2). We started with an HIV prevalence of 1% and, in each country ran the model the number of times equal to the years since HIV epidemic emergence. HIV prevalence in each year was recalculated by adding the number of incident HIV infections in this year to the number of prevalent HIV infections from previous years, while adjusting for PWID who left injection or died from natural or HIV disease mortality.

Iterating this process over time provides an estimate for HIV prevalence in the last year. As the observed HIV prevalence in the last year tended to be higher than the estimated prevalence in that year, we increased the level of risk behavior in the first iteration, to account for higher risk behavior in earlier years of the epidemic, and used linear interpolation in order to reach observed levels of risk behavior and HIV prevalence at the last year. In Libya, the measured HIV prevalence (87% [41]) was not consistent with reported levels of current risk behavior. With these levels, the maximum HIV prevalence the model could reach was 52%; and hence, estimations of past exposures were not possible in Libya.

The past exposures model was also used to estimate the total number of incident cases that ever happened among sexual partners of infected current and ex-PWID since HIV epidemic emergence. The prevalent number of infected individuals in the different affected population groups were also estimated (current and ex-PWID, and their partners).

Endemic HIV prevalence

We estimated HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium among PWID at country level. This calculation is based on a generic deterministic compartmental model for HIV infection (Additional file 1). It uses input data on the estimated HIV incidence rate, rate of leaving injection, and natural and HIV disease mortality rates.

Uncertainty analysis

Multivariate uncertainty analysis was conducted to specify the range of uncertainty in the estimated HIV incidence among PWID and their sexual partners. All biological and behavioral parameters were varied within 25% of their point estimates, as a reasonable range for uncertainty, except for HIV prevalence among PWID which was varied within its measured 95% confidence intervals (Table 2). We implemented 10,000 runs of the model using Monte Carlo sampling from uniform probability distributions for the uncertainty in the parameters. 95% uncertainty intervals (UI) for the estimates were determined.

Impact of interventions

We examined the impact of several HIV interventions targeted at PWID. Specifically, we assessed the effect of: 1) Reducing current sharing of needles/syringes by 25%, 50%, and 75% on HIV incidence among PWID, 2) Expanding ART coverage among PWID based on most recent test-and-treat World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines [42, 43] to reach coverage levels of 25%, 50%, and the global target of 81% [2], on HIV incidence among PWID and their sexual partners, and 3) Increasing current condom use by 25%, 50%, and 75% on HIV incidence among sexual partners. Of note that the impact of ART is dependent on adherence and existing coverage levels in each country.

We also examined the impact of two packages that include a combination of the above interventions. These intervention packages bracket the realm of plausibility for interventions within the MENA context. The less optimistic scenario includes reducing sharing by 25%, increasing ART coverage to 50%, and increasing condom use by 25%. The more optimistic scenario includes reducing sharing by 75%, increasing ART coverage to 81%, and increasing condom use by 75%.

RESULTS

Results of all main estimations of HIV infection among PWID and their sexual partners are in Table 2. The estimated incidence rate among PWID was lowest in Tunisia and Afghanistan at 0.7% (95% UI: 0.4-1.4%) and 1.2% (95% CI: 0.8-2.4%) per person-year (ppy), respectively, and highest in Pakistan at 7.8% ppy (95% UI: 4.3-13.4). Libya, at an HIV prevalence of 87% among PWID [41], was an outlier with an estimated incidence rate of 24.8% ppy (95% UI: 13.3-41.3). The incidence rate in remaining countries was around 4% ppy. The estimated number of incident infections for the current year was lowest in Tunisia (n=79) and Morocco (n=99), and highest in Iran and Pakistan (around 6,700 each). These PWID incident infections represent over 90% of all incident cases in the total population in Iran, 39% in Pakistan, 16-21% in Tunisia and Afghanistan, and 8% in Morocco. In addition, 20-2,208 and 5-837 new infections were estimated at country-level among sexual partners of current and ex-PWID for this year, respectively (Table 2).

In total, we estimated that about 82,000-90,000 infections happened among PWID since the start of the PWID HIV epidemic in Iran and Pakistan each; over 12,250 happened in Egypt; 1,753 happened in Afghanistan; and over 760 happened in Morocco and Tunisia each (Table 2). Similarly, up to 18,244 and 4,360 HIV infections were among sexual partners of current and ex-PWID, respectively, in each of Iran and Pakistan since the start of the PWID HIV epidemic. After accounting for stopping injection and mortality, we estimated that there are currently, at country-level, 347-32,279 prevalent HIV infections among current PWID, 119-16,540 among ex-PWID, and 67-10,752 and 12-2,863 among sexual partners of current and ex-PWID, respectively. The lowest numbers of prevalent infections were in Morocco and Tunisia, while the highest were in Iran and Pakistan (Table 2). The estimated incidence rates suggest that HIV prevalence may increase in Egypt and Morocco to reach, at endemic equilibrium, 15%. Little or no further increase in HIV prevalence is predicted in the remaining countries, based on current estimated incidence rates (Table 2).

Country	•	Afghanistan	Egypt	Iran	Libya	Morocco	Pakistan	Tunisia
HIV PWID epidemic characteristics		0	0/1					
Total number of PWID [3, 18-22]	n	18,820	90,809	185,000	4,446	3,000	117,632	11,000
Date of HIV epidemic emergence among PWID [3]	Year	2009	2008	2001	2000	2008	2004	2009
HIV epidemic state among PWID [3]	Level-	Concentrated	Concentrated	d Concentrated Concentrated- C	Concentrated	Concentrated -		
	trend	- Emerging	- Emerging	- Established	Unknown	- Emerging	Emerging	LOW-IEVEI
Most recent representative HIV prevalence [3]	%	4.4	7.2	15.1	87.1	11.5	27.2	3.1
	(95% CI)	(3.3-5.7)	(5.2-9.6)	(13.7-16.6)	(81.5-91.9)	(9-14.5)	(26.0-28.5)	(3.1-1.9)
HIV incidence in the total population [40]	n	1,000	1,500	7,100	No data	1,200	17,000	500
	(range)	(500-2,700)	(1,000-2,800)	(4,400-16,000)	NU Uala	(1,000-1,600)	(12,000-30,000)	(200-500)
Number of PLHIV [40]	n	6,900	11,000	73,000	No data	24,000	100,000	2,600
ART coverage among PLHIV [23]	%	5.3	18.7	8.7	16.7*	36.7	6.1	28.3
Current year estimations of:								
HIV incidence rate in PWID	% рру	1.2	3.8	4.4	24.8	3.7	7.8	0.7
	(95% UI)	(0.8-2.4)	(2.1-6.6)	(2.3-7.1)	(13.3-41.3)	(2.0-6.3)	(4.3-13.4)	(0.4-1.4)
HIV incidence in PWID	n	214	3,217	6,773	142	99	6,679	79
	(95% UI)	(124-446)	(1,639-5,847)	(3,328-11,842)	(73-262)	(49-175)	(3,369-11,997)	(41-152)
Contribution of PWID to total incidence	%	21.4	NΔ	95.4	No data	8.2	39.3	15.9
	(95% UI)	(12.4-44.6)	147.1	(46.9-100)	No data	(4.1-14.6)	(19.8-70.6)	(8.2-30.4)
HIV incidence in sexual partners of infected	n	62	442	1,977	193	20	2,208	22
current PWID	(95% UI)	(33-109)	(226-787)	(1,112-3,218)	(109-311)	(11-35)	(1,239-3,566)	(10-42)
HIV incidence in sexual partners of infected ex-	n	15	87	720	+	5	837	6
PWID	(95% UI)	(9-26)	(49-148)	(441-1,095)		(3-8)	(521-1,261)	(3-11)
Estimated total number of incident HIV infections,								
since epidemic emergence, among:								
PWID	n	1,753	12,257	82,069	*	706	90,015	764
Sexual partners of infected current PWID	n	331	1,892	17,369	*	99	18,244	125
Sexual partners of infected ex-PWID	n	54	301	4,360	*	16	4,338	21
Estimated total number of prevalent HIV infections	among:							
Current PWID	n	829	6,553	28,139	⁺	347	32,279	341
Ex-PWID	n	303	1,875	14,484	*	119	16,540	136
Sexual partners of infected current PWID	n	224	1,293	9,640	[†]	67	10,752	84
Sexual partners of infected ex-PWID	n	40	219	2,692	†	12	2,863	16
Estimated HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium in	%	5.3	15.2	16.9	53.9	14.9	26.8	3.4
PWID								

Table 2. HIV infection estimations among people who inject drugs and their heterosexual sex partners in the Middle East and North Africa.

* No data were available - the median ART coverage across all MENA countries was used

⁺ The measured HIV prevalence in Libya was not consistent with reported levels of risk behavior; hence estimations of past exposures were not possible

CI: Confidence interval, PLHIV: people living with HIV/AIDS, PWID: people who inject drugs, pyr: per person-year, UI: Uncertainty interval

Table 3. Number and proportion of HIV infections averted due to select interventions in comparison with baseline (current year) estimations of incidence among people who inject drugs and their heterosexual sex partners in the Middle East and North Africa.

	Afghanistan	Egypt	Iran	Libya	Morocco	Pakistan	Tunisia
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
People who inject drugs							
Reducing sharing needles/syringes by 25%	53 (25)	804 (25)	1,693 (25)	36 (25)	25 (25)	1,670 (25)	20 (25)
Reducing sharing needles/syringes by 50%	107 (50)	1,608 (50)	3,386 (50)	71 (50)	49 (50)	3,340 (50)	40 (50)
Reducing sharing needles/syringes by 75%	160 (75)	2,412 (75)	5,080 (75)	107 (75)	74 (75)	5,009 (75)	60 (75)
Increasing ART coverage among PWID to 25%	30 (14)	161 (50)	810 (12.0)	9 (6.5)	NA*	909 (13.6)	NA*
Increasing ART coverage to 50%	68 (32)	798 (24)	2,053 (30)	37 (26)	12 (12)	2,112 (32)	15 (19)
Increasing ART coverage to 81%	116 (54)	1,588 (49)	3,595 (53)	71 (50)	40 (41)	3,604 (54)	36 (45)
Intervention packages:							
Less optimistic scenario ⁺	105 (49)	1,402 (44)	3,233 (48)	63 (45)	34 (34)	3,254 (49)	31 (39)
More optimistic scenario [‡]	189 (89)	2,809 (87)	5,978 (88)	125 (88)	84 (85)	5,910 (88)	69 (86)
Sexual partners							
Increasing ART coverage to 25%	8 (14)	21 (5)	228 (12)	12 (6)	NA*	289 (13)	NA*
Increasing ART coverage to 50%	19 (31)	106 (24)	581 (29)	49 (25)	2 (12)	677 (31)	4 (18)
Increasing ART coverage to 81%	33 (53)	214 (48)	1,028 (52)	95 (49)	8 (40)	1,167 (53)	10 (44)
Increasing condom use by 25%	7 (11)	47 (11)	210 (11)	21 (11)	2 (11)	234 (11)	2 (11)
Increasing condom use by 50%	13 (21)	94 (21)	421 (21)	41 (21)	4 (21)	470 (21)	5 (21)
Increasing condom use by 75%	20 (32)	142 (32)	635 (32)	62 (32)	6 (32)	709 (32)	7 (32)
Intervention packages:							
Less optimistic scenario ⁺	24 (38)	142 (32)	731 (37)	64 (33)	4 (21)	841 (38)	6 (27)
More optimistic scenario [‡]	43 (68)	288 (65)	1,337 (68)	127 (66)	12 (60)	1,506 (68)	14 (62)

ART: Antiretroviral therapy

* Baseline ART coverage is greater than 25%

⁺ Reducing sharing needles/syringes by 25%, increasing ART coverage to 50%, and increasing condom use by 25%

⁺ Reducing sharing needles/syringes by 75%, increasing ART coverage to 81%, and increasing condom use by 75%

Note: The effectiveness of ART in reducing HIV transmission is non-optimal due to adherence issues among PWID (Table 1)



Figure 2. Effect of expanding antiretroviral therapy coverage (ART) on HIV incidence among people who inject drugs (PWID) and their heterosexual sex partners in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA). The graphs display, at various ART coverage levels, the number of new HIV infections and the number of infections averted in comparison with baseline (current year) estimations of HIV incidence among PWID and their heterosexual sex partners.

The impact of select interventions on HIV incidence among PWID and/or their sexual partners is summarized in Table 3 and Figures 2 & 3. Reducing sharing by 25%, 50%, and 75% respectively was associated with a similar proportional reduction in the number of incident infections among PWID. Reducing sharing by 25% would avert 20-53 infections per year in Afghanistan, Libya, Morocco and Tunisia; over 800 infections in Egypt; and about 1,700 infections in Iran and Pakistan each. A reduction of sharing by 75% would avert over 5,000 infections per year in each of Iran and Pakistan (Table 3).

Increasing ART coverage to 25%, 50%, and 81% of all infected PWID would reduce incidence among PWID and their sexual partners at country-level by 5-14%, 12-32%, and 40-54%, respectively (Table 3, Figure 2). In all seven countries combined, 50% ART coverage would result in 5,100 and 1,400 infections averted per year among PWID and their sexual partners, respectively (Figure 2). Increasing condom use by 25%, 50%, and 75% would result in 11%, 21%, and 32% reduction in the number of annual infections among sexual partners of PWID (Table 3).

Finally, implementing the less optimistic intervention package would avert 47% (n=31-3,254 at country-level) and 37% (n=4-481) of incident infections per year among PWID and their sexual partners, respectively, while the more optimistic scenario would avert 88% (n=69-5,978) and 68% (n=12-1,337) of these infections, respectively (Table 3, Figure 3).



Number of new HIV infections per year INumber of averted HIV infections per year

Figure 3. Effect of two comprehensive intervention packages on HIV incidence among people who inject drugs (PWID) (A) and their heterosexual sex partners (B) in all seven Middle East and North Africa (MENA) countries. The package with the less optimistic scenario includes reducing sharing by 25%, increasing ART coverage to 50%, and increasing condom use by 25%. The package with the more optimistic scenario includes reducing sharing by 75%, increasing ART coverage to 81%, and increasing condom use by 75%. The graphs display the number of new HIV infections and the number of infections averted in comparison with baseline (current year) estimations of HIV incidence among PWID and their heterosexual sex partners.

DISCUSSION

A relatively high HIV incidence rate among PWID was found in most MENA countries with at least 1% prevalence (range: 4-25% ppy), supporting recent analyses indicating concentrated and at times rapidly growing HIV epidemics among PWID [3]. A lower incidence rate of about 1% ppy was estimated in Afghanistan, where epidemiological data points to a nascent localized HIV epidemic among PWID [3], and in Tunisia where the PWID HIV epidemic appears to be at low-level [3].

Our estimates of HIV incidence among PWID are overall consistent with our epidemiological understanding of the HIV epidemic among PWID in each country [3], and are congruent with the estimated size of the epidemic and HIV incidence in the *whole population* per most recent UNAIDS SPECTRUM estimates [40]. For example, we found that PWID contribute the vast majority of HIV infections in Iran, a country with an established HIV epidemic among PWID [3, 4, 11] and where injecting drug use is the main driver of the epidemic at the national level [3, 44]. A small contribution of PWID to total HIV incidence was found in Tunisia and Morocco, which is also in agreement with our epidemiological understanding that the HIV epidemic in these two countries is mainly focused among men who have sex with men (MSM) and female sex workers and their clients, respectively [25, 45-48].

We also found that a substantial number of HIV infections in the general population are linked to infections among PWID, due to individuals who acquired the infection in the past through drug injection, but are no longer injecting, and due to onward transmission to sexual partners. We estimated that about 30% of incident HIV infections are among sexual partners of current and ex-PWID, and about half of prevalent HIV infections are among ex-PWID and sexual partners of current and ex-PWID (Figure 1B and C). Figure 1 highlights how injecting drug use drives HIV transmission not only among current PWID but also among individuals with no or no recent injecting drug use. Our findings agree with recent Mode of Transmission analyses in the region that estimated a substantial number of HIV infections among sexual partners/spouses of persons engaging in HIV high risk behavior such as PWID, clients of female sex workers, and MSM [25, 44, 47]. In Iran for example, sexual partners of PWID were found to contribute the second largest number of incident HIV infections in the population after PWID, contributing alone 12% of total incidence [44].

Since injecting drug use in MENA seems to be heavily concentrated among men [3], our findings highlight the vulnerability of PWID sexual partners who are mostly females, and often wives. Indeed, a large number of HIV infections have been documented in MENA among low-risk women who acquired the infection from their PWID husband/sexual partners [24, 49-51]. The context of sexual behavior in MENA, however, suggests limited onward transmission in the population beyond the direct spouses/sexual partners [8, 52].

Despite the growing epidemics among PWID, the region still lags behind other regions in HIV response. With a median ART coverage of 17% among PLHIV in 2015, MENA has the lowest ART

coverage globally [53], and could not reach the 2015 mid-term regional objective of 50% coverage under WHO's initiative to end MENA's HIV treatment crisis [54]. The treatment cascade among PWID seems to suggest an even harsher reality. According to unpublished data provided by the WHO, 27% of infected PWID know their status, 20% are ever enrolled in care, 4% are on ART, and it is unknown how many are virally suppressed. The striking gap between regional figures and the set 90-90-90 target is of great concern, especially in a region where the epidemic is strongly driven by injecting drug use. The punitive legal environment, stigma around HIV testing, and fear of discrimination are all challenges that hamper uptake of treatment by PWID [2]. In some settings, active injecting drug use is a criterion for ART exclusion, even after registration at a service delivery program [54]. These challenges need to be addressed to scale up testing, access to ART, and retention in care. Our study estimated that increasing ART coverage to the global target of 81% (90% of 90%), would alone avert close to half of incident infections among PWID and their sexual partners. Combining scale up of ART with harm reduction services, including needle and syringe programmes (NSP) and condom distribution, as part of an optimistic intervention package would avert close to 90% of infections among PWID and close to 70% of infections among their sexual partners (Figure 3).

Despite improvement in initiation of harm reduction services in recent years, they remain overall limited in most of MENA. By 2014, NSP were available in nine countries, and opioid substitution therapy (OST) in five [55]. Increased political will, the integration of harm reduction in national strategies, and further engagement of civil society organizations are needed to enhance and implement harm reduction approaches. Lessons could be learned from the successful experience of Iran, a leader in harm reduction in the region [55], and from other settings with similar socio-cultural background such as Malaysia and Indonesia [56, 57], to find innovative ways to integrate harm reduction services within the socio-cultural and health services framework of the region.

There were several limitations in our study. Though we used an elaborate mathematical model structure to capture the complexity of HIV dynamics, our results may depend on the type of model structure used. For example, our model did not include sexual transmission of HIV among PWID, and we did not account for onward transmission beyond the direct spouses/sexual partners. We also did not assess transmission through anal sex between infected PWID and their same-sex partners, even though behavioral data suggest not insignificant levels of male same-sex sex among PWID in MENA [3].

As with all modeling work, the robustness of our findings depend on the quality of input data. This study used the best-available data in the region, collected through the comprehensive MENA PWID systematic review [3]. Most data came from quality integrated bio-behavioral surveillance surveys (IBBSS) using state-of-the-art sampling methodologies for hard-to-reach populations and using large samples [3]. Still, many studies were limited by reliance on selfreported behavioral data. The availability and quality of data varied between countries, and there were no MENA-specific data on some parameters. There were also no country-specific data on ART coverage among PWID. For this reason, we used country-specific estimates of HIV coverage among all PLHIV [23]. Unpublished MENA-wide aggregate data suggest that ART coverage among PWID could be lower than that among PLHIV, suggesting that we may have underestimated HIV incidence. To accommodate for the uncertainty in input parameters, we conducted uncertainty analyses with wide uncertainty ranges for parameters, including non-MENA specific parameters that may not be precisely measured such as HIV transmission probability and syringe cleaning efficiency.

This study aimed to estimate incidence at national level, and hence assumed that HIV biobehavioral data in each country is representative of the epidemic at national level, which may not be the case. For example, in Libya, the data came from one city, Tripoli [41], and the scale of the epidemic in other parts of Libya is unknown. Similarly, HIV prevalence in each of Cairo and Alexandria was 7%, but no other localities in Egypt were covered by the IBBSS [58]. In Morocco, we used average HIV prevalence of two cities where studies were conducted, and estimated an incidence rate of 3.7% ppy. Running our model separately in the two localities generated an incidence of 0.1% ppy in Tanger and 7.4% ppy in Nador, highlighting the diversity of the epidemic within Morocco (data not shown). There is however solid epidemiological evidence that the HIV PWID epidemic in both Iran and Pakistan has reached high levels at the national level.

We also assumed that current HIV prevalence is the same as the most recent representative HIV prevalence. Although this may not necessarily be true, all studies were conducted in the last few years [3]. If there have been any changes in prevalence, it is most likely to be an increase given the overall emerging nature of the HIV PWID epidemic [3], suggesting that we may have underestimated HIV incidence in some countries. In Iran and Pakistan, however, it is unlikely that there have been substantial changes in HIV prevalence. In Iran, multiple data sources

indicate an established HIV epidemic among PWID with stable prevalence of about 15% over the last few years [3, 59, 60]; while in Pakistan it is predicted that the HIV PWID epidemic may be approaching saturation [4].

Despite these limitations, this study fills an important gap in estimating HIV infection levels in MENA. HIV-related estimates in MENA are typically produced through established mathematical models that are applied globally such as UNAIDS SPECTRUM [40] and the Global Burden of Disease (GBD) models [61]. While these models provide two different approaches for HIV estimations, their focus is on total population-level estimates. For example, the GBD model uses input data from vital registration and/or antenatal care clinics, in addition to populationbased surveys [61]. However, these approaches may overlook the dynamics of infection among hidden KPs such as PWID and MSM. In this study, we model HIV transmission specifically among PWID, and use quality input data derived from this same population. Such 'microscopic' approach could potentially offer more realistic estimations since it is focused on the populations where HIV is actually being transmitted. The GBD model estimated 32,190 incident HIV infections in 2015 in the whole of MENA [61], about half of UNAIDS SPECTRUM estimates for this region, a result that is not surprising given that UNAIDS SPECTRUM factors in data on KPs, in addition to other data sources [62]. In this study, we estimated over 17,000 incident infections only among PWID in seven MENA countries, suggesting that GBD may have underestimated HIV incidence in this region, and that approaches focused on total population dynamics could be missing hidden epidemics among KPs.

Though our estimates for HIV incidence among PWID were overall in line with UNAIDS estimates of total incidence in the population and with our country-specific knowledge of HIV epidemiology, there were some notable differences. For example, our estimated contribution of PWID to total incidence in Afghanistan and Pakistan was lower than expected, given that the epidemic is largely driven by injecting drug use in these countries [3]. This may suggest that UNAIDS SPECTRUM estimate for total incidence in these two countries is larger than actual incidence, or that we underestimated incidence among PWID given the relatively low levels of reported risk behavior. The potential underreporting of injecting risk behavior in Afghanistan and Tunisia could also explain the low estimated endemic HIV prevalence, whereas other prediction methods using measured levels of hepatitis C virus (HCV) suggest larger HIV epidemic potential in these countries [4]. In Egypt, our estimate of incident infections among PWID exceeded the estimated total number of infections in the population by UNAIDS. While UNAIDS

may have underestimated total incidence in this country (despite such a large PWID population), it could be also that the concentrated HIV epidemic among PWID in Egypt is limited to the two cities where the IBBSS studies were conducted. Careful triangulation of multiple sources of evidence is needed to alleviate some of these apparent contradictions, which in truth may reflect incomplete understanding of HIV epidemic dynamics [45].

In addition to providing estimates of incidence, our study provided insights into HIV epidemic dynamics among PWID. Our analyses indicated that current levels of injecting risk behavior could not explain observed prevalence nor the speed at which these epidemics rose. While it could be partially due to underreporting of risk behavior, this suggests that the epidemic was initially spreading among PWID sub-groups with higher levels of risk behavior. These findings agree with the contextual understanding of these epidemics. For example, the HIV PWID epidemics in Iran and Pakistan started in prisons, where they were ignited by limited access to clean needles/syringes and considerable levels of sharing – there are reports of syringes being reused 30-40 times in Iranian prisons [63]. In Libya, even assuming extreme levels of risk behavior at onset of epidemic, we could not retrace the course of the epidemic in this country. Although the data in Libya came from a quality IBBSS [41], the observed prevalence was extremely high (87%), one of the highest ever reported among PWID globally [41, 64]. Since PWID are a population characterized with relatively short injecting careers and high turnover, it is difficult to understand how HIV prevalence has reached such high level. Possibly, this prevalence may reflect a very recent HIV sub-epidemic among the PWID group that was sampled in Tripoli.

CONCLUSION

We estimated substantial HIV incidence among PWID in MENA. This is especially the case because some of the largest countries, such as Iran and Pakistan, are affected by large HIV PWID epidemics with high HIV prevalence. In several countries, PWID were found to contribute dominantly to HIV incidence. Concerted efforts are needed to bypass the persistent barriers from governments, society, and health systems to improve service delivery to PWID and their retention throughout the cascade [6]. Comprehensive programs that include ART, NSP, OST, voluntary testing and counselling, and prevention of sexually transmitted infections should be established and extended to include settings of vulnerability such as prisons [65].

We further estimated that for each currently infected PWID there is one other HIV infected person in the general population who acquired the infection through HIV PWID dynamics, either as an ex-PWID or as a sexual partner of current or ex-PWID (Figure 1). These populations also need to be linked to care and prevention but are usually missed by programs targeted at PWID. Innovative, context-sensitive approaches are needed to reach these populations, a large fraction of whom are women, for appropriate interventions. Recruiting sexual partners of PWID through their PWID partner could be a starting point [24]. Recruitment of ex-PWID remain a more challenging task, and service delivery models need to be explored to reach this population. Recruitment through peers or previous records at harm reduction centers could be plausible mechanisms. Also, with the availability of direct-acting antivirals, birth cohort screening for HCV infection, in countries considering such programs, may identify ex-PWID who are co-infected with HCV.

Finally, HIV surveillance among PWID must be expanded in MENA. Specifically, there is an immediate need to continue with repeated rounds of IBBSS to provide longitudinal data in countries where such surveys have been initiated, and to start implementing them in countries who still have not established a surveillance base. Where possible, inclusion of sexual partners of PWID should be considered, as well as population size estimations. Generating such strategic epidemiological data will help monitor HIV epidemics, improve quality of input data for estimation studies, guide policy and programs, and track PWID through the HIV treatment cascade.

REFERENCES

1. UNAIDS. 90-90-90 An ambitious treatment target to help the AIDS epidemic. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, Geneva, Switzerland. 2014.

2. UNAIDS. Prevention Gap Report. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, Geneva, Switzerland. July 2016.

3. Mumtaz GR, Weiss HA, Thomas SL, Riome S, Setayesh H, Riedner G, et al. HIV among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa: Systematic review and data synthesis. PLoS Med. 2014;11(6):e1001663. Epub 2014/06/18. doi:

10.1371/journal.pmed.1001663. PubMed PMID: 24937136; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4061009.

4. Mumtaz GR, Weiss HA, Vickerman P, Larke N, Abu-Raddad LJ. Using hepatitis C prevalence to estimate HIV epidemic potential among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa. AIDS. 2015;29(13):1701-10. doi: 10.1097/QAD.0000000000000761. PubMed PMID: 26372281; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4541475.

5. UNAIDS. Fast-Track commitments to end AIDS by 2030. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, Geneva, Switzerland. July 2016.

6. Pierce RD, Hegle J, Sabin K, Agustian E, Johnston LG, Mills S, et al. Strategic information is everyone's business: perspectives from an international stakeholder meeting to enhance strategic information data along the HIV Cascade for people who inject drugs. Harm Reduct J. 2015;12:41. doi: 10.1186/s12954-015-0073-y. PubMed PMID: 26471018; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4608293.

7. Abu-Raddad L, Akala FA, Semini I, Riedner G, Wilson D, Tawil O. Policy Notes. Characterizing the HIV/AIDS epidemic in the Middle East and North Africa: Time for Strategic Action. Middle East and North Africa HIV/AIDS Epidemiology Synthesis Project. World Bank/UNAIDS/WHO Publication. Washington DC: The World Bank Press; 2010.

8. Abu-Raddad L, Akala FA, Semini I, Riedner G, Wilson D, Tawil O. Characterizing the HIV/AIDS epidemic in the Middle East and North Africa: Time for Strategic Action. Middle East and North Africa HIV/AIDS Epidemiology Synthesis Project. World Bank/UNAIDS/WHO Publication. Found at http://www-

wds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2010/06/04/000333038_20 100604011533/Rendered/PDF/548890PUB0EPI11C10Dislosed061312010.pdf, Last accessed October 2016. Washington DC: The World Bank Press; 2010.

9. Kwon JA, Iversen J, Maher L, Law MG, Wilson DP. The impact of needle and syringe programs on HIV and HCV transmissions in injecting drug users in Australia: a model-based analysis. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2009;51(4):462-9. doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e3181a2539a. PubMed PMID: 19387355.

10. Omori R, Chemaitelly H, Abu-Raddad LJ. Dynamics of non-cohabiting sex partnering in sub-Saharan Africa: a modelling study with implications for HIV transmission. Sex Transm Infect. 2015. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2014-051925. PubMed PMID: 25746040.

11. Akbarzadeh V, Mumtaz GR, Awad SF, Awad SF, Abu-Raddad LJ. HCV prevalence can predict HIV epidemic potential among people who inject drugs: Mathematical modeling analysis, Under review. 2016.

12. Lagarias JC, J. A. Reeds, M. H. Wright, and P. E. Wright. Convergence Properties of the Nelder-MeadSimplex Method in Low Dimensions. SIAM Journal of Optimization. 1998;9(1):112-47.

13. Baggaley RF, Boily MC, White RG, Alary M. Risk of HIV-1 transmission for parenteral exposure and blood transfusion: a systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS. 2006;20(6):805-12. doi: 10.1097/01.aids.0000218543.46963.6d. PubMed PMID: 16549963.

14. Hudgens MG, Longini IM, Jr., Vanichseni S, Hu DJ, Kitayaporn D, Mock PA, et al. Subtype-specific transmission probabilities for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 among injecting drug users in Bangkok, Thailand. Am J Epidemiol. 2002;155(2):159-68. PubMed PMID: 11790680.

15. Boily MC, Baggaley RF, Wang L, Masse B, White RG, Hayes RJ, et al. Heterosexual risk of HIV-1 infection per sexual act: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. The Lancet Infectious diseases. 2009;9(2):118-29. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(09)70021-0. PubMed PMID: 19179227.

16. Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, Gamble T, Hosseinipour MC, Kumarasamy N, et al. Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. The New England journal of medicine. 2011;365(6):493-505. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1105243. PubMed PMID: 21767103; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3200068.

17. Donnell D, Baeten JM, Kiarie J, Thomas KK, Stevens W, Cohen CR, et al. Heterosexual HIV-1 transmission after initiation of antiretroviral therapy: a prospective cohort analysis. Lancet. 2010;375(9731):2092-8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60705-2. PubMed PMID: 20537376; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2922041.

18. Johnston GL. HIV Integrated Behavioral and Biological Surveillance Surveys- Injecting Drug Users in Tanger and Nador, Morocco. Kingdom of Morocco Ministry of Health and

National STI/AIDS Programme, Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, and Gloal Fund Unit, Rabat, Morocco. 2012.

19. Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program. Global AIDS Response Progress Report, Kabul, Afghanistan. 2014.

20. Jacobson JO, Saidel TJ, Loo V. Estimating the size of key affected populations at elevated risk for HIV in Egypt, 2014. Partnership for Epidemic Analysis. 2015.

21. Pakistan National AIDS Programme and UNAIDS Asia-Pacific Regional Support Team. Populations Estimation exercise based on an extrapolation of data from 2011, Bangkok, Thailand. 2015.

22. Tunisia National AIDS Control Program. Global AIDS Response Progress Report, Tunis, Tunisia. 2014.

23. AIDSinfo Online Database. Coverage of people receiving anti-retroviral therapy, 2015. Found at: http://www.aidsinfoonline.org. Last accessed: June 2016.

24. Alipour A, Haghdoost AA, Sajadi L, Zolala F. HIV prevalence and related risk behaviours among female partners of male injecting drugs users in Iran: results of a bio-behavioural survey, 2010. Sex Transm Infect. 2013;89 Suppl 3:iii41-4. Epub 2013/09/26. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2013-051201. PubMed PMID: 24064986; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3841763.

25. Bennani A, Latifi A, El Kettani A, Maaroufi A, Guezzar F, Alami K, et al. National and Souss Massa Draa: HIV modes of transmission analysis in Morocco: Morocco Ministry of Health & Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2014 March.

26. Brettle RP, Chiswick A, Bell J, Busuttil A, Wilson A, Povey S, et al. Pre-AIDS deaths in HIV infection related to intravenous drug use. QJM : monthly journal of the Association of Physicians. 1997;90(10):617-29. PubMed PMID: 9415343.

27. Hickman M, Carnwath Z, Madden P, Farrell M, Rooney C, Ashcroft R, et al. Drug-related mortality and fatal overdose risk: pilot cohort study of heroin users recruited from specialist drug treatment sites in London. J Urban Health. 2003;80(2):274-87. doi: 10.1093/jurban/jtg030. PubMed PMID: 12791803; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3456282.

28. UNAIDS. UNAIDS Reference Group on Estimates, Modelling and Projections. 2007.

29. UNAIDS/WHO. *AIDS epidemic update 2010: UNAIDS fact sheet* (available at http://www.unaids.org/documents/20101123_FS_SSA_em_en.pdf, accessed 23 July 2012). 2010.

30. UNAIDS/WHO. Epidemiological data, HIV estimates 1990-2009 (available at http://www.unaids.org/en/dataanalysis/epidemiology/). 2010.

31. Wawer MJ, Gray RH, Sewankambo NK, Serwadda D, Li X, Laeyendecker O, et al. Rates of HIV-1 transmission per coital act, by stage of HIV-1 infection, in Rakai, Uganda. J Infect Dis. 2005;191(9):1403-9. PubMed PMID: 15809897.

32. Feelemyer J, Des Jarlais D, Arasteh K, Uuskula A. Adherence to antiretroviral medications among persons who inject drugs in transitional, low and middle income countries: an international systematic review. AIDS Behav. 2015;19(4):575-83. doi: 10.1007/s10461-014-0928-3. PubMed PMID: 25331268; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4393761.

33. Zamani S, Vazirian M, Nassirimanesh B, Razzaghi EM, Ono-Kihara M, Mortazavi Ravari S, et al. Needle and syringe sharing practices among injecting drug users in Tehran: a comparison of two neighborhoods, one with and one without a needle and syringe program. AIDS Behav. 2010;14(4):885-90. Epub 2008/05/17. doi: 10.1007/s10461-008-9404-2. PubMed PMID: 18483849.

34. Zamani S, Radfar R, Nematollahi P, Fadaie R, Meshkati M, Mortazavi S, et al. Prevalence of HIV/HCV/HBV infections and drug-related risk behaviours amongst IDUs recruited through peer-driven sampling in Iran. Int J Drug Policy. 2010;21(6):493-500. Epub 2010/05/21. doi: S0955-3959(10)00074-5 [pii]

10.1016/j.drugpo.2010.04.006. PubMed PMID: 20483578.

35. Hickman M, Hope V, Brady T, Madden P, Jones S, Honor S, et al. Hepatitis C virus (HCV) prevalence, and injecting risk behaviour in multiple sites in England in 2004. Journal of viral hepatitis. 2007;14(9):645-52. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2893.2007.00855.x. PubMed PMID: 17697017.

36. Abdala N, Gleghorn AA, Carney JM, Heimer R. Can HIV-1-contaminated syringes be disinfected? Implications for transmission among injection drug users. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2001;28(5):487-94. PubMed PMID: 11744839.

37. Siegel JE, Weinstein MC, Fineberg HV. Bleach programs for preventing AIDS among i.v. drug users: modeling the impact of HIV prevalence. Am J Public Health. 1991;81(10):1273-9. PubMed PMID: 1928525; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1405310.

38. Corson S, Greenhalgh D, Taylor A, Palmateer N, Goldberg D, Hutchinson S. Modelling the prevalence of HCV amongst people who inject drugs: an investigation into the risks associated with injecting paraphernalia sharing. Drug and alcohol dependence.

2013;133(1):172-9. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013.05.014. PubMed PMID: 23791029.

39. Taylor A, Goldberg D, Hutchinson S, Cameron S, Gore SM, McMenamin J, et al. Prevalence of hepatitis C virus infection among injecting drug users in Glasgow 1990-1996: are current harm reduction strategies working? J Infect. 2000;40(2):176-83. PubMed PMID: 10841096.

40. AIDSinfo Online Database. UNAIDS SPECTRUM estimates for the year 2015. Found at: http://www.aidsinfoonline.org. Last accessed: August 2016.

41. Mirzoyan L, Berendes S, Jeffery C, Thomson J, Ben Othman H, Danon L, et al. New evidence on the HIV epidemic in Libya: why countries must implement prevention programs among people who inject drugs. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013;62(5):577-83. Epub 2013/01/23. doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e318284714a. PubMed PMID: 23337363.

42. Organization WH. Policy brief: consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection: what's new. Geneva, Switzerland. 2015.

43. Organization WH. Guideline on when to start antiretroviral therapy and on preexposure prophylaxis for HIV. Geneva, Switzerland. 2015.

44. Gouws E, Cuchi P, on behalf of the International Collaboration on Estimating HIV Incidence by Modes of Transmission (inlcluding Laith J. Abu-Raddad and Ghina R. Mumtaz). Focusing the HIV response through estimating the major modes of HIV transmission: a multicountry analysis. Sex Transm Infect. 2012;88(Suppl 2):i76-i85. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2012-050719.

45. Mumtaz GR, Riedner G, Abu-Raddad LJ. The emerging face of the HIV epidemic in the Middle East and North Africa. Current opinion in HIV and AIDS. 2014;9(2):183-91. doi: 10.1097/COH.00000000000038. PubMed PMID: 24445372; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3921267.

46. Mumtaz G, Hilmi N, McFarland W, Kaplan RL, Akala FA, Semini I, et al. Are HIV epidemics among men who have sex with men emerging in the Middle East and North Africa?: a systematic review and data synthesis. PLoS Med. 2011;8(8):e1000444. Epub 2011/08/11. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000444

10-PLME-RA-5484R3 [pii]. PubMed PMID: 21829329; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3149074.
47. Mumtaz GR, Kouyoumjian SP, Hilmi N, Zidouh A, El Rhilani H, Alami K, et al. The distribution of new HIV infections by mode of exposure in Morocco. Sex Transm Infect. 2013;89
Suppl 3:iii49-56. Epub 2013/02/16. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2012-050844. PubMed PMID: 23413401; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3841748.

48. Kouyoumjian SP, Mumtaz GR, Hilmi N, Zidouh A, El Rhilani H, Alami K, et al. The epidemiology of HIV infection in Morocco: systematic review and data synthesis. Int J STD AIDS. 2013;24(7):507-16. Epub 2013/08/24. doi: 10.1177/0956462413477971. PubMed PMID: 23970764; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3764773.

49. Ramezani A, Mohraz M, Gachkar L. Epidemiologic situation of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV/AIDS patients) in a private clinic in Tehran, Iran. Arch Iran Med. 2006;9(4):315-8. PubMed PMID: 17061601.

50. Burrows D, Wodak A, WHO. Harm Reduction in Iran. Issues in national scale-up. Report for World Health Organization. 2005.

51. Nai Zindagi, Punjab Provincial AIDS Control Program. The hidden truth: A study of HIV vulnerability, risk factors and prevalence among men injecting drugs and their wives. 2008.
52. Abu-Raddad LJ, Hilmi N, Mumtaz G, Benkirane M, Akala FA, Riedner G, et al.

Epidemiology of HIV infection in the Middle East and North Africa. AIDS. 2010;24 Suppl 2:S5-23. Epub 2010/07/17. doi: 10.1097/01.aids.0000386729.56683.33

00002030-201007002-00002 [pii]. PubMed PMID: 20610949.

53. UNAIDS. Global AIDS Update 2016. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, Geneva, Switzerland. 2016.

54. World Health Organization Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. From HIV testing to lifelong care and treatment - Access to the continuum of HIV care and treatment in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. Progress report 2014. Found at

http://applications.emro.who.int/dsaf/EMROPUB_2016_EN_18914.pdf. Last accessed September 2016.

55. Harm Reduction International. The Global State of Harm Reduction 2014. Found at http://www.ihra.net/files/2015/02/16/GSHR2014.pdf, Last accessed August 15, 2016. 2014.

56. Kamarulzaman A. Fighting the HIV epidemic in the Islamic world. Lancet.

2013;381(9883):2058-60. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61033-8. PubMed PMID: 23769216.
57. Narayanan S, Vicknasingam B, Robson NM. The transition to harm reduction: understanding the role of non-governmental organisations in Malaysia. Int J Drug Policy.

2011;22(4):311-7. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2011.01.002. PubMed PMID: 21300533.

58. Family Health International and Ministry of Health Egypt. HIV/AIDS Biological & Behavioral Surveillance Survey: Round Two Summary Report, Cairo, Egypt 2010. FHI in collaboration with the Ministry of Health and support from the Global Fund. Found at http://www.fhi360.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/BBSS%202010_0.pdf, Last accessed October 2016. 2010.

59. Iran Ministry of Health and Medical Education, Kyoto University School of Public Hleath (Japan). Integrated bio-behavioral surveillance for HIV infection among injecting drug users in Iran. Draft of the 1st analysis on the collected data, Tehran, Iran. 2008.

60. Iran Ministry of Public Health. HIV bio-behavioral surveillance survey among injecting drug users in the Islamic Repubic of Iran. Final report [Persian], Tehran, Iran. 2010.

61. Collaborators GH, Wang H, Wolock TM, Carter A, Nguyen G, Kyu HH, et al. Estimates of global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and mortality of HIV, 1980-2015: the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. Lancet HIV. 2016;3(8):e361-87. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3018(16)30087-X. PubMed PMID: 27470028.

62. UNAIDS. Methods for deriving UNAIDS estimates. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, Geneva, Switzerland. 2016.

63. Nassirimanesh B, Trace M, Roberts M. The rise of harm reduction in the Islamic
Republic of Iran. Briefing Paper Eight, for the Beckley Foundation, Drug Policy Program. 2005.
64. Mathers BM, Degenhardt L, Phillips B, Wiessing L, Hickman M, Strathdee SA, et al.
Global epidemiology of injecting drug use and HIV among people who inject drugs: a systematic review. Lancet. 2008;372(9651):1733-45. Epub 2008/09/27. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61311-2. PubMed PMID: 18817968.

65. Beyrer C, Malinowska-Sempruch K, Kamarulzaman A, Kazatchkine M, Sidibe M, Strathdee SA. Time to act: a call for comprehensive responses to HIV in people who use drugs.

Lancet. 2010;376(9740):551-63. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60928-2. PubMed PMID: 20650515; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3682471.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The authors have no competing interests to declare

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS AND FUNDING

This publication was made possible by NPRP grant number (NPRP 9-040-3-008) from the Qatar National Research Fund (a member of Qatar Foundation). Additional support was provided by the Biostatistics, Epidemiology, and Biomathematics Research Core at the Weill Cornell Medical College in Qatar. The statements made herein are solely the responsibility of the authors and the funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

The authors would like to acknowledge Gabriele Riedner, regional advisor HIV/AIDS/Sexually Transmitted Infections & Hepatitis, World Health Organization Office of the Eastern Mediterranean; and Joumana Hermez, technical officer, HIV/AIDS and Sexually Transmitted Diseases, World Health Organization Office of the Eastern Mediterranean, for their support in obtaining data input for the model.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

GM contributed to the conception of the study, conceived and generated simulations, conducted analyses, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. SFA contributed to the coding and simulations. HAW contributed to the conception and design of the study. LIA conceived the study and simulations, and contributed to analyses. All authors have read and agreed with the final version of the manuscript.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ART: antiretroviral therapy, GBD: Global Burden of Disease, HCV: hepatitis C virus, IBBSS: integrated bio-behavioral surveillance survey, KP: key population at higher risk of HIV infection, MENA: Middle East and North Africa, MSM: men who have sex with men, NSP: needle and syringe programme, OST: opioid substitution therapy, PLHIV: people living with HIV/AIDS, PWID: people who inject drugs, ppy: per person-year, UI: uncertainty interval, UNAIDS: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, WHO: World Health Organization

5.4. SUPPLEMENTARY ONLINE MATERIAL OUTLINE

The following is the outline of the supplementary online material as cited in Research paper 4. The corresponding files are found in Appendix D.

Additional file 1. Mathematical models description and other analyses

5.5. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

Overall high HIV incidence rates were estimated among PWID in most countries where estimations were conducted. Estimates of HIV incidence among PWID are overall consistent with our epidemiological understanding of the PWID HIV epidemic in each country as informed by Research papers 1 and 3. Injecting drug use caused a substantial number of infections among PWID since the start of the HIV epidemic among PWID at country-level.

Injecting drug use drives incidence not only among current PWID, but also among sexual partners of current/ex-PWID through onward transmission. Moreover, considerable levels of prevalent HIV infections are found among ex-PWID. For each currently infected PWID there is one other HIV infected person in the general population who acquired the infection through HIV PWID dynamics, either as an ex-PWID or as a sexual partner of a current or ex-PWID.

Increasing ART coverage, alone or in combination with harm reduction services, substantially reduces incidence among PWID and their sexual partners. The gaps in the HIV treatment cascade among PWID in MENA are enormous and call for an urgent scale up of ART and harm reduction services in order to be on track with global targets.

6. **DISCUSSION**

The overarching aim of this thesis was to address a gap in our understanding of HIV epidemiology among PWID in MENA. The following main research questions were addressed:

- 1) What is the status of the HIV epidemic among PWID in MENA?
- 2) What is current HIV incidence among PWID in MENA and what is the role of injecting drug use as a driver of HIV transmission in the general population in MENA?
- 3) Could HCV prevalence levels predict future endemic HIV prevalence among PWID?
- 4) What is the estimated HIV epidemic potential among PWID in MENA based on existing HCV prevalence levels?
- 5) What is the effect of select interventions on HIV incidence among PWID in MENA?

The first section of this chapter brings together key findings in relation to these research questions from the more extensive Discussion sections of their respective chapters. The findings are summarized under two broad themes: HIV epidemiology among PWID in MENA, and theoretical and ecological explorations of the HCV-HIV association among PWID. The implications of the findings in terms of HIV/drug use policy and programming are discussed in the second section of the chapter and in Research paper 5, which also includes a summary of the main thesis findings in terms of HIV and HCV epidemiology among PWID in MENA. Recommendations for future research are discussed and, finally, the main scientific contributions of the thesis are summarized.

6.1. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

6.1.1. HIV epidemiology among PWID in MENA

A summary of some of the main findings and estimations in relation to HIV prevalence, incidence, epidemic state, and epidemic potential at country-level are found in Table 6.1.

A large body of evidence

Contrary to common perceptions, this thesis identified a large volume of HIV-related biological and behavioural data among PWID in MENA. Although the quantity and quality of data varied between and within countries, there is a noticeable improvement in the quality of the data over time [86], with a number of IBBSS conducted in several countries in the last few years. These surveys used innovative sampling methodologies for hard-to-reach populations such as respondent-driven sampling and time location sampling, and benefited from overall large samples.

A pattern of emerging HIV epidemics with high incidence

There was epidemiological evidence of sufficient quality to characterize the status of the HIV epidemic among PWID in 13 of the 23 MENA countries (Figure 6.1 & Table 6.1). Rigorous methodology was used based on triangulation and synthesis of multiple sources of data and incorporating quality assessment of HIV biological data.

Evidence for HIV epidemics was found in one-third of all MENA countries, with the most common pattern being that of concentrated emerging HIV epidemics. HIV prevalence was overall in the range of 10-15%. Most of the observed epidemics are recent and evolved only in the last decade. High HIV incidence rate was estimated in almost all countries with concentrated HIV epidemics (range: 4-25% ppy), supporting the epidemiological data and observed epidemic patterns. A relatively lower incidence rate of 1.2% ppy was estimated in Afghanistan, where the epidemic seems to be recent and mainly localized in one setting. Iran is the only country where the epidemic appears to be established at a national level. Although HIV prevalence might have saturated at stable levels, HIV incidence in this country was estimated at a high of 4.4% ppy (leading to 6,773 annual incident infections), sustaining an HIV prevalence of 15%. It was estimated that injecting drug use has resulted, since HIV PWID epidemic emergence at country-level, in a large number of incident HIV infections among PWID ranging between 706 in Morocco and 82,000-90,000 in each of Iran and Pakistan.



Figure 6.1. Distribution of countries by HIV epidemic state among people who inject drugs.

	E	pidemiological cha	racteristics		Thesis findings and estimations						
Reported HIV and HCV prevalence					Epidemic state				Incidence	Epidemi	c potential
Country	HIV prevalence in most recent IBBSS	Number of cities/ provinces	Year of HIV estimate	Mean HCV prevalence [87]	Level of HIV prevalence	Trend in HIV prevalence	Geographical distribution	Quality & scope of evidence	Estimated HIV incidence	HIV epidemic potentialª	Estimated endemic HIV prevalence ^b
	(%)	n (HIV % range)		(%)					(% ppy)		(%)
Iran	15.1 [88]	10 (2.0-32.0)	2010	47.1	Concentrated	Established	National	Conclusive	4.4	Low	15.7-17.0
Pakistan	25.2 (37.8°)	16 (3.3-49.6)		60.7	Concentrated	Emerging	National	Conclusive	7.8	Low	19.9-26.8
	[89]									1	
Afghanistan	4.4 [90]	5 (0.3-13.3) ^c	2012	34.2	Concentrated	Emerging	At least localized	Good	1.2	Medium	5.3-12.5
Egypt	7.2 [73]	2 (6.5-6.8) ^c	2010	63.0	Concentrated	Emerging	At least localized	Good	3.8	High	15.2-22.7
Morocco	11.5 [91]	2 (0.4-25.1) ^c	2010-2	57.6	Concentrated	Emerging	At least localized	Good	3.7	Medium	14.9-20.8
	7.1 (3.7 ^c) [92] ^d	1	2013-4							1	
Libya	89.6 (87.1º) [93]	1	2010	94.2	Concentrated	Unknown	At least localized	Good	24.8		
Bahrain					≥ Outbreak-type			Limited			
Oman					≥ Outbreak-type			Poor			
Jordan	0.0 [94]	3	2009		Low-level			Good		1	
Lebanon	0.0 [95]	1	2007-8	29.0	Low-level			Good		High	10.5-11.4
ОРТ	0.0 [96] ^d	3	2013	43.8	Low-level			Good		High	14.8-15.8
Syria				60.5	Low-level			Limited		High	18.8-21.8
Tunisia	3.0 [97]	2 (0.0-2.9) ^c	2011	22.6	Low-level			Good	0.7	Medium	3.4-10.2
Saudi Arabia				60.5	Unknown			Poor		High	19.8-21.8

Table 6.1. Summary of key thesis findings: HIV prevalence, incidece, epidemic state, and epidemic potential among people who inject drugs at countrylevel in the Middle East and North Africa.

^aPredictions based on HCV prevalence levels

^bRange of estimates generated using different methodologies (predictions based on HCV prevalence data and/or predictions based on estimated HIV incidence rates)

^cPopulation-adjusted estimate

^dUpdated data from IBBSS conducted after research paper 1 was published

IBBSS: Integrated bio-behavioural surveillance survey, OPT: Occupied Palestinian Territories, UAE: United Arab Emirates

NB1: The table includes countries where the status of the HIV epidemic is known or where there was sufficient data to make estimations of HIV incidence or epidemic potential

NB2: HIV incidence estimations were conducted in 7 countries where there is evidence for HIV transmission among PWID (HIV prevalence ≥ 1%)

NB3: HIV epidemic potential estimations were conducted in 10 countries with HCV prevalence data among PWID

Geographical patterns

There was sufficient evidence that the observed HIV epidemics among PWID in two countries, Iran and Pakistan, are national. A large number of geographically representative settings were included in the IBBSS in these two countries, almost all having substantial HIV prevalence [88, 89, 98-101]. In the other countries however, the HIV epidemic among PWID seems to be limited to one or two settings. For example, in Morocco, there was substantial HIV prevalence among PWID in Nador, but limited prevalence in the remaining cities [91, 102]. Similarly in Afghanistan, Herat, which is at the Iranian borders, is the only city with a large HIV epidemic among PWID [90, 103]. In Kabul, HIV prevalence seems to be consistently around 2-3% across consecutive surveys, whereas HIV prevalence in the remaining three cities was below 1% [90, 103-106]. Since this could be a reflection of the small number of sites covered by the IBBSS, the concentrated HIV epidemics in these countries was qualified as "at least localized".

Interestingly, there appears to be links between HIV epidemics among PWID of neighbouring countries. For example, molecular epidemiology studies have linked HIV subtypes in Afghanistan, Iran, and Pakistan [107]. This suggests that strains have been circulating between these countries following drug trade routes in the region, and probably facilitated by population movements across borders such as through the return of Afghani refugees from Iran following the fall of the Taliban [107-109].

Possibility of hidden HIV epidemics

In close to half of the MENA countries, the status of the HIV epidemic among PWID remains unknown due to the lack of, or poor quality of data (Figure 6.1). In these countries, there could be undetected HIV transmission among PWID. Previous experience in MENA has proven that there could be hidden HIV epidemics that are discovered, often too late, when IBBSS are conducted. For example, the first IBBSS among PWID in Tripoli, Libya, was implemented recently in 2010, revealing a major HIV epidemic with alarming prevalence of 87% [93]. Similarly, the first IBBSS conducted in Nador, Morocco, unveiled a hidden HIV epidemic among PWID with a prevalence of 37.8% in 2008 [102], which was confirmed by a subsequent survey that found a prevalence of 25% in 2011 [91]. As mentioned above, there could also be unidentified HIV sub-epidemics in countries where the IBBSS were conducted in only a few settings such as in Morocco and Tunisia. The possibility of hidden HIV epidemics suggests that the full scale of the epidemic among PWID at the regional level could be underestimated.

Role of prisons

There is evidence that prisons played a principal role in initiating and amplifying the HIV epidemic among PWID in Iran, and that they may have contributed to the epidemic in other countries such as Pakistan [110]. In these countries, the first major outbreaks of HIV were identified in prisons [111-117], and some of the highest HIV prevalence measures were among incarcerated PWID, reaching 24% in Iran [118] and 60% in Libya [117]. The very high HIV incidence reported among incarcerated PWID in Iran further testifies to the vulnerability of the prison environment [119]. Overcrowding, availability of drugs, sharing of injecting equipment, unprotected sex, and poor services are some of the factors contributing to the vulnerability of the prison environment in MENA [110]. Overall in the region, about two-thirds of PWID have ever been incarcerated and as many as half have ever injected while in prison [110]. Sharing of injecting equipment in prisons is common in MENA [110], and it has been reported that syringes are used 30 to 40 times in Iranian prisons before disposal [120]. The incarcerated population is overall highly mobile in MENA favouring the bridging of the infection from prisons to the wider PWID community and vice versa. This pattern in MENA is similar to that in other regions where outbreaks of HIV among prisoners, driven by injecting drug use, have been reported in multiple countries [117, 121-123].

HIV epidemic potential

In one-fifth of MENA countries, the HIV epidemic was found to be at low-level, with multiple surveys consistently reporting no or very limited HIV infections among PWID (Figure 6.1 & Table 6.1). However, the behavioural data indicates an overall high risk environment, even in countries at low-level. This suggests that if HIV is introduced into PWID, there could be large and possibly rapid HIV spread, depending on injecting networks and stochastic effects. The overlap of risk behaviour with other KPs who might be experiencing HIV epidemics, such as MSM, could also bridge the infection and ignite PWID HIV epidemics in settings with a risk environment that is favourable of epidemic expansion, as seems to have happened in Egypt.

There have been examples in the region where HIV prevalence among PWID increased considerably over a short period of time, such as in Karachi – Pakistan, where HIV prevalence
increased from near zero to 23% in less than six months [70]. This is not surprising given that when HIV prevalence was still very low in Karachi, HCV prevalence was over 85% [124, 125], indicating substantial use of non-sterile injecting equipment and suggesting connectivity of injecting networks. In Iran, the substantial HCV prevalence (up to 80%) was also predictive of the large HIV epidemic that occurred subsequently.

Within this context, this thesis made predictions of HIV epidemic potential among PWID in MENA countries using the results of an analysis of the association between HCV and HIV prevalence data (discussion in section 6.1.2 below). The main findings are summarized in figure 6.2.



Figure 6.2. Summary of HIV epidemic potential among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa as predicted using HCV prevalence levels.

Based on existing HCV prevalence levels, there is predicted room for further HIV growth in most countries, many of whom are currently low-level HIV epidemic settings. Out of nine countries with HCV prevalence data, five have high and three moderate HIV epidemic potential, highlighting the emerging and potentially growing nature of the HIV epidemic among PWID in MENA. The high HIV incidence rate estimated in Egypt (3.8% ppy) and Morocco (3.7% ppy) suggests that the predicted HIV epidemic growth could materialize soon; whereas in Afghanistan and Tunisia, the lower estimated incidence of 1.2% ppy and 0.7% ppy, respectively, suggest that the epidemic will take longer to reach its peak, and explains why estimated endemic prevalence will be lower in these two countries. Although HIV prevalence in Pakistan showed an increasing trend in repeated IBBSS reaching 27% in the last round [89, 99-101], predictions based on HCV prevalence data suggest that the HIV epidemic could be reaching saturation with limited potential for further growth. Still, HIV incidence rate remains considerable in such settings of high HIV prevalence. Pakistan had the highest estimated HIV incidence rate at 7.8% ppy of all MENA countries where estimations were possible (apart from the outlier case of Libya). The limited HIV epidemic potential therefore should not be interpreted as low priority for prevention interventions.

Injecting drug use as a driver of the HIV epidemic in the population

In addition to the documented growing HIV prevalence and estimated substantial HIV incidence rate among PWID in several MENA countries, injecting drug use was found to be a source of substantial number of HIV infections in the general population, due to individuals who acquired the infection in the past through drug injection but are no longer injecting, and due to onward transmission to sexual partners of PWID and ex-PWID. About half of prevalent HIV infections and 30% of incident infections that are due to injecting drug use were estimated to be found or occurring among ex-PWID and/or sexual partners of current and ex-PWID, that is among individuals with no or no recent injecting drug use. These findings agree with recent mode of transmission analyses in the region that estimated a substantial number of HIV infections among sexual partners/spouses of persons engaging in HIV high risk behaviour such as PWID, clients of FSWs, and MSM [126, 127].

Impact of interventions

The impact of select interventions, each independently and in combination, on HIV incidence among PWID and/or their sexual partners was estimated at country-level, taking into consideration ART adherence and current coverage. It was estimated that increasing ART coverage to the 2015 unmet medium-objective of 50% under WHO's initiative to end MENA's HIV treatment crisis [78] would reduce HIV incidence among PWID and their sexual partners at country-level by 12-32%. Increasing ART coverage to the global target of 81% of those living with HIV would alone avert about half of incident HIV infections among PWID and their sexual partners. Combining scale up of ART with harm reduction services, including NSP and condom distribution, as part of an optimistic intervention package scenario was estimated to avert close to 90% of HIV infections among PWID and close to 70% of infections among sexual partners.

6.1.2. Theoretical and ecological explorations of the HCV-HIV association among PWID

This thesis investigated and characterized the poorly-understood association between HCV and HIV infections among PWID using both mathematical modelling and ecological analyses of epidemiological data.

Mathematical modelling predictions indicated a positive association between HCV and HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium. The nature and magnitude of the association between HCV and HIV endemic prevalence varied according to six dynamical regimes depicting the overlapping epidemiology of the two infections among PWID (Figure 6.3).



Figure 6.3. Summary of the overlapping epidemiology of HCV and HIV infections among people who inject drugs. The figures displays the different dynamical regimes and the HCV thresholds for sustainable and concentrated HIV epidemics. (Note: Regime 1, where the prevalence of both infections is less than 1%, is not displayed on the graph)

The association was characterized by the presence of two epidemiologically and programmatically important thresholds: 1) the sustainability threshold which is the minimum HCV prevalence below which HIV will not be sustainable in a PWID population (i.e. HIV prevalence < 1%), estimated at 29% (95% UI: 21-40%), and 2) the concentration threshold which

is the minimum HCV prevalence needed for a concentrated HIV epidemic of HIV prevalence larger than 5%, estimated at 47% (95% CI: 37-57%) (Figure 6.3). These thresholds were largely insensitive to the uncertainty in biological parameters and the details of injecting risk behaviour, except near extreme values of mixing pattern and variation in risk behaviour among the different risk groups in a PWID population.

These findings indicate that HCV prevalence levels in a PWID population can predict future HIV prevalence, and the predictive association depends on the regime existing HCV prevalence levels belong to in this population. It was demonstrated that HIV prevalence predictions across the entire spectrum of HCV prevalence are overall robust with regards to behavioural uncertainty, further confirming the applicability of the concept. HCV acts like a temperature scale of the level of risk behaviour in an injecting network and can be used as an index to measure the risk and severity of potential HIV epidemics among PWID

The ecological analysis of the HCV-HIV prevalence data extracted from the conducted systematic review among PWID in MENA was in line with the above theoretical mathematical explorations. HCV prevalence was the only significant predictor of HIV prevalence in settings of established HIV epidemics where both infections are at endemic levels. Based on MENA data, a meta-analysis of the risk ratio of HCV to HIV endemic prevalence suggested that HIV prevalence will reach at endemic equilibrium about one-third of HCV prevalence in a given PWID population where HIV is introduced.

6.2. POLICY AND PROGRAMMING RECOMMENDATIONS

This thesis work filled an important gap in our understanding of HIV epidemiology among PWID in MENA. Through its comprehensive assessment and estimations of HIV epidemic scale and potential at country- and regional-levels, it provided the scientific basis for evidence-informed and data-driven policy and programming in the region. Part of the research involved partners at international organizations leading HIV efforts in the region, which facilitates dissemination of findings to national stakeholders and improves the chances of incorporating them into policy and practice [128].

One of the main findings of this research work is the documentation of the emerging HIV epidemics among PWID in several MENA countries. Since these epidemics are for the most part recent and still growing, there is a window of opportunity for prevention that should not be missed before the epidemics reach their full potential. These findings defied a general feeling of complacency in the region that is driven by the low HIV prevalence found in sporadic samples at low-risk of infection, overlooking transmission dynamics in hard to reach and stigmatized KPs where most HIV infections are happening. The documented rising HIV epidemics among PWID confront political leaders with a reality, and subsequent policy choices, that they have to face and may not afford to overlook.

Overall, the region lags behind in responding to the emerging HIV epidemics among PWID. Despite some improvements in the initiation of harm reduction services in recent years, they remain overall limited and insufficient to meet current needs. By 2014, NSP were available in nine countries, and OST in five, with only four countries having both programs operational (Table 6.2) [37]. There is an urgent need to prioritize PWID for interventions and to scale up harm reduction services. Lessons could be learned from the successful experience of Iran, the leader in harm reduction in the region [37], and of other settings with similar socio-cultural background such as Malaysia and Indonesia [129, 130], to find innovative ways to integrate harm reduction within the prevailing socio-cultural framework. Iran has the highest coverage of NSP in MENA [64, 131], and appears to be the only country to provide such services in prisons [131, 132]. Morocco is yet another example of a MENA country that has been pioneering in its HIV response and that proves that harm reduction is feasible and acceptable in this region.

149

	NSP operational	OST operational	
Afghanistan	Yes	Yes	
Iran	Yes	Yes	
Lebanon	Yes	Yes	
Morocco	Yes	Yes	
Egypt	Yes	No	
Jordan	Yes	No	
OPT	Yes	No	
Pakistan	Yes	No	
Tunisia	Yes	No	
UAE	No	Yes	
Algeria	No	No	
Bahrain	No	No	
Djibouti	No	No	
Iraq	No	No	
Kuwait	No	No	
Libya	No	No	
Oman	No	No	
Qatar	No	No	
Saudi Arabia	No	No	
Somalia	No	No	
Sudan	No	No	
Sudan (South)	No	No	
Syria	No	No	
Yemen	No	No	

Table 6.2. State of needle and syringe programs and opioid substitution therapy programs in Middle East and North Africa countries, 2014 [37].

Source: Harm Reduction International. The Global State of Harm Reduction 2014. Found at http://www.ihra.net/files/2015/02/16/GSHR2014.pdf, Last accessed August 15, 2016. 2014.

Increased political will, the integration of harm reduction in national strategies, and further engagement of civil society organizations are needed to advocate and implement harm reduction approaches among PWID in MENA. Civil society organizations play a central and influential role in harm reduction policy development, service delivery, and community progress in the region, but need to be strengthened and further supported by local and national governments [133]. Efforts, such as through outreach and peers, need to be made to reach PWID populations that may be reluctant to approach facility-based services, and those with multiple and overlapping risks. Programs should also be extended to settings of vulnerability such as prisons, which can be a catalyst of large HIV PWID epidemics [110, 117]. Programs need to be supported on public health and human rights grounds with a need for governments to move away from law enforcement which has proven ineffective globally and also regionally [28]. One example is Libya, where the large HIV epidemic among PWID appears to have been exacerbated by restrictions imposed on the sale of needles/syringes at pharmacies in the late 1990s [63, 134]. Alongside prevention interventions, there is a pressing need to alleviate MENA's "HIV treatment crisis", as described by the WHO [78]. With a median ART coverage of 17% among people living with HIV in 2015, MENA has the lowest ART coverage of all regions globally [62]. The HIV treatment cascade among PWID shows an even harsher reality. According to unpublished data provided by the WHO, 27% of infected PWID know their status, 20% are ever enrolled in care, only 4% are on ART, and it is unknown how many are virally suppressed. These figures are very worrisome, especially in a region where the HIV epidemic is strongly driven by injecting drug use, and clearly indicate that MENA is far from the 90-90-90 target [135]. This thesis work estimated substantial reduction in HIV incidence among PWID (and their sexual partners) with scale up of ART as a standalone intervention, and more so if in combination with other prevention interventions. The punitive legal environment, stigma around HIV testing, and fear of discrimination are all challenges that hamper uptake of treatment by PWID in MENA [3] and that need to be alleviated to scale up HIV testing, access to ART, and retention in care.

The recent availability of highly effective direct-acting antivirals to treat HCV offers hope for the almost half of PWID in MENA who are infected with HCV. The planned/ongoing manufacturing of generics at affordable prices will facilitate scale-up of HCV treatment among PWID, especially in countries affected by large HCV epidemics. HCV treatment should be integrated within comprehensive intervention packages for PWID that include ART, NSP, OST, voluntary testing and counselling, and prevention of sexual transmitted infections.

In addition to PWID, this thesis highlighted the need of programs to include ex-PWID and sexual partners of PWID/ex-PWID. These two population groups acquired the infection through the dynamics of injecting drug use, but since they currently have no identifiable risk factor, are missed by programs targeted at PWID. It was estimated that for each currently infected PWID there is one other HIV infected person in the general population who acquired the infection through the dynamics of injecting drug use, and that needs to be linked to care and prevention. Innovative, context-sensitive approaches are needed to reach these populations, a large fraction of whom are women, for appropriate interventions. Peer recruitment for ex-PWID and recruitment of sexual partners/spouses through their PWID partners are plausible mechanisms.

While the immediate priority should be settings already at known high incidence and with concentrated HIV epidemics, this thesis identified settings currently at low-level HIV PWID epidemics, but whose injecting risk environment, as measured by HCV prevalence, predicts that

they might experience further HIV epidemic growth and potentially large HIV epidemics among PWID. These findings highlight the need to implement intervention packages in such settings as well (where there could be complacency in view of the current low HIV prevalence) to prevent the infection from taking root in PWID.

The concept that was proposed and demonstrated in this thesis to predict HIV epidemic potential among PWID based on existing HCV prevalence levels has important policy, programming, and resource allocation implications. Even though predictions may not be very precise, this approach can be effective in pinpointing settings that are likely to experience substantial HIV epidemics in the future, and accordingly need to be prioritized for prevention interventions. This is a simple applied tool that allows policy makers and program officers to predict HIV epidemic potential in PWID populations using measures of HCV-HIV association that enable such predictions with varying levels of precision. Using existing sources of data is particularly appealing in resource-limited settings with insufficient HIV surveillance, such as most of MENA and other regions. The application has a practical relevance which can be disseminated directly at the level of national stakeholders or in consultation with the international organizations leading the HIV/HCV response in the region (WHO, UNAIDS, and the World Bank).

6.3. RESEARCH PAPER 5 - VIEWPOINT

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT www.lshtm.ac.uk

Registry

T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk



RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED <u>FOR EACH</u> RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A – Student Details

Student	Ghina Mumtaz
Principal Supervisor	Prof. Helen Weiss
Thesis Title	The Epidemiology of HIV Infection Among People Who Inject Drugs in the Middle East and North Africa

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to <u>Section C</u>

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	Journal of the International AIDS Society (JAIDS)		
When was the work published?	July 28, 2015		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

SECTION D – Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)		I am first and corresponding author on this paper. I conducted the analysis and wrote the first draft of the manuscript.	
	Student Signature:	Date: January 10, 2017	
	Supervisor Signature:	Date: January 10, 2017	

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

Retention of copyright evidence

This article is published in an open access format. JIAS content license agreement allows us to include the article in its published format as can be seen below:

"The authors agree that their articles are published under the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported (CC BY 3.0) license, allowing third parties to copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format, and to remix, transform, and build upon the material, for any purpose, even commercially, under the condition that appropriate credit is given, that a link to the license is provided, and that you indicate if changes were made."

JIAS content license agreement can be found at: http://www.jiasociety.org/index.php/jias/about/submissions#copyrightNotice

Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license can be found at: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/

Mumtaz GR et al. Journal of the International AIDS Society 2015, 18:20582 http://www.jiasociety.org/index.php/jias/article/view/20582 | http://dx.doi.org/10.7448/IAS.18.1.20582



Viewpoint

Hepatitis C virus and HIV infections among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa: a neglected public health burden?

Ghina R Mumtaz^{§1,2}, Helen A Weiss³ and Laith J Abu-Raddad^{1,4}

[§]Corresponding author: Ghina R Mumtaz, Infectious Disease Epidemiology Group, Weill Cornell Medical College – Qatar, Cornell University, Qatar Foundation – Education City, P.O. Box 24144, Doha, Qatar. Tel: + (974) 4492 8406. Fax: + (974) 4492 8422. (gim2006@qatar-med.cornell.edu)

Received 6 July 2015; Accepted 15 July 2015; Published 28 July 2015

Copyright: © 2015 Mumtaz GR et al; licensee International AIDS Society. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported (CC BY 3.0) Licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Introduction

People who inject drugs (PWID) are a key population at risk of hepatitis C virus (HCV) and HIV infections. Globally, 63% of PWID are HCV infected [1,2] and 19% are HIV infected [2], leading to an estimated 10 million and 3 million HCV- and HIV-infected PWID, respectively [1–3]. The Middle East and North Africa (MENA), a region comprising 23 countries from Morocco in the West to Pakistan in the East, is at the centre of major drug production and trade, creating a context of vulnerability to injecting drug use [4]. PWID in MENA are a large, mostly young and stigmatized population experiencing a substantial HCV and HIV burden, with potential for even further HIV epidemic growth. Yet, they lack access to comprehensive and confidential HCV and HIV testing, prevention and treatment services [5].

A large population at risk

MENA is home to an estimated 626,000 current PWID (range: 335,000–1,635,000) [6], with Iran, Pakistan and Egypt bearing the largest numbers [6]. The population proportion of PWID, at 0.24 per 100 adults, is comparable to global figures [2], but highest in the Eastern part of the region, such as in Iran at 0.43 per 100 adults [6].

A substantial HCV infection burden

Overall, about half of PWID in MENA are HCV infected (median: 44%; interquartile range (IQR): 31–64%), and prevalence as high as 90% has been reported among some PWID populations [6] (Figure 1). In addition to the estimated 300,000 HCV-infected current PWID [6], there could be as many as 2 million HCV-infected people who acquired the infection through past drug injection, but are no longer injecting. In the United States, for example, the number of HCV-infected previous PWID is more than seven times the number of HCV-infected current PWID [7].

The high HCV prevalence and the injecting risk behaviour environment suggest substantial ongoing HCV transmission [6]. This is affirmed by measured and estimated HCV incidence among PWID. In one study in Afghanistan, for example, an HCV incidence rate of 67 per 100 person-years (pyr) has been reported [8]. Preliminary mathematical modelling results suggest that PWID are a major driver of HCV incidence in MENA (Mumtaz *et al.*, under preparation).

Emerging and growing HIV epidemics

Recent evidence has documented HIV epidemics among PWID in one-third of MENA countries [6]. The scale of the epidemic among PWID could be underestimated as the epidemic status remains unknown in half of MENA countries [6]. In some settings, HIV prevalence has reached unprecedented levels, such as in Tripoli, Libya at 87.2% [9]. The common pattern, however, remains that of emerging concentrated epidemics such as in Afghanistan and Egypt [6]. Most epidemics occurred only in the last decade and HIV prevalence hovers around 10–15% [6].

There is also evidence for substantial HIV incidence among PWID. HIV incidence rates of 1.7 [10], 2.2 [8] and 17.2 [11] per 100 pyr have been reported in Pakistan, Afghanistan and Iran, respectively. Modelling work has estimated high incidence in Iran with the majority of infections being due to drug injection [12]. Case notifications also suggest a dominant contribution of PWID to HIV incidence in Afghanistan and Libya [6].

The early phase of the HIV epidemics and the prevalence of risky injecting and sexual practices suggest potential for further HIV epidemic growth among PWID [6]. Recent predictions suggest moderate to high HIV epidemic potential among PWID in countries such as Afghanistan, Egypt, Lebanon, Morocco, Palestine, Saudi Arabia, Syria and Tunisia [13].

Moving forward

There is an urgent need to prioritize PWID for interventions and to scale up harm reduction services in MENA. In 2014, needle/syringe exchange programmes (NSPs) were implemented in ten MENA countries, and opioid substitution therapy (OST) in six [14]. These do not include Libya and Saudi Arabia, countries with high HCV prevalence among PWID (Figure 1). Among the other countries with substantial HCV infection burden, Morocco is the only one with operational NSP and OST programmes, while in Pakistan and Egypt





Figure 1. Median HCV prevalence among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa as per available studies [6]. Error bars represent the lower and upper bounds of the interquartile range if more than one data point was available per country.

only NSPs are provided. Iran remains the leader in harm reduction with an NSP coverage of 55–77% among PWID in 2014, and provision of OST through 4200 centres [14]. Limited funding, low and heterogeneous coverage of services, sociocultural stigma and fear of arrest persist as major barriers for access and provision of harm reduction services [14]. MENA countries could benefit from Iran's experience in implementing harm reduction within the regional social-cultural context. With most PWID starting injecting at a young age, harm reduction should be adapted for young people and linked to other sectors such as education and employment [15].

Alongside prevention interventions, the recent availability of highly effective direct-acting antivirals to treat HCV offers hope for HCV-infected PWID. The prohibitively expensive cost of the drugs remains a major challenge for scale-up. Ensuring affordable access to treatment will only be possible with generic competition or with substantial price reductions on existing or upcoming drugs such as the 99% price discount negotiated by Egypt [16] and a similar discount negotiated recently by Pakistan. Generics are planned to be manufactured within the region, such as in Egypt and Morocco. Generics are being produced in India for as little as \$750 for a full treatment course, and production costs may go down to \$100 within a few years [17]. As the first Global Health Sector Strategy on Viral Hepatitis is being drafted, concerted efforts are needed for the development of National Strategic Plans for Viral Hepatitis, and possibly Viral Hepatitis Programmes, at country level in MENA, as is already materializing in a few countries including Bahrain, Egypt, Lebanon and Iran. Such programmes can furnish the logistical framework for supporting HCV-related services among PWID through initiatives including testing, treatment and optimally harm reduction, in tandem with National AIDS Control Programme services.

As for HIV treatment, much remains to be accomplished in a region that has one of the lowest antiretroviral therapy (ART) coverages worldwide with a median coverage of 16% (IQR: 6–17%) [18]. Limited HIV testing, the cost of ART to burdened health care systems, and poor access are obstacles for ART uptake and scale-up [19]. The median prevalence of lifetime HIV testing among PWID is 33% (IQR: 16-56%), and is very low in many countries with concentrated HIV epidemics such as in Afghanistan, Pakistan and Egypt [6]. While Voluntary Counselling and Testing (VCT) has been initiated in most countries, uptake of services has been overall weak, partially because of weak non-governmental organizations (NGO) involvement, limited engagement of PWID, and social stigma [5]. Morocco is one exception where the strong civil society has facilitated broad and sizable access to VCT services for different populations [5]. Provision and access to HCV testing is even more limited because of the poor commitment to HCV treatment. Managing the structural barriers of social stigma, poverty, homelessness, criminalization and incarceration will facilitate both HIV and HCV testing, treatment and prevention scale-up for PWID in MENA [20].

Conclusions

There is a large marginalized population of over half a million PWID in MENA, half of whom are already HCV infected. There is also a larger population of HCV-infected previous injectors who are progressing through the natural course of disease without knowing the status of their infection or the opportunity of treatment. PWID in MENA are also enduring rising HIV epidemics, some of which have already reached high HIV prevalence. Advantage should be taken from the global momentum for tackling viral hepatitis, and courageous decisions are needed at the national level to develop or expand programmes that can tackle HCV and HIV public health burden among PWID. Scale-up of treatment and harm reduction services should be a main pillar of such programmes, alongside innovative strategies to overcome the challenges imposed by social stigma and criminalization.

Authors' affiliations

¹Infectious Disease Epidemiology Group, Weill Cornell Medical College – Qatar, Cornell University, Qatar Foundation – Education City, Doha, Qatar; ²Department of Mumtaz GR et al. Journal of the International AIDS Society 2015, 18:20582 http://www.jiasociety.org/index.php/jias/article/view/20582 | http://dx.doi.org/10.7448/IAS.18.1.20582

Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Faculty of Epidemiology and Population Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom; ³MRC Tropical Epidemiology Group, Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Faculty of Epidemiology and Population Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom; ⁴Department of Healthcare Policy and Research, Weill Cornell Medical College, Cornell University, New York, NY, USA

Competing interests

Authors' contributions

The authors have no competing interests to declare.

to the manuscript and approved the final version.

Reference

1. Nelson PK, Mathers BM, Cowie B, Hagan H, Des Jarlais D, Horyniak D, et al. Global epidemiology of hepatitis B and hepatitis C in people who inject drugs: results of systematic reviews. Lancet. 2011;378(9791):571–83. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61097-0.

GM wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors provided critical input

 Mathers BM, Degenhardt L, Phillips B, Wiessing L, Hickman M, Strathdee SA, et al. Global epidemiology of injecting drug use and HIV among people who inject drugs: a systematic review. Lancet. 2008;372(9651):1733–45. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61311-2.

 Aceijas C, Rhodes T. Global estimates of prevalence of HCV infection among injecting drug users. Int J Drug Policy. 2007;18(5):352–8. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo. 2007.04.004.

 UNODC. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. World Drug Report [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2015 Jul]. Available from: http://www.unodc.org/ documents/data-and-analysis/WDR2011/World_Drug_Report_2011_ebook.pdf

 Abu-Raddad L, Akala FA, Semini I, Riedner G, Wilson D, Tawil O. Characterizing the HIV/AIDS epidemic in the Middle East and North Africa: time for strategic action. Middle East and North Africa HIV/AIDS Epidemiology Synthesis Project. World Bank/UNAIDS/WHO Publication. Washington, DC: The World Bank Press; 2010.

 Mumtaz GR, Weiss HA, Thomas SL, Riome S, Setayesh H, Riedner G, et al. HIV among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa: systematic review and data synthesis. PLoS Med. 2014;11(6):e1001663. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001663.

 Lansky A, Finlayson T, Johnson C, Holtzman D, Wejnert C, Mitsch A, et al. Estimating the number of persons who inject drugs in the united states by meta-analysis to calculate national rates of HIV and hepatitis C virus infections. PLoS One. 2014;9(5):e97596. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0097596.

8. Todd C, Nasir A, Stanekzai MR, Rasuli MZ, Fiekert, Orr M, et al. Hepatitis C and HIV incidence among injecting drug users in Kabul, Afghanistan.

Abstract no. MOPDC101. AIDS 2010 – XVIII International AIDS Conference; Vienna, Austria; 18–23 July 2010.

9. Mirzoyan L, Berendes S, Jeffery C, Thomson J, Ben Othman H, Danon L, et al. New evidence on the HIV epidemic in Libya: why countries must implement prevention programs among people who inject drugs. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013;62(5):577–83. doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e318284714a.

10. Hadi DHMH, Shujaat PDMGSH, Waheed PDWUZ, Masood PDMGMA. Incidence of hepatitis C virus and HIV among injecting drug users in Northern Pakistan: a prospective cohort study. Abstract no. MoOa0104. IAS 2005 – The 3rd IAS Conference on HIV Pathogenesis and Treatment; Rio de Janeiro, Brazil; 24–27 July 2005.

11. Jahani MR, Kheirandish P, Hosseini M, Shirzad H, Seyedalinaghi SA, Karami N, et al. HIV seroconversion among injection drug users in detention, Tehran, Iran. AIDS. 2009;23(4):538–40. doi: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e3283269e3c. 12. Gouws E, Cuchi P, on behalf of the International Collaboration on Estimating HIV Incidence by Modes of Transmission (including Laith J. Abu-Raddad and Ghina R. Mumtaz). Focusing the HIV response through estimating the major modes of HIV transmission: a multi-country analysis. Sex Transm Infect. 2012;88(Suppl 2):i76–85. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2012-050719.

13. Mumtaz GR, Weiss HA, Vickerman P, Larke N, Abu-Raddad LJ. Using hepatitis C prevalence to estimate HIV epidemic potential among people who inject in the Middle East and North Africa. AIDS. 2015.

14. Harm Reduction International. The global state of harm reduction 2012: towards an integrated response [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2015 Jul 2]. Available from: http://www.ihra.net/files/2015/02/16/GSHR2014.pdf

15. Krug A, Hildebrand M, Sun N. "We don't need services. We have no problems": exploring the experiences of young people who inject drugs in accessing harm reduction services. J Int AIDS Soc. 2015;18(2 Suppl 1):19442, doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.7448/IAS.18.2.19442

16. Kamal-Yanni M. Hepatitis C drug affordability. Lancet Global Health. 2015;3(2):e73-4. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(14)70365-1.

17. Jules Levin. Minimum costs to produce Hepatitis C Direct Acting Antivirals for access programs in developing countries. 64th Annual Meeting of AASLD, Washington, DC; 2013 Nov. [Poster 1097].

18. World Health Organization Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. Antiretroviral therapy coverage [Internet]. [cited 2015 Jul]. Available from: http://apps.who.int/gho/data/node.main.626?lang=en

19. Alkaiyat A, Weiss MG. HIV in the Middle East and North Africa: priority, culture, and control. Int J Public Health. 2013;58(6):927–37. doi: 10.1007/ s00038-013-0485-y.

20. Ford N, Wiktor S, Kaplan K, Andrieux-Meyer I, Hill A, Radhakrishnan P, et al. Ten priorities for expanding access to HCV treatment for people who inject drugs in low- and middle-income countries. Int J Drug Policy. 2015. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2015.05.004.

6.4. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

This thesis identified a large volume of HIV epidemiological data that enabled the objectives of the PhD to be addressed, but also identified limitations and gaps in the available literature, and highlighted ways to improve future research including data collection and reporting.

One the most striking issues identified during the thesis is the magnitude of the gaps in the HIV treatment cascade among PWID in the MENA region. Generation of this cascade by WHO was challenging due to the scarcity of the data that quantifies the different steps of the cascade in the vast majority of countries. There is a need to expand data collection and routine monitoring along the continuum of care (HIV testing, linking to care, ART administration, and adherence), to implement CD4 testing and to track viral suppression (currently almost absent), and to improve country reporting mechanisms. There is also a need for research, at country-level, looking into the barriers to testing, linkage to care, and retention in care [78], to improve on the treatment cascade. This includes investigation of systemic and structural barriers such as criminalization, police practices, stigma and discrimination – even in health care settings and by health care providers, referral mechanisms, coordination between NGOs (points of testing) and care services, exclusion of active PWID from ART, drugs stock outs, among others [78, 136].

With regards to sero-surveys, there has been a recent noticeable improvement in the quality of HIV bio-behavioural data with the recent conduct of multiple IBBSS using state of the art sampling methodologies and using large samples. However, HIV surveillance in the region needs to be further expanded and improved. IBBSS were conducted in ten out of 23 countries, with repeated rounds available in six of them. Within the context of emerging HIV epidemics among PWID, and with over half of countries still lacking any data to inform the status of the HIV PWID epidemic, there is an urgent need to further develop HIV surveillance through the conduct of IBBSS in the region. This includes implementing subsequent rounds in countries that have already established their surveillance base to generate time trends, and conducting first rounds in settings where such surveys have not been conducted yet.

A number of suggested improvements could be made to the study design and instruments of surveys in the region. One of the main issues encountered was the inclusion, in the sample of many studies, of non-injecting drug users, with results of both injectors and non-injectors being reported aggregately. In such cases, to maximize the number of studies included in Chapter 2

systematic review, while at the same time minimizing bias, only studies where over 50% of the sample consisted of PWID were eligible for inclusion. It is necessary that future studies restrict their samples to PWID or, alternatively, stratify results by injectors versus non-injectors. The definition of PWID also varied across studies. Some defined PWID as persons who have injected a non-therapeutic drug in the past month, others in the past two months, six months, or in the past year. These inconsistencies make comparison between studies, and synthesis of findings across studies, more difficult. It would be beneficial if UNAIDS/WHO can lead a process to harmonize risk group definitions for use of these definitions in all IBBSS.

Other suggested improvements in data collection tools and/or reporting include more precise specification of: 1) type of behaviour (such as distinguishing between receptive and distributive sharing of needles/syringes and distinguishing between sharing and reuse), 2) time frame of behaviour (such as when sharing occurred: last act, ever, last month...), 3) denominators in reported proportions (such as whether the denominator is all PWID or only those sexually active when reporting the prevalence of condom use), and 4) missing data. It would also enhance the usability of data, particularly for mathematical modelling parameterization, if some key continuous variables (such as the frequency rate of injections, the duration of injecting career, the number of sexual/injecting partners...) are reported using summary measures of continuous data (medians, means, quartiles...) instead of using categories which are usually inconsistent between studies and also not optimal for modelling studies.

Although the evidence suggests that injecting drug use in MENA is heavily concentrated among men, data on women who inject drugs are very limited. Women who inject drugs are one of the most stigmatized and hidden populations, and hence could be under-represented and underestimated in epidemiological PWID studies in MENA. A global review has identified that women comprise one third of PWID, with data suggesting higher HIV prevalence among women compared with men PWID [137]. Little is known about their risk practices, vulnerabilities, and HIV infection burden in MENA. Trying to reach and include women who inject drugs in future IBBSS in MENA is important to advocate for programs tailored for their needs [137].

The thesis work identified gaps in some key indicators for monitoring, evaluation, and modelling studies. Although mapping exercises have been recently conducted in a few countries such as Pakistan [85, 138] and Morocco [84], many countries have no or no recent national estimates on the number and proportion of PWID. The quality and methodology used to derive some of

the available PWID population size estimates are also unknown. PWID population size estimates are needed for a better estimation of HIV infection burden and for informing policy on the scale of PWID prevention and treatment services in the region. Other key indicators of importance for modelling studies and which are currently limited include the number of sharing partners per PWID (size of sharing network), number of acts of sharing per partner, frequency of coital acts within sexual partnerships (heterosexual and male same sex sex), among others.

The proposed methodology of using HCV prevalence as a predictor of future HIV spreads calls for the need to collect quality and representative HCV prevalence data among PWID. This could be done by including HCV serology in HIV IBBSS among PWID. Although cost and tight budget are one of the main considerations when implementing IBBSS in the region, the additional suggested HCV test is ultimately cost-effective, as it enables predictions of future HIV epidemic scale, and helps prioritize most-at-risk PWID populations which significantly improves the costeffectiveness of interventions [139].

Finally, there is a need in MENA to complement the bio-behavioural data with qualitative research that focuses on the social and cultural aspects that affect exposure, risk-taking, and care seeking. Mapping and ethnographic studies are needed for a better understanding of the profile and injecting/sexual networks of PWID, and to investigate the social and structural determinants of the infection in this hidden KP in this region [140]. Such evidence is central to inform policy, and to design and implement interventions that are tailored to specific settings of risk and vulnerability. Mathematical modelling studies could be implemented to estimate the impact of social policy change on curbing the spread of the emerging HIV epidemics among PWID in MENA.

6.5. MAIN SCIENTIFIC CONTRIBUTIONS OF THESIS

This thesis addressed a neglected area of research concerned with a culturally sensitive infection, HIV, in a hidden and stigmatized population, PWID, within the specific context of MENA - a region that includes about 10% of the world's population and that has several social and structural vulnerabilities for HIV. Multiple methodologies were used to answer the various research questions, including systematic review and data synthesis, statistical analysis, and different mathematical modelling approaches. The research work undergone has applied, theoretical, and policy and programming contributions listed below:

Applied epidemiology contributions

- Challenged a widely-held misperception that there are limited data on HIV in the MENA region, particularly among KPs
- Identified, analysed, and synthesised a large volume of HIV-related data among PWID in MENA, including unpublished key and novel national data - access to which was facilitated by WHO, UNAIDS and World Bank - these data appeared in the scientific literature for the first time (in Research paper 1)
- Provided the first systematic review and comprehensive characterization of the status of the HIV epidemic among PWID at the regional level
- Provided a detailed analysis and summary of HIV epidemiology among PWID at countrylevel in MENA
- Facilitates, through the large database of HIV biological and behavioural countryspecific data it compiled, the conduct and parameterization of mathematical modelling studies in the region, such as the one in Research paper 4
- Used at country-level in MENA, a mathematical model specifically designed to estimate HIV transmission among PWID, unlike HIV-related estimations in the region which typically produce estimates through mathematical models that focus on total population level dynamics
- Not only estimated HIV incidence among PWID, but also delineated and quantified the role of injecting drug use as a driver of HIV infection in the wider population, namely through history of past injection and onward transmission to sexual partners

• Qualified and quantified future HIV epidemic growth among PWID in MENA using HCV prevalence as a proxy biomarker of risk, thus complementing the behavioural data that suggest a high risk environment and hence potential for further growth

Theoretical epidemiology contributions

- Investigated and characterized the poorly-understood association and epidemiologic overlap between HCV and HIV infections among PWID, through both mathematical and epidemiological/statistical analyses
- Demonstrated a powerful concept of using data on one infection, HCV, to estimate the future size of epidemics of another infection, HIV, among PWID, hence providing theoretical foundation for an innovative approach to identify PWID populations at high risk of future HIV epidemic expansion
- Provided an independent estimate of the HCV to HIV infectiousness ratio, a key epidemiological parameter of interest in its own and also critical to the parametrization of HIV/HCV mathematical models
- Provided important insights into HIV epidemic dynamics among PWID, particularly in relation to injecting risk behaviour dynamics and how it drives the emergence of HIV PWID epidemics

Policy and programming contributions

- Provided a comprehensive characterization of the status and potential future scale of HIV epidemics among PWID, one of the pivotal risk groups for HIV transmission in MENA, thus informing HIV policy and programming nationally and regionally and providing a strategic framework for future HIV scientific and intervention efforts
- Highlighted a window of opportunity for prevention, given that the documented epidemics are recent and most often in their early phase
- Provided baseline HIV incidence data among PWID to track progress towards the global and regional targets of reducing the number of new HIV infections
- Estimated HIV infection levels among ex-PWID who are no longer injecting and HIV transmission to sexual partners of PWID/ex-PWID; two population groups that are usually missed by programs targeted at PWID but who need to be linked to care and prevention

- Provided a tool, using HCV data, for policy makers and program managers to identify PWID populations who should be prioritized for HIV/drug prevention and treatment interventions, hence improving the cost-effectiveness of interventions.
- Maximized the use of existing sources of data (HCV prevalence data) to make future predictions of HIV epidemic scale, an application particularly appealing in resourcelimited settings such as most of MENA
- Highlighted countries where the HIV epidemic among PWID is still at low-level or has just emerged, but where HIV prevalence is predicted to grow, highlighting the need to prioritize these PWID populations for prevention interventions to be ahead of the growing epidemics
- Estimated the impact of select interventions on HIV incidence among PWID and their sexual partners, thus guiding the formulation of prevention and treatment efforts in the region
- Provided a scientific basis to advocate for appropriate interventions and mobilization of resources targeted specifically to the needs of PWID (and their sexual partners) in MENA, who remain marginalized, with poor support networks, and poor access to HIV testing, prevention, and treatment services
- Provided a scientific basis to advocate for more leadership and political action to manage the HIV epidemic and increase commitment to HIV/AIDS surveillance among and beyond PWID

7. **REFERENCES**

1. UNAIDS. Global Report: UNAIDS report on the global AIDS epidemic. Found at <u>http://www.unaids.org/globalreport/documents/20101123_GlobalReport_full_en.pdf</u>, Last accessed October 2016. 2010.

2. UNAIDS. Middle East and North Africa regional report on AIDS 2011. Found at <u>http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/JC2257_UNAIDS-MENA-report-2011_en_1.pdf</u>. Last accessed October 2016. 2011.

3. UNAIDS. Prevention Gap Report. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, Geneva, Switzerland. Found at <u>http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/2016-prevention-gap-report_en.pdf</u>. Last accessed October 2016. July 2016.

4. Mumtaz G, Hilmi N, McFarland W, Kaplan RL, Akala FA, Semini I, et al. Are HIV epidemics among men who have sex with men emerging in the Middle East and North Africa?: a systematic review and data synthesis. PLoS Med. 2011;8(8):e1000444. Epub 2011/08/11. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000444

10-PLME-RA-5484R3 [pii]. PubMed PMID: 21829329; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3149074.

5. Horton R, Das P. Rescuing people with HIV who use drugs. Lancet. 2010;376(9737):207-8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61025-2. PubMed PMID: 20650525.

6. Mathers BM, Degenhardt L, Phillips B, Wiessing L, Hickman M, Strathdee SA, et al. Global epidemiology of injecting drug use and HIV among people who inject drugs: a systematic review. Lancet. 2008;372(9651):1733-45. Epub 2008/09/27. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61311-2. PubMed PMID: 18817968.

7. The reference group to the UN on HIV and Injecting Drug Use. Found at <u>https://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/project/injecting-drug-users-reference-group-reference-group-un-hiv-and-injecting-drug-use</u>, Last accessed October 2016.

8. Degenhardt L, Charlson F, Stanaway J, Larney S, Alexander LT, Hickman M, et al. Estimating the burden of disease attributable to injecting drug use as a risk factor for HIV, hepatitis C, and hepatitis B: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. The Lancet Infectious diseases. 2016. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(16)30325-5. PubMed PMID: 27665254.

9. Cainelli F. Hepatitis C virus and human immunodeficiency virus transmission routes: Differences and similarities. World journal of hepatology. 2013;5(5):234-6. doi:

10.4254/wjh.v5.i5.234. PubMed PMID: 23717734; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3664281.
10. Nelson PK, Mathers BM, Cowie B, Hagan H, Des Jarlais D, Horyniak D, et al. Global

epidemiology of hepatitis B and hepatitis C in people who inject drugs: results of systematic reviews. Lancet. 2011;378(9791):571-83. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61097-0. PubMed PMID: 21802134; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3285467.

11. Baggaley RF, Boily MC, White RG, Alary M. Risk of HIV-1 transmission for parenteral exposure and blood transfusion: a systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS. 2006;20(6):805-12. doi: 10.1097/01.aids.0000218543.46963.6d. PubMed PMID: 16549963.

12. Hofmann F, Michaelis M, Rieger MA, Hasselhorn HM, Berthold H. [Occupational medicine significance of hepatitis C in health care employees]. Gesundheitswesen. 1997;59(7):452-60. PubMed PMID: 9333386.

13. Ryoo SM, Kim WY, Kim W, Lim KS, Lee CC, Woo JH. Transmission of hepatitis C virus by occupational percutaneous injuries in South Korea. J Formos Med Assoc. 2012;111(2):113-7. doi: 10.1016/j.jfma.2011.05.005. PubMed PMID: 22370291.

14. Tomkins SE, Elford J, Nichols T, Aston J, Cliffe SJ, Roy K, et al. Occupational transmission of hepatitis C in healthcare workers and factors associated with seroconversion: UK surveillance

data. Journal of viral hepatitis. 2012;19(3):199-204. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2893.2011.01543.x. PubMed PMID: 22329374.

15. Platt L, Easterbrook P, Gower E, McDonald B, Sabin K, McGowan C, et al. Prevalence and burden of HCV co-infection in people living with HIV: a global systematic review and metaanalysis. The Lancet Infectious diseases. 2016;16(7):797-808. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00485-5. PubMed PMID: 26922272.

 Gorgos L. Sexual transmission of viral hepatitis. Infectious disease clinics of North America. 2013;27(4):811-36. doi: 10.1016/j.idc.2013.08.002. PubMed PMID: 24275272.
 Infectious disease epidemiology: theory and practice. Second edition ed. Boston, MA: Jones and Barlett publishers; 2007.

18. Degenhardt L, Mathers B, Vickerman P, Rhodes T, Latkin C, Hickman M. Prevention of HIV infection for people who inject drugs: why individual, structural, and combination approaches are needed. Lancet. 2010;376(9737):285-301. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60742-8. PubMed PMID: 20650522.

19. Low AJ, Mburu G, Welton NJ, May MT, Davies CF, French C, et al. Impact of Opioid Substitution Therapy on Antiretroviral Therapy Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;63(8):1094-104. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciw416. PubMed PMID: 27343545; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5036913.

20. Aspinall EJ, Nambiar D, Goldberg DJ, Hickman M, Weir A, Van Velzen E, et al. Are needle and syringe programmes associated with a reduction in HIV transmission among people who inject drugs: a systematic review and meta-analysis. International journal of epidemiology. 2014;43(1):235-48. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyt243. PubMed PMID: 24374889.

21. MacArthur GJ, Minozzi S, Martin N, Vickerman P, Deren S, Bruneau J, et al. Opiate substitution treatment and HIV transmission in people who inject drugs: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2012;345:e5945. doi: 10.1136/bmj.e5945. PubMed PMID: 23038795; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3489107.

22. Wood E, Kerr T, Marshall BD, Li K, Zhang R, Hogg RS, et al. Longitudinal community plasma HIV-1 RNA concentrations and incidence of HIV-1 among injecting drug users: prospective cohort study. BMJ. 2009;338:b1649. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b1649. PubMed PMID: 19406887; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2675696.

23. Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, Gamble T, Hosseinipour MC, Kumarasamy N, et al. Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. The New England journal of medicine. 2011;365(6):493-505. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1105243. PubMed PMID: 21767103; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3200068.

24. Anglemyer A, Horvath T, Rutherford G. Antiretroviral therapy for prevention of HIV transmission in HIV-discordant couples. JAMA. 2013;310(15):1619-20. doi:

10.1001/jama.2013.278328. PubMed PMID: 24129466.

25. Rodger AJ, Cambiano V, Bruun T, Vernazza P, Collins S, van Lunzen J, et al. Sexual Activity Without Condoms and Risk of HIV Transmission in Serodifferent Couples When the HIV-Positive Partner Is Using Suppressive Antiretroviral Therapy. JAMA. 2016;316(2):171-81. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.5148. PubMed PMID: 27404185.

26. Vickerman P, Martin NK, Roy A, Beattie T, Jarlais DD, Strathdee S, et al. Is the HCV-HIV co-infection prevalence amongst injecting drug users a marker for the level of sexual and injection related HIV transmission? Drug and alcohol dependence. 2013;132(1-2):172-81. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013.01.020. PubMed PMID: 23453261.

27. Kral AH, Bluthenthal RN, Lorvick J, Gee L, Bacchetti P, Edlin BR. Sexual transmission of HIV-1 among injection drug users in San Francisco, USA: risk-factor analysis. Lancet. 2001;357(9266):1397-401. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04562-1. PubMed PMID: 11356437.

Beyrer C, Malinowska-Sempruch K, Kamarulzaman A, Kazatchkine M, Sidibe M,
 Strathdee SA. Time to act: a call for comprehensive responses to HIV in people who use drugs.

Lancet. 2010;376(9740):551-63. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60928-2. PubMed PMID: 20650515; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3682471.

29. Vickerman P, Platt L, Jolley E, Rhodes T, Kazatchkine MD, Latypov A. Controlling HIV among people who inject drugs in Eastern Europe and Central Asia: insights from modeling. Int J Drug Policy. 2014;25(6):1163-73. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2014.09.013. PubMed PMID: 25449056.

30. Choopanya K, Martin M, Suntharasamai P, Sangkum U, Mock PA, Leethochawalit M, et al. Antiretroviral prophylaxis for HIV infection in injecting drug users in Bangkok, Thailand (the Bangkok Tenofovir Study): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2013;381(9883):2083-90. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61127-7. PubMed PMID: 23769234.

31. World Health Organization. Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations. Geneva, Switzerland. Found at

http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/128048/1/9789241507431_eng.pdf?ua=1&ua=1. Last accessed October 2016. 2014.

32. Gillies M, Palmateer N, Hutchinson S, Ahmed S, Taylor A, Goldberg D. The provision of non-needle/syringe drug injecting paraphernalia in the primary prevention of HCV among IDU: a systematic review. BMC public health. 2010;10:721. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-10-721. PubMed PMID: 21092300; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3001732.

33. Vickerman P, Martin N, Turner K, Hickman M. Can needle and syringe programmes and opiate substitution therapy achieve substantial reductions in hepatitis C virus prevalence? Model projections for different epidemic settings. Addiction. 2012;107(11):1984-95. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2012.03932.x. PubMed PMID: WOS:000309596900016.

34. Turner KME, Hutchinson S, Vickerman P, Hope V, Craine N, Palmateer N, et al. The impact of needle and syringe provision and opiate substitution therapy on the incidence of hepatitis C virus in injecting drug users: pooling of UK evidence. Addiction. 2011;106(11):1978-88. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03515.x. PubMed PMID: WOS:000296046000019.

35. Martin NK, Hickman M, Hutchinson SJ, Goldberg DJ, Vickerman P. Combination Interventions to Prevent HCV Transmission Among People Who Inject Drugs: Modeling the Impact of Antiviral Treatment, Needle and Syringe Programs, and Opiate Substitution Therapy. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2013;57:S39-S45. doi: 10.1093/cid/cit296. PubMed PMID: WOS:000322378900003.

36. Martin NK, Vickerman P, Grebely J, Hellard M, Hutchinson SJ, Lima VD, et al. Hepatitis C Virus Treatment for Prevention Among People Who Inject Drugs: Modeling Treatment Scale-Up in the Age of Direct-Acting Antivirals. Hepatology (Baltimore, Md). 2013;58(5):1598-609. doi: 10.1002/hep.26431. PubMed PMID: WOS:000326327600011.

Harm Reduction International. The Global State of Harm Reduction 2014. Found at http://www.ihra.net/files/2015/02/16/GSHR2014.pdf, Last accessed October 2016. 2014.
 Shaar AN, Larenas J. Social Determinants of Health. Palestine Country Paper. World

Health Organization. 2005.

39. UNAIDS RST MENA. Notes on AIDS in the Middle East and North Africa. Cairo, Egypt.2008.

40. Roudi-Fahimi F, Ashford L. Sexual & Reproductive Health in the Middle East and North Africa. Population Reference Bureau. A Guide for Reporters. 2008.

41. United Nations Population Division. World Population Prospects: the 2015 Revision Population Database. Found at <u>http://esa.un.org/unpd/wpp/</u>, Last accessed June 2016.

42. UNHCR The UN Refugee Agency. Global trends - Forced displacement in 2015, Geneva, Switzerland. Found at <u>http://www.unhcr.org/576408cd7.pdf</u>. Last accessed October 2016 2015.
43. Jaber H, Métral F, Doraï M. Migration in the Arab Middle East: policies, networks and communities in the context of globalisation. Research Programme, CERMOC, Beirut/Amman, Konrad Adenauer Foundation. 2000;9.

44. Al-Fouzan A, Al-Mutairi N. Overview of incidence of sexually transmitted diseases in Kuwait. Clin Dermatol. 2004;22(6):509-12. PubMed PMID: 15596322.

45. Madani TA. Sexually transmitted infections in Saudi Arabia. BMC infectious diseases. 2006;6:3. PubMed PMID: 16403220.

46. UNAIDS RST MENA. Notes on AIDS in the Middle East and North Africa. 2008.

47. UNODC. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2011). World Drug Report. Found at <u>http://www.unodc.org/documents/data-and-</u>

<u>analysis/WDR2011/World_Drug_Report_2011_ebook.pdf</u>, Last accessed October 2016. 2011.
48. UNODC. Drug trafficking in Central Asia. Available at

http://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/drug-trafficking/central-asia.html. Last accessed October 2016.

49. UNODC. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2016). World Drug Report. Found at <u>http://www.unodc.org/doc/wdr2016/WORLD_DRUG_REPORT_2016_web.pdf</u>, Last accessed September 2016. 2016.

50. Beyrer C, Wirtz AL, Baral S, Peryskina A, Sifakis F. Epidemiologic links between drug use and HIV epidemics: an international perspective. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2010;55 Suppl 1:S10-6. Epub 2010/11/10. doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e3181f9c0c9. PubMed PMID: 21045593.

51. Rashad H. Demographic Transition in Arab Countries: A New Perspective. Journal of Population Research. 2000;17(1):83-101.

52. Busulwa R. HIV/AIDS Situation Analysis study, conducted in Hodeidah, Taiz and Hadhramut, Republic of Yemen. The Detailed Report of the Findings. 2003.

53. Aghajanian A. Family and family change in Iran: Fayetteville State University, Fayetteville; 2001.

54. Mohammad K, Farahani FK, Mohammadi MR, Alikhani S, Zare M, Tehrani FR, et al. Sexual risk-taking behaviors among boys aged 15-18 years in Tehran. J Adolesc Health. 2007;41(4):407-14. PubMed PMID: 17875467.

55. Bohannon J. Science in Libya. From pariah to science powerhouse? Science. 2005;308(5719):182-4. PubMed PMID: 15821056.

56. Obermeyer CM. HIV in the Middle East. BMJ. 2006;333(7573):851-4. Epub 2006/10/21. doi: 333/7573/851 [pii]

10.1136/bmj.38994.400370.7C. PubMed PMID: 17053246.

57. Khawaja ZA, Gibney L, Ahmed AJ, Vermund SH. HIV/AIDS and its risk factors in Pakistan. Aids. 1997;11(7):843-8. PubMed PMID: 9189208.

58. Hasnain M. Cultural approach to HIV/AIDS harm reduction in Muslim countries. Harm Reduct J. 2005;2:23. Epub 2005/10/29. doi: 1477-7517-2-23 [pii]

10.1186/1477-7517-2-23. PubMed PMID: 16253145.

59. Kelley L, Eberstadt N. Behind the veil of a public health crisis: HIV/AIDS in the Muslim world. NBR Special Report. 2005.

60. Kelley LM, Eberstadt N. The Muslim face of AIDS. Foreign Policy. 2005;149:42-8.

61. El Feki S. Middle-Eastern AIDS efforts are starting to tackle taboos. Lancet.

2006;367(9515):975-6. PubMed PMID: 16568557.

62. UNAIDS. Global AIDS Update 2016. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, Geneva, Switzerland. Found at <u>http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/global-AIDS-update-2016_en.pdf</u>. Last accessed October 2016. 2016.

63. Abu-Raddad L, Akala FA, Semini I, Riedner G, Wilson D, Tawil O. Characterizing the HIV/AIDS epidemic in the Middle East and North Africa: Time for Strategic Action. Middle East and North Africa HIV/AIDS Epidemiology Synthesis Project. World Bank/UNAIDS/WHO Publication. Found at <u>http://www-</u>

wds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2010/06/04/000333038_20

<u>100604011533/Rendered/PDF/548890PUB0EPI11C10Dislosed061312010.pdf</u>, Last accessed October 2016. Washington DC: The World Bank Press; 2010.

64. Abu-Raddad LJ, Hilmi N, Mumtaz G, Benkirane M, Akala FA, Riedner G, et al.

Epidemiology of HIV infection in the Middle East and North Africa. AIDS. 2010;24 Suppl 2:S5-23. Epub 2010/07/17. doi: 10.1097/01.aids.0000386729.56683.33

00002030-201007002-00002 [pii]. PubMed PMID: 20610949.

65. UNAIDS. Fast-Track commitments to end AIDS by 2030. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, Geneva, Switzerland. Found at

http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/fast-track-commitments_en.pdf. Last accessed October 2016. July 2016.

66. UNAIDS/WHO working group on global HIV/AIDS and STI surveillance. Guidelines for second generation HIV surveillance: an update: know your epidemic. WHO Press, Geneva, Switzerland. Found at

http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/85511/1/9789241505826_eng.pdf, Last accessed October 2016. 2011.

67. Abu-Raddad LJ. A model for HIV infectious spread in an IDU population in the Middle East and North Africa. Ongoing modeling work. 2016.

68. UNAIDS/WHO working group on global HIV/AIDS and STI surveillance. Guidelines on surveillance among populations most at risk for HIV. WHO Press, Geneva, Switzerland. Found at http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/epidemiology/2011/20110 518 Surveillance among most at risk.pdf, Last accessed October 2016. 2011.

69. Wilson D, Halperin DT. "Know your epidemic, know your response": a useful approach, if we get it right. Lancet. 2008;372(9637):423-6. Epub 2008/08/09. doi: S0140-6736(08)60883-1 [pii]

10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60883-1. PubMed PMID: 18687462.

70. Bokhari A, Nizamani NM, Jackson DJ, Rehan NE, Rahman M, Muzaffar R, et al. HIV risk in Karachi and Lahore, Pakistan: an emerging epidemic in injecting and commercial sex networks. Int J STD AIDS. 2007;18(7):486-92. PubMed PMID: 17623508.

71. Family Health International and Ministry of Health Egypt. HIV/AIDS Biological & Behavioral Surveillance Survey: Round One Summary Report, Cairo, Egypt 2006. FHI in collaboration with the Ministry of Health and support from USAID – IMPACT project. Found at http://www.fhi360.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/EgyptBioBSSsummaryreport2006. pdf, Last accessed October 2016. 2006.

72. Soliman C, Rahman IA, Shawky S, Bahaa T, Elkamhawi S, El Sattar AA, et al. HIV prevalence and risk behaviors of male injection drug users in Cairo, Egypt. AIDS. 2010;24 Suppl 2:S33-8. Epub 2010/07/17. doi: 10.1097/01.aids.0000386731.94800.e6

00002030-201007002-00004 [pii]. PubMed PMID: 20610946.

73. Family Health International and Ministry of Health Egypt. HIV/AIDS Biological & Behavioral Surveillance Survey: Round Two Summary Report, Cairo, Egypt 2010. FHI in collaboration with the Ministry of Health and support from the Global Fund. Found at http://www.fhi360.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/BBSS%202010_0.pdf, Last accessed October 2016. 2010.

74. Morris M. Sexual networks and HIV. Aids. 1997;11:S209-S16. PubMed PMID: ISI:A1997YJ01200028.

75. Kretzschmar M, Morris M. Measures of concurrency in networks and the spread of infectious disease. Mathematical Biosciences. 1996;133(2):165-95. PubMed PMID: ISI:A1996UD81200003.

76. Farjadian S, Asadi E, Doroudchi M, Dehaghani AS, Tabei SZ, Kumar VP, et al. High risk HPV types in southern Iranian patients with cervical cancer. Pathol Oncol Res. 2003;9(2):121-5. PubMed PMID: 12858218.

77. Watts CH, May RM. The influence of concurrent partnerships on the dynamics of HIV/AIDS. Math Biosci. 1992;108(1):89-104. PubMed PMID: 1551000.

78. World Health Organization Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. From HIV testing to lifelong care and treatment - Access to the continuum of HIV care and treatment in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. Progress report 2014. Found at

http://applications.emro.who.int/dsaf/EMROPUB_2016_EN_18914.pdf. Last accessed September 2016.

79. Eastern Mediterranean Region Office of the World Health Organization. Updated data on the size of the people who inject drug population in the Eastern Mediteranean Region. Cairo, Egypt. 2016.

80. Aceijas C, Friedman SR, Cooper HL, Wiessing L, Stimson GV, Hickman M. Estimates of injecting drug users at the national and local level in developing and transitional countries, and gender and age distribution. Sex Transm Infect. 2006;82 Suppl 3:iii10-7. Epub 2006/06/01. doi: 82/suppl_3/iii10 [pii]

10.1136/sti.2005.019471. PubMed PMID: 16735287.

81. Afghanistan Ministry of Public Health, Director General of Preventive Medicine and Primary Health Care, Communicable Disease Directorate (CDC). Islamic Republic of Afghanistan. Country Report on UNGASS Declaration of Commitment. 2012.

82. UNODC. Afghanistan Drug Use Survey 2009: Executive Summary Kabul, Afghanistan: UNODC Afghanistan Office. 2010.

83. World Health Organization - Eastern Mediterranean Region. HIV Surveillance Systems: Regional Update 2012, Cairo, Egypt. 2013.

84. Kingdom of Morocco National Aids Control Program. Mapping and risk group size estimations for populations most at risk of HIV infection in Morocco. 2013.

85. Emmanuel F, Blanchard J, Zaheer HA, Reza T, Holte-McKenzie M, team H. The HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project mapping approach: an innovative approach for mapping and size estimation for groups at a higher risk of HIV in Pakistan. AIDS. 2010;24 Suppl 2:S77-84. Epub 2010/07/17. doi: 10.1097/01.aids.0000386737.25296.c4

00002030-201007002-00010 [pii]. PubMed PMID: 20610953.

86. Saba HF, Kouyoumjian SP, Mumtaz GR, Abu-Raddad LJ. Characterising the progress in HIV/AIDS research in the Middle East and North Africa. Sex Transm Infect. 2013;89 Suppl 3:iii5-9. Epub 2013/04/19. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2012-050888. PubMed PMID: 23596206.

87. Mumtaz GR, Weiss HA, Thomas SL, Riome S, Setayesh H, Riedner G, et al. HIV among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa: Systematic review and data synthesis. PLoS Med. 2014;11(6):e1001663. Epub 2014/06/18. doi:

10.1371/journal.pmed.1001663. PubMed PMID: 24937136; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4061009.

88. Iran Ministry of Public Health. HIV bio-behavioral surveillance survey among injecting drug users in the Islamic Repubic of Iran. Final report [Persian], Tehran, Iran. 2010.

89. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program. HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round IV. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at

http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-

%20National%20report%20Round%20IV%202011.pdf, Last accessed October 2016. 2011.

90. Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program. Integrated Behavioral & Biological Surveillance (IBBS) in selected cities of Afghanistan: Findings of 2012 IBBS survey and comparison to 2009 IBBS survey. Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health. Kabul, Afghanistan. 2012.

91. Morocco Ministry of Health, National Aids Control Program, National Institute of Hygiene, UNAIDS, Global Fund to Fight AIDS Tuberculosis and Malaria. HIV Integrated Behavioral and Biological Surveillance Surveys-Morocco 2011-2012: Injecting Drug Users in Tanger and Nador, Morocco. Rabat, Morocco. 2012.

92. Morocco Ministry of Health. Enquêtes intégrées de surveillance bio-comportementale auprès des Usagers de Drogues Injectables à Tétouan [French]. Integrated biobehavioral surveillance among people who inject drugs in Tetouan. Rabat, Morocco. 2014.

93. Mirzoyan L, Berendes S, Jeffery C, Thomson J, Ben Othman H, Danon L, et al. New evidence on the HIV epidemic in Libya: why countries must implement prevention programs among people who inject drugs. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013;62(5):577-83. Epub 2013/01/23. doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e318284714a. PubMed PMID: 23337363.

94. Jordan National AIDS Program. Preliminary analysis of Jordan IBBSS among injecting drug users. Ministry of Health, Amman, Jordan. 2010.

95. Mahfoud Z, Afifi R, Ramia S, El Khoury D, Kassak K, El Barbir F, et al. HIV/AIDS among female sex workers, injecting drug users and men who have sex with men in Lebanon: results of the first biobehavioral surveys. AIDS. 2010;24 Suppl 2:S45-54. Epub 2010/07/17. doi: 10.1097/01.aids.0000386733.02425.98

00002030-201007002-00006 [pii]. PubMed PMID: 20610948.

96. Palestine Ministry of Health. Bio-behavioral HIV survey among injecting drug users in the West bank, 2013. 2014.

97. Tunisia Ministry of Health, Tunisian Association for Information and Orientation on HIV. Enquête sérocomportementale du VIH et des hépatites virales C auprès des usagers de drogues injectables en Tunisie [French]. Biobehavioral surveillance of HIV and Hepatitis C among injecting drug users in Tunisia. Tunis, Tunisia. 2013.

98. Iran Ministry of Health and Medical Education, Kyoto University School of Public Hleath (Japan). Integrated bio-behavioral surveillance for HIV infection among injecting drug users in Iran. Draft of the 1st analysis on the collected data, Tehran, Iran. 2008.

99. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program. HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round I. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at

http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-

%20Round%201%20Report%20-%202005.pdf, Last accessed October 2016. 2005.

100. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program. HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round II. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at

http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-

%20Round%202%20Report%202006-07.pdf. Last accessed October 2016. 2006-07.

101. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program. HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round III. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at

http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20ProjectHASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-%20National%20report%20Round%20III%202008.pdf, Last accessed October 2016. 2008.

102. Morocco Ministry of Health. Situation épidémiologique du VIH/Sida et des IST au Maroc [French]. Epidemiological assessment of HIV/AIDS and STIs in Morocco. Rabat, Morocco. February 2010.

103. Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program. Integrated Behavioral & Biological Surveillance (IBBS) in Afghanistan: Year 1 Report. HIV Surveillance Project - Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health. Kabul, Afghanistan. 2010.

104. Todd CS, Abed AMS, Strathdee SA, Scott PT, Botros BA, Safi N, et al. HIV, hepatitis C, and hepatitis B infections and associated risk behavior in injection drug users, Kabul,

Afghanistan. Emerging Infectious Diseases. 2007;13(9):1327-31. PubMed PMID: 2007482463. 105. Nasir A, Todd CS, Stanekzai MR, Bautista CT, Botros BA, Scott PT, et al. Prevalence of HIV, hepatitis B and hepatitis C and associated risk behaviours amongst injecting drug users in three Afghan cities. Int J Drug Policy. 2011;22(2):145-52. Epub 2010/12/15. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2010.10.006. PubMed PMID: 21146392.

106. Todd CS, Nasir A, Stanekzai MR, Fiekert K, Rasuli MZ, Vlahov D, et al. Prevalence and correlates of HIV, syphilis, and hepatitis B and C infection and harm reduction program use among male injecting drug users in Kabul, Afghanistan: A cross-sectional assessment. Harm Reduct J. 2011;8:22. Epub 2011/08/27. doi: 10.1186/1477-7517-8-22. PubMed PMID: 21867518; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3180253.

107. Mumtaz G, Hilmi N, Akala FA, Semini I, Riedner G, Wilson D, et al. HIV-1 molecular epidemiology evidence and transmission patterns in the Middle East and North Africa. Sex Transm Infect. 2011;87(2):101-6. Epub 2010/11/03. doi: sti.2010.043711 [pii]

10.1136/sti.2010.043711. PubMed PMID: 21036790.

108. Sanders-Buell E, Saad MD, Abed AM, Bose M, Todd CS, Strathdee SA, et al. A nascent HIV type 1 epidemic among injecting drug users in Kabul, Afghanistan is dominated by complex AD recombinant strain, CRF35_AD. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 2007;23(6):834-9. PubMed PMID: 17604548.

109. Soheilli ZS, Ataiee Z, Tootian S, Zadsar M, Amini S, Abadi K, et al. Presence of HIV-1 CRF35_AD in Iran. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 2009;25(1):123-4. Epub 2009/02/03. doi: 10.1089/aid.2008.0199

10.1089/aid.2008.0199 [pii]. PubMed PMID: 19182925.

110. Heijnen M, Mumtaz GR, Abu-Raddad LJ. Status of HIV and hepatitis C virus infections among prisoners in the Middle East and North Africa: review and synthesis. Journal of the International AIDS Society. 2016;19(1):20873. doi: 10.7448/IAS.19.1.20873. PubMed PMID: 27237131; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4884676.

111. Haghdoost A-A, Mirzazadeh A, Shokoohi M, Sedaghat A, Gouya MM. HIV trend among Iranian prisoners in 1990s and 2000s; analysis of aggregated data from HIV sentinel serosurveys. Harm Reduct J 2013;10:32-. doi: 10.1186/1477-7517-10-32. PubMed PMID: PMC3842738.

112. Rahbar AR, Rooholamini S, Khoshnood K. Prevalence of HIV infection and other bloodborne infections in incarcerated and non-incarcerated injection drug users (IDUs) in Mashhad, Iran. International Journal of Drug Policy. 2004;15(2):151-5.

113. Behnaz K, Abdollah A, Fateme F, Mohammadreza R. Prevalence and risk factors of HIV, hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infections in drug addicts among Gorgan prisoners. Journal of Medical Sciences. 2007;7(2):252-4. PubMed PMID: 2007135733.

114. Mir-Nasseri MM, Mohammadkhani A, Tavakkoli H, Ansari E, Poustchi H. Incarceration is a major risk factor for blood-borne infection among intravenous drug users. Hepatitis Monthly. 2011;11(1):19-22. PubMed PMID: 2011279928.

115. Davoodian P, Dadvand H, Mahoori K, Amoozandeh A, Salavati A. Prevalence of selected sexually and blood-borne infections in Injecting drug abuser inmates of bandar abbas and roodan correction facilities, Iran, 2002. Braz J Infect Dis. 2009;13(5):356-8. Epub 2010/04/30. doi: S1413-86702009000500008 [pii]

10.1590/S1413-86702009000500008. PubMed PMID: 20428635.

116. Shah SA, Altaf A, Mujeeb SA, Memon A. An outbreak of HIV infection among injection drug users in a small town in Pakistan: potential for national implications. Int J STD AIDS. 2004;15(3):209. PubMed PMID: 15038874.

117. Dolan K, Kite B, Black E, Aceijas C, Stimson GV. HIV in prison in low-income and middleincome countries. The Lancet Infectious diseases. 2007;7(1):32-41. Epub 2006/12/22. doi: \$1473-3099(06)70685-5 [pii]

10.1016/S1473-3099(06)70685-5. PubMed PMID: 17182342.

118. Farhoudi B, Montevalian A, Motamedi M, Khameneh MM, Mohraz M, Rassolinejad M, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus and HIV - associated tuberculosis infection and their risk factors in injecting drug users in prison in Iran. Iran Ministry of Health, Tehran, Iran. 2003. 119. Jahani MR, Kheirandish P, Hosseini M, Shirzad H, Seyedalinaghi SA, Karami N, et al. HIV seroconversion among injection drug users in detention, Tehran, Iran. AIDS. 2009;23(4):538-40.

Epub 2009/02/03. doi: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e3283269e3c. PubMed PMID: 19182678. 120. Nassirimanesh B, Trace M, Roberts M. The rise of harm reduction in the Islamic

Republic of Iran. Briefing Paper Eight, for the Beckley Foundation, Drug Policy Program. 2005. 121. Dolan KA, Wodak A. HIV transmission in a prison system in an Australian State. Med J

Aust. 1999;171(1):14-7. Epub 1999/08/19. PubMed PMID: 10451665.

Bobrik A, Danishevski K, Eroshina K, McKee M. Prison health in Russia: the larger picture. J Public Health Policy. 2005;26(1):30-59. Epub 2005/05/24. PubMed PMID: 15906874.
Taylor A, Goldberg D, Emslie J, Wrench J, Gruer L, Cameron S, et al. Outbreak of HIV

infection in a Scottish prison. BMJ. 1995;310(6975):289-92. Epub 1995/02/04. PubMed PMID: 7866169.

124. Altaf A, Shah SA, Zaidi NA, Memon A, Nadeem ur R, Wray N. High risk behaviors of injection drug users registered with harm reduction programme in Karachi, Pakistan. Harm Reduct J. 2007;4:7. PubMed PMID: 17291354.

125. Altaf A, Shah SA, A. M. Follow up study to assess and evaluate knowledge, attitude and high risk behaviors and prevalence of HIV, HBV, HCV and Syphilis among IDUS at Burns Road DIC, Karachi. External report submitted to UNODC. 2003.

126. Mumtaz GR, Kouyoumjian SP, Hilmi N, Zidouh A, El Rhilani H, Alami K, et al. The distribution of new HIV infections by mode of exposure in Morocco. Sex Transm Infect. 2013;89 Suppl 3:iii49-56. Epub 2013/02/16. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2012-050844. PubMed PMID: 23413401; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3841748.

127. Gouws E, Cuchi P, on behalf of the International Collaboration on Estimating HIV Incidence by Modes of Transmission (inlcluding Laith J. Abu-Raddad and Ghina R. Mumtaz). Focusing the HIV response through estimating the major modes of HIV transmission: a multicountry analysis. Sex Transm Infect. 2012;88(Suppl 2):i76-i85. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2012-050719.

128. Hawkes S, Zaheer HA, Tawil O, O'Dwyer M, Buse K. Managing research evidence to inform action: influencing HIV policy to protect marginalised populations in Pakistan. Glob Public Health. 2012;7(5):482-94. doi: 10.1080/17441692.2012.663778. PubMed PMID: 22385331.

129. Kamarulzaman A. Fighting the HIV epidemic in the Islamic world. Lancet.

2013;381(9883):2058-60. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61033-8. PubMed PMID: 23769216.
130. Narayanan S, Vicknasingam B, Robson NM. The transition to harm reduction: understanding the role of non-governmental organisations in Malaysia. Int J Drug Policy.
2011;22(4):311-7. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2011.01.002. PubMed PMID: 21300533.

131. Harm Reduction International. The Global State of Harm Reduction 2012: Towards an Integrated Response. Found at

http://www.ihra.net/files/2012/07/24/GlobalState2012 Web.pdf, Last accessed October 2016. 2012.

132. Asfhar P, Kasrace F. HIV prevention experiences and programs in Iranian Prisons [MoPC0057]. Presented at: Seventh International Congress on AIDS in Asia and the Pacific. Kobe. 2005.

133. Aaraj E, Jreij Abou Chrouch M. Drug policy and harm reduction in the Middle East and North Africa: The role of civil society. Int J Drug Policy. 2016;31:168-71. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2016.03.002. PubMed PMID: 27140430.

134. Tawilah J, Ball A. WHO/EMRO & WHO/HQ Mission to Libyan Arab Jamahiriya to Undertake an Initial Assessment of the HIV/AIDS and STI Situation and National AIDS Programme. Tripoli. 15-19 June. 2003.

135. UNAIDS. 90-90-90 An ambitious treatment target to help the AIDS epidemic. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, Geneva, Switzerland. 2014.

136. Wolfe D, Carrieri MP, Shepard D. Treatment and care for injecting drug users with HIV infection: a review of barriers and ways forward. Lancet. 2010;376(9738):355-66. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60832-X. PubMed PMID: 20650513.

137. Larney S, Mathers BM, Poteat T, Kamarulzaman A, Degenhardt L. Global Epidemiology of HIV Among Women and Girls Who Use or Inject Drugs: Current Knowledge and Limitations of Existing Data. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2015;69 Suppl 1:S100-9. doi:

10.1097/QAI.000000000000623. PubMed PMID: 25978476.

138. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program. HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan: Mapping of key populations at risk of HIV infection. National Report Round IV. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at

http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-

%20Mapping%20Report%20Round%204%202011.pdf, Last accessed October 2016. 2011.

139. Anderson SJ, Cherutich P, Kilonzo N, Cremin I, Fecht D, Kimanga D, et al. Maximising the effect of combination HIV prevention through prioritisation of the people and places in greatest need: a modelling study. Lancet. 2014;384(9939):249-56. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61053-9. PubMed PMID: 25042235.

140. Alkaiyat A, Weiss MG. HIV in the Middle East and North Africa: priority, culture, and control. International journal of public health. 2013;58(6):927-37. doi: 10.1007/s00038-013-0485-y. PubMed PMID: 23824483.

8. APPENDICES

8.1. APPENDIX A – RESEARCH PAPER 1 SUPPLEMENTARY ONLINE MATERIAL

Outline

- Text S1. PRISMA checklist
- Text S2. Search criteria
- Text S3. Narrative justification for quality of the evidence and status of the epidemic at the country level
- Table S1.Precision and risk of bias of individual HIV prevalence measures among peoplewho inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa as extracted from eligiblereports
- Table S2.Summary of precision and risk of bias of HIV prevalence measures as extractedfrom eligible reports
- Table S3.Subnational estimates of the number and prevalence of people who inject drugsin the Middle East and North Africa
- Table S4.HIV point-prevalence measures among people who inject drugs as extracted
from various databases including the US Census Bureau database, the
WHO/EMRO testing database, the UNAIDS epidemiological fact sheets
databases, and other sources of data with unidentified reports
- Table S5.Measures of injecting risk behaviour among people who inject drugs in theMiddle East and North Africa
- Table S6.Measures of sexual risk behaviour and sexually transmitted infectionsprevalence among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa
- Table S7.HIV/AIDS knowledge, perception of risk, and HIV testing among people whoinject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa

Text S1 PRISMA Checklist

Section/topic	#	Checklist item	Subsection (paragraph number)
TITLE			
Title	1	Identify the report as a systematic review, meta-analysis, or both.	All
ABSTRACT	-		
Structured summary	2	Provide a structured summary including, as applicable: background; objectives; data sources; study eligibility criteria,	All
		participants, and interventions; study appraisal and synthesis methods; results; limitations; conclusions and	
	<u> </u>	implications of key findings; systematic review registration number.	
INTRODUCTION	-		
Rationale	3	Describe the rationale for the review in the context of what is already known.	(1-4)
Objectives	4	Provide an explicit statement of questions being addressed with reference to participants, interventions, comparisons, outcomes, and study design (PICOS).	(5)
METHODS			
Protocol and	5	Indicate if a review protocol exists, if and where it can be accessed (e.g., Web address), and, if available, provide	NA
registration		registration information including registration number.	
Eligibility criteria	6	Specify study characteristics (e.g., PICOS, length of follow-up) and report characteristics (e.g., years considered,	Study selection (1-3)
		language, publication status) used as criteria for eligibility, giving rationale.	
Information sources	7	Describe all information sources (e.g., databases with dates of coverage, contact with study authors to identify	Data sources and search strategy (1-
		additional studies) in the search and date last searched.	3)
Search	8	Present full electronic search strategy for at least one database, including any limits used, such that it could be	Text S2
		repeated.	
Study selection	9	State the process for selecting studies (i.e., screening, eligibility, included in systematic review, and, if applicable,	Study selection (1-3)
		included in the meta-analysis).	
Data collection	10	Describe method of data extraction from reports (e.g., piloted forms, independently, in duplicate) and any processes	Data extraction (1-2)
process		for obtaining and confirming data from investigators.	
Data items	11	List and define all variables for which data were sought (e.g., PICOS, funding sources) and any assumptions and	Study selection (1)
	10	simplifications made.	
Risk of blas in	12	Describe methods used for assessing risk of bias of individual studies (including specification of whether this was done	Scope and quality of the evidence (1-
Individual studies	10	at the study of outcome level), and now this information is to be used in any data synthesis.	2)
Summary measures	13	State the principal summary measures (e.g., risk ratio, difference in means).	NA
Synthesis of results	14	Describe the methods of handling data and combining results of studies, if done, including measures of consistency	Analysis (1-4)
		(e.g., I ²) for each meta-analysis.	
Risk of bias across	15	Specify any assessment of risk of bias that may affect the cumulative evidence (e.g., publication bias, selective reporting	Scope and quality of the evidence (1,
studies		within studies).	4)

Section/topic	#	Checklist item	Subsection (paragraph number)
Additional analyses	16	Describe methods of additional analyses (e.g., sensitivity or subgroup analyses, meta-regression), if done, indicating which were pre-specified.	NA
RESULTS			
Study selection	17	Give numbers of studies screened, assessed for eligibility, and included in the review, with reasons for exclusions at each stage, ideally with a flow diagram.	Results of search strategy (1), Figure 2
Study characteristics	18	For each study, present characteristics for which data were extracted (e.g., study size, PICOS, follow-up period) and provide the citations.	Table 3
Risk of bias within studies	19	Present data on risk of bias of each study and, if available, any outcome-level assessment (see Item 12).	Scope and quality of the evidence (2), Table S1 and S2
Results of individual studies	20	For all outcomes considered (benefits or harms), present, for each study: (a) simple summary data for each intervention group and (b) effect estimates and confidence intervals, ideally with a forest plot.	Tables 1-6, Tables S1-7
Synthesis of results	21	Present results of each meta-analysis done, including confidence intervals and measures of consistency.	NA
Risk of bias across studies	22	Present results of any assessment of risk of bias across studies (see Item 15).	Scope and quality of the evidence (1, 3-4)
Additional analysis	23	Give results of additional analyses, if done (e.g., sensitivity or subgroup analyses, meta-regression [see Item 16]).	NA
DISCUSSION			
Summary of evidence	24	Summarize the main findings including the strength of evidence for each main outcome; consider their relevance to key groups (e.g., health care providers, users, and policy makers).	Injecting drug use in MENA (1), Emerging HIV epidemics and HIV epidemic potential among PWID (1- 3), Bridging of the HIV epidemic to other population groups (1-2)
Limitations	25	Discuss limitations at study and outcome level (e.g., risk of bias), and at review level (e.g., incomplete retrieval of identified research, reporting bias).	Study limitations (1-2)
Conclusions	26	Provide a general interpretation of the results in the context of other evidence, and implications for future research.	Conclusion (1-4)
FUNDING			
Funding	27	Describe sources of funding for the systematic review and other support (e.g., supply of data); role of funders for the systematic review.	52

Text S2 Search criteria

The following criteria were used to search the different data sources.

Pubmed

("Drug Users" [Mesh] OR "Substance Abuse, Intravenous" [Mesh] OR "Needle Sharing" [Mesh] OR "Heroin Dependence" [Mesh] OR Drug use* [Text] OR Drug-use* [Text] OR Substance abuse*[Text] OR Drug abuse*[Text] OR Drug-abuse*[Text] OR Injecting-drug use*[Text] OR Intravenous-drug use*[Text] OR Injection-drug use*[Text] OR IDU*[Text] OR IVDU*[Text] OR Drug addict*[Text] OR Drug dependen*[Text]) AND ("Middle East"[Mesh] OR "Islam"[Mesh] OR "Arabs"[Mesh] OR "Arab World"[Mesh] OR "Africa, Northern"[Mesh] OR "Sudan"[Mesh] OR "Somalia" [Mesh] OR "Djibouti" [Mesh] OR "Pakistan" [Mesh] OR "Middle East" [Text] OR "Middle-East"[Text] OR "North Africa"[Text] OR "North-Africa"[Text] OR "EMRO"[Text] OR "Eastern Mediterranean"[Text] OR "Arab"[Text] OR "Arabs"[Text] OR "Arab World"[Text] OR "Islam"[Text] OR "Afghanistan"[Text] OR "Algeria"[Text] OR "Bahrain"[Text] OR "Djibouti"[Text] OR "Egypt"[Text] OR "Jordan"[Text] OR "Kuwait"[Text] OR "Lebanon"[Text] OR "Libya"[Text] OR "Iran"[Text] OR "Iraq"[Text] OR "Morocco"[Text] OR "Oman"[Text] OR "Pakistan"[Text] OR "Qatar"[Text] OR "Saudi Arabia"[Text] OR "Somalia"[Text] OR "Sudan"[Text] OR "Syria"[Text] OR "Tunisia"[Text] OR "United Arab Emirates"[Text] OR "Dubai"[Text] OR "Abu Dhabi"[Text] OR "Abu-Dhabi"[Text] OR "Sharjah"[Text] OR "West Bank"[Text] OR "Ghaza"[Text] OR "Palestine"[Text] OR"Yemen"[Text])

Embase

(exp drug abuse/ or exp substance abuse/ or exp drug dependence/ or exp heroin dependence/ or (drug use* or drug abuse* or drug addict* or drug dependen* or IDU* or IVDU*).mp.) AND (exp Middle East/ or exp North Africa/ or exp Arab/ or exp Afghanistan/ or exp Djibouti/ or exp Pakistan/ or exp Somalia/ or exp Sudan/ or Middle East.mp. or North Africa.mp. or EMRO.mp. or Eastern Mediterranean.mp. or Arab.mp. or Arabs.mp. or Arab World.mp. or Islam.mp. or Afghanistan.mp. or Algeria.mp. or Bahrain.mp. or Djibouti.mp. or Egypt.mp. or Jordan.mp. or Kuwait.mp. or Lebanon.mp. or Libya.mp. or Iran.mp. or Iraq.mp. or Morocco.mp. or Oman.mp. or Pakistan.mp. or Qatar.mp. or Saudi Arabia.mp. or Somalia.mp. or Sudan.mp. or Syria.mp. or Tunisia.mp. or United Arab Emirates.mp. or Dubai.mp. or Abu Dhabi.mp. or Sharjah.mp. or West Bank.mp. or Ghaza.mp. or Palestine.mp. or Yemen.mp.)

Regional databases

WHO African Index Medicus: Free text search using each MENA country name WHO Index Medicus for the Eastern Mediterranean Region: A keyword search of "injecting" and a keyword search of "HIV"

Conference abstracts

Free text search using each MENA country name

Text S3

Narrative justification for quality of the evidence and status of the epidemic at the country level

This text relates to Table 5 in main manuscript. Countries are sorted by level of HIV prevalence, trend in HIV prevalence, geographical distribution, quality and scope of evidence, then alphabetical order.

Iran

The number of studies conducted is the largest in MENA and the number of HIV prevalence measures is also substantial, being the second largest after Pakistan. The geographical coverage of conducted studies is national, with a large number of cities/provinces represented. Two rounds of surveillance have also been conducted in 2006 and 2010 which included up to 10 cities each, had a large sample size, and used the probability-based time-location sampling technique. In total, about half of HIV prevalence measures in Iran were from studies using probability-based sampling methodologies and the vast majority had high precision.

The first HIV outbreaks among PWID in Iran were reported around 1996, and it is only in the early 2000s that HIV prevalence started increasing considerably to reach a peak by the mid-2000s (Figure 3A). HIV transmission among PWID after 2005 is still ongoing and seemingly at high levels, but a trend of increasing HIV prevalence does not seem to be apparent. Injecting drug use remains the major mode of transmission in notified HIV cases at 60% in 2011. The totality of the evidence suggests that the HIV epidemic among PWID in Iran is now established at concentrated levels of about 15%.

Pakistan

The number of studies and of HIV prevalence measures is substantial, the latter being the largest in MENA. The geographical coverage of conducted studies is national, with a large number of cities/districts represented. Over one-third of studies conducted included multiple locations. The quality of HIV prevalence measures is good: two-thirds were from studies using probability-based sampling techniques, over half reached their target sample size, and the overwhelming majority had high precision. Pakistan had also four rounds of repeated integrated bio-behavioral surveillance surveys (IBBSS), the highest number in MENA. These surveys used multi-stage cluster sampling, included up to 16 cities per round, and were preceded and informed by ethnographic mapping.

The totality of the evidence indicates that after almost two decades of very limited HIV prevalence among PWID, a trend of increasing prevalence started to be observed after 2003 (Figure 3B). One incidence study conducted in 2002 among PWID in three cities reported an HIV incidence rate of 1.7 per 100 person-years. The trend of increasing HIV prevalence seems to be ongoing, reaching over 40% in several studies, and with no evidence of stabilization or peak in the most recent studies. The trend of an emerging epidemic is also manifest in the repeated rounds of IBBSS using standard and state of the art methodology: HIV prevalence among PWID has steadily increased from 10.8% in 2005, to 15.8% in 2006, to 20.8% in 2008, and reached 25.2% in 2011. There is conclusive evidence of a concentrated emerging HIV epidemic among PWID at the national level in Pakistan.

Afghanistan

A number of well-designed studies have been conducted in Afghanistan, some with respondentdriven sampling (RDS) and others with thoughtful convenience sampling using a variant of timelocation sampling. Two round of IBBSS have been implemented in 2009 and 2012. Data are available from four main cities in Afghanistan and overall all studies were adequately powered.

Although data from the earlier years of the epidemic are not available, the first studies conducted in 2005-8 reported low HIV prevalence among PWID at 0-3%. However, a substantial increase in HIV prevalence reaching up to 18% in one city, Herat, was reported in the IBBSS conducted in 2009 and confirmed in the second round at 13.3%. HIV incidence among PWID in Kabul in 2008 was also reported at 2.2 per 100 person-years, despite 72% reported use of harm reduction services among participants.

The totality of the evidence suggests that the epidemic in Afghanistan is recent, emerging in the last few years, and has reached concentrated levels in at least some parts of Afghanistan. Herat is close to the Afghani-Iranian border and molecular investigations have found the same HIV variants among PWID in Iran and in Kabul, Afghanistan, far away from the Iranian border. This suggests that the virus may have been introduced by the return of Afghani refugees from Iran. Iran had already a large HIV epidemic among PWID since the early 2000s. More data and from other cities are needed to confirm the observed trends at the national level.
Egypt

The number of studies conducted is small, but overall of good quality. Prominently, two rounds of repeated IBBSS were conducted. These were adequately powered and used the state of art sampling methodology of RDS. In addition, there is a large number of HIV prevalence measures that were extracted from databases.

The totality of the evidence indicates very limited HIV prevalence among PWID for about two decades, including in the first round of IBBSS in 2006, but a noticeable increase reaching about 7% in the most recent round of surveillance in 2010. Available HIV prevalence measures however cover mainly the two largest cities in Egypt and therefore the evidence cannot be generalized to the national level. Nonetheless, an emerging epidemic among PWID is also apparent in HIV case notification reports whereby 19.6% of notified HIV cases in 2010 were due to injecting drug use, compared to 1.6% of the total notified cases since the beginning of the epidemic until 2008. More data and from various parts of the country are needed to confirm the observed emerging epidemic among PWID at the national level.

Morocco

The number of studies conducted in Morocco is small, but of relatively good quality. With the exception of one point-prevalence measure in the 1990s with unclear methodology and quality, the recent studies conducted in 2008 and 2011 are well-designed, well-powered, and used RDS as a sampling strategy. There is also a number of HIV prevalence measures from databases, including voluntary counseling and treatment (VCT) data and data from sentinel surveillance.

Overall, the data indicate very low HIV prevalence among PWID until recently, starting 2008, when both VCT data and the well-designed RDS studies started to indicate substantial prevalence, particularly in one city, Nador, where HIV prevalence has been reported at 25-38%. It is worth noting that HIV prevalence in the other cities included in the recent RDS studies is still at zero prevalence, suggesting that the epidemic in Morocco is only emerging and still highly localized. The recent nature of the epidemic is also confirmed by HIV case notifications, whereby the contribution of injecting drug use to notified cases in 2011 was only 1.2%. More data and from various parts of the country are needed to confirm the observed trends at the national level.

Libya

Libya has just completed its first study investigating the epidemiology of HIV among PWID. This study is the first round of a planned IBBSS, used RDS, and had a large sample size. There is in addition two data points that were extracted from the various databases. Though the methodology of these data points is unclear, they indicated substantial HIV prevalence at 22.0% and 59.4%, suggesting major outbreaks of HIV among PWID in Libya possibly around the beginning of the last decade or even earlier. These data are now confirmed by the noted first round of IBBSS which reported an alarming HIV prevalence of 87.1% among PWID in Tripoli, the highest prevalence reported in MENA. The evidence therefore is indicative of a concentrated HIV epidemic among PWID in at least part of Libya. Though the epidemic in Tripoli with all likelihood is an established epidemic, the level of evidence overall is not enough to characterize whether the national epidemic is emerging, with few outbreaks in the past; or has been established for some time now with endemic HIV transmission among PWID. The good quality data is restricted to one city, Tripoli, and therefore more data are needed from various parts of the country to indicate whether there is a concentrated epidemic among PWID at the national level.

Bahrain

There is a number of HIV prevalence measures, the vast majority of which are from databases and therefore of unclear methodology and quality. There is only one study which was conducted and for which a report was available. This study had a large sample size and was conducted in a voluntary drug treatment center. It reported a prevalence of 21.1% in Manama in the early 90s. The data from the databases also indicated some HIV spread among PWID in Bahrain with prevalence rates reaching up to 8%. This is further reflected in HIV case notification reports, whereby in 2010, 37.5% of notified HIV cases were due to injecting drug use, suggesting ongoing transmission. The totality of the evidence suggests that there are at least some pockets of HIV among PWID in Bahrain, but the type and quality of available evidence is not enough to indicate whether there is a concentrated epidemic, even if localized.

Oman

There is a number of HIV prevalence measures, the vast majority of which are from databases and therefore of unclear methodology and quality. There is only one study which was conducted and for which a report was available, but with high risk of bias in all domains, including self-reported HIV prevalence. However, the reported HIV prevalence in this study, and the data extracted from the databases, indicate substantial levels of HIV prevalence reaching up to 27%. Still, the contribution of injecting drug use to the total notified HIV cases remains small at 4.3% until the end of 2011. The totality of the evidence therefore suggests that there have been at least some pockets of HIV among PWID in Oman, but the type and quality of available evidence is not sufficient to indicate whether there is a concentrated epidemic, even if localized.

Jordan

There is a number of HIV prevalence measures from databases starting from 1990, in addition to one round of IBBSS in 2009 that used RDS and covered four cities. All prevalence measures indicated zero prevalence among PWID. This is further reflected in case notifications whereby in 2011, 0% of the notified HIV cases were due to injecting drug use. The totality of the evidence therefore suggests that the HIV epidemic among PWID in Jordan is a low-level epidemic.

Lebanon

The number of HIV prevalence measures in Lebanon is small, but includes a round of IBBSS that used RDS and was conducted in 2007-8. The study found zero HIV prevalence among PWID. Although this study failed to reach its target sample size, possibly due to disconnectivity in the PWID networks in this country, all the other data available, whether from studies or databases, report very low HIV prevalence among PWID. This is also reflected in the HIV case notifications, whereby in 2011, 2% of notified cases were due to injecting drug use. The totality of the evidence therefore points towards a low-level HIV epidemic among PWID in Lebanon.

Occupied Palestinian Territories (OPT)

The number of HIV prevalence measures among PWID in the OPT is very small, but includes a first round of IBBSS that used RDS. The study found no infections among PWID in East Jerusalem, suggesting that the epidemic is at low-level. Also, only 2.8% of notified AIDS cases until the end of 2011 were due to injecting drug use. More data and from various parts of the country are needed to confirm this low-level epidemic state at the national level.

Tunisia

Two rounds of IBBSS have been conducted among PWID in Tunisia in 2009 and 2011. The studies had a large sample size and used RDS. They reported an HIV prevalence of 3.1% and 2.4%, respectively. The several HIV prevalence measures extracted from databases indicate

limited prevalence since 1992. Still, by the end of 2009, 24.4% of all notified cases were due to injecting drug use, suggesting that HIV transmission is ongoing among PWID in Tunisia. The totality of the evidence therefore suggests that although the HIV epidemic among PWID in Tunisia appears to be a low-level epidemic, there could be somewhat significant ongoing HIV transmission among PWID. This low-intensity epidemic however does not appear to have reached high enough levels to be qualified as a concentrated epidemic.

Syria

A number of HIV prevalence measures among PWID in Syria are available from databases from 1988 and until 2007. All of them indicate zero prevalence. In addition, there is one study which was conducted in Damascus using snow-ball sampling. The study reported a prevalence of 0.5%. The limited HIV prevalence among PWID is confirmed in case notifications whereby in 2011, 0% of the notified HIV cases were due to injecting drug use. The totality of the evidence therefore suggests that the HIV epidemic among PWID in Syria is a low-level epidemic. More data and from various parts of the country are needed to confirm this epidemic state at the national level.

Country	Year	HIV	Precision	Risk of bias		
		prevalence				
		(%)		HIV	Sampling	Response
				ascertainment		rate
Afghanistan	2012	13.3 [1]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROB
	2012	2.4 [1]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROB
	2012	0.3 [1]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROB
	2012	1.0 [1]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROB
	2012	0.9 [1]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	High ROB
	2009	18.2 [2]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	High ROB
	2009	3.2 [2]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROB
	2009	1.0 [2]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	High ROB
	2007-9	2.1 [3]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2006-8	3.2 [4]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2006-8	0.0 [4]	Low precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2006-8	0.0 [4]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2005-6	3.0 [5]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
Bahrain	1991	21.1 [6]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Low ROB
Egypt	2010	6.5 [7]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROB
	2010	6.8 [7]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROB
	2008-11	1.4 [8]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2006	0.6 [9]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROB
	1994	0.0 [10]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
		0.0 [11]	Low precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
		7.6 [12]	Low precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
		0·0 [13]	Low precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
Iran	2012-3	7.7 [14]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2011	2.9 [15]	Good precision	High ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2010	31.9 [16]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2010	26.4 [16]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2010	23.9 [16]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2010	18.3 [16]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2010	16.8 [16]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2010	9.4 [16]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2010	7.0 [16]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2010	6.2 [16]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2010	3.6 [16]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2010	2.2 [16]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2010	9.4 [17]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Low ROB
	2009-10	9.9 [18]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2009	1.2 [19]	Low precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2009	1.0 [19]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2009	1.7 [19]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2009	3.5 [19]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2009	1.5 [19]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2008-9	1.1 [20]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2008-9	6.4 [21]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2008	18.8 [22]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2008	0.7 [23]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROB
	2007-8	3.7 [24]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2007-8	2.4 [25]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2007-9	18.2 [26]	Low precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2007	6.6 [27]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2007	30.0 [28]	Low precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2006-7	10.7 [29]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2006	24.4 [30]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Low ROB
	2006-7	8.2 [31]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2006-7	24.7 [31]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear

Table S1. Precision and risk of bias of individual HIV prevalence measures among predominantly male people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa as extracted from eligible reports

Country	Year	HIV	Precision	Risk of bias		
		prevalence (%)		HIV	Sampling	Response
				ascertainment		rate
	2006-7	20.8 [31]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2006-7	30.5 [31]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2006-7	6.5 [31]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2006-7	4.2 [31]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2006-7	35.7 [31]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2006-7	11.6 [31]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2006-7	2.1 [31]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2006-7	14.4 [31]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2006-7	25.0 [32]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2005-6	47.7 [33]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2004	6.3 [34]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2004	0.8 [35]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Low ROB
	2004-5	72.1 [36]	Low precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Low ROB
	2004	23.2 [37]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Low ROB
	2003-6	45.7 [38]	Low precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2003	14.0 [39]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2003-4	15.2 [40]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2003	24.0 [41]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Low ROB
	2003	22.0 [41]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Low ROB
	2003	9.7 [42]	Low precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2002-6	18.0 [43]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2002	15.1 [44]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2002-3	18.2 [45]	Low precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2002-4	35.7[46]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2002	0.7 [47]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2001-2	7.8 [48]	Low precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2001-2	17.0 [48]	Good precision	Low ROB	LOW ROB	Unclear
	2001-6	1.6 [49]	Good precision	LOW ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2001-6	12.7 [50]	Good precision	LOW ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2001-3	67.5 [51]	Good precision	LOW ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2001-2	0.0 [52]	Good precision	LOW ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2001-2	6.9 [52]	Good precision	LOW ROB	High ROB	LOW ROB
	2001	19.2 [53]	Good precision	LOW ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2000-5	25.8 [54]	Low precision	LOW ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	1998	1.2 [55]	Good precision	LOW ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	1996	0.0 [56]	Good precision	LOW ROB	LOW ROB	Unclear
		41.7[57]	Good precision	LOW ROB	High ROB	Unclear
		0.0 [58]	Low precision		LOW ROB	Unclear
		20.5 [59]	Good precision			Unclear
ordan		δ.δ [bU]	Low precision			Unclear
oruan	2009	0.0[01] 0.0[61]	Good precision			Unclear
	2009	0.0 [01]	Low precision			Unclear
ohanon	2009 2007 0	0.0 [62]	Low precision			
Evaliuli	2007-8	0.0 [02]				
ihva	2000-2	0.0 [03] 87 1 [6/]	Good precision			
Morocco	2010	25 1 [65]	Good precision			
	2011-12	0.4 [65]	Good precision			
	2010-11	0 0 [66]	Unclear		Unclear	Unclear
	2000	37 8 [66]	Good precision			Inclear
	1991-9	33.0 [67]	Good precision			Unclear
Jman	1991-9	12 0 [62]	Low precision			
Jillall		12.0 [00] 27 0 [69]	Low precision			
		27.0 [00] 18 0 [69]	Low precision			
דסר		10.0 [00]	Good procision			
or i Dakistan	2010	0.0 [09] 10 6 [70]	Good precision			
anistall	2011	49.0 [70] 52 5 [70]	Good precision			

Country	Year	HIV	Precision	Risk of bias		
		prevalence (%)		ніх	Sampling	Response
		()))		ascertainment	Samping	rate
	2011	30.8 [70]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROB
	2011	24.9 [70]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROB
	2011	3.3 [70]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROB
	2011	14.9 [70]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	High ROB
	2011	40.6 [70]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROB
	2011	16.0 [70]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	High ROE
	2011	42.2 [70]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROB
	2011	18.6 [70]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROB
	2011	19.2 [70]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROP
	2011	7 9 [70]	Low precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	High ROE
	2011	20 0 [70]	Good precision			High ROP
	2011	20.0 [70] 7 1 [70]	Good precision			
	2011	7.1 [70] 21 4 [70]	Good precision			
	2011	21.4 [70] 8 [71]	Good precision			
	2009	52 [71]	Good precision			
	2009	32 [71] 32 [71]	Good precision			
	2009	25 [71]	Good precision			
	2009	21 [/1] 12 [72]	Good precision			Low ROE
	2008	15 [72]	Good precision			
	2008	10 [72]	Good precision			
	2008	41 [/2] 10 C [72]	Good precision			
	2008	18.0 [73]	Good precision	LOW ROB	LOW ROB	LOW ROE
	2008	12.3 [73]	Good precision	LOW ROB	LOW ROB	LOW ROE
	2008	30.5 [73]	Good precision	LOW ROB	LOW ROB	LOW ROE
	2008	23.1 [73]	Good precision	LOW ROB	LOW ROB	LOW ROE
	2008	14.5 [73]	Good precision	LOW ROB	LOW ROB	LOW ROE
	2008	28.5 [73]	Good precision	LOW ROB	LOW ROB	LOW ROE
	2008	12.8 [73]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	High RO
	2008	22.8 [73]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROE
	2007	2.6 [74]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2007	0.0 [74]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2006-7	1.4 [75]	Low precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	High RO
	2006-7	13.3 [75]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low RO
	2006-7	1.0 [75]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low RO
	2006-7	29.8 [75]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low RO
	2006-7	30.1 [75]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low RO
	2006-7	6.5 [75]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROE
	2006-7	16.5 [75]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low RO
	2006-7	0.0 [75]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low RO
	2006-7	2.2 [75]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	High RO
	2006-7	9.5 [75]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	High RO
	2006-7	51.3 [75]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low RO
	2006-7	5.3 [75]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROE
	2005	0.0 [76]	Unclear	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2005	9.5 [77]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2005	2.5 [77]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2005	12.0 [77]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2005	1.0 [77]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear
	2005	13.3 [78]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low RO
	2005	25.3 [78]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low RO
	2005	3.8 [78]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low RO
	2005	0.3 [78]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low RO
	2005	0.4 [78]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	High RO
	2005	9.5 [78]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	High RO
	2005	19.2 [78]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROI
	2004	23.1 [79]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	
	2004		Good precision	Low ROB		
	2010/1	11 7 1 / 91				
	2004	0.5 [79] 24 0 [80]		Low ROB		Unclear

Country	Year	HIV	Precision	Risk of bias		
		prevalence				
		(%)		HIV	Sampling	Response
				ascertainment		rate
	2004-5	0.5 [81]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2004	8.3 [82]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2003	0.3 [83]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2003	0.6 [84]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Low ROB
	2003	0.0 [85]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2003	0.0 [85]	Low precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2003	9.7 [86]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2002	0.0 [87]	Low precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2002	3.4 [88]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	2002	0.0 [89]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	1999	0.0 [90]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	1996	0.4 [91]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	High ROB
	1994	0.0 [92]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
	1987-4	0.0 [93]	Low precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
		37.2 [94]	Low precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
		0.0 [95]	Good precision	Low ROB	Unclear	Unclear
Syria	2006	0. 5 [96]	Good precision	Low ROB	High ROB	Unclear
Tunisia	2011	2.9 [97]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Low ROB
	2011	0.0 [97]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	High ROB
	2009	3.1 [98]	Good precision	Low ROB	Low ROB	Unclear

OPT: Occupied Palestinian Territories, ROB: Risk of Bias

References of Table S1

- Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program (2012) Integrated Behavioral & Biological Surveillance (IBBS) in selected cities of Afghanistan: Findings of 2012 IBBS survey and comparison to 2009 IBBS survey. Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health. Kabul, Afghanistan.
- Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program (2010) Integrated Behavioral & Biological Surveillance (IBBS) in Afghanistan: Year 1 Report. HIV Surveillance Project - Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health. Kabul, Afghanistan.
- 3. Todd CS, Nasir A, Stanekzai MR, Fiekert K, Rasuli MZ, et al. (2011) Prevalence and correlates of HIV, syphilis, and hepatitis B and C infection and harm reduction program use among male injecting drug users in Kabul, Afghanistan: A cross-sectional assessment. Harm Reduct J 8: 22.
- 4. Nasir A, Todd CS, Stanekzai MR, Bautista CT, Botros BA, et al. (2011) Prevalence of HIV, hepatitis B and hepatitis C and associated risk behaviours amongst injecting drug users in three Afghan cities. Int J Drug Policy 22: 145-152.
- 5. Todd CS, Abed AM, Strathdee SA, Scott PT, Botros BA, et al. (2007) HIV, hepatitis C, and hepatitis B infections and associated risk behavior in injection drug users, Kabul, Afghanistan. Emerg Infect Dis 13: 1327-1331.
- 6. Al-Haddad MK, Khashaba AS, Baig BZ, Khalfan S (1994) HIV antibodies among intravenous drug users in Bahrain. J Commun Dis 26: 127-132.
- 7. Family Health International and Ministry of Health Egypt (2010) HIV/AIDS Biological & Behavioral Surveillance Survey: Round Two Summary Report, Cairo, Egypt 2010. FHI in collaboration with the Ministry of Health and support from the Global Fund. Found at http://www.fhi360.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/BBSS%202010_0.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.
- 8. E. Elghamrawy, O. Abaza, S. Abou Elmagd, H. Ramy, S. Atallah, et al. Risk behaviours among male injecting drug users in Egypt. Abstract no. MOPE227 2012; Washington DC, USA.
- 9. Soliman C, Rahman IA, Shawky S, Bahaa T, Elkamhawi S, et al. (2010) HIV prevalence and risk behaviors of male injection drug users in Cairo, Egypt. AIDS 24 Suppl 2: S33-38.
- Saleh E, El-Ghazzawi E, El-Sherbini I, Drew W, McFarland W, et al. (1998) Sentinel surveillance for HIV and high risk behaviors among injection drug users in Alexandria, Egypt. Abstract no. 13124. AIDS 1998 - XII International AIDS Conference. Geneva, Switzerland.
- 11. El-Ghazzawi E, Hunsmann G, Schneider J (1987) Low prevalence of antibodies to HIV-1 and HTLV-I in Alexandria, Egypt. AIDS Forsch 2: 639.
- 12. Hasan M, Farag A, Ismail M (1994) AIDS and intravenous drug users in Egypt. Abstract no. PC0143. AIDS 1994 X International AIDS Conference Yokohama, Japan.
- 13. Attia, Medhat S (1996) HIV Seropositivity and KAP towards AIDS among drug addicts in Alexandria. Bull High Inst Public Health 26: 1-8.
- Honarvar B, Odoomi N, Moghadami M, Afsar Kazerooni P, Hassanabadi A, et al. (2013) Blood-borne hepatitis in opiate users in iran: a poor outlook and urgent need to change nationwide screening policy. PLoS One 8: e82230.
- 15. Mehrjerdi ZA, Abarashi Z, Noroozi A, Arshad L, Zarghami M (2013) Correlates of shared methamphetamine injection among methamphetamine-injecting treatment seekers: the first report from Iran. Int J STD AIDS.
- 16. Iran Ministry of Public Health (2010) HIV bio-behavioral surveillance survey among injecting drug users in the Islamic Repubic of Iran. Final report [Persian], Tehran, Iran.

- 17. Alipour A, Haghdoost AA, Sajadi L, Zolala F (2013) HIV prevalence and related risk behaviours among female partners of male injecting drugs users in Iran: results of a biobehavioural survey, 2010. Sex Transm Infect 89 Suppl 3: iii41-44.
- 18. Ilami O, Sarkari B, Khosravani A, Akbartabar Tori M, Hosseini Z (2012) HIV Seroprevalence among High-Risk Groups in Kohgiloyeh and Boyerahmad Province, Southwest of Iran, a Behavioral Surveillance Survey. AIDS Behav 16: 86-90.
- 19. Hashemipour M, Nokhodian Z, Yaran M, Ataei B, Tayeri K, et al. (2013) Prevalence of HIV infection in individuals with history of intravenous drug use via community announcement in Isfahan-Iran. Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences 29: 395-398.
- 20. Javadi A, Ataei B, Yaran M, Nokhodian Z, Kassaian N, et al. (2013) Prevalence of HIV infection and related risk factors in Isfahan Drop in Centers. Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences 29: 346-350.
- 21. Dibaj R, Ataei B, Yaran M, Nokhodian Z, Tayeri K, et al. (2013) Prevalence of HIV infection in inmates with history of injection drug use and evaluation of risk factors, in Isfahan, Iran. Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences 29: 399-402.
- 22. Eskandarieh S, Nikfarjam A, Tarjoman T, Nasehi A, Jafari F, et al. (2013) Descriptive Aspects of Injection Drug Users in Iran's National Harm Reduction Program by Methadone Maintenance Treatment. Iran J Public Health 42: 588-593.
- 23. Zamani S, Radfar R, Nematollahi P, Fadaie R, Meshkati M, et al. (2010) Prevalence of HIV/HCV/HBV infections and drug-related risk behaviours amongst IDUs recruited through peer-driven sampling in Iran. Int J Drug Policy 21: 493-500.
- 24. Zadeh AOT, SeyedAlinaghi S, Hassanzad FF, Hajizadeh M, Mohamadi S, et al. (2014) Prevalence of HIV infection and the correlates among homeless in Tehran, Iran. Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine 4: 65-68.
- 25. Alinaghi SAS, Zadeh AOT, Zaresefat H, Hajizadeh M, Mohamadi SN, et al. (2013) Prevalence of HIV infection and the correlates among beggars in Tehran, Iran. Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Disease 3: 76-78.
- 26. Ghasemian R, Najafi N, Amirkhanloo K (2011) The study of infections due to injection drug abuse in the injecting drug users hospitalized at Imam Khomeini Hospital in Sari and Razi Hospital in Ghaemshahr in 2007-2009. Journal of Mazandaran University of Medical Sciences 21: 8-15.
- 27. Kazerooni PA, Lari MA, Joolaei H, Parsa N (2010) Knowledge and attitude of male intravenous drug users on HIV/AIDS associated high risk behaviors in Shiraz Pir-Banon jail, Fars Province, Southern Iran. Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal 12: 334-336.
- 28. Aminzadeh Z (2007) Seroepidemiology of HIV, syphilis, hepatitis B and C in intravenous drug users at Loghman Hakim hospital]. Iran J Med Meicrobiol 1: 53-56.
- 29. Rahimi-Movaghar A, Razaghi EM, Sahimi-Izadian E, Amin-Esmaeili M (2010) HIV, hepatitis C virus, and hepatitis B virus co-infections among injecting drug users in Tehran, Iran. Int J Infect Dis 14: e28-33.
- 30. Kheirandish P, Seyedalinaghi SA, Hosseini M, Jahani MR, Shirzad H, et al. (2010) Prevalence and correlates of HIV infection among male injection drug users in detention in Tehran, Iran. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 53: 273-275.
- 31. Iran Ministry of Health and Medical Education, Kyoto University School of Public Hleath (Japan) (2008) Integrated bio-behavioral surveillance for HIV infection among injecting drug users in Iran. Draft of the 1st analysis on the collected data, Tehran, Iran.
- 32. Malekinejad M, Mohraz M, Razani N, Khairandish P, McFarland W, et al. HIV and related risk behaviors of injecting drug users (IDU) in Iran: findings from the first respondent-driven sampling (RDS) survey of IDU in Tehran in 2006-2007. Abstract no. THAC0202 2008; Mexico.

- 33. Alavi SM, Nadimi M, Shokri S, Zamani G (2012) Seroepidemiology of human immunodeficiency virus in Illicit substance users in Ahvaz, Iran: 2005-2006. Jundishapur Journal of Microbiology 5: 474-478.
- 34. Tofigi H, Ghorbani M, Akhlaghi M, Yaghmaei A, Mostafazadeh B, et al. (2011) Incidence of hepatitis B and HIV virus at cadaver of IV drug abusers in Tehran. Acta Med Iran 49: 59-63.
- 35. Imani R, Karimi A, Rouzbahani R, Rouzbahani A (2008) Seroprevalence of HBV, HCV and HIV infection among intravenous drug users in Shahr-e-Kord, Islamic Republic of Iran. East Mediterr Health J 14: 1136-1141.
- 36. Mojtahedzadeh V, Razani N, Malekinejad M, Vazirian M, Shoaee S, et al. (2008) Injection drug use in Rural Iran: integrating HIV prevention into iran's rural primary health care system. AIDS Behav 12: S7-12.
- 37. Zamani S, Kihara M, Gouya MM, Vazirian M, Nassirimanesh B, et al. (2006) High prevalence of HIV infection associated with incarceration among community-based injecting drug users in Tehran, Iran. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 42: 342-346.
- 38. Shamaei M, Marjani M, Baghaei P, Chitsaz E, Rezaei Tabar E, et al. (2009) Drug abuse profile

 patient delay, diagnosis delay and drug resistance pattern among addict patients
 with tuberculosis. Int J STD AIDS 20: 320-323.
- 39. Pourahmad M, Javady A, Karimi I, Ataei B, Kassaeian N (2007) Seroprevalence of and risk factors associated with hepatitis B, hepatitis C, and human immunodeficiency virus among prisoners in Iran. Infectious Diseases in Clinical Practice 15: 368-372.
- 40. Zamani S, Kihara M, Gouya MM, Vazirian M, Ono-Kihara M, et al. (2005) Prevalence of and factors associated with HIV-1 infection among drug users visiting treatment centers in Tehran, Iran. AIDS 19: 709-716.
- 41. Farhoudi B, Montevalian A, Motamedi M, Khameneh MM, Mohraz M, et al. (2003) Human immunodeficiency virus and HIV associated tuberculosis infection and their risk factors in injecting drug users in prison in Iran. Iran Ministry of Health, Tehran, Iran.
- 42. Khodadadizadeh A, Esmaeili Nadimi A, Hossieni SH, Shabani Sharbabaki Z (2006) The prevalence of HIV, HBV and HCV in narcotic addicted persons referred to the out patient clinic of rafsanjan university of medical sciences in 2003 [Persian]. J Rafsanjan Univ Med Sci 5: 21-30.
- 43. Alavi SM, Behdad F (2010) Seroprevalence study of hepatitis C and hepatitis B virus among hospitalized intravenous drug users in Ahvaz, Iran (2002-2006). Hepatitis Monthly 10: 101-104.
- 44. Davoodian P, Dadvand H, Mahoori K, Amoozandeh A, Salavati A (2009) Prevalence of selected sexually and blood-borne infections in Injecting drug abuser inmates of bandar abbas and roodan correction facilities, Iran, 2002. Braz J Infect Dis 13: 356-358.
- 45. Behnaz K, Abdollah A, Fateme F, Mohammadreza R (2007) Prevalence and risk factors of HIV, hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infections in drug addicts among Gorgan prisoners. Journal of Medical Sciences 7: 252-254.
- 46. Asadi S, Marjani M (2006) Prevalence of intravenous drug use-associated infections. Iranian Journal of Clinical Infectious Diseases 1: 59-62.
- 47. Alizadeh AH, Alavian SM, Jafari K, Yazdi N (2005) Prevalence of hepatitis C virus infection and its related risk factors in drug abuser prisoners in Hamedan--Iran. World J Gastroenterol 11: 4085-4089.
- 48. Mir-Nasseri MM, Mohammadkhani A, Tavakkoli H, Ansari E, Poustchi H (2011) Incarceration is a major risk factor for blood-borne infection among intravenous drug users. Hepatitis Monthly 11: 19-22.
- 49. Sharif M, Sherif A, Sayyah M (2009) Frequency of HBV, HCV and HIV infections among hospitalized injecting drug users in Kashan. Indian J Sex Transm Dis 30: 28-30.

- 50. Alavi SM, Alavi L (2009) Seroprevalence study of HCV among hospitalized intravenous drug users in Ahvaz, Iran (2001-2006). J Infect Public Health 2: 47-51.
- 51. Alavi SM, Etemadi A (2007) HIV/HBV, HIV/HCV and HIV/HTLV-1 co infection among injecting drug user patients hospitalized at the infectious disease ward of a training hospital in Iran. Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences 23: 510-513.
- 52. Rahbar AR, Rooholamini S, Khoshnood K (2004) Prevalence of HIV infection and other bloodborne infections in incarcerated and non-incarcerated injection drug users (IDUs) in Mashhad, Iran. International Journal of Drug Policy 15: 151-155.
- 53. Alaei K, Alaei A, Mansoori D, Tabar, Heravi, et al. (2002) The epidemiological status of IDU and HIV infection in addict cases submitted to HIV/STI/IDU Counseling and Care Center in Kermanshah province. Abstract no. LbPp2211. AIDS 2002 - XIV International AIDS Conference. Barcelona, Spain.
- 54. Sharifi-Mood B, Metanat M (2006) Infection among hospitalized injection drug users. Journal of Medical Sciences 6: 686-689.
- 55. Mirahmadizadeh A, Kadivar M, Hemmati A, Javadi A (2004) Infection with HIV and hepatitis C and B viruses among injecting drug users in Shiraz, Southern Iran. Abstract no. WePeC5981. AIDS 2004 - XV International AIDS Conference. Bangkok, Thailand.
- 56. Nowroozi A, Zali M, Gooya M, Kowsarian P, Raoufi M (1998) The simultanity of HIV, and HBV, HCV and syphilis among the addicted prisoners. Abstract no. 60835. AIDS 1998 XII International AIDS Conference. Geneva, Switzerland.
- 57. Alavian SM, Mirahmadizadeh A, Javanbakht M, Keshtkaran A, Heidari A, et al. (2013) Effectiveness of methadone maintenance treatment in prevention of hepatitis C virus transmission among injecting drug users. Hepatitis Monthly 13: 9.
- 58. Azarkar Z, Sharifzadeh G (2010) Evaluation of the prevalence of Hepatitis B, Hepatitis C, and HIV in inmates with drug-related convictions in Birjand, Iran in 2008. Hepatitis Monthly 10: 26-30.
- 59. Mirahmadizadeh AR, Majdzadeh R, Mohammad K, MH F (2009) Prevalence of HIV and Hepatitis C Virus Infections and Related Behavioral Determinants among Injecting Drug Users of Drop-in Centers in Iran. Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal 11: 325-329.
- 60. Amini S, Mahmoodabadi SA, Lamian S, Joulaie M, Farahani MM (2005) Prevalence of hepatitis G virus (HGV) in high-risk groups and blood donors in Tehran, Iran. Iranian Journal of Public Health 34: 41-46.
- 61. Jordan National AIDS Program (2010) Preliminary analysis of Jordan IBBSS among injecting drug users. Ministry of Health, Amman, Jordan.
- 62. Mahfoud Z, Afifi R, Ramia S, El Khoury D, Kassak K, et al. (2010) HIV/AIDS among female sex workers, injecting drug users and men who have sex with men in Lebanon: results of the first biobehavioral surveys. AIDS 24 Suppl 2: S45-54.
- 63. Ramia S, Klayme S, Naman R (2003) Infection with hepatitis B and C viruses and human retroviruses (HTLV-I and HIV) among high-risk Lebanese patients. Ann Trop Med Parasitol 97: 187-192.
- 64. Mirzoyan L, Berendes S, Jeffery C, Thomson J, Ben Othman H, et al. (2013) New evidence on the HIV epidemic in Libya: why countries must implement prevention programs among people who inject drugs. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 62: 577-583.
- 65. Morocco Ministry of Health, National Aids Control Program, National Institute of Hygiene, UNAIDS, Global Fund to Fight AIDS Tuberculosis and Malaria (2012) HIV Integrated Behavioral and Biological Surveillance Surveys-Morocco 2011-2012: Injecting Drug Users in Tanger and Nador, Morocco. Rabat, Morocco.
- 66. Morocco Ministry of Health (February 2010) Situation épidémiologique du VIH/Sida et des IST au Maroc [French]. Epidemiological assessment of HIV/AIDS and STIs in Morocco. Rabat, Morocco.

- 67. Elharti E (2002) HIV epidemiology in Morocco: a nine-year survey (1991–1999). ElHarti E, personal communication, updated data up to 2008. International journal of STD and AIDS 13: 839-842.
- 68. Oman Ministry of Health (2006) HIV Risk among Heroin and Injecting Drug Users in Muscat, Oman. Quantitative Survey. Preliminary Data. Muscat, Oman.
- 69. Stulhofer A, Chetty A, Rabie RA, Jwehan I, Ramlawi A (2012) The Prevalence of HIV, HBV, HCV, and HIV-Related Risk-Taking Behaviors among Palestinian Injecting Drug Users in the East Jerusalem Governorate. J Urban Health 89: 671-676.
- 70. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2011) HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round IV. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-

%20National%20report%20Round%20IV%202011.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.

- 71. Nai Zindagi, Punjab Provincial AIDS Control Program (2009) Rapid situation assessments of HIV prevalence and risk factors among people injecting drugs in four cities of the Punjab.
- 72. Nai Zindagi, Punjab Provincial AIDS Control Program (2008) The hidden truth: A study of HIV vulnerability, risk factors and prevalence among men injecting drugs and their wives.
- 73. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2008) HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round III. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-

%20National%20report%20Round%20III%202008.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.

- 74. Platt L, Vickerman P, Collumbien M, Hasan S, Lalji N, et al. (2009) Prevalence of HIV, HCV and sexually transmitted infections among injecting drug users in Rawalpindi and Abbottabad, Pakistan: evidence for an emerging injection-related HIV epidemic. Sex Transm Infect 85 Suppl 2: ii17-22.
- 75. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2006-07) HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round II. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-%20Round%202%20Report%202006-07.pdf. Last accessed February 2014.

- 76. Rahman K, Akhtar A, Aslam M (2006) Seroprevalence of HIV, HBV & HCV in drug users in Pakistan. Abstract no. CDC0097. AIDS 2006 - XVI International AIDS Conference Toronto, Canada.
- 77. Nai Zindagi, Punjab Provincial AIDS Control Program (2005) The lethal overdose: Injecting drug use and HIV/AIDS.
- 78. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2005) HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round I. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-%20Round%201%20Report%20-%202005.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.

- 79. Bokhari A, Nizamani NM, Jackson DJ, Rehan NE, Rahman M, et al. (2007) HIV risk in Karachi and Lahore, Pakistan: an emerging epidemic in injecting and commercial sex networks. Int J STD AIDS 18: 486-492.
- Achakzai M, Kassi M, Kasi PM (2007) Seroprevalences and co-infections of HIV, hepatitis C virus and hepatitis B virus in injecting drug users in Quetta, Pakistan. Trop Doct 37: 43-45.
- 81. Bokhari A, Emmanuel F, Abbas S (2006) Integrated biological & behavioral surveillance: results of pilot studies in Pakistan. Abstract no. MOPE0552 AIDS 2006 - XVI International AIDS Conference. Toronto, Canada.
- 82. Abbasi B, Somroo F (2005) HIV outbreak among injecting drug users in larkana, pakistan a serious threat for generalized epidemic. Abstract no. WeOa0305. IAS 2005 The 3rd IAS Conference on HIV Pathogenesis and Treatment. Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.
- 83. Abbasi S, Faqir F, Khan S, Zaidi SK, Ahmed SQ, et al. (2009) A serological study of hepatitis C and human immunodeficiency virus in a cohort of intravenous drug users in Quetta, Balochistan. Journal of Postgraduate Medical Institute 23: 3-6.
- 84. Altaf A, Shah SA, Zaidi NA, Memon A, Nadeem ur R, et al. (2007) High risk behaviors of injection drug users registered with harm reduction programme in Karachi, Pakistan. Harm Reduct J 4: 7.
- 85. Kuo I, ul-Hasan S, Galai N, Thomas DL, Zafar T, et al. (2006) High HCV seroprevalence and HIV drug use risk behaviors among injection drug users in Pakistan. Harm Reduct J 3: 26.
- 86. Shah SA, Altaf A, Mujeeb SA, Memon A (2004) An outbreak of HIV infection among injection drug users in a small town in Pakistan: potential for national implications. Int J STD AIDS 15: 209.
- Akhtar A, Aslam M, Zafar M (2004) Determinants of HIV risky behaviors among drug users in Faisalabad Pakistan. Abstract no. C11530. AIDS 2004 - XV International AIDS Conference Bangkok, Thailand.
- 88. Hadi D.H.M.H, Shujaat P.D.M.G.S.H, Waheed P.D.W.u.Z, Masood P.D.M.G.M.A (2005) Incidence of hepatitis C virus and HIV among injecting drug users in Northern Pakistan: a prospective cohort study. Abstract no. MoOa0104. IAS 2005 - The 3rd IAS Conference on HIV Pathogenesis and Treatment Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.
- 89. Altaf A, Shah SA, A. M (2003) Follow up study to assess and evaluate knowledge, attitude and high risk behaviors and prevalence of HIV, HBV, HCV and Syphilis among IDUS at Burns Road DIC, Karachi. External report submitted to UNODC.
- 90. Nai Zindagi, UNODCCP, UNAIDS. (1999) Baseline study of the relationship between injecting drug use, HIV and Hepatitis C among male injecting drug users in Lahore.
- 91. Parviz S, Fatmi Z, Altaf A, McCormick JB, Fischer-Hoch S, et al. (2006) Background demographics and risk behaviors of injecting drug users in Karachi, Pakistan. Int J Infect Dis 10: 364-371.
- 92. Baqi S, Nabi N, Hasan SN, Khan AJ, Pasha O, et al. (1998) HIV antibody seroprevalence and associated risk factors in sex workers, drug users, and prisoners in Sindh, Pakistan. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 18: 73-79.
- 93. Iqbal J, Rehan N (1996) Sero-prevalence of HIV: six years' experience at Shaikh Zayed Hospital, Lahore. J Pak Med Assoc 46: 255-258.
- 94. Khanani MR, Ansari AS, Khan S, Somani M, Kazmi SU, et al. (2010) Concentrated epidemics of HIV, HCV, and HBV among Afghan refugees. Journal of Infection 61: 434-437.
- 95. UrRehman N (2002) Injecting drug use and HIV/AIDS in pakistan. Abstract no. MoPeD3667. AIDS 2002 - XIV International AIDS Conference. Barcelona, Spain.
- 96. Syria Mental Health Directorate, Syria National AIDS Programme (2008) Assessment of HIV Risk and Sero-prevalence among Drug Users in Greater Damascus. Syrian Ministry of Health. UNODC. UNAIDS. Damascus, Syria

- 97. Tunisia Ministry of Health, Tunisian Association for Information and Orientation on HIV (2013) Enquête sérocomportementale du VIH et des hépatites virales C auprès des usagers de drogues injectables en Tunisie [French]. Biobehavioral surveillance of HIV and Hepatitis C among injecting drug users in Tunisia. Tunis, Tunisia.
- 98. Tunisia Ministry of Health (2010) Synthèse des enquêtes de séroprévalence et sérocomportementales auprès de trois populations à vulnérables au VIH : Les usagers de drogues injectables, les hommes ayant des rapports sexuels avec des hommes et les travailleuses du sexe clandestines en Tunisie [French]. Synthesis of biobehavioral surveillance among the three populations vulnerable to HIV in Tunisia: Injecting drug users, men who have sex with men, and female sex workers. Tunis, Tunisia.

	n	%*
Precision of estimates		
High precision	159	83.7
Low precision	29	15.3
Missing	2	1.1
Risk of bias quality domains		
HIV ascertainment		
Low risk of bias	186	97.9
High risk of bias	4	2.1
Unclear		
Sampling methodology		
Low risk of bias	100	52.6
High risk of bias	88	46.3
Unclear	2	1.1
Response rate		
Low risk of bias	64	33.7
High risk of bias	20	10.5
Unclear	106	55.8
Total	190*	100.0
	n	%
Low risk of bias		
In at least one quality domain	186	97.9
In at least two quality domains	117	61.6
In all three quality domains	47	24.7
High risk of bias		
In at least one quality domain	104	54.7
In at least two quality domains	5	2.6
In all three quality domains	3	1.6

Table S2. Summary of precision and risk of bias of HIV prevalence measures as extracted from eligible reports

 * Out of a total of 190 HIV prevalence measures among predominantly male PWID

Country	City/province	Year	N (range)	% (range)	Source
Afghanistan	Mazar-i-Sharif, Kabul,	2006-7	1,465 (55-1,251)	0.22 (0.15-0.24)	[1]
	Jalalabad				
	Herat	2012	1,211		[2]
	Jalalabad	2012	1,471		[2]
	Kabul	2012	12,541		[2]
	Mazar-i-Sharif	2012	1,496		[2]
Egypt	Greater Cairo		85,000		[3]
Iran	Hamadan	2012	11,333		[4]
	Hormozgan	2006		0.1	[5]
	Kerman city		1,640 (1,368-1,911)		[6]
	Kerman city		3,805 (57-11,254)		[6]
	Kermanshah	2006		0.7	[7]
	Khoshropdpey	2003		0.0	[8]
	Tehran	2006		1.0	[5]
Pakistan	19 cities	2011	46,351 (39,793-52,896)	0.37	[9]
	8 cities	2005	24,390 (20,770-28,010)	0.47	[10]
	Bannu	2006	250	0.08	[11]
	Faisalabad	2005	(2,400-2,550)		[12]
	Faisalabad	2006	8030	1.07	[11]
	Gujranwala	2005	(466-607)		[12]
	Gujranwala	2006	2650	0.62	[11]
	Hyderabad	2006	2600	0.66	[11]
	Islamabad	2006		5.9	[13]
	Karachi	2006	9000	0.25	[11]
	Kech	2007		0.4	[14]
	Lahore	2005	(1,754-2,110)		[12]
	Lahore	2006	3350	0.18	[11]
	Larkana	2006	800	0.65	[11]
	Mandi Bahauddin	2005	(713-928)		[12]
	Multan	2006	900	0.21	[11]
	Peshawar	2006	150	0.04	[11]
	Quetta	2006	150	0.07	[11]
	Rawalpindi	2005	(348-451)		[12]
	Rawalpindi	2006	123	0.02	[11]
	Sarghoda	2005	(1,000-1,100)		[12]
	Sarghoda	2006	2450	0.87	[11]
	Sheikhukupura	2005	(367-460)		[12]
	Sialkot	2005	(600-800)		[12]
	Sukkur	2006	1350	0.59	[11]
Tunisia	Bizerte	2112	654		[15]
	Tunis	2012	1,573		[15]

Table S3. Subnational estimates of the number and prevalence of people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa

References of Table S3

- 1. SAR AIDS, The World Bank (2008) Mapping and Situation Assessment of Key Populations at High Risk of HIV in Three Cities of Afghanistan. Human Development Sector, South Asia Region, World Bank. Washington DC, USA.
- 2. Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program (2012) Integrated Behavioral & Biological Surveillance (IBBS) in selected cities of Afghanistan: Findings of 2012 IBBS survey and comparison to 2009 IBBS survey. Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health. Kabul, Afghanistan.
- 3. World Health Organization Eastern Mediterranean Region (2013) HIV Surveillance Systems: Regional Update 2012, Cairo, Egypt.
- 4. Khazaei S, Poorolajal J, Mahjub H, Esmailnasab N, Mirzaei M (2012) Estimation of the Frequency of Intravenous Drug Users in Hamadan City, Iran, Using the Capturerecapture Method. Epidemiol Health 34: e2012006.
- 5. Merat S, Rezvan H, Nouraie M, Jafari E, Abolghasemi H, et al. (2010) Seroprevalence of hepatitis C virus: the first population-based study from Iran. Int J Infect Dis 14 Suppl 3: e113-116.
- 6. Shokoohi M, Baneshi MR, Haghdoost AA (2012) Size estimation of groups at high risk of HIV/AIDS using network scale up in Kerman, Iran. International Journal of Preventive Medicine 3: 471-476.
- 7. Sayad B, Saeed FS, Keyvani H, Rezali M, Asadi T, et al. (2008) Seroepidemiology of hepatitis C in Kermanshah (West of Iran, 2006). Hepatitis Monthly 8: 141-146.
- 8. Meysamie A, Sedaghat M, Mahmoodi M, Ghodsi SM, Eftekhar B (2009) Opium use in a rural area of the Islamic Republic of Iran. Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal 15: 425-431.
- 9. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2011) HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan: Mapping of key populations at risk of HIV infection. National Report Round IV. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at

http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-%20Mapping%20Report%20Round%204%202011.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.

 Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2005) HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round I. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-%20Round%201%20Report%20-%202005.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.

- 11. Emmanuel F, Blanchard J, Zaheer HA, Reza T, Holte-McKenzie M, et al. (2010) The HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project mapping approach: an innovative approach for mapping and size estimation for groups at a higher risk of HIV in Pakistan. AIDS 24 Suppl 2: S77-84.
- 12. Nai Zindagi, Punjab Provincial AIDS Control Program (2005) The lethal overdose: Injecting drug use and HIV/AIDS.
- Hashmi A, Saleem K, Soomro JA (2010) Prevalence and factors associated with hepatitis C virus seropositivity in female individuals in islamabad, pakistan. Int J Prev Med 1: 252-256.
- 14. Ahmed F, Irving WL, Anwar M, Myles P, Neal KR (2011) Prevalence and risk factors for hepatitis C virus infection in Kech District, Balochistan, Pakistan: most infections remain unexplained. A cross-sectional study. Epidemiol Infect: 1-8.

15. Tunisia Ministry of Health, Tunisian Association for Information and Orientation on HIV (2013) Enquête sérocomportementale du VIH et des hépatites virales C auprès des usagers de drogues injectables en Tunisie [French]. Biobehavioral surveillance of HIV and Hepatitis C among injecting drug users in Tunisia. Tunis, Tunisia.

	Afg	Bah	Dji	Egy	Irn	Irq	Jor	Kuw	Leb	Lib	Mor	Oma	ΟΡΤ	Pak	SA	Sud	Syr	Tun	Yem
Year	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
1984																			
1987																			
1988									103 (3.9)								51 (0.0)		
1989		728 (7.8)		1932										97 (0.0)					
				(0.2)															
1990		1436			135 (0.0)		240 (0.4)												
		(2.9)																	
							24 (4.2)	a . a . a)											
1991		609 (2.1)		122 (0.0)	579 (0.2)			840 (0.4)						18 (0.0)					
				72 (0.0)															
		202 (4.0)		50 (0.0)	2000									24 (2.2)				004	
1992		393 (1.0)		266 (0.8)	2098		4 (100.0)							24 (0.0)			963 (0.1)	801	
				106 (2.8)	(0.1)													(1.6)	
				106 (2.8)															
1003		130 (1 /1)		75 (1 3)	1205	(0,0)	26 (0.0)	208 (1.0)	16 (2 2)					608			157 (0.0)	822	
1555		133 (1.4)		/5(1.5)	(0.2)	(0.0)	20 (0.0)	200 (1.0)	40 (2.2)					(03)			137 (0.0)	(1 1)	
				616 (0.0)	(0.2)									(0.5)				(1.1)	
				214 (0.0)															
1994		191 (1.6)		385 (0.0)	349 (0.3)	(0.0)		59 (0.0)	32 (3.1)					342			1419	1224	
		· · /		. ,	. ,	. ,		· · /	· · /					(0.0)			(0.1)	(0.9)	
				102 (0.0)													1379		
																	(0.3)		
1995		183 (0.0)		1085	1232	(0.0)		110 (0.0)	15 (0.0)					703			834 (0.0)	1571	
				(0.0)	(0.0)									(5.4)				(0.7)	
																	165 (0.0)		
1996		439 (1.1)	(0.0)	96 (0.0)	2747	(0.0)		172 (0.6)						19 (0.0)			153 (0.0)	1518	
					(5.7)													(1.0)	
														113					
														(1.8)					
														242					
														(0.4)					
1007		250 (0.0)		128 (0.0)	2/120	(0,0)		04 (0 0)						T3 (0 0)		(0.1)	214 (0.0)	E01	
1997		330 (0.0)		130 (0.0)	(1.8)	(0.0)		94 (0.0)						32 (0.0)		(0.1)	514 (0.0)	(0.3)	
				438 (0.0)	(1.0)													(0.5)	

Table S4. HIV point-prevalence measures among people who inject drugs as extracted from various databases including the US Census Bureau database, the WHO/EMRO testing database, the UNAIDS epidemiological fact sheets databases, and other sources of data with unidentified reports

	Afg	Bah	Dji	Egy	Irn	Irq	Jor	Kuw	Leb	Lib	Mor	Oma	OPT	Pak	SA	Sud	Syr	Tun	Yem
Year	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
1998		336 (0.9)	(0.0)	96 (0.0)	8202	(0.0)		181 (0.0)		400 (0.5)			28 (0.0)	25 (0.0)			1299		13
					(0.5)												(0.0)		(0.0)
		128 (2.3)			2827														
1000		70 (0 0)	(0,0)	00 (0 0)	(12.6)	(0,0)		74 (0,0)				125 (5.2)	1 (0 0)	27 (0 0)					2 (0 0)
1999		78 (0.0)	(0.0)	88 (0.0)	8000 (0.1)	(0.0)		74 (0.0)				135 (5.2)	1 (0.0)	37 (0.0)			595 (0.0)		3 (0.0)
		334 (0 0)		176 (0 0)	(0.1)			(0 0)				(5.0)					301 (0 0)		
2000		291 (0.3)	(0, 0)	369 (0.0)	7200			(0,0)				58 (5 5)		207			525 (0.0)		2 (0 0)
		_010)	(0.0)	000 (0.07	(0.2)			(0.0)				55 (515)		(0.0)			010 (0.0)		2 (0.0)
2001		158 (1.3)	(0.0)	580 (0.0)	3714			166 (0.6)		(59.4)		73 (5.5)		1516			375 (0.0)		2 (0.0)
					(1.6)									(0.0)					
														(1.0)					
2002		124 (7.3)	(0.0)	488 (0.0)	76 (19.7)		54 (0.0)	126 (0.0)				34 (8.8)		423			120 (0.8)		
														(0.0)					
					(29.9)							(5.0)							
												(11.8)							
2002		202 /1 F)		F12 (0 0)	1600		160 (0.6)	21 (0.0)				(18.6)		6.4.1	(0,0)		227 (0 0)		
2003		203 (1.5)		512 (0.0)	1088		160 (0.6)	31 (0.0)				93 (1.1)		641 (2.2)	(0.0)		237 (0.0)		
2004		309 (1 3)		342 (0 0)	1705		93 (0 0)	191 (1.6)		(22.0)	19 (5 3)	155 (1 9)		(3.3) 87 (0.0)			258 (0 0)		
2004		505 (1.5)		542 (0.0)	(7.4)		55 (0.0)	191 (1.0)		(22.0)	15 (5.5)	155 (1.5)		07 (0.0)			230 (0.0)		
				353 (0.0)	(18.0)									395					
				· · ·	· · /									(26.3)					
														3154					
														(8.3)					
2005	338 (3.6)	265 (1.1)		293 (0.0)	761		217 (0.0)				133 (0.0)	194 (1.0)		(12.1)			456 (0.0)		
					(13.7)														
	(1.7)										111 (0.0)			(10.8)					
	(3.4)										22 (0.0)			(9.6)					
2006	(5.1)	220 (0 4)		(0, 6)	210		226 (0.0)				(6.5)	101 (0 F)					444 (0 0)	107	
2006		238 (0.4)		(0.6)	310 (11.6)		326 (0.0)				(0.5)	191 (0.5)					444 (0.0)	191	
				(2.6)	426						147 (0 0)							(0.0)	
				(2.0)	(25.0)						147 (0.0)								
				(4.5)	(146 (0.0)								
				281 (0.0)							1 (0.0)								
2007		197 (1.5)									30 (0.0)	224 (0.9)			750 (0.8)		388 (0.0)		1 (0.0)

	Afg	Bah	Dji	Egy	Irn	Irq	Jor	Kuw	Leb	Lib	Mor	Oma	OPT	Pak	SA	Sud	Syr	Tun	Yem
Year	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
											22 (0.0)								
											8 (0.0)								
2008	127 (11.0)										61 (1.6)								
											77 (1.3)								
2009								255 (0.0)	109 (0.9)		66 (0.0)				(0.3)				
											16 (6.3)								
2010		181 (3.9)						454 (0.2)							2925				
															(0.4)				
															(0.8)				
															(1.6)				
2011	4681 (0.9)						304 (0.0)	373 (0.0)			173 (2.3)	929 (1.4)	65 (0.0)		3441		478 (0.0)		
															(0.6)				
									(7.8)										

Afg: Afghanistan, Bah: Bahrain, Dji: Djibouti, Egy: Egypt, Irn: Iran, Irq: Iraq, Jor: Jordan, Kuw: Kuwait, Leb: Lebanon, Lib: Libya, Mor: Morocco, Oma: Oman, OPT: Occupied Palestinian Territories, Pak: Pakistan, SA: Saudi Arabia, Sud: Sudan, Syr: Sria, Tun: Tunisia, Yem: Yemen

	Afghanistan	Algeria	Bahrain	Egypt	Iran	Jordan	Lebanon	Libya	Morocco	Oman	OPT	Pakistan	Syria	Tunisia
Shared needles or syringes (%)														
Ever	8 [1], 11 [2], 17 [3], 27 [2], 34 [2], 50 [4]			59 [5]	12 [6], 12 [7] 14 [8], 18 [9] 20 [10], 25 [11] 28 [12], 31 [13] 31 [14], 32 [15] 32 [16], 34 [17], 35 [18], 36 [19], 36 [20], 37 [21], 48 [22] 49 [9], 49 [18] 50 [23], 66 [23] 76 [24], 70 [25], 71 [25], 95 [26,27]	63 [28], 64 [28], 71 [29]	41 [30], 65 [31]	85 [32]	47 [33]	90 [34], 94 [34], 97 [34]		14 [35], 17 [36], 41 [35], 46 [37], 50 [38], 53 [39], 56 [38], 56 [38], 58 [40], 63 [38], 63 [38], 64 [41], 67 [36], 74 [38], 68 [41], 69 [39], 70 [39], 79 [39],	46 [42]	
Last 6 months	16 [43], 28 [44], 29 [44], 34 [43], 45 [43]				47 [45], 64							47 [46]		
Last 3 months	6 [3]													
Last month				23 [47], 32 [48], 41 [47], 53 [48], 55 [5], 86 [49]	8 [13], 12 [50], 13 [51], 14 [50], 14 [52], 18 [50], 21 [25], 40 [25], 73 [53], 100 [54]				30 [55], 33 [55], 36 [55], 36 [55]			54 [56]	28 [42]	
Last week					9 [57], 23 [57]									
Last injection				25 [49]	6 [26], 11 [22]	61 [29]	17 [31], 21 [58]	18 [32]			11 [59], 19 [60]	18 [61], 18 [62], 18 [62], 22 [63], 23 [61], 23 [64], 23 [65], 24 [62], 24 [62], 25 [65], 28 [63], 30 [65], 31 [64], 35 [66], 47 [66], 82 [65]		
Currently										44 [34], 65 [34], 70 [34]		48 [67], 57 [68], 66 [69], 72 [67]		

Table S5. Measures of injecting risk behavior among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa

	Afghanistan	Algeria	Bahrain	Egypt	Iran	Jordan	Lebanon	Libya	Morocco	Oman	OPT	Pakistan	Syria	Tunisia
Unspecified		41 [70]	79 [71]	11 [72], 15 [73], 40 [74], 43 [75],	0 [76], 29 [77], 31 [78], 33 [79], 36 [80], 48 [81], 50 [82], 59 [83], 70 [84]						39 [85], 47 [85]	8 [86], 46 [87], 52 [88], 80 [38], 86 [89], 88 [38], 90 [90], 95 [91]		
Clean used needle before use (%)														
Always	14 [5]				14 [45]	34 [29]		86 [32]	70 [55], 85 [55]			43 [92], 64 [36]	60%[42]	
In the last month	34 [47], 83 [47]													
Last injection											54 [59]	49 [93]		
Unspecified Method of cleaning (%)						83 [28]					36 [85]			
Water				72 [5]		79 [28]		82 [32]	89 [55], 97 [55]		68 [59] 84 [85]	34 [36], 39 [65], 54 [93], 78 [46], 84 [92], 100 [65]	40 [42]	82 [94]
Bleach								9 [32]	4 [55], 7 [55]			0 [46], 5 [93]	3 [42]	8 [94]
Last time injected with (%)														
Friends/acquaintances												56 [65], 64 [63], 64 [61], 67 [66], 72 [65], 81 [64]		
Strangers												0 [64], 0 [66], 0 [61], 1 [63], 2 [65], 3 [65]		
Alone											45 [85], 61 [59]	15 [65], 18 [36], 18 [64], 27 [66], 32 [63], 34 [61], 36 [65], 42 [93]		
Place of last injection (%)														
Public place									21 [33], 46 [55], 51 [55]		47 [85]	25 [40], 66 [63], 78 [66], 79 [65], 82 [61], 89 [65], 91 [64]		

	Afghanistan	Algeria	Bahrain	Egypt	Iran	Jordan	Lebanon	Libya	Morocco	Oman	OPT	Pakistan	Syria	Tunisia
Home									33 [55], 41 [33], 46 [55]		54 [85]	3 [65], 5 [64], 9 [61], 11 [65], 11 [66], 14 [63], 68 [40]	74 [42]	
Used "street doctors" (%)														
Ever												26 [63], 42 [38], 77 [65], 84 [38], 99 [38], 100 [38]		
Last injection												247 [66], 32 [61], 44 [64]		
Unspecified												11 [67], 11 [67], 19 [93], 46 [39], 58 [39], 59 [69], 61 [39], 71 [39], 73 [36], 85 [36]		
Average # of injections														
/day	5.7 [3]				3.3 [95]							1.1 [36], 2 [69], 2 [56], 2.2 [65], 2.2 [63], 2.2 [61], 2.3 [96], 2.3 [65], 2.3 [66]		
/week					7.7 [97], 21.1 [98], 21.3 [97],									
/last month					54.0 [19], 92.6 [25], 104.3 [99], 110.3 [25]							20 [100], 63 [101], 67 [101]	41 [42]	
Age at first injection														
Mean (years)	25.8 [3], 26.4 [4]			23.1 [47], 23.3 [5], 27.0 [47]	23.6 [13], 23.7 [102], 23.9 [103], 24.0 [79], 24.0 [15], 25.0 [18], 25.9 [51], 26.0 [50], 26.3 [50], 26.5 [50], 27.0 [104], 27.3 [76], 27.4 [104], 28.1 [18]				32.9 [33]	20 [34], 22 [34], 22 [34]	28.8 [59]	25.0 [39], 25.2 [38], 25.6 [64], 27.0 [105], 27.0 [63], 27.2 [36], 27.9 [66], 28.1 [38], 28.3 [38], 28.5 [61], 29.1 [38], 31.6 [36]	27.0 [42]	

	Afghanistan	Algeria	Bahrain	Egypt	Iran	Jordan	Lebanon	Libya	Morocco	Oman	OPT	Pakistan	Syria	Tunisia
Median (years)	26.0 [43]				25.0 [22], 25.0				21.0 [55],			25.0 [46]		
					[14]				28.0 [55]					
Duration of injecting														
Mean (years)	1.3 [106], 1.4			6.4 [47], 9.3	1.6 [76], 2.0 [18],							2.1 [105], 4.2		
	[106], 1.7 [2],			[47]	2.6 [18], 3.8 [23],							[65], 4.4 [36], 4.6		
	2.1 [2], 2.3				4.1 [107], 4.5							[65], 4.6 [61], 4.9		
	[106], 2.4				[79], 4.5 [15], 4.8							[64], 5.3 [63], 5.9		
	[106], 2.5 [2],				[23], 4.8 [25], 4.9							[66], 6.1 [35], 7.6		
	2.9 [106], 3.3				[25], 5.4 [13], 5.8							[35], 7.7 [36]		
	[43], 4.0 [3],				[95], 6.7 [98], 7.4									
	4.4 [4]				[26], 8.4 [27], 12									
					[99]									
Median (years)					6 [22]				8.0 [55],			3 [41], 7 [41]		
									8.7 [55]					
Re-injecting own blood														
(%)														
Ever	69 [43], 70											70 [38], 91 [41],		
	[3], 73 [43],											92 [41], 92 [38],		
	81 [43], 83											94 [38], 96 [38]		
	[44]													
Selling or donating														
blood (%)														
Ever	5 [4]			30 [5]	56 [108]							3 [35], 8 [46], 12	23 [42]	
												[105], 23 [69], 27		
												[35], 28 [96], 31		
												[36], 44 [68]		
Last 12 months												1 [62], 2 [62]		
Last 6 months												1 [38], 5 [61], 5		
												[38], 9 [38], 11		
												[38]		

OPT: Occupied Palestinian Territories

References of Table S5

- 1. Action Aid Afghanistan (2006) A Study on Knowledge, Attitude, Behaviour and Practice in High Risk and Vulnerable Groups in Afghanistan.
- Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program (2010) Integrated Behavioral & Biological Surveillance (IBBS) in Afghanistan: Year 1 Report. HIV Surveillance Project - Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health. Kabul, Afghanistan.
- 3. Todd CS, Nasir A, Stanekzai MR, Fiekert K, Rasuli MZ, et al. (2011) Prevalence and correlates of HIV, syphilis, and hepatitis B and C infection and harm reduction program use among male injecting drug users in Kabul, Afghanistan: A cross-sectional assessment. Harm Reduct J 8: 22.
- 4. Todd CS, Abed AM, Strathdee SA, Scott PT, Botros BA, et al. (2007) HIV, hepatitis C, and hepatitis B infections and associated risk behavior in injection drug users, Kabul, Afghanistan. Emerg Infect Dis 13: 1327-1331.
- 5. Elshimi T, Warner-Smith M, Aon M (2004) Blood-borne virus risks of problematic drug users in Greater Cairo. Geneva, UNAIDS & UNODC. August.
- 6. Kheirandish P, Seyedalinaghi SA, Hosseini M, Jahani MR, Shirzad H, et al. (2010) Prevalence and correlates of HIV infection among male injection drug users in detention in Tehran, Iran. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 53: 273-275.
- Khani M, Vakili MM (2003) Prevalence and risk factors of HIV, hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infections in drug addicts among Zanjan prisoners. Archives of Iranian Medicine 6: 1-4.
- Amiri M, Khosravi A, Chaman R (2010) Drug abuse pattern and high risk behaviors among addicts in Shahroud County of Semnan Province, Northeast Iran in 2009. Journal of Research in Health Sciences 10: 104-109.
- 9. Rahbar AR, Rooholamini S, Khoshnood K (2004) Prevalence of HIV infection and other bloodborne infections in incarcerated and non-incarcerated injection drug users (IDUs) in Mashhad, Iran. International Journal of Drug Policy 15: 151-155.
- 10. Imani R, Karimi A, Rouzbahani R, Rouzbahani A (2008) Seroprevalence of HBV, HCV and HIV infection among intravenous drug users in Shahr-e-Kord, Islamic Republic of Iran. East Mediterr Health J 14: 1136-1141.
- 11. Sayad B, Saeed FS, Keyvani H, Rezali M, Asadi T, et al. (2008) Seroepidemiology of hepatitis C in Kermanshah (West of Iran, 2006). Hepatitis Monthly 8: 141-146.
- 12. Malekinejad M, Mohraz M, Razani N, Khairandish P, McFarland W, et al. HIV and related risk behaviors of injecting drug users (IDU) in Iran: findings from the first respondent-driven sampling (RDS) survey of IDU in Tehran in 2006-2007. Abstract no. THAC0202 2008; Mexico.
- 13. Zamani S, Radfar R, Nematollahi P, Fadaie R, Meshkati M, et al. (2010) Prevalence of HIV/HCV/HBV infections and drug-related risk behaviours amongst IDUs recruited through peer-driven sampling in Iran. Int J Drug Policy 21: 493-500.
- 14. Zamani S, Kihara M, Gouya MM, Vazirian M, Ono-Kihara M, et al. (2005) Prevalence of and factors associated with HIV-1 infection among drug users visiting treatment centers in Tehran, Iran. AIDS 19: 709-716.
- Momtazi S, Fallahnejad M, Shoghli A, Musavinasab N, Tavassoli S (2010) HIV high risk behavior in a sample of Iranian injection drug users. Abstract no. TUPE0338. AIDS 2010 -XVIII International AIDS Conference. Vienna, Austria.
- 16. Vahdani P, Hosseini-Moghaddam SM, Family A, Moheb-Dezfouli R (2009) Prevalence of HBV, HCV, HIV and syphilis among homeless subjects older than fifteen years in Tehran. Arch Iran Med 12: 483-487.

- 17. Javadi A, Ataei B, Yaran M, Nokhodian Z, Kassaian N, et al. (2013) Prevalence of HIV infection and related risk factors in Isfahan Drop in Centers. Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences 29: 346-350.
- 18. Farhoudi B, Montevalian A, Motamedi M, Khameneh MM, Mohraz M, et al. (2003) Human immunodeficiency virus and HIV associated tuberculosis infection and their risk factors in injecting drug users in prison in Iran. Iran Ministry of Health, Tehran, Iran.
- 19. Dibaj R, Ataei B, Yaran M, Nokhodian Z, Tayeri K, et al. (2013) Prevalence of HIV infection in inmates with history of injection drug use and evaluation of risk factors, in Isfahan, Iran. Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences 29: 399-402.
- 20. Rafiey H, Narenjiha H, Shirinbayan P, Noori R, Javadipour M, et al. (2009) Needle and syringe sharing among Iranian drug injectors. Harm Reduct J 6: 21.
- 21. Hassannejad R, Kassaian N, Ataei B, Adibi P (2012) High risky behaviors among intravenous drug users in Isfahan, Iran: A study for hepatitis c harm reduction programs. International Journal of Preventive Medicine 3.
- 22. Zamani S, Kihara M, Gouya MM, Vazirian M, Nassirimanesh B, et al. (2006) High prevalence of HIV infection associated with incarceration among community-based injecting drug users in Tehran, Iran. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 42: 342-346.
- 23. Mir-Nasseri MM, Mohammadkhani A, Tavakkoli H, Ansari E, Poustchi H (2011) Incarceration is a major risk factor for blood-borne infection among intravenous drug users. Hepatitis Monthly 11: 19-22.
- 24. Day C, Nassirimanesh B, Shakeshaft A, Dolan K (2006) Patterns of drug use among a sample of drug users and injecting drug users attending a General Practice in Iran. Harm Reduct J 3: 2.
- 25. Zamani S, Vazirian M, Nassirimanesh B, Razzaghi EM, Ono-Kihara M, et al. (2010) Needle and syringe sharing practices among injecting drug users in Tehran: a comparison of two neighborhoods, one with and one without a needle and syringe program. AIDS Behav 14: 885-890.
- 26. Kazerooni PA, Lari MA, Joolaei H, Parsa N (2010) Knowledge and attitude of male intravenous drug users on HIV/AIDS associated high risk behaviors in Shiraz Pir-Banon jail, Fars Province, Southern Iran. Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal 12: 334-336.
- 27. Amin-Esmaeili M, Rahimi-Movaghar A, Razaghi EM, Baghestani AR, Jafari S (2012) Factors correlated with hepatitis C and B virus infections among injecting drug users in Tehran, IR Iran. Hepatitis Monthly 12: 23-31.
- 28. Shahroury M (2011) Assessment report on injecting drug users in Jordan. Future Guardians Forum Association, Amman, Jordan.
- 29. Jordan National AIDS Program (2010) Preliminary analysis of Jordan IBBSS among injecting drug users. Ministry of Health, Amman, Jordan.
- 30. Aaraj E Report on the situation analysis on vulnerable groups in Beirut, Lebanon. Lebanon Ministry of Health, Beirut, Lebanon.
- 31. Hermez J HIV/AIDS prevention through outreach to vulnerable populations in Beirut, Lebanon. Final Report.
- 32. Mirzoyan L, Berendes S, Jeffery C, Thomson J, Ben Othman H, et al. (2013) New evidence on the HIV epidemic in Libya: why countries must implement prevention programs among people who inject drugs. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 62: 577-583.
- 33. Ministère de la Santé au Maroc, Direction de l'Épidémiologie et de Lutte contre les Maladies, Programme de lutte contre la toxicomanie (2006) Evaluation rapide de la situation sur le risque d'infection à VIH en relation avec l'usage des drogues injectées et injectables et à problème au Maroc (French) [Rapid situation assessment on the risk of HIV infection associated with the use of injected, injectable, and other drugs in Morocco]. Rabat, Morocco.

- 34. Oman Ministry of Health (2006) HIV Risk among Heroin and Injecting Drug Users in Muscat, Oman. Quantitative Survey. Preliminary Data. Muscat, Oman.
- 35. Platt L, Vickerman P, Collumbien M, Hasan S, Lalji N, et al. (2009) Prevalence of HIV, HCV and sexually transmitted infections among injecting drug users in Rawalpindi and Abbottabad, Pakistan: evidence for an emerging injection-related HIV epidemic. Sex Transm Infect 85 Suppl 2: ii17-22.
- 36. Altaf A, Shah SA, A. M (2003) Follow up study to assess and evaluate knowledge, attitude and high risk behaviors and prevalence of HIV, HBV, HCV and Syphilis among IDUS at Burns Road DIC, Karachi. External report submitted to UNODC.
- 37. Kazi AM, Shah SA, Jenkins CA, Shepherd BE, Vermund SH (2010) Risk factors and prevalence of tuberculosis, human immunodeficiency virus, syphilis, hepatitis B virus, and hepatitis C virus among prisoners in Pakistan. Int J Infect Dis 14 Suppl 3: e60-66.
- 38. Nai Zindagi, Punjab Provincial AIDS Control Program (2005) The lethal overdose: Injecting drug use and HIV/AIDS.
- 39. Nai Zindagi, Punjab Provincial AIDS Control Program (2009) Rapid situation assessments of HIV prevalence and risk factors among people injecting drugs in four cities of the Punjab.
- 40. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC), Country Office Pakistan (2010) Female drug use in Pakistan: Mapping estimates, ethnographic results & behavioural assessment.
- 41. Kuo I, ul-Hasan S, Galai N, Thomas DL, Zafar T, et al. (2006) High HCV seroprevalence and HIV drug use risk behaviors among injection drug users in Pakistan. Harm Reduct J 3: 26.
- 42. Syria Mental Health Directorate, Syria National AIDS Programme (2008) Assessment of HIV Risk and Sero-prevalence among Drug Users in Greater Damascus. Syrian Ministry of Health. UNODC. UNAIDS. Damascus, Syria
- 43. Nasir A, Todd CS, Stanekzai MR, Bautista CT, Botros BA, et al. (2011) Prevalence of HIV, hepatitis B and hepatitis C and associated risk behaviours amongst injecting drug users in three Afghan cities. Int J Drug Policy 22: 145-152.
- 44. Todd CS, Abed AM, Scott PT, Botros BA, Safi N, et al. (2008) Correlates of receptive and distributive needle sharing among injection drug users in Kabul, Afghanistan. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse 34: 91-100.
- 45. Radfar R, Pooya A, Meshkaty M, Fadai R, Soltanolkotaby MA (2007) Pattern of behaviors and risks among injecting drug users coming in HAFTOON drop in center, Isfahan, Iran. 18th International Conference on the Reduction of Drug Related Harm, Warsaw, Poland.
- 46. Parviz S, Fatmi Z, Altaf A, McCormick JB, Fischer-Hoch S, et al. (2006) Background demographics and risk behaviors of injecting drug users in Karachi, Pakistan. Int J Infect Dis 10: 364-371.
- 47. Family Health International and Ministry of Health Egypt (2010) HIV/AIDS Biological & Behavioral Surveillance Survey: Round Two Summary Report, Cairo, Egypt 2010. FHI in collaboration with the Ministry of Health and support from the Global Fund. Found at http://www.fhi360.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/BBSS%202010_0.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.
- 48. Soliman C, Rahman IA, Shawky S, Bahaa T, Elkamhawi S, et al. (2010) HIV prevalence and risk behaviors of male injection drug users in Cairo, Egypt. AIDS 24 Suppl 2: S33-38.
- 49. E. Elghamrawy, O. Abaza, S. Abou Elmagd, H. Ramy, S. Atallah, et al. Risk behaviours among male injecting drug users in Egypt. Abstract no. MOPE227 2012; Washington DC, USA.
- 50. Iran Ministry of Health and Medical Education, Kyoto University School of Public Hleath (Japan) (2008) Integrated bio-behavioral surveillance for HIV infection among injecting drug users in Iran. Draft of the 1st analysis on the collected data, Tehran, Iran.

- 51. Osooli M, Khajehkazemi R, Sajadi L, Sedaghat A, Fahimfar N, et al. (2012) HIV prevalence and risk behaviors of adult male injection drug users in Iran; a 2010 national surveillance survey. In press.
- 52. Vazirian M, Nassirimanesh B, Zamani S, Ono-Kihara M, Kihara M, et al. (2005) Needle and syringe sharing practices of injecting drug users participating in an outreach HIV prevention program in Tehran, Iran: a cross-sectional study. Harm Reduct J 2: 19.
- 53. Mojtahedzadeh V, Razani N, Malekinejad M, Vazirian M, Shoaee S, et al. (2008) Injection drug use in Rural Iran: integrating HIV prevention into iran's rural primary health care system. AIDS Behav 12: S7-12.
- 54. Alavi SM, Alavi L, Jaafari F (2010) Outbreak investigation of needle sharing-induced malaria, Ahvaz, Iran. Int J Infect Dis 14: e240-242.
- 55. Morocco Ministry of Health, National Aids Control Program, National Institute of Hygiene, UNAIDS, Global Fund to Fight AIDS Tuberculosis and Malaria (2012) HIV Integrated Behavioral and Biological Surveillance Surveys-Morocco 2011-2012: Injecting Drug Users in Tanger and Nador, Morocco. Rabat, Morocco.
- 56. Hadi D.H.M.H, Shujaat P.D.M.G.S.H, Waheed P.D.W.u.Z, Masood P.D.M.G.M.A (2005) Incidence of hepatitis C virus and HIV among injecting drug users in Northern Pakistan: a prospective cohort study. Abstract no. MoOa0104. IAS 2005 - The 3rd IAS Conference on HIV Pathogenesis and Treatment Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.
- 57. Heidari AR, Mirahmadizadeh AR, Keshtkaran A, Javanbakht M, Etemad K, et al. (2011) Changes in unprotected sexual behavior and shared syringe use among addicts referring to Methadone Maintenance Treatment [MMT] centers affiliated to Shiraz University of Medical Sciences in Shiraz, Iran: an uncontrolled interventional study [Persian]. J Sch Public Health Inst Public Health Res 9: 67-76.
- 58. Mahfoud Z, Afifi R, Ramia S, El Khoury D, Kassak K, et al. (2010) HIV/AIDS among female sex workers, injecting drug users and men who have sex with men in Lebanon: results of the first biobehavioral surveys. AIDS 24 Suppl 2: S45-54.
- 59. Palestine Ministry of Health (2011) HIV bio-behavioral survey among injecting drug users in the East Jerusalem Governorate, 2010.
- 60. Stulhofer A, Chetty A, Rabie RA, Jwehan I, Ramlawi A (2012) The Prevalence of HIV, HBV, HCV, and HIV-Related Risk-Taking Behaviors among Palestinian Injecting Drug Users in the East Jerusalem Governorate. J Urban Health 89: 671-676.
- 61. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2008) HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round III. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-%20National%20report%20Round%20III%202008.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.

- 62. Bokhari A, Nizamani NM, Jackson DJ, Rehan NE, Rahman M, et al. (2007) HIV risk in Karachi and Lahore, Pakistan: an emerging epidemic in injecting and commercial sex networks. Int J STD AIDS 18: 486-492.
- 63. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2006-07) HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round II. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-

%20Round%202%20Report%202006-07.pdf. Last accessed February 2014.

64. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2011) HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round IV. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-%20National%20report%20Round%20IV%202011.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.

65. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2005) Integrated biological and behavioral surveillance: A Pilot study in Karachi & Rawalpindi 2004-5. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports//Surveillance%20&%20Research//HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/Integrated%20Biological%20&%20Behavioral%20Surveillance%20Pilot%20Study %20in%20Karachi%20&%20Rawalpindi%202005-06.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.

66. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2005) HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round I. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-%20Round%201%20Report%20-%202005.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.

- 67. Zafar T, Brahmbhatt H, Imam G, ul Hassan S, Strathdee SA (2003) HIV knowledge and risk behaviors among Pakistani and Afghani drug users in Quetta, Pakistan. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 32: 394-398.
- 68. Ahmed MA, Zafar T, Brahmbhatt H, Imam G, UI Hassan S, et al. (2003) HIV/AIDS risk behaviors and correlates of injection drug use among drug users in Pakistan. J Urban Health 80: 321-329.
- 69. Strathdee SA, Zafar T, Brahmbhatt H, Baksh A, ul Hassan S (2003) Rise in needle sharing among injection drug users in Pakistan during the Afghanistan war. Drug Alcohol Depend 71: 17-24.
- 70. Moutassem-Mimouni B, Benghabrit-Remaoun N (2006) A study on the potential link between the problematic use of drugs and HIV/AIDS in Algeria (French) [Etude du lien potentiel entre usage problématique de drogues et VIH/SIDA en Algérie]. Ministère de l'Enseignement Supérieur et de la Recherche Scientifique, Centre National de Recherche en Anthropologie Sociale et Culturelle. Alger, Algeria
- 71. Al-Haddad MK, Khashaba AS, Baig BZ, Khalfan S (1994) HIV antibodies among intravenous drug users in Bahrain. J Commun Dis 26: 127-132.
- 72. Salama, II, Kotb NK, Hemeda SA, Zaki F (1998) HIV/AIDS knowledge and attitudes among alcohol and drug abusers in Egypt. J Egypt Public Health Assoc 73: 479-500.
- 73. Attia, Medhat S (1996) HIV Seropositivity and KAP towards AIDS among drug addicts in Alexandria. Bull High Inst Public Health 26: 1-8.
- 74. Saleh E, El-Ghazzawi E, El-Sherbini I, Drew W, McFarland W, et al. (1998) Sentinel surveillance for HIV and high risk behaviors among injection drug users in Alexandria, Egypt. Abstract no. 13124. AIDS 1998 - XII International AIDS Conference. Geneva, Switzerland.
- 75. Elsawy HF, Al-Kabash IM (2011) Risky behaviors of HIV infection among drug dependents in Egypt. European Psychiatry 26.
- 76. Dolan K, Salimi S, Nassirimanesh B, Mohsenifar S, Allsop D, et al. (2011) Characteristics of Iranian women seeking drug treatment. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 20: 1687-1691.

- 77. Eshrati B, Asl RT, Dell CA, Afshar P, Millson PME, et al. (2008) Preventing HIV transmission among Iranian prisoners: Initial support for providing education on the benefits of harm reduction practices. Harm Reduction Journal 5.
- 78. Zakizad M, Salmeh F, Yaghoobi T, Yaghoubian M, Nesami MB, et al. (2009) Seroprevalence of hepatitis C infection and associated risk factors among addicted prisoners in Sari-Iran. Pak J Biol Sci 12: 1012-1018.
- 79. Shoghli AR, Mosavi Nasab SN, Fallahnezhad M, Momtazi S, Tavasoli SS, et al. (2011) Behavioral surveillance survey (BSS) among injection drug users (IDUs) in Zanjan-Iran. [Persian]. Journal of Zanjan University of Medical Sciences and Health Services 19: 11.
- 80. Dastjerdi G, Ebrahimi Dehshiri V, Kholasezade G, Ehsani F (2010) Effectiveness of Methadone in Reduction of High Risk Behaviors in Clients of MMT Center [Persian]. Journal of Shaheed Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences 18: 215-219.
- 81. Alizadeh AH, Alavian SM, Jafari K, Yazdi N (2005) Prevalence of hepatitis C virus infection and its related risk factors in drug abuser prisoners in Hamedan--Iran. World J Gastroenterol 11: 4085-4089.
- 82. Ghasemian R, Najafi N, Amirkhanloo K (2011) The study of infections due to injection drug abuse in the injecting drug users hospitalized at Imam Khomeini Hospital in Sari and Razi Hospital in Ghaemshahr in 2007-2009. Journal of Mazandaran University of Medical Sciences 21: 8-15.
- 83. Pourahmad M, Javady A, Karimi I, Ataei B, Kassaeian N (2007) Seroprevalence of and risk factors associated with hepatitis B, hepatitis C, and human immunodeficiency virus among prisoners in Iran. Infectious Diseases in Clinical Practice 15: 368-372.
- 84. Alaei K, Alaei A, Mansoori D, Tabar, Heravi, et al. (2002) The epidemiological status of IDU and HIV infection in addict cases submitted to HIV/STI/IDU Counseling and Care Center in Kermanshah province. Abstract no. LbPp2211. AIDS 2002 - XIV International AIDS Conference. Barcelona, Spain.
- 85. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC), Arab World for Research and Development, Palestinian Authority (2011) Situation assessment of drug use and HIV among drug users in the West Bank and Gaza strip.
- 86. Farooq S, Akhtar J, Azeemi MH, Nazar Z, Khan SA (2006) Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of IV drug users presenting to a tertiary care treatment centre. Journal of Postgraduate Medical Institute 20: 3-7.
- 87. Kazi A, Shah S, Jenkins C, Altaf A, Vermund S (2010) High risk behaviors related to sexual and drug use among prisoners in Pakistan. Abstract no. TUPE0274. AIDS 2010 XVIII International AIDS Conference. Vienna, Austria.
- 88. Baqi S, Nabi N, Hasan SN, Khan AJ, Pasha O, et al. (1998) HIV antibody seroprevalence and associated risk factors in sex workers, drug users, and prisoners in Sindh, Pakistan. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 18: 73-79.
- Akhtar A, Aslam M, Zafar M (2004) Determinants of HIV risky behaviors among drug users in Faisalabad Pakistan. Abstract no. C11530. AIDS 2004 - XV International AIDS Conference Bangkok, Thailand.
- 90. UrRehman N (2002) Injecting drug use and HIV/AIDS in pakistan. Abstract no. MoPeD3667. AIDS 2002 - XIV International AIDS Conference. Barcelona, Spain.
- 91. Ur Rehman L, Ullah I, Ali I, Khan IA, Iqbal A, et al. (2011) Active hepatitis C infection and HCV genotypes prevalent among the IDUs of Khyber Pakhtunkhwa. Virology Journal 8.
- 92. Nai Zindagi, UNODCCP, UNAIDS. (1999) Baseline study of the relationship between injecting drug use, HIV and Hepatitis C among male injecting drug users in Lahore.
- 93. Emmanuel F, Akhtar S, Attarad A, Kamran C (2004) HIV risk behavior and practices among heroin addicts in Lahore, Pakistan. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health 35: 940-948.

- 94. Tunisia Ministry of Health, Tunisian Association for Information and Orientation on HIV (2013) Enquête sérocomportementale du VIH et des hépatites virales C auprès des usagers de drogues injectables en Tunisie [French]. Biobehavioral surveillance of HIV and Hepatitis C among injecting drug users in Tunisia. Tunis, Tunisia.
- 95. Asadi S, Marjani M (2006) Prevalence of intravenous drug use-associated infections. Iranian Journal of Clinical Infectious Diseases 1: 59-62.
- 96. Altaf A, Shah SA, Zaidi NA, Memon A, Nadeem ur R, et al. (2007) High risk behaviors of injection drug users registered with harm reduction programme in Karachi, Pakistan. Harm Reduct J 4: 7.
- 97. Alavian SM, Mirahmadizadeh A, Javanbakht M, Keshtkaran A, Heidari A, et al. (2013) Effectiveness of methadone maintenance treatment in prevention of hepatitis C virus transmission among injecting drug users. Hepatitis Monthly 13: 9.
- 98. Mirahmadizadeh AR, Majdzadeh R, Mohammad K, MH F (2009) Prevalence of HIV and Hepatitis C Virus Infections and Related Behavioral Determinants among Injecting Drug Users of Drop-in Centers in Iran. Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal 11: 325-329.
- 99. Nokhodian Z, Meshkati M, Adibi P, Ataei B, Kassaian N, et al. (2012) Hepatitis C among intravenous drug users in Isfahan, Iran: A study of seroprevalence and risk factors. International Journal of Preventive Medicine 3: S131-138.
- 100. Ahmad S, Mehmood J, Awan AB, Zafar ST, Khoshnood K, et al. (2011) Female spouses of injection drug users in Pakistan: a bridge population of the HIV epidemic? East Mediterr Health J 17: 271-276.
- 101. Pakistan National AIDS Control Programe (2005) National Study of Reproductive Tract and Sexually Transmitted Infections. Survey of High Risk Groups in Lahore and Karachi. Ministry of Health, Pakistan.
- 102. Mirzazadeh A, Navadeh S, Kamali K, Fahimfar N, Azadmanesh K, et al. (2010) High risk injection amongst male prisoners, before and during captivity; a national bio-behavioral survey. Abstract no. TUPE0461. AIDS 2010 - XVIII International AIDS Conference. Vienna, Austria.
- 103. Zamani S, Farnia M, Torknejad A, Alaei BA, Gholizadeh M, et al. (2010) Patterns of drug use and HIV-related risk behaviors among incarcerated people in a prison in Iran. J Urban Health 87: 603-616.
- 104. Alipour A, Haghdoost AA, Sajadi L, Zolala F (2013) HIV prevalence and related risk behaviours among female partners of male injecting drugs users in Iran: results of a biobehavioural survey, 2010. Sex Transm Infect 89 Suppl 3: iii41-44.
- 105. Achakzai M, Kassi M, Kasi PM (2007) Seroprevalences and co-infections of HIV, hepatitis C virus and hepatitis B virus in injecting drug users in Quetta, Pakistan. Trop Doct 37: 43-45.
- 106. Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program (2012) Integrated Behavioral & Biological Surveillance (IBBS) in selected cities of Afghanistan: Findings of 2012 IBBS survey and comparison to 2009 IBBS survey. Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health. Kabul, Afghanistan.
- 107. Aminzadeh Z (2007) Seroepidemiology of HIV, syphilis, hepatitis B and C in intravenous drug users at Loghman Hakim hospital]. Iran J Med Meicrobiol 1: 53-56.
- 108. Zali MR, Aghazadeh R, Nowroozi A, Amir-Rasouly H (2001) Anti-HCV antibody among Iranian IV drug users: is it a serious problem. Arch Iranian Med 4: 115-119.

	Afghanistan	Bahrain	Egypt	Iran	Jordan	Lebanon	Libya	Morocco	Oman	OPT	Pakistan	Syria	Tunisia
Sexually active (%)													
Currently			30 [1], 73 [2]	95 [3]									
Ever	83 [4], 86 [4], 92 [5], 93 [4], 94 [4]	91 [6]	95 [7], 96 [7], 96 [8]	75 [9], 77 [10], 81 [11], 84 [12], 85 [13], 86 [14], 87 [14], 88 [14]			77 [15]		91 [16], 94 [16], 100 [16]		77 [17], 79 [17], 84 [18], 89 [19], 89 [20], 93 [21], 94 [19], 95 [22]		96 [23], 97 [24]
Last year			71 [8], 76 [7], 80 [7]	39 [25], 54 [25]	64 [26]	73 [27]					52 [28]	78 [29]	
Last 12 months								55 [30], 61 [30]					87 [24]
Last 6 months	58 [31], 76 [31], 78 [31], 80 [31], 85 [31]										22 [32], 91 [33]		
Last month Married (%)			54 [2]				23 [15]			63 [34]		68 [29]	
Currently	30 [35], 34 [35], 37 [31], 39 [31], 42 [31], 43 [35], 52 [36], 53 [31], 61 [31], 68 [37]	27 [6]	29 [7], 38 [38], 39 [8], 49 [7]	9 [39], 26 [40], 28 [14], 29 [41], 33 [42], 33 [43], 33 [25], 33 [14], 33 [25], 35 [44], 36 [14], 39 [45], 45 [46], 45 [47], 45 [48], 48 [49], 48 [50], 52 [51], 54 [52], 56 [53], 64 [47], 67 [54], 79 [54], 89 [55]	49 [26]	21 [56]	12 [15]	19 [57], 20 [30], 21 [30]	3 [16], 26 [16], 28 [16]	67 [58]	24 [59], 26 [60], 26 [17], 28 [61], 30 [32], 30 [62], 31 [28], 33 [63], 34 [21], 35 [64], 41 [22], 42 [65], 45[20], 45 [63], 45 [63], 45 [18], 48 [63], 53 [66], 53 [66], 55 [33], 68 [19], 73 [67], 77 [19]	44 [29]	16 [24]
Ever	38 [68], 46 [5], 52 [68], 64 [69]		34 [7], 56 [8], 56 [7]	19 [70], 35 [12], 43 [71], 44 [13], 52 [72], 54 [14], 54 [39], 55 [14], 55 [73], 56 [14], 57 [11], 65 [73]		33 [56]					26 [74], 43 [74]		20 [24]
Had sex with regular female partners (%)													
Last year			83 [7], 86 [7], 89 [8]	43 [14], 57 [14], 58 [14]		66 [56]							
Last 6 months											26 [21], 38 [22], 42		

Table S6. Measures of sexual risk behavior and sexually transmitted infections prevalence among people who inject drugs in MENA

[20], 46 [18]

	Afghanistan	Bahrain	Egypt	Iran	Jordan	Lebanon	Libya	Morocco	Oman	OPT	Pakistan	Syria	Tunisia
Last month						62 [75]	73 [15]						77 [24]
Had sex with non-regular													
female partners (%)													
Last year			29 [8], 34	27 [14], 31 [14],		40 [56]		18 [30],					42 [24]
			[7], 42 [7]	34 [14]				36 [30]					
Last month						34 [75]	28 [15]						
Unspecified				73 [54]									
Had sex with men (%)													
Ever	2 [31], 10 [5], 10 [31], 10 [4], 14 [35], 15 [35], 19 [31], 19 [31], 25 [4], 26 [35], 26 [4], 29 [31], 36 [4]		9 [2], 18 [38]	5 [45], 8 [39], 8 [11], 11 [12], 13 [76], 14 [14], 17 [14], 17 [14], 18, [49], 24 [43], 27 [51], 30 [52], 36 [9], 39 [76]	12 [26]	25 [27]			6 [16], 12 [16], 15 [16], 28 [16], 42 [16], 35 [16]	25 [58]	37 [19], 50 [19]		
Last 5 years											7 [32]		
Last 12 months			8 [7], 9 [8], 14 [7]	2 [25], 2 [25], 7 [14], 8 [14], 10 [14]	7 [26]						2 [77], 14 [77]	4 [29]	
Last 6 months											18 [17], 27 [17]		
Last month				19 [44]		10 [27]							
Unknown/unspecified		9 [6]		12 [3], 14 [78]				14 [57]			24 [28]		
Had sex with a sex worker (%)													
Ever	23 [4], 37 [5], 38 [4], 47 [35] 56 [35], 64 [35], 67 [4], 72 [4]		13 [8]	23 [45], 25 [12], 32 [13], 41 [39]		50 [56]			31 [16], 40 [16], 54 [16], 60 [16], 65 [16], 97 [16]	18 [34]	41 [79], 43 [62], 68 [19], 71 [19], 81 [17], 18 [17]	47 [29]	
Last 12 months				9 [25], 15 [25]	30 [26]						21 [77], 18 [74], 23 [74], 24 [77], 30 [74], 34 [74]		
Last 6 months	5 [68], 6 [68], 19 [68]										7 [21], 8 [61], 13[18], 13 [61], 13 [61], 14 [21], 14 [22], 15 [20], 18 [22], 27 [18] 27 [61], 28 [61]		
Last month						33 [75]	20 [15]				11 [67], 47 [67]	40 [29]	

	Afghanistan	Bahrain	Egypt	Iran	Jordan	Lebanon	Libya	Morocco	Oman	OPT	Pakistan	Syria	Tunisia
Unknown/unspecified											3 [28], 96 [28]		
Sold sex (%)													
Ever				8 [39], 36 [14], 43 [14], 45 [14]		12 [56], 25 [27]							
Last 12 months			26 [38]	18 [14], 22 [14] 26 [14], 29 [78]				18 [30], 24 [30]		8 [34]	5 [74], 11 [74]		
Last 6 months								[]			15 [21], 17 [22], 20 [18]		
Last month				19 [80]									
Unknown/unspecified											9 [66], 14 [61], 19 [28], 20 [61]		
Sold or bought sex (%)													
Ever			51 [2]										
Last 12 months			11 [7], 13 [7]							25 [58]			26 [24]
Unknown/unspecified								68 [57]					
Have multiple partners (%)													
Lifetime				54 [11], 57 [14], 59 [14], 62 [14]									
Last 12 months			39 [7], 45 [7]		46 [26]			51 [57]		29 [58]	51 [28]		60 [24]
Last 6 months											18 [33]		
Last month			49 [2]				23 [15]						
Unknown/unspecified				41 [47]									
Overall condom use (%)													
Ever	10 [4],16 [4], 19 [4],30 [4], 33 [4]		41 [2]	24 [51], 24 [25], 29 [25], 53 [11], 53 [13], 57 [9]		88 [27]		55 [57]	53 [16], 63[16], 69[16]		14 [19], 16 [79], 18 [28], 21 [62], 36 [67], 37 [17], 38 [19]	60 [29]	
Last 12 months								24 [30], 36 [30]					
Last 6 months											33 [32]		
Last act	4 [31], 15 [31], 17 [35],18 [31], 20 [31], 26 [35], 27 [31], 32 [35]			38 [80]	7 [81]		66 [15]			34 [58]			24 [24], 34 [23]
Unknown/unspecified			9 [82]	68 [55]									
Consistent condom use (%)													
Last 12 months			14 [2]						12 [16], 19 [16], 25 [16]			19 [29]	
Last 6 months											7 [32]		
	Afghanistan	Bahrain	Egypt	Iran	Jordan	Lebanon	Libya	Morocco	Oman	OPT	Pakistan	Syria	Tunisia
---	---	---------	----------	----------------------------	---------	---------	---------	---------	------------------------------	---------	---	---------	---------------------
Last month										30 [58]			
Unknown/unspecified Condom use with commercial sex workers (%)											9 [32]		
Ever	18 [4], 19 [4], 34 [4], 39 [4]				65 [26]								
Last 12 months			34 [8]	24 [25], 24 [25]									
Last 6 months											7 [61], 49 [61]		
Last month									67 [16], 75 [16], 75 [16]			49 [29]	
Last act							80 [15]			48 [34]	17 [20], 17 [74], 21 [18], 28 [21], 31 [22], 32 [74]		29 [24], 37 [23]
Condom use during anal sex with male (%)													
Ever	3 [4], 4 [83], 13 [83], 13 [83]												
Last 12 months				0 [25], 33 [25]					0 [16], 40 [16], 42 [16]			0 [29]	
Last act				6 [14], 8 [14], 15 [14]									
Prevalence of:													
Syphilis (%)	0.0 [4], 1.2 [5], 1.2 [4], 1.9 [35], 2.2 [4], 3.3 [31], 3.5 [35], 3.8 [31], 4.0 [31], 4.0 [31], 6.2 [31], 6.9 [31], 13.9 [4], 16.7 [35]		3.0 [84]	0.0 [85], 8.0 [86]							1.2 [87], 3.9 [77], 7.6 [77], 13.1 [67], 14.0 [88], 16.9 [17], 18.2 [88]		
HSV-2 (%)	4.4 [35], 7.7 [35], 20.6 [35]										6.0 [77], 11.0 [77], 19.0 [87]		
Gonorrhea (%)											0.0 [77], 1.0 [88], 1.3 [77], 1.8 [88], 12.8 [87]		
Chlamydia (%)											0.0 [77], 0.2 [88], 0.5 [88], 0.7 [77]		

	Afghanistan	Bahrain	Egypt	Iran	Jordan	Lebanon	Libya	Morocco	Oman	ОРТ	Pakistan	Syria	Tunisia
Self-reported history of			11.0 [82]	7.6 [45], 22.8							6.8 [20], 10.0 [17],		
sexually transmitted				[47]							10.4 [18], 11.4 [22],		
disease (%)											12.1 [79], 18.8 [17],		
											23.0 [89], 54.1 [19],		
											65.9 [19]		

OPT: Occupied Palestinian Territories. NB: The denominator in some studies corresponds to sexual active PWID while in other studies the denominator corresponds to the total sample of PWID in the study.

References of Table S6

- 1. Hasan M, Farag A, Ismail M (1994) AIDS and intravenous drug users in Egypt. Abstract no. PC0143. AIDS 1994 X International AIDS Conference Yokohama, Japan.
- 2. Elshimi T, Warner-Smith M, Aon M (2004) Blood-borne virus risks of problematic drug users in Greater Cairo. Geneva, UNAIDS & UNODC. August.
- 3. Rowhani-Rahbar A, Tabatabaee-Yazdi A, Panahi M (2004) Prevalence of Common Blood-Borne Infections among Imprisoned Injection Drug Users in Mashhad, North-East of Iran. Archives of Iranian Medicine 7: 190-194.
- 4. Todd CS, Nasir A, Raza Stanekzai M, Abed AM, Strathdee SA, et al. (2010) Prevalence and correlates of syphilis and condom use among male injection drug users in four Afghan cities. Sex Transm Dis 37: 719-725.
- 5. Todd CS, Nasir A, Stanekzai MR, Fiekert K, Rasuli MZ, et al. (2011) Prevalence and correlates of HIV, syphilis, and hepatitis B and C infection and harm reduction program use among male injecting drug users in Kabul, Afghanistan: A cross-sectional assessment. Harm Reduct J 8: 22.
- 6. Al-Haddad MK, Khashaba AS, Baig BZ, Khalfan S (1994) HIV antibodies among intravenous drug users in Bahrain. J Commun Dis 26: 127-132.
- 7. Family Health International and Ministry of Health Egypt (2010) HIV/AIDS Biological & Behavioral Surveillance Survey: Round Two Summary Report, Cairo, Egypt 2010. FHI in collaboration with the Ministry of Health and support from the Global Fund. Found at http://www.fhi360.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/BBSS%202010_0.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.
- 8. Soliman C, Rahman IA, Shawky S, Bahaa T, Elkamhawi S, et al. (2010) HIV prevalence and risk behaviors of male injection drug users in Cairo, Egypt. AIDS 24 Suppl 2: S33-38.
- Momtazi S, Fallahnejad M, Shoghli A, Musavinasab N, Tavassoli S (2010) HIV high risk behavior in a sample of Iranian injection drug users. Abstract no. TUPE0338. AIDS 2010 -XVIII International AIDS Conference. Vienna, Austria.
- Kheirandish P, SeyedAlinaghi S, Jahani M, Shirzad H, Seyed Ahmadian M, et al. (2009) Prevalence and correlates of hepatitis C infection among male injection drug users in detention, Tehran, Iran. J Urban Health 86: 902-908.
- 11. Zamani S, Kihara M, Gouya MM, Vazirian M, Nassirimanesh B, et al. (2006) High prevalence of HIV infection associated with incarceration among community-based injecting drug users in Tehran, Iran. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 42: 342-346.
- 12. Zamani S, Radfar R, Nematollahi P, Fadaie R, Meshkati M, et al. (2010) Prevalence of HIV/HCV/HBV infections and drug-related risk behaviours amongst IDUs recruited through peer-driven sampling in Iran. Int J Drug Policy 21: 493-500.
- 13. Zamani S, Kihara M, Gouya MM, Vazirian M, Ono-Kihara M, et al. (2005) Prevalence of and factors associated with HIV-1 infection among drug users visiting treatment centers in Tehran, Iran. AIDS 19: 709-716.
- 14. Iran Ministry of Health and Medical Education, Kyoto University School of Public Hleath (Japan) (2008) Integrated bio-behavioral surveillance for HIV infection among injecting drug users in Iran. Draft of the 1st analysis on the collected data, Tehran, Iran.
- 15. Mirzoyan L, Berendes S, Jeffery C, Thomson J, Ben Othman H, et al. (2013) New evidence on the HIV epidemic in Libya: why countries must implement prevention programs among people who inject drugs. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 62: 577-583.
- 16. Oman Ministry of Health (2006) HIV Risk among Heroin and Injecting Drug Users in Muscat, Oman. Quantitative Survey. Preliminary Data. Muscat, Oman.

- 17. Altaf A, Shah SA, A. M (2003) Follow up study to assess and evaluate knowledge, attitude and high risk behaviors and prevalence of HIV, HBV, HCV and Syphilis among IDUS at Burns Road DIC, Karachi. External report submitted to UNODC.
- 18. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2006-07) HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round II. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-
 - %20Round%202%20Report%202006-07.pdf. Last accessed February 2014.
- 19. Kuo I, ul-Hasan S, Galai N, Thomas DL, Zafar T, et al. (2006) High HCV seroprevalence and HIV drug use risk behaviors among injection drug users in Pakistan. Harm Reduct J 3: 26.
- 20. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2005) HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round I. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-%20Round%201%20Report%20-%202005.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.

21. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2011) HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round IV. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-%20National%20report%20Round%20IV%202011.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.

22. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2008) HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round III. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-%20National%20report%20Round%20III%202008.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.

- 23. Tunisia Ministry of Health (2010) Synthèse des enquêtes de séroprévalence et sérocomportementales auprès de trois populations à vulnérables au VIH : Les usagers de drogues injectables, les hommes ayant des rapports sexuels avec des hommes et les travailleuses du sexe clandestines en Tunisie [French]. Synthesis of biobehavioral surveillance among the three populations vulnerable to HIV in Tunisia: Injecting drug users, men who have sex with men, and female sex workers. Tunis, Tunisia.
- 24. Tunisia Ministry of Health, Tunisian Association for Information and Orientation on HIV (2013) Enquête sérocomportementale du VIH et des hépatites virales C auprès des usagers de drogues injectables en Tunisie [French]. Biobehavioral surveillance of HIV and Hepatitis C among injecting drug users in Tunisia. Tunis, Tunisia.
- 25. Farhoudi B, Montevalian A, Motamedi M, Khameneh MM, Mohraz M, et al. (2003) Human immunodeficiency virus and HIV associated tuberculosis infection and their risk factors in injecting drug users in prison in Iran. Iran Ministry of Health, Tehran, Iran.
- 26. Jordan National AIDS Program (2010) Preliminary analysis of Jordan IBBSS among injecting drug users. Ministry of Health, Amman, Jordan.
- 27. Aaraj E Report on the situation analysis on vulnerable groups in Beirut, Lebanon. Lebanon Ministry of Health, Beirut, Lebanon.

- 28. Nai Zindagi, UNODCCP, UNAIDS. (1999) Baseline study of the relationship between injecting drug use, HIV and Hepatitis C among male injecting drug users in Lahore.
- 29. Syria Mental Health Directorate, Syria National AIDS Programme (2008) Assessment of HIV Risk and Sero-prevalence among Drug Users in Greater Damascus. Syrian Ministry of Health. UNODC. UNAIDS. Damascus, Syria
- 30. Morocco Ministry of Health, National Aids Control Program, National Institute of Hygiene, UNAIDS, Global Fund to Fight AIDS Tuberculosis and Malaria (2012) HIV Integrated Behavioral and Biological Surveillance Surveys-Morocco 2011-2012: Injecting Drug Users in Tanger and Nador, Morocco. Rabat, Morocco.
- 31. Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program (2012) Integrated Behavioral & Biological Surveillance (IBBS) in selected cities of Afghanistan: Findings of 2012 IBBS survey and comparison to 2009 IBBS survey. Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health. Kabul, Afghanistan.
- 32. Parviz S, Fatmi Z, Altaf A, McCormick JB, Fischer-Hoch S, et al. (2006) Background demographics and risk behaviors of injecting drug users in Karachi, Pakistan. Int J Infect Dis 10: 364-371.
- 33. Nai Zindagi, Punjab Provincial AIDS Control Program (2009) Rapid situation assessments of HIV prevalence and risk factors among people injecting drugs in four cities of the Punjab.
- 34. Palestine Ministry of Health (2011) HIV bio-behavioral survey among injecting drug users in the East Jerusalem Governorate, 2010.
- 35. Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program (2010) Integrated Behavioral & Biological Surveillance (IBBS) in Afghanistan: Year 1 Report. HIV Surveillance Project - Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health. Kabul, Afghanistan.
- 36. Todd CS, Abed AM, Strathdee SA, Scott PT, Botros BA, et al. (2007) HIV, hepatitis C, and hepatitis B infections and associated risk behavior in injection drug users, Kabul, Afghanistan. Emerg Infect Dis 13: 1327-1331.
- 37. Action Aid Afghanistan (2006) A Study on Knowledge, Attitude, Behaviour and Practice in High Risk and Vulnerable Groups in Afghanistan.
- 38. E. Elghamrawy, O. Abaza, S. Abou Elmagd, H. Ramy, S. Atallah, et al. Risk behaviours among male injecting drug users in Egypt. Abstract no. MOPE227 2012; Washington DC, USA.
- 39. Malekinejad M, Mohraz M, Razani N, Khairandish P, McFarland W, et al. HIV and related risk behaviors of injecting drug users (IDU) in Iran: findings from the first respondent-driven sampling (RDS) survey of IDU in Tehran in 2006-2007. Abstract no. THAC0202 2008; Mexico.
- 40. Alavian SM, Mirahmadizadeh A, Javanbakht M, Keshtkaran A, Heidari A, et al. (2013) Effectiveness of methadone maintenance treatment in prevention of hepatitis C virus transmission among injecting drug users. Hepatitis Monthly 13: 9.
- 41. Amin-Esmaeili M, Rahimi-Movaghar A, Razaghi EM, Baghestani AR, Jafari S (2012) Factors correlated with hepatitis C and B virus infections among injecting drug users in Tehran, IR Iran. Hepatitis Monthly 12: 23-31.
- 42. Eskandarieh S, Nikfarjam A, Tarjoman T, Nasehi A, Jafari F, et al. (2013) Descriptive Aspects of Injection Drug Users in Iran's National Harm Reduction Program by Methadone Maintenance Treatment. Iran J Public Health 42: 588-593.
- 43. Honarvar B, Odoomi N, Moghadami M, Afsar Kazerooni P, Hassanabadi A, et al. (2013) Blood-borne hepatitis in opiate users in iran: a poor outlook and urgent need to change nationwide screening policy. PLoS One 8: e82230.

- 44. Mirahmadizadeh AR, Majdzadeh R, Mohammad K, MH F (2009) Prevalence of HIV and Hepatitis C Virus Infections and Related Behavioral Determinants among Injecting Drug Users of Drop-in Centers in Iran. Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal 11: 325-329.
- 45. Kheirandish P, Seyedalinaghi SA, Hosseini M, Jahani MR, Shirzad H, et al. (2010) Prevalence and correlates of HIV infection among male injection drug users in detention in Tehran, Iran. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 53: 273-275.
- 46. Etemad K, Heydari A, Eftekhar Ardabili H, Kabir M.J., Sedaghat M (2010) Knowledge and Attitude Levels in High Risk Groups about HIV/AIDS and Relation with Socioeconomic Level Indicators in Golestan Province [Persian]. Journal of Gorgan University Medical Science 12: 63-69.
- 47. Rahbar AR, Rooholamini S, Khoshnood K (2004) Prevalence of HIV infection and other bloodborne infections in incarcerated and non-incarcerated injection drug users (IDUs) in Mashhad, Iran. International Journal of Drug Policy 15: 151-155.
- 48. Mirahmadizadeh A, Kadivar M, Hemmati A, Javadi A (2004) Infection with HIV and hepatitis C and B viruses among injecting drug users in Shiraz, Southern Iran. Abstract no. WePeC5981. AIDS 2004 - XV International AIDS Conference. Bangkok, Thailand.
- 49. Nokhodian Z, Meshkati M, Adibi P, Ataei B, Kassaian N, et al. (2012) Hepatitis C among intravenous drug users in Isfahan, Iran: A study of seroprevalence and risk factors. International Journal of Preventive Medicine 3: S131-138.
- 50. Mehrjerdi ZA, Abarashi Z, Noroozi A, Arshad L, Zarghami M (2013) Correlates of shared methamphetamine injection among methamphetamine-injecting treatment seekers: the first report from Iran. Int J STD AIDS.
- 51. Hassannejad R, Kassaian N, Ataei B, Adibi P (2012) High risky behaviors among intravenous drug users in Isfahan, Iran: A study for hepatitis c harm reduction programs. International Journal of Preventive Medicine 3.
- 52. Dibaj R, Ataei B, Yaran M, Nokhodian Z, Tayeri K, et al. (2013) Prevalence of HIV infection in inmates with history of injection drug use and evaluation of risk factors, in Isfahan, Iran. Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences 29: 399-402.
- 53. Alinaghi SAS, Zadeh AOT, Zaresefat H, Hajizadeh M, Mohamadi SN, et al. (2013) Prevalence of HIV infection and the correlates among beggars in Tehran, Iran. Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Disease 3: 76-78.
- 54. Alipour A, Haghdoost AA, Sajadi L, Zolala F (2013) HIV prevalence and related risk behaviours among female partners of male injecting drugs users in Iran: results of a biobehavioural survey, 2010. Sex Transm Infect 89 Suppl 3: iii41-44.
- 55. Dastjerdi G, Ebrahimi Dehshiri V, Kholasezade G, Ehsani F (2010) Effectiveness of Methadone in Reduction of High Risk Behaviors in Clients of MMT Center [Persian]. Journal of Shaheed Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences 18: 215-219.
- 56. Mahfoud Z, Afifi R, Ramia S, El Khoury D, Kassak K, et al. (2010) HIV/AIDS among female sex workers, injecting drug users and men who have sex with men in Lebanon: results of the first biobehavioral surveys. AIDS 24 Suppl 2: S45-54.
- 57. Ministère de la Santé au Maroc, Direction de l'Épidémiologie et de Lutte contre les Maladies, Programme de lutte contre la toxicomanie (2006) Evaluation rapide de la situation sur le risque d'infection à VIH en relation avec l'usage des drogues injectées et injectables et à problème au Maroc (French) [Rapid situation assessment on the risk of HIV infection associated with the use of injected, injectable, and other drugs in Morocco]. Rabat, Morocco.
- 58. Stulhofer A, Chetty A, Rabie RA, Jwehan I, Ramlawi A (2012) The Prevalence of HIV, HBV, HCV, and HIV-Related Risk-Taking Behaviors among Palestinian Injecting Drug Users in the East Jerusalem Governorate. J Urban Health 89: 671-676.

- 59. Ahmad S, Mehmood J, Awan AB, Zafar ST, Khoshnood K, et al. (2011) Female spouses of injection drug users in Pakistan: a bridge population of the HIV epidemic? East Mediterr Health J 17: 271-276.
- 60. Achakzai M, Kassi M, Kasi PM (2007) Seroprevalences and co-infections of HIV, hepatitis C virus and hepatitis B virus in injecting drug users in Quetta, Pakistan. Trop Doct 37: 43-45.
- 61. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2005) Integrated biological and behavioral surveillance: A Pilot study in Karachi & Rawalpindi 2004-5. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports//Surveillance%20&%20Research//HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/Integrated%20Biological%20&%20Behavioral%20Surveillance%20Pilot%20Study %20in%20Karachi%20&%20Rawalpindi%202005-06.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.

- 62. Strathdee SA, Zafar T, Brahmbhatt H, Baksh A, ul Hassan S (2003) Rise in needle sharing among injection drug users in Pakistan during the Afghanistan war. Drug Alcohol Depend 71: 17-24.
- 63. Nai Zindagi, Punjab Provincial AIDS Control Program (2005) The lethal overdose: Injecting drug use and HIV/AIDS.
- 64. Abbasi B, Somroo F (2005) HIV outbreak among injecting drug users in larkana, pakistan a serious threat for generalized epidemic. Abstract no. WeOa0305. IAS 2005 The 3rd IAS Conference on HIV Pathogenesis and Treatment. Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.
- 65. Ahmed MA, Zafar T, Brahmbhatt H, Imam G, Ul Hassan S, et al. (2003) HIV/AIDS risk behaviors and correlates of injection drug use among drug users in Pakistan. J Urban Health 80: 321-329.
- 66. Emmanuel F, Attarad A (2006) Correlates of injection use of synthetic drugs among drug users in Pakistan: a case controlled study. J Pak Med Assoc 56: 119-124.
- 67. Altaf A, Shah SA, Zaidi NA, Memon A, Nadeem ur R, et al. (2007) High risk behaviors of injection drug users registered with harm reduction programme in Karachi, Pakistan. Harm Reduct J 4: 7.
- 68. Nasir A, Todd CS, Stanekzai MR, Bautista CT, Botros BA, et al. (2011) Prevalence of HIV, hepatitis B and hepatitis C and associated risk behaviours amongst injecting drug users in three Afghan cities. Int J Drug Policy 22: 145-152.
- 69. Baqi S, Shah SA, Baig MA, Mujeeb SA, Memon A (1999) Seroprevalence of HIV, HBV, and syphilis and associated risk behaviours in male transvestites (Hijras) in Karachi, Pakistan. Int J STD AIDS 10: 300-304.
- 70. Sharifi-Mood B, Metanat M (2006) Infection among hospitalized injection drug users. Journal of Medical Sciences 6: 686-689.
- 71. Zamani S, Farnia M, Torknejad A, Alaei BA, Gholizadeh M, et al. (2010) Patterns of drug use and HIV-related risk behaviors among incarcerated people in a prison in Iran. J Urban Health 87: 603-616.
- 72. Vazirian M, Nassirimanesh B, Zamani S, Ono-Kihara M, Kihara M, et al. (2005) Needle and syringe sharing practices of injecting drug users participating in an outreach HIV prevention program in Tehran, Iran: a cross-sectional study. Harm Reduct J 2: 19.
- 73. Zamani S, Vazirian M, Nassirimanesh B, Razzaghi EM, Ono-Kihara M, et al. (2010) Needle and syringe sharing practices among injecting drug users in Tehran: a comparison of two neighborhoods, one with and one without a needle and syringe program. AIDS Behav 14: 885-890.
- 74. Bokhari A, Nizamani NM, Jackson DJ, Rehan NE, Rahman M, et al. (2007) HIV risk in Karachi and Lahore, Pakistan: an emerging epidemic in injecting and commercial sex networks. Int J STD AIDS 18: 486-492.

- 75. Hermez J, Aaraj E, Dewachi O, Chemaly N HIV/AIDS prevention among vulnerable groups in Beirut, Lebanon. Powerpoint presentation. Lebanon National AIDS Control Program, Beirut, Lebanon.
- 76. Mir-Nasseri MM, Mohammadkhani A, Tavakkoli H, Ansari E, Poustchi H (2011) Incarceration is a major risk factor for blood-borne infection among intravenous drug users. Hepatitis Monthly 11: 19-22.
- 77. Platt L, Vickerman P, Collumbien M, Hasan S, Lalji N, et al. (2009) Prevalence of HIV, HCV and sexually transmitted infections among injecting drug users in Rawalpindi and Abbottabad, Pakistan: evidence for an emerging injection-related HIV epidemic. Sex Transm Infect 85 Suppl 2: ii17-22.
- 78. Osooli M, Khajehkazemi R, Sajadi L, Sedaghat A, Fahimfar N, et al. (2012) HIV prevalence and risk behaviors of adult male injection drug users in Iran; a 2010 national surveillance survey. In press.
- 79. Haque N, Zafar T, Brahmbhatt H, Imam G, ul Hassan S, et al. (2004) High-risk sexual behaviours among drug users in Pakistan: implications for prevention of STDs and HIV/AIDS. Int J STD AIDS 15: 601-607.
- 80. Kazerooni PA, Lari MA, Joolaei H, Parsa N (2010) Knowledge and attitude of male intravenous drug users on HIV/AIDS associated high risk behaviors in Shiraz Pir-Banon jail, Fars Province, Southern Iran. Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal 12: 334-336.
- 81. Shahroury M (2011) Assessment report on injecting drug users in Jordan. Future Guardians Forum Association, Amman, Jordan.
- 82. Attia, Medhat S (1996) HIV Seropositivity and KAP towards AIDS among drug addicts in Alexandria. Bull High Inst Public Health 26: 1-8.
- 83. Khan AA, Rehan N, Qayyum K, Khan A (2008) Correlates and prevalence of HIV and sexually transmitted infections among Hijras (male transgenders) in Pakistan. Int J STD AIDS 19: 817-820.
- 84. Saleh E, El-Ghazzawi E, El-Sherbini I, Drew W, McFarland W, et al. (1998) Sentinel surveillance for HIV and high risk behaviors among injection drug users in Alexandria, Egypt. Abstract no. 13124. AIDS 1998 - XII International AIDS Conference. Geneva, Switzerland.
- 85. Davoodian P, Dadvand H, Mahoori K, Amoozandeh A, Salavati A (2009) Prevalence of selected sexually and blood-borne infections in Injecting drug abuser inmates of bandar abbas and roodan correction facilities, Iran, 2002. Braz J Infect Dis 13: 356-358.
- 86. Nowroozi A, Zali M, Gooya M, Kowsarian P, Raoufi M (1998) The simultanity of HIV, and HBV, HCV and syphilis among the addicted prisoners. Abstract no. 60835. AIDS 1998 -XII International AIDS Conference. Geneva, Switzerland.
- 87. Agha A, Parviz S, Younus M, Fatmi Z (2003) Socio-economic and demographic factors associated with injecting drug use among drug users in Karachi, Pakistan. J Pak Med Assoc 53: 511-516.
- 88. Rehan N, Bokhari A, Nizamani NM, Jackson D, Naqvi HR, et al. (2009) National study of reproductive tract infections among high risk groups of Lahore and Karachi. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak 19: 228-231.
- 89. UrRehman N (2002) Injecting drug use and HIV/AIDS in pakistan. Abstract no. MoPeD3667. AIDS 2002 - XIV International AIDS Conference. Barcelona, Spain.

	Table S7. HIV/AIDS knowledge	, perception of risk, and H	IIV testing among people w	ho inject drugs in the M	iddle East and North Africa
--	------------------------------	-----------------------------	----------------------------	--------------------------	-----------------------------

	Afghanistan	Egypt	Iran	Jordan	Lebanon	Morocco	Oman	OPT	Pakistan	Syria	Tunisia
Ever heard of HIV/AIDS (%)	43 [1], 83 [2], 97 [2], 98 [2], 100 [3], 100 [3], 100 [3], 100 [3], 100 [3]	9 [4], 96 [5], 99 [6], 100 [6]	73 [7], 82 [8], 93 [9], 94 [9], 96 [9], 100 [10]						29 [11], 52 [12], 54 [13], 59 [14], 65 [15], 66 [16], 67 [17], 72 [18], 74 [19], 82 [20], 86 [20], 87 [21], 88 [16], 89 [22], 93 [23], 96 [24], 97 [25]	99 [26]	100 [27], 100 [28]
Knowledge of injecting drug use as a mode of transmission (%)	51 [1], 81 [2], 94 [2], 97[2]	5 [4], 22 [29], 33 [5], 98 [6], 98 [6]	63 [7], 85 [9], 91 [9], 96 [30], 96 [9], 100 [31]	43 [32], 96 [33]	97 [34]	54 [35], 90 [36], 97 [36]		96 [37]	15 [38], 46 [16], 53 [16], 65 [24], 68 [19], 71 [18], 72 [23], 77 [17], 80 [15], 81 [39], 82 [14], 87 [21], 88 [22]	47 [26]	80 [27], 93 [28]
Knowledge of sex as a mode of transmission (%)	78 [40]	88 [5]		65 [32]		80 [35]			19 [38], 41 [39], 41 [16], 42 [16], 50 [24], 72 [19], 72 [23], 82 [22], 84 [21], 91 [17]	94 [26]	
Self-perception of risk (%)		20 [5], 29 [41]	43 [9], 47 [9], 54 [9]		45 [42], 50 [34]	69 [35]		73 [37]	13 [16], 30 [24], 31 [19], 33 [16], 34 [17], 58 [18], 63 [25], 64 [21]	27 [26]	63 [27]
Ever tested for HIV (%)	3 [3], 13 [3], 16 [3], 24 [2], 24 [2], 33[2], 58 [3], 60 [3]	1 [5], 6 [43], 10 [6], 10 [6]	28 [44], 29 [8], 39 [9], 44 [31], 45 [10], 45 [9], 47 [45], 47 [46], 48 [9], 60 [30], 66 [47]	15 [32] 27 [33]	61 [34], 80 [42]	13 [35], 33 [36], 48 [36]	73 [48], 94 [48], 97 [48]	66 [37]	2 [12], 6 [19], 21 [22], 25 [21], 55 [25]	36 [26]	29 [27], 30 [28]

OPT: Occupied Palestinian Territories

References of Table S7

- 1. Action Aid Afghanistan (2006) A Study on Knowledge, Attitude, Behaviour and Practice in High Risk and Vulnerable Groups in Afghanistan.
- Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program (2010) Integrated Behavioral & Biological Surveillance (IBBS) in Afghanistan: Year 1 Report. HIV Surveillance Project - Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health. Kabul, Afghanistan.
- 3. Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program (2012) Integrated Behavioral & Biological Surveillance (IBBS) in selected cities of Afghanistan: Findings of 2012 IBBS survey and comparison to 2009 IBBS survey. Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health. Kabul, Afghanistan.
- Saleh E, El-Ghazzawi E, El-Sherbini I, Drew W, McFarland W, et al. (1998) Sentinel surveillance for HIV and high risk behaviors among injection drug users in Alexandria, Egypt. Abstract no. 13124. AIDS 1998 - XII International AIDS Conference. Geneva, Switzerland.
- 5. Elshimi T, Warner-Smith M, Aon M (2004) Blood-borne virus risks of problematic drug users in Greater Cairo. Geneva, UNAIDS & UNODC. August.
- 6. Family Health International and Ministry of Health Egypt (2010) HIV/AIDS Biological & Behavioral Surveillance Survey: Round Two Summary Report, Cairo, Egypt 2010. FHI in collaboration with the Ministry of Health and support from the Global Fund. Found at http://www.fhi360.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/BBSS%202010_0.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.
- 7. Kazerooni PA, Lari MA, Joolaei H, Parsa N (2010) Knowledge and attitude of male intravenous drug users on HIV/AIDS associated high risk behaviors in Shiraz Pir-Banon jail, Fars Province, Southern Iran. Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal 12: 334-336.
- Malekinejad M, Mohraz M, Razani N, Khairandish P, McFarland W, et al. HIV and related risk behaviors of injecting drug users (IDU) in Iran: findings from the first respondent-driven sampling (RDS) survey of IDU in Tehran in 2006-2007. Abstract no. THAC0202 2008; Mexico.
- Iran Ministry of Health and Medical Education, Kyoto University School of Public Hleath (Japan) (2008) Integrated bio-behavioral surveillance for HIV infection among injecting drug users in Iran. Draft of the 1st analysis on the collected data, Tehran, Iran.
- Momtazi S, Fallahnejad M, Shoghli A, Musavinasab N, Tavassoli S (2010) HIV high risk behavior in a sample of Iranian injection drug users. Abstract no. TUPE0338. AIDS 2010 -XVIII International AIDS Conference. Vienna, Austria.
- 11. Nai Zindagi, Punjab Provincial AIDS Control Program (2009) Rapid situation assessments of HIV prevalence and risk factors among people injecting drugs in four cities of the Punjab.
- 12. Ahmed MA, Zafar T, Brahmbhatt H, Imam G, Ul Hassan S, et al. (2003) HIV/AIDS risk behaviors and correlates of injection drug use among drug users in Pakistan. J Urban Health 80: 321-329.
- 13. Parviz S, Fatmi Z, Altaf A, McCormick JB, Fischer-Hoch S, et al. (2006) Background demographics and risk behaviors of injecting drug users in Karachi, Pakistan. Int J Infect Dis 10: 364-371.
- 14. Strathdee SA, Zafar T, Brahmbhatt H, Baksh A, ul Hassan S (2003) Rise in needle sharing among injection drug users in Pakistan during the Afghanistan war. Drug Alcohol Depend 71: 17-24.
- 15. Nai Zindagi, UNODCCP, UNAIDS. (1999) Baseline study of the relationship between injecting drug use, HIV and Hepatitis C among male injecting drug users in Lahore.

16. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2005) Integrated biological and behavioral surveillance: A Pilot study in Karachi & Rawalpindi 2004-5. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports//Surveillance%20&%20Research//HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/Integrated%20Biological%20&%20Behavioral%20Surveillance%20Pilot%20Study %20in%20Karachi%20&%20Rawalpindi%202005-06.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.

17. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2005) HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round I. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-

%20Round%201%20Report%20-%202005.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.

- 18. Bokhari A, Nizamani NM, Jackson DJ, Rehan NE, Rahman M, et al. (2007) HIV risk in Karachi and Lahore, Pakistan: an emerging epidemic in injecting and commercial sex networks. Int J STD AIDS 18: 486-492.
- Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2006-07) HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round II. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-

%20Round%202%20Report%202006-07.pdf. Last accessed February 2014.

- 20. Kuo I, ul-Hasan S, Galai N, Thomas DL, Zafar T, et al. (2006) High HCV seroprevalence and HIV drug use risk behaviors among injection drug users in Pakistan. Harm Reduct J 3: 26.
- 21. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2011) HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round IV. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-%20National%20report%20Round%20IV%202011.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.

22. Pakistan National AIDS Control Program (2008) HIV Second Generation Surveillance In Pakistan. National Report Round III. Canada-Pakistan HIV/AIDS Surveillance Project. National Aids Control Program, Ministry Of Health, Pakistan. Found at http://www.nacp.gov.pk/library/reports/Surveillance%20&%20Research/HIV-AIDS%20Surveillance%20Project-

HASP/HIV%20Second%20Generation%20Surveillance%20in%20Pakistan%20-%20National%20report%20Round%20III%202008.pdf, Last accessed February 2014.

- 23. Altaf A, Shah SA, Zaidi NA, Memon A, Nadeem ur R, et al. (2007) High risk behaviors of injection drug users registered with harm reduction programme in Karachi, Pakistan. Harm Reduct J 4: 7.
- 24. Emmanuel F, Attarad A (2006) Correlates of injection use of synthetic drugs among drug users in Pakistan: a case controlled study. J Pak Med Assoc 56: 119-124.
- 25. Afridi NK, Khan S, Fatima S (2010) Factors affecting accessibility and acceptability of voluntary counselling and testing among high risk group (HRG) for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) in NWFP Pakistan. J Pak Med Assoc 60: 265-269.

- 26. Syria Mental Health Directorate, Syria National AIDS Programme (2008) Assessment of HIV Risk and Sero-prevalence among Drug Users in Greater Damascus. Syrian Ministry of Health. UNODC. UNAIDS. Damascus, Syria
- 27. Tunisia Ministry of Health (2010) Synthèse des enquêtes de séroprévalence et sérocomportementales auprès de trois populations à vulnérables au VIH : Les usagers de drogues injectables, les hommes ayant des rapports sexuels avec des hommes et les travailleuses du sexe clandestines en Tunisie [French]. Synthesis of biobehavioral surveillance among the three populations vulnerable to HIV in Tunisia: Injecting drug users, men who have sex with men, and female sex workers. Tunis, Tunisia.
- 28. Tunisia Ministry of Health, Tunisian Association for Information and Orientation on HIV (2013) Enquête sérocomportementale du VIH et des hépatites virales C auprès des usagers de drogues injectables en Tunisie [French]. Biobehavioral surveillance of HIV and Hepatitis C among injecting drug users in Tunisia. Tunis, Tunisia.
- 29. Attia, Medhat S (1996) HIV Seropositivity and KAP towards AIDS among drug addicts in Alexandria. Bull High Inst Public Health 26: 1-8.
- 30. Vazirian M, Nassirimanesh B, Zamani S, Ono-Kihara M, Kihara M, et al. (2005) Needle and syringe sharing practices of injecting drug users participating in an outreach HIV prevention program in Tehran, Iran: a cross-sectional study. Harm Reduct J 2: 19.
- 31. Shoghli AR, Mosavi Nasab SN, Fallahnezhad M, Momtazi S, Tavasoli SS, et al. (2011) Behavioral surveillance survey (BSS) among injection drug users (IDUs) in Zanjan-Iran. [Persian]. Journal of Zanjan University of Medical Sciences and Health Services 19: 11.
- 32. Shahroury M (2011) Assessment report on injecting drug users in Jordan. Future Guardians Forum Association, Amman, Jordan.
- 33. Jordan National AIDS Program (2010) Preliminary analysis of Jordan IBBSS among injecting drug users. Ministry of Health, Amman, Jordan.
- 34. Mahfoud Z, Afifi R, Ramia S, El Khoury D, Kassak K, et al. (2010) HIV/AIDS among female sex workers, injecting drug users and men who have sex with men in Lebanon: results of the first biobehavioral surveys. AIDS 24 Suppl 2: S45-54.
- 35. Ministère de la Santé au Maroc, Direction de l'Épidémiologie et de Lutte contre les Maladies, Programme de lutte contre la toxicomanie (2006) Evaluation rapide de la situation sur le risque d'infection à VIH en relation avec l'usage des drogues injectées et injectables et à problème au Maroc (French) [Rapid situation assessment on the risk of HIV infection associated with the use of injected, injectable, and other drugs in Morocco]. Rabat, Morocco.
- 36. Morocco Ministry of Health, National Aids Control Program, National Institute of Hygiene, UNAIDS, Global Fund to Fight AIDS Tuberculosis and Malaria (2012) HIV Integrated Behavioral and Biological Surveillance Surveys-Morocco 2011-2012: Injecting Drug Users in Tanger and Nador, Morocco. Rabat, Morocco.
- 37. Stulhofer A, Chetty A, Rabie RA, Jwehan I, Ramlawi A (2012) The Prevalence of HIV, HBV, HCV, and HIV-Related Risk-Taking Behaviors among Palestinian Injecting Drug Users in the East Jerusalem Governorate. J Urban Health 89: 671-676.
- 38. Haque N, Zafar T, Brahmbhatt H, Imam G, ul Hassan S, et al. (2004) High-risk sexual behaviours among drug users in Pakistan: implications for prevention of STDs and HIV/AIDS. Int J STD AIDS 15: 601-607.
- 39. Altaf A, Shah SA, A. M (2003) Follow up study to assess and evaluate knowledge, attitude and high risk behaviors and prevalence of HIV, HBV, HCV and Syphilis among IDUS at Burns Road DIC, Karachi. External report submitted to UNODC.
- 40. Todd CS, Abed AM, Strathdee SA, Scott PT, Botros BA, et al. (2007) Association between expatriation and HIV awareness and knowledge among injecting drug users in Kabul,

Afghanistan: A cross-sectional comparison of former refugees to those remaining during conflict. Confl Health 1: 5.

- 41. Elsawy HF, Al-Kabash IM (2011) Risky behaviors of HIV infection among drug dependents in Egypt. European Psychiatry 26.
- 42. Aaraj E Report on the situation analysis on vulnerable groups in Beirut, Lebanon. Lebanon Ministry of Health, Beirut, Lebanon.
- 43. Soliman C, Rahman IA, Shawky S, Bahaa T, Elkamhawi S, et al. (2010) HIV prevalence and risk behaviors of male injection drug users in Cairo, Egypt. AIDS 24 Suppl 2: S33-38.
- 44. Zamani S, Kihara M, Gouya MM, Vazirian M, Ono-Kihara M, et al. (2005) Prevalence of and factors associated with HIV-1 infection among drug users visiting treatment centers in Tehran, Iran. AIDS 19: 709-716.
- 45. Zamani S, Farnia M, Torknejad A, Alaei BA, Gholizadeh M, et al. (2010) Patterns of drug use and HIV-related risk behaviors among incarcerated people in a prison in Iran. J Urban Health 87: 603-616.
- 46. Zamani S, Radfar R, Nematollahi P, Fadaie R, Meshkati M, et al. (2010) Prevalence of HIV/HCV/HBV infections and drug-related risk behaviours amongst IDUs recruited through peer-driven sampling in Iran. Int J Drug Policy 21: 493-500.
- 47. Mirahmadizadeh AR, Majdzadeh R, Mohammad K, MH F (2009) Prevalence of HIV and Hepatitis C Virus Infections and Related Behavioral Determinants among Injecting Drug Users of Drop-in Centers in Iran. Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal 11: 325-329.
- 48. Oman Ministry of Health (2006) HIV Risk among Heroin and Injecting Drug Users in Muscat, Oman. Quantitative Survey. Preliminary Data. Muscat, Oman.

8.2. APPENDIX B – RESEARCH PAPER 2 SUPPLEMENTARY ONLINE MATERIAL

Outline

Additional file 1.	Mathematical models description
Additional file 2.	Models assumptions in terms of parameter values
Additional file 3.	Trend of HIV prevalence among PWID in Iran as described by available
	HIV point-prevalence measures 1990-2013
Additional file 4.	Effect of stochasticity (purple) and of behavioural (blue) and biological
	(red) uncertainty on the modeling predictions of the endemic HIV
	prevalence, $\mathit{RR}_{_{\mathit{HCV/HIV}}}$ and $\mathit{OR}_{_{\mathit{HCV/HIV}}}$ at 59.4% HCV prevalence in Iran

Additional file 1 Mathematical models description

1. HIV model structure

We developed a deterministic/stochastic compartmental mathematical model that describes the parenteral transmission of HIV through sharing unsterile needles/syringes among people who inject drugs (PWID) (Figure 1). Other methods of HIV transmission (e.g. sexual) are not considered in the model. The model stratifies the PWID population into compartments according to HIV status, stage of HIV infection, and level of injecting risk behavior.





The model was solved both deterministically and stochastically. The deterministic version of the model was expressed with the below system of coupled nonlinear differential equations for each risk group. For the stochastic version, we used the same transition rates in this deterministic system of equations to generate the stochastic process.

$$\frac{dS_i}{dt} = \mu N_{0,i} - (\mu + \eta)S_i - \Lambda_i S_i$$
⁽¹⁾

$$\frac{dI_{i,1}}{dt} = \Lambda_i S_i - (\mu + \eta)I_{i,1} - \omega_1 I_{i,1}$$
(2)

$$\frac{dI_{i,2}}{dt} = \omega_1 I_{i,1} - (\mu + \eta) I_{i,2} - \omega_2 I_{i,2}$$
(3)

$$\frac{dl_{i,3}}{dt} = \omega_2 l_{i,2} - (\mu + \eta) l_{i,3} - \omega_3 l_{i,3}$$
(4)

To accommodate heterogeneity of injecting risk behavior, we stratified the population into 7 injecting risk groups, defined with the index *i* (i = 1, 2, ..., 7 representing the low to high risk groups). Here S_i is the HIV susceptible population in the *i*-risk group, and $I_{i,\beta}$ is the HIV infected population in the *i*-risk group. The index β marks the stage of HIV pathogenesis;

 $\beta = 1, 2, 3$ represent the acute, latent, and advanced stages, respectively. $N_{0,i}$ is the initial population size of each *i*-risk group. μ is the natural mortality rate, and η is the leaving injecting career rate. The rate of progression from one HIV stage to the next is described by ω_1 and ω_2 , while ω_3 is the rate of HIV/AIDS disease mortality. The rate Λ_i is the HIV force of infection (incidence rate of infection) experienced by the S_i susceptible population. Λ_i is given by:

$$\Lambda_{i} = \rho_{s_{i}} \sum_{j=1}^{7} \sum_{\beta=1}^{3} t_{l_{j,\beta} \to s_{i}} \mathcal{G}_{i,j} \frac{\rho_{l_{j,\beta}} l_{j,\beta}}{\rho_{s_{j}} S_{j} + \sum_{\beta=1}^{3} \rho_{l_{j,\beta}} l_{j,\beta}}$$
(5)

where ρ_{P_i} describes the *effective* new partner acquisition rate for any population variable P_i (S_i or I_i) (note further discussion in section 3.2 below).

The parameter $t_{I_{j,\beta} \to S_i}$ defines the HIV transmission probability per partnership between a member of the susceptible population S_i and a member of the HIV infected population $I_{j,\beta}$:

$$t_{I_{j,\beta}\to S_i} = 1 - \left(1 - \rho_{I_{j,\beta}\to S_i}^{HIV}\right)^{n_{I_{j,\beta}\leftrightarrow S_i}}$$
(6)

It is expressed in terms of HIV transmission probability per needle/syringe sharing act per HIV stage in this partnership ($p_{I_{j,\beta} \to S_i}^{HIV}$) and the number of needle/syringe sharing acts per partnership ($n_{I_{i,\beta} \leftrightarrow S_i}$).

The mixing among the different risk groups is dictated by the injecting-mixing matrix $\mathcal{G}_{i,j}$. This matrix provides the probability that an individual in risk group *i* would choose a partner in risk group *j*. It is given by:

$$\mathcal{G}_{i,j} = e\theta_{i,j} + (1-e) \frac{\rho_{s_j} S_j + \sum_{\beta=1}^{3} \rho_{l_{j,\beta}} I_{j,\beta}}{\sum_{k=1}^{7} \left(\rho_{s_k} S_k + \sum_{\beta=1}^{3} \rho_{l_{k,\beta}} I_{k,\beta} \right)}$$
(7)

Here, $\theta_{i,j}$ is the identity matrix and the parameter $e \in [0,1]$ measures the degree of assortativeness in the mixing. At the extreme e = 0, the mixing is proportionate (choosing partners with no preferential bias based on the kind of risk group) while at the other extreme

e = 1, the mixing is fully assortative as individuals choose partners only from within their own risk group [1].

2. HCV Model structure

We developed a deterministic/stochastic compartmental mathematical model that describes the parenteral transmission of HCV through sharing unsterile needles/syringes among PWID (Figure 2). The model is similar in structure to the HIV model described above, and also stratifies the PWID population into compartments according to HCV status and stage of infection, and level of injecting risk behavior.



Figure S2. HCV model structure

The model was solved both deterministically and stochastically. The deterministic version of the model was expressed in terms of a system of coupled nonlinear differential equations for each risk group:

$$\frac{dX_{i}^{1}}{dt} = \mu N_{0,i} - (\mu + \eta) X_{i}^{1} - \lambda_{X_{i}^{1}} X_{i}^{1}$$
(8)

$$\frac{dY_{i,1}}{dt} = \lambda_{\chi_i^1} X_i^1 - (\mu + \eta) Y_{i,1} - \delta_1 Y_{i,1}$$
(9)

$$\frac{dY_{i,2}}{dt} = \delta_1 (1 - \gamma_1) Y_{i,1} + \delta_2 (1 - \gamma_2) Y_{i,3} - (\mu + \eta) Y_{i,2}$$
(10)

$$\frac{dX_{i}^{2}}{dt} = \delta_{1}\gamma_{1}Y_{i,1} + \delta_{2}\gamma_{2}Y_{i,3} - (\mu + \eta)X_{i}^{2} - \lambda_{\chi_{i}^{2}}X_{i}^{2}$$
(11)

$$\frac{dY_{i,3}}{dt} = \lambda_{\chi_i^2} X_i^2 - (\mu + \eta) Y_{i,3} - \delta_2 Y_{i,3}$$
(12)

The index *i* defines the seven injecting risk groups, (*i* = 1,2,...,7 representing the low to high risk groups). Here X_i^1 is the HCV susceptible population in the *i*-risk group, and $Y_{i,\beta}$ is the HCV infected population in the *i*-risk group. The index β marks the stage of HCV pathogenesis; $\beta = 1,2,3$ represent the acute, chronic, and secondary acute stages, respectively. X_i^2 is the population, in the *i*-risk group, that was previously exposed to HCV infection but cleared it and is now susceptible for HCV reinfection. $N_{0,i}$ is the initial population size of each *i*-risk group. μ is the natural mortality rate, and η is the leaving injecting career rate. The rates of progression from primary and secondary acute HCV infections are δ_1 and δ_2 , respectively. γ_1 is the percentage of primary HCV infections that clear, and γ_2 the percentage of HCV reinfections that clear.

The rate $\lambda_{x_i^1}$ is the HCV force of infection experienced by the X_i^1 susceptible population and is given by:

$$\lambda_{\chi_{i}^{1}} = \rho_{\chi_{i}^{1}} \sum_{j=1}^{7} \sum_{\beta=1}^{3} R_{l_{j,\beta} \to \chi_{i}^{1}} \mathcal{H}_{i,j} \frac{\rho_{Y_{j,\beta}} Y_{j,\beta}}{\rho_{\chi_{i}^{1}} X_{i}^{1} + \rho_{\chi_{i}^{2}} X_{i}^{2} + \sum_{\beta=1}^{3} \rho_{Y_{j,\beta}} Y_{j,\beta}}$$
(13)

We assume here that the susceptible population X_i^2 experiences the same force of infection as the X_i^1 population (no acquired immunity):

$$\lambda_{\chi_i^2} = \lambda_{\chi_i^1} \tag{14}$$

 ρ_{P_i} describes the *effective* new partner acquisition rate for any population variable P_i (X_i or Y_i) (note further discussion in section 3.2 below).

The parameter $R_{Y_{j,\beta} \to X_i^1}$ defines the HCV transmission probability per partnership between a member of the susceptible population X_i^1 and a member of the HCV infected population $Y_{i,\beta}$:

$$R_{\gamma_{j,\beta}\to x_i^{l}} = 1 - \left(1 - p_{\gamma_{j,\beta}\to x_i^{l}}^{HCV}\right)^{n_{\gamma_{j,\beta}\leftrightarrow x_i^{l}}}$$
(15)

It is expressed in terms of HCV transmission probability per needle/syringe sharing act per HCV stage in this partnership $p_{\gamma_{i,\beta} \to X_i^1}^{HCV}$ and the number of needle/syringe sharing acts per partnership $(n_{\gamma_{i,\beta} \leftrightarrow X_i^1})$,

The mixing among the different risk groups is dictated by the mixing matrix $\mathcal{H}_{i,j}$. This matrix provides the probability that an individual in risk group *i* would choose a partner in risk group *j*. It is given by:

$$\mathcal{H}_{i,j} = e\theta_{i,j} + (1-e)\frac{\rho_{\chi_j^1} X_j^1 + \rho_{\chi_j^2} X_j^2 + \sum_{\beta=1}^3 \rho_{Y_{j,\beta}} Y_{j,\beta}}{\sum_{k=1}^{10} \left(\rho_{\chi_j^1} X_j^1 + \rho_{\chi_j^2} X_j^2 + \sum_{\beta=1}^3 \rho_{Y_{j,\beta}} Y_{j,\beta}\right)}$$
(16)

Here, $\theta_{i,j}$ is the identity matrix and the parameter $e \in [0,1]$ measures the degree of assortativeness in the mixing. At the extreme e = 0, the mixing is proportionate while at the other extreme e = 1, the mixing is fully assortative [1].

3. Injecting risk behavior

3.1. Distribution of injecting risk behavior in the population

The PWID population was stratified into a number of risk groups. In the absence of direct empirical data to inform on the exact distribution of injecting risk behavior in a given PWID population, we assumed that the proportion of the PWID population initially in each risk group *i* follows a gamma distribution. This assumption was informed by previous theoretical work [2-5] and mathematical modeling of HIV sexual transmission [6, 7], and accommodates wider flexibility [4]. The gamma distribution of the population size across the risk groups is given by:

$$p(i) = \frac{1}{b^{a} \Gamma(a)} i^{a-1} e^{\frac{-i}{b}}$$
(17)

Here a is the shape parameter determined through normalization of the distribution, and b is the scale parameter in the gamma distribution.

3.2. The effective new injecting partner acquisition rate

The ρ_{P_i} parameter describes the number of new injecting partners an individual in a specified risk group acquires, but also effectively other factors that enhance the risk of exposure to the infection such as concurrency and clustering within injecting networks, and variability in injecting risk behavior in the population. Since the exact nature of injecting behavior and injecting networks is not well-understood and varies within and across communities, ρ_{P_i} is effectively a summary measure of the population-specific level of injecting risk behavior, and captures the distribution and strength of the risk of exposure to HIV (or HCV) infection. The

form of the ρ_{P_i} distribution across different risk groups was defined through a power law function as:

$$\rho_{P_i} = C i^{\alpha} \tag{18}$$

where α is the exponent in the power-law function and *C* is an overall constant. This form is motivated by simulations using an individual-based network model developed to explore the diversity of risk in risk networks [8], and also by analyses of the architecture of complex weighted networks [9, 10], and by an analysis of the average separation between individuals in a network or a sub-network [11, 12]. The latter can be seen as a proxy of the size of the "ecology" through which an individual can acquire an infection. Here *C* is a constant determined by the average risk behavior and α is the exponent parameter that determines the level of variability in the effective new injecting partner acquisition rate [8].

4. Parameter values

The parameters of the model were derived using current empirical data on HIV/HCV epidemiology and natural history, and are listed in Table S1 along with their references.

We assumed that the transmission probability of HIV per sharing needle/syringe is 10 times higher than the probability of transmission per coital act in each HIV stage [13]. The latter were based on recent re-analyses of the Rakai Study data [14-17]. The durations of the acute, latent, and advanced stages of HIV infection were assumed to be 49 days, 9 years, and 2 years, respectively. These choices were based on compilation of data by UNAIDS indicating that the average duration from HIV acquisition to death, in absence of antiretroviral therapy, is about 11 years [18], and based on the classification in Wawer *et al.* [17], re-analysis of the Rakai data for acute infection [14], and measured time from seroconversion to death in several cohort studies [19, 20].

The transmission probability of HCV in the chronic stage was calculated based on the transmission probability of HIV in the latent stage [14-17]. Based on model fitting to empirical data (please see main text), we found HCV transmission probability in the chronic stage to be 7.8 times greater than that of HIV. HCV transmission probability in the primary acute infection was estimated earlier at 2.7 times HCV transmission probability in the chronic stage [21]. We also assumed that HCV transmission probability in the secondary acute stage is half of that in the primary acute stage, based on the 50% reduction in viral load following reinfection

compared to primary infection, as estimated in a cohort study by Obsurn et al. [22]. The durations of primary and secondary HCV acute stages were assumed to be 16.5 weeks and 4.1 weeks, respectively, based on direct measurement in recent prospective cohort studies [22, 23]. The percentage of primary HCV infections and HCV reinfections that clear were assumed to be 25% and 83%, respectively, based on cohort studies data [22, 23].

As for the parameters of injecting risk behavior, the degree of assortativeness (*e*) was fixed at 0.3; a representative value informed by earlier modeling work on HIV [16]. Meanwhile, the scale (*b*), and shape (*a*) parameters (in the gamma distribution of the population across the different risk groups) were fixed at 0.5 and 0.28, respectively, based on our model fitting to a statistical model summarizing the HCV/HIV empirical data [24]. The exponent parameter in the power law function of the distribution of injecting risk behavior (α) was fixed at 2.0, based also on our model fitting to HCV/HIV empirical data [24]. The duration of the injecting career was assumed to be 10 years as informed by empirical data [13].

5. Effect of ART - sensitivity analysis

We assessed the sensitivity of the HCV thresholds for HIV epidemic expansion to antiretroviral therapy (ART) scale up. We assumed that the efficacy of ART in reducing HIV transmission among PWID is 100%, based on clinical trials of treatment for prevention and other observational data [25, 26]. Accordingly, the probability of HIV transmission per needle/syringe sharing act ($p_{l_{1,g} \rightarrow S_{1}}^{HV}$) in a population with ART coverage of ϕ among those eligible for treatment is reduced by a factor of $(1 - \phi)$. We assumed that with ART scale up, all infected PWID in the advanced stage and half of those in the latent stage would be eligible for ART treatment, which corresponds roughly to an eligibility treatment criteria of CD4 cell count < 500 cells/µl [27].

We also assumed that ART slows disease progression from onset of infection to death. The average duration of latent infection in the HIV infected population up to treatment initiation was assumed to be 4.5 years $+4.5(1-\phi)$. The average duration from treatment initiation to death was assumed to be 2 years $+15.5\phi$. Accordingly, 100% coverage among those eligible will double the average duration from onset of infection to death in the HIV infected population from 11 years to 22 years.

References of Additional file 1

1. Garnett GP, Anderson RM. Factors controlling the spread of HIV in heterosexual communities in developing countries: patterns of mixing between different age and sexual activity classes. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 1993;342(1300):137-59. Epub 1993/10/29. doi: 10.1098/rstb.1993.0143. PubMed PMID: 7904355.

2. Anderson RM, Medley GF, May RM, Johnson AM. A preliminary study of the transmission dynamics of the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), the causative agent of AIDS. IMA journal of mathematics applied in medicine and biology. 1986;3(4):229-63. Epub 1986/01/01. PubMed PMID: 3453839.

3. Hamilton DT, Handcock MS, Morris M. Degree distributions in sexual networks: a framework for evaluating evidence. Sexually transmitted diseases. 2008;35(1):30-40. PubMed PMID: 18217224.

4. Handcock MS, Jones JH. Likelihood-based inference for stochastic models of sexual network formation. Theoretical population biology. 2004;65(4):413-22. doi: 10.1016/j.tpb.2003.09.006. PubMed PMID: 15136015.

5. Ghani AC, Garnett GP. Risks of acquiring and transmitting sexually transmitted diseases in sexual partner networks. Sex Transm Dis. 2000;27(10):579-87. Epub 2000/12/01. PubMed PMID: 11099073.

6. Awad SF, Abu-Raddad LJ. Could there have been substantial declines in sexual risk behavior across sub-Saharan Africa in the mid-1990s? Epidemics. 2014;8(0):9-17. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.epidem.2014.06.001.

7. Omori R, Chemaitelly H, Abu-Raddad LJ. Dynamics of non-cohabiting sex partnering in sub-Saharan Africa: a modelling study with implications for HIV transmission. Sex Transm Infect. 2015. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2014-051925. PubMed PMID: 25746040.

8. Awad SF, Cuadros DF, Abu-Raddad LJ. Generic patterns of HIV infection distribution in human populations. Under preparation.

9. Barrat A, Barthelemy M, Pastor-Satorras R, Vespignani A. The architecture of complex weighted networks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2004;101(11):3747-52. Epub 2004/03/10. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0400087101. PubMed PMID: 15007165; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC374315.

Boccaletti S, Latora V, Moreno Y, Chavez M, Hwang DU. Complex networks: Structure and dynamics. Physics Reports. 2006;424(4–5):175-308. doi: 10.1016/j.physrep.2005.10.009.
 Watts DJ, Strogatz SH. Collective dynamics of 'small-world' networks. Nature.

1998;393(6684):440-2. Epub 1998/06/12. doi: 10.1038/30918. PubMed PMID: 9623998.

12. Barabási AL. Linked: how everything is connected to everything else and what it means for business, science and everyday life: London: First Plume Printing; 2003.

13. Vickerman P, Martin NK, Hickman M. Understanding the trends in HIV and hepatitis C prevalence amongst injecting drug users in different settings—implications for intervention impact. Drug and alcohol dependence. 2012;123(1):122-31.

14. Pinkerton SD. Probability of HIV transmission during acute infection in Rakai, Uganda. AIDS Behav. 2008;12(5):677-84. Epub 2007/12/08. doi: 10.1007/s10461-007-9329-1. PubMed PMID: 18064559.

15. Hollingsworth TD, Anderson RM, Fraser C. HIV-1 transmission, by stage of infection. J Infect Dis. 2008;198(5):687-93. Epub 2008/07/30. doi: 10.1086/590501. PubMed PMID: 18662132.

16. Abu-Raddad LJ, Longini IM, Jr. No HIV stage is dominant in driving the HIV epidemic in sub-Saharan Africa. AIDS. 2008;22(9):1055-61. Epub 2008/06/04. doi:

10.1097/QAD.0b013e3282f8af84

00002030-200805310-00007 [pii]. PubMed PMID: 18520349.

17. Wawer MJ, Gray RH, Sewankambo NK, Serwadda D, Li X, Laeyendecker O, et al. Rates of HIV-1 transmission per coital act, by stage of HIV-1 infection, in Rakai, Uganda. J Infect Dis. 2005;191(9):1403-9. PubMed PMID: 15809897.

18. UNAIDS. UNAIDS Reference Group on Estimates, Modelling and Projections. 2007.

19. UNAIDS/WHO. *AIDS epidemic update 2010: UNAIDS fact sheet* (available athttp://www.unaids.org/documents/20101123_FS_SSA_em_en.pdf, accessed 23 July 2012).

2010.

20. UNAIDS/WHO. Epidemiological data, HIV estimates 1990-2009 (available at http://www.unaids.org/en/dataanalysis/epidemiology/). 2010.

21. Vickerman P, Martin NK, Hickman M. Understanding the trends in HIV and hepatitis C prevalence amongst injecting drug users in different settings--implications for intervention impact. Drug and alcohol dependence. 2012;123(1-3):122-31. Epub 2011/12/06. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2011.10.032. PubMed PMID: 22138540.

22. Osburn WO, Fisher BE, Dowd KA, Urban G, Liu L, Ray SC, et al. Spontaneous control of primary hepatitis C virus infection and immunity against persistent reinfection.

Gastroenterology. 2010;138(1):315-24. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.09.017. PubMed PMID: 19782080; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2889495.

23. Grebely J, Page K, Sacks-Davis R, van der Loeff MS, Rice TM, Bruneau J, et al. The effects of female sex, viral genotype, and IL28B genotype on spontaneous clearance of acute hepatitis C virus infection. Hepatology (Baltimore, Md). 2014;59(1):109-20. doi: 10.1002/hep.26639. PubMed PMID: 23908124; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3972017.

24. Vickerman P, Hickman M, May M, Kretzschmar M, Wiessing L. Can hepatitis C virus prevalence be used as a measure of injection-related human immunodeficiency virus risk in populations of injecting drug users? An ecological analysis. Addiction. 2010;105(2):311-8. Epub 2009/11/20. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2009.02759.x. PubMed PMID: 19922515.

25. Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, Gamble T, Hosseinipour MC, Kumarasamy N, et al. Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. The New England journal of medicine. 2011;365(6):493-505. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1105243. PubMed PMID: 21767103; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3200068.

26. Donnell D, Baeten JM, Kiarie J, Thomas KK, Stevens W, Cohen CR, et al. Heterosexual HIV-1 transmission after initiation of antiretroviral therapy: a prospective cohort analysis. Lancet. 2010;375(9731):2092-8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60705-2. PubMed PMID: 20537376; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2922041.

27. Group HIVMCTaPEW. HIV treatment as prevention: models, data, and questions-towards evidence-based decision-making. PLoS Med. 2012;9(7):e1001259. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001259. PubMed PMID: 22802739; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3393655.

Additional file 2

Table S1. Models	s assumptions i	n terms of	parameter values
------------------	-----------------	------------	------------------

Parameter	Symbol	Value	Range of values [*]	Reference
HIV Biological parameters				
HIV Infectiousness ratio for	R	10	N/A	[1]
injecting/sexual transmission				
Probability of transmission per				
shared injection in each HIV stage:				
Acute	$p_{I_{i_1} \rightarrow S_i}^{HIV}$	$R \times 0.03604 = 0.360$	N/A	Calculation using R
	,,			and reference [2]
Latent	$p_{I_{i,2} \rightarrow S_i}^{HIV}$	$R \times 0.0008 = 0.008$	N/A	Calculation using R
				and reference [2]
Advanced	$p_{I_{i,3} \rightarrow S_i}^{HIV}$	$R \times 0.0042 = 0.042$	N/A	Calculation using R
				and reference [2]
Duration of each HIV stage:				
Acute	$1/\omega_1$	49 days	N/A	[3-8]
Latent	$1/\omega_2$	9 years	N/A	[3-8]
Advanced	$1/\omega_3$	2 years	N/A	[3-8]
HCV Biological parameters	-			
Infectiousness ratio of HCV to HIV	F	7.8	1-15	Model fitting
Probability of transmission per				
shared injection in each HCV stage:				
Acute	p_{v}^{HCV}	$2.7 \times p_{v}^{HCV} = 0.168$	N/A	[1]
Chronic	$p_{Y_{i,2} \rightarrow S_i}^{HCV}$	$F \times P_{l_{12}}^{HIV} = 0.062$	N/A	Calculation using F
Secondary acute	$p_{Y_{i,3} \rightarrow S_i}^{HCV}$	$0.5 \times p_{Y_{i,1} \to S_i}^{HCV} = 0.084$	N/A	[9]
Duration of each HCV stage:	,,			
Acute	$1/\delta_1$	16.5 weeks	N/A	[10]
Secondary acute	$1/\delta$	4.1 weeks	N/A	[9]
Proportion of virus clearance	1702			[-]
among.				
Primary HCV infections	ν	25%	N/A	[10]
HCV reinfections	/1	020/	N/A	[0]
	γ_2	0370	IN/A	[9]
Behavioral and demographic parame	ters	1/70	N1 / A	[44]
Death rate	μ	1 / 70 years = 0.014	N/A	
Duration of injection career	η	10 years	N/A	[1]
Degree of assortative mixing	е	0.3	0-1	[1]
Scale parameter in the gamma	b	0.5	0.4-0.6	Model fitting
distribution of the population across				
risk groups				
Shape parameter in the gamma	а	0.28	0.05-	Model fitting
distribution of the population across			0.45	
risk groups		2.0	1020	
Exponent parameter in the power	α	2.0	1.0-2.6	woder fitting
distribution				
Number of sharing acts per	n	50	N/A	Representative
partnership	$I_{I_{j,\beta}} \leftrightarrow S_{i}$	50		value
- Pointieronip				

* In the sensitivity analyses

References of Additional file 2

1. Vickerman P, Martin NK, Hickman M. Understanding the trends in HIV and hepatitis C prevalence amongst injecting drug users in different settings—implications for intervention impact. Drug and alcohol dependence. 2012;123(1):122-31.

2. Abu-Raddad LJ, Longini Jr IM. No HIV stage is dominant in driving the HIV epidemic in sub-Saharan Africa. Aids. 2008;22(9):1055-61.

3. Wawer MJ, Gray RH, Sewankambo NK, Serwadda D, Li X, Laeyendecker O, et al. Rates of HIV-1 transmission per coital act, by stage of HIV-1 infection, in Rakai, Uganda. J Infect Dis. 2005;191(9):1403-9. PubMed PMID: 15809897.

4. Pinkerton SD. Probability of HIV transmission during acute infection in Rakai, Uganda. AIDS Behav. 2008;12(5):677-84. Epub 2007/12/08. doi: 10.1007/s10461-007-9329-1. PubMed PMID: 18064559.

5. UNAIDS. UNAIDS Reference Group on Estimates, Modelling and Projections. 2007.

6. UNAIDS/WHO. AIDS epidemic update 2007. 2007.

UNAIDS/WHO. *AIDS epidemic update 2010: UNAIDS fact sheet* (available athttp://www.unaids.org/documents/20101123_FS_SSA_em_en.pdf, accessed 23 July 2012).
 2010.

8. UNAIDS/WHO. Epidemiological data, HIV estimates 1990-2009 (available at http://www.unaids.org/en/dataanalysis/epidemiology/). 2010.

9. Bain VG, Kaita KD, Yoshida EM, Swain MG, Heathcote EJ, Neumann AU, et al. A phase 2 study to evaluate the antiviral activity, safety, and pharmacokinetics of recombinant human albumin-interferon alfa fusion protein in genotype 1 chronic hepatitis C patients. Journal of hepatology. 2006;44(4):671-8.

10. Grebely J, Feld JJ, Applegate T, Matthews GV, Hellard M, Sherker A, et al. Plasma interferon-gamma-inducible protein-10 (IP-10) levels during acute hepatitis C virus infection. Hepatology. 2013;57(6):2124-34.

11. Hickman IJ, Powell EE, Prins JB, Clouston AD, Ash S, Purdie DM, et al. In overweight patients with chronic hepatitis C, circulating insulin is associated with hepatic fibrosis: implications for therapy. Journal of hepatology. 2003;39(6):1042-8.



Additional file 3



Additional file 4

8.3. APPENDIX C – RESEARCH PAPER 3 SUPPLEMENTARY ONLINE MATERIAL

Outline

Table S1.	HIV epidemic states among people who inject drugs in select Middle
	East and North Africa countries with sufficient data to explore the
	HCV-HIV association
Table S2.	Summary of the 54 paired HCV-HIV prevalence data among people
	who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa
Figure S1.	Forest plot for the meta-analysis of the risk ratio of HCV to HIV
	prevalence among people who inject drugs in Middle East and North
	Africa settings of low-level HIV epidemics
Figure S2.	Forest plot for the meta-analysis of the risk ratio of HCV to HIV
	prevalence among people who inject drugs in Middle East and North
	Africa settings of emerging HIV epidemics
Figure S1.	Forest plot for the meta-analysis of the risk ratio of HCV to HIV
	prevalence among people who inject drugs in Middle East and North
	Africa settings of established HIV epidemics

Table S1

Table S1. HIV epidemic states among people who inject drugs in select Middle East and North Africa countries with sufficient data to explore the HCV-HIV association^{*}

		•	
	Low level	Emerging	Established
Afghanistan	Before 2009	2009 and after	NA
Iran	Before 2001	2001-2006	After 2006
Morocco	Before 2008	2008 and after	NA
Pakistan	Before 2004	2004 and after	NA
Tunisia	All	N/A	N/A
Afghanistan Iran Morocco Pakistan Tunisia	Before 2009 Before 2001 Before 2008 Before 2004 All	2009 and after 2001-2006 2008 and after 2004 and after N/A	NA After 2006 NA NA N/A

*Based on findings by Mumtaz et al, 2014 [1] N/A: Not applicable

Reference of Table S1

1. Mumtaz GR, Weiss HA, Thomas SL, Riome S, Setayesh H, Riedner G, *et al.* HIV among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa: systematic review and data synthesis. *PLoS Med* 2014,**11**:e1001663.

Tabl	e S2
------	------

Table S2. Summary of the 54 paired HCV-HIV prevalence data among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa

Country	Year	City	Sampling	Site	HIV epidemic state	Sample size	HCV	HIV
Afghanistan [1]	2005-6	Kabul	Convenience sampling	Voluntary counseling and testing	Low level	463	36.7%	3.0%
Afghanistan [2]	2006-8	Herat	Convenience sampling	Voluntary counseling and testing	Low level	340	49.1%	3.2%
Afghanistan [3]	2007-9	Kabul	Targeted sampling	Mixed	Low level	483	36.0%	2.1%
Afghanistan [4]	2009	Herat	Respondent driven sampling	N/A	Emerging	159	57.9%	18.2%
Afghanistan [4]	2009	Kabul	Respondent driven sampling	N/A	Low level	286	37.1%	3.1%
Afghanistan [4]	2009	Mazar-i-Sharif	Respondent driven sampling	N/A	Low level	102	25.5%	1.0%
Afghanistan [5]	2012	Herat	Respondent driven sampling	N/A	Emerging	185	70.8%	15.7%
Afghanistan [5]	2012	Jalalabad	Respondent driven sampling	N/A	Low level	236	15.3%	2.5%
Afghanistan [5]	2012	Kabul	Respondent driven sampling	N/A	Low level	369	27.6%	2.4%
Afghanistan [5]	2012	Mazar-i-Sharif	Respondent driven sampling	N/A	Low level	254	23.6%	2.4%
Afghanistan [5]	2012	Charikar	Respondent driven sampling	N/A	Low level	117	28.2%	0.9%
Iran [6]	1998	Shiraz	Convenience sampling	Voluntary drug treatment center	Low level	464	80.2%	1.3%
Iran [7]	2001-2	Tehran	Convenience sampling	Voluntary drug treatment center	Emerging	90	36.4%	7.8%
Iran [7]	2001-2	Tehran	Simple random sampling	Prison	Emerging	371	80.6%	17.0%
Iran [8]	2001-2	Mashhad	Convenience sampling	Prison	Emerging	101	59.4%	6.9%
Iran [9]	2002	Hormozgan	Simple random sampling	Prison	Emerging	249	65.5%	15.3%
Iran [10]	2002	Tehran	Convenience sampling	Voluntary drug treatment center	Emerging	34	64.7%	8.8%
Iran [11]	2002	Hamadan	Simple random sampling	Prison	Emerging	149	31.5%	0.7%
Iran [12]	2002-3	Gorgan	Simple random sampling	Prison	Emerging	22	95.5%	18.2%
Iran [13]	2000-5	Zahedan	Convenience sampling	Clinical setting	Emerging	31	22.6%	25.8%
Iran [14]	2003	Rafsanjan	Convenience sampling	Clinical setting	Emerging	31	16.1%	9.7%
Iran [14]	2003	mix of cities	Convenience sampling	Prison	Emerging	401	76.8%	14.0%

Country	Year	City	Sampling	Site	HIV epidemic state	Sample size	HCV	HIV
lran [15]	2001-6	Kashan	Convenience sampling	Clinical setting	Emerging	177	11.9%	1.7%
Iran [16]	2001-6	Ahfaz	Convenience sampling	Clinical setting	Emerging	142	52.1%	12.7%
lran [17]	2002-6	Ahfaz	Convenience sampling	Clinical setting	Emerging	333	30.9%	18.0%
Iran [18]	2004	Shahr-e-Kord	Convenience sampling	Voluntary drug treatment center	Emerging	133	11.3%	0.8%
Iran [19]	2004	Tehran	Convenience sampling	Mixed	Emerging	202	52.0%	23.8%
Iran [20]	2006	Tehran	Convenience sampling	Mandatory drug treatment center	Established	454	80.0%	24.7%
Iran [21]	2006	mix of cities	Random cluster sampling	National	Established	936	43.4%	20.5%
Iran [22]	2006-7	Tehran	Convenience sampling	Mixed	Established	38	44.4%	10.5%
Iran [22]	2006-7	Tehran	Convenience sampling	Mixed	Established	861	34.1%	10.7%
Iran [23]	2007	Tehran	Convenience sampling	Clinical setting	Established	70	35.7%	30.0%
Iran [24]	2008	Tehran	Convenience sampling	Mandatory drug treatment center	Established	258	65.1%	19.4%
Iran [25]	2007-9	Sari	Convenience sampling	Clinical setting	Established	88	37.5%	18.2%
Iran [26]	2008	Foulad-Shahr	Respondent driven sampling	N/A	Emerging	117	60.7%	1.7%
Iran [27]	2008-	Isfahan	Convenience sampling	Harm reduction center	Low level	531	47.1%	1.1%
Iran [28]	2008-9	Isfahan	Convenience sampling	Prison	Low level	943	41.6%	6.6%
Iran [29]	2009-10	mix of cities	Convenience sampling		Established	158	42.4%	10.1%
Iran [30]	2010	mix of cities	Convenience sampling	Harm reduction center	Established	42	35.7%	7.1%
Iran [30]	2010	mix of cities	Convenience sampling	Harm reduction center	Established	226	38.1%	9.3%
Iran [31]	2010	Shiraz	Convenience sampling	Voluntary drug treatment center	Established	144	50.0%	41.7%
Iran [32]	2012-3	Shiraz	Convenience sampling	Voluntary drug treatment center	Established	233	40.3%	7.7%
Morocco [33]	2010-1	Tanger	Respondent driven sampling	N/A	Low level	261	42.1%	0.4%
Morocco [33]	2011-2	Nador	Respondent driven sampling	N/A	Emerging	277	73.0%	22.0%
Pakistan [34]	2002	mix of cities	Convenience sampling	Mixed	Low level	500	42.0%	3.4%
Pakistan [35]	2003	Quetta	Convenience sampling	Voluntary drug treatment center	Low level	300	44.7%	0.3%
Pakistan [36]	2003	Karachi	Convenience sampling	Harm reduction center	Low level	161	93.8%	0.6%

Country	Year	City	Sampling	Site	HIV epidemic state	Sample size	HCV	HIV
Pakistan [37]	2004	Karachi	Time location sampling	Community	Emerging	402	87.0%	23.1%
Pakistan [37]	2004	Lahore	Time location sampling	Community	Low level	397	91.8%	0.5%
Pakistan [38]	2004	Quetta	Convenience sampling	Community	Emerging	50	60.0%	24.0%
Pakistan [39]	2007	Karachi	Convenience sampling	Clinical setting	Emerging	42	45.2%	19.0%
Pakistan [40]	2007	Rawalpindi	Respondent driven sampling	N/A	Low level	302	17.2%	2.6%
Tunisia [41]	2009	mix of cities	Respondent driven sampling	N/A	Low level	715	29.1%	3.1%
Tunisia [42]	2011	Tunis	Respondent driven sampling	N/A	Low level	506	32.8%	4.7%

N/A: Not applicable

Note 1: In studies using respondent driven sampling, unadjusted sample estimates of HIV and HCV prevalence are displayed

Note 2: The sample size displayed refers to the total number of PWID tested for HIV. In some studies, the sample size used for HCV testing might vary slightly.

References of Table S2

- 1. Todd CS, Abed AM, Strathdee SA, Scott PT, Botros BA, Safi N, *et al.* HIV, hepatitis C, and hepatitis B infections and associated risk behavior in injection drug users, Kabul, Afghanistan. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2007,**13**:1327-1331.
- 2. Nasir A, Todd CS, Stanekzai MR, Bautista CT, Botros BA, Scott PT, *et al.* Prevalence of HIV, hepatitis B and hepatitis C and associated risk behaviours amongst injecting drug users in three Afghan cities. *Int J Drug Policy* 2011,**22**:145-152.
- 3. Todd CS, Nasir A, Stanekzai MR, Fiekert K, Rasuli MZ, Vlahov D, *et al.* Prevalence and correlates of HIV, syphilis, and hepatitis B and C infection and harm reduction program use among male injecting drug users in Kabul, Afghanistan: A cross-sectional assessment. *Harm Reduct J* 2011,**8**:22.
- 4. Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program. Integrated Behavioral & Biological Surveillance (IBBS) in Afghanistan: Year 1 Report. HIV Surveillance Project - Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health. Kabul, Afghanistan. 2010.
- 5. Afghanistan National AIDS Control Program. Integrated Behavioral & Biological Surveillance (IBBS) in selected cities of Afghanistan: Findings of 2012 IBBS survey and comparison to 2009 IBBS survey. Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, National AIDS Control Program, Ministry of Public Health. Kabul, Afghanistan. 2012.
- Mirahmadizadeh A, Kadivar M, Hemmati A, Javadi A. Infection with HIV and hepatitis C and B viruses among injecting drug users in Shiraz, Southern Iran. Abstract no. WePeC5981. In: AIDS 2004 - XV International AIDS Conference. Bangkok, Thailand; 2004.
- 7. Mir-Nasseri MM, Mohammadkhani A, Tavakkoli H, Ansari E, Poustchi H. Incarceration is a major risk factor for blood-borne infection among intravenous drug users. *Hepatitis Monthly* 2011,**11**:19-22.
- 8. Rahbar AR, Rooholamini S, Khoshnood K. Prevalence of HIV infection and other bloodborne infections in incarcerated and non-incarcerated injection drug users (IDUs) in Mashhad, Iran. *International Journal of Drug Policy* 2004,**15**:151-155.
- 9. Davoodian P, Dadvand H, Mahoori K, Amoozandeh A, Salavati A. Prevalence of selected sexually and blood-borne infections in Injecting drug abuser inmates of bandar abbas and roodan correction facilities, Iran, 2002. *Braz J Infect Dis* 2009,**13**:356-358.
- 10. Amini S, Mahmoodabadi SA, Lamian S, Joulaie M, Farahani MM. Prevalence of hepatitis G virus (HGV) in high-risk groups and blood donors in Tehran, Iran. *Iranian Journal of Public Health* 2005, **34**:41-46.
- 11. Alizadeh AH, Alavian SM, Jafari K, Yazdi N. Prevalence of hepatitis C virus infection and its related risk factors in drug abuser prisoners in Hamedan--Iran. *World J Gastroenterol* 2005,**11**:4085-4089.
- 12. Behnaz K, Abdollah A, Fateme F, Mohammadreza R. Prevalence and risk factors of HIV, hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infections in drug addicts among Gorgan prisoners. *Journal of Medical Sciences* 2007,**7**:252-254.
- 13. Sharifi-Mood B, Metanat M. Infection among hospitalized injection drug users. *Journal of Medical Sciences* 2006,**6**:686-689.
- 14. Pourahmad M, Javady A, Karimi I, Ataei B, Kassaeian N. Seroprevalence of and risk factors associated with hepatitis B, hepatitis C, and human immunodeficiency virus among prisoners in Iran. *Infectious Diseases in Clinical Practice* 2007,**15**:368-372.
- 15. Sharif M, Sherif A, Sayyah M. Frequency of HBV, HCV and HIV infections among hospitalized injecting drug users in Kashan. *Indian J Sex Transm Dis* 2009,**30**:28-30.

- 16. Alavi SM, Alavi L. Seroprevalence study of HCV among hospitalized intravenous drug users in Ahvaz, Iran (2001-2006). *J Infect Public Health* 2009,**2**:47-51.
- 17. Alavi SM, Behdad F. Seroprevalence study of hepatitis C and hepatitis B virus among hospitalized intravenous drug users in Ahvaz, Iran (2002-2006). *Hepatitis Monthly* 2010,**10**:101-104.
- 18. Imani R, Karimi A, Rouzbahani R, Rouzbahani A. Seroprevalence of HBV, HCV and HIV infection among intravenous drug users in Shahr-e-Kord, Islamic Republic of Iran. *East Mediterr Health J* 2008,**14**:1136-1141.
- 19. Zamani S, Ichikawa S, Nassirimanesh B, Vazirian M, Ichikawa K, Gouya MM, *et al.* Prevalence and correlates of hepatitis C virus infection among injecting drug users in Tehran. *Int J Drug Policy* 2007,**18**:359-363.
- 20. Kheirandish P, Seyedalinaghi SA, Hosseini M, Jahani MR, Shirzad H, Foroughi M, *et al.* Prevalence and correlates of HIV infection among male injection drug users in detention in Tehran, Iran. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2010,**53**:273-275.
- 21. Mirahmadizadeh AR, Majdzadeh R, Mohammad K, MH F. Prevalence of HIV and Hepatitis C Virus Infections and Related Behavioral Determinants among Injecting Drug Users of Drop-in Centers in Iran. *Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal* 2009,**11**:325-329.
- 22. Rahimi-Movaghar A, Razaghi EM, Sahimi-Izadian E, Amin-Esmaeili M. HIV, hepatitis C virus, and hepatitis B virus co-infections among injecting drug users in Tehran, Iran. *Int J Infect Dis* 2010,**14**:e28-33.
- 23. Aminzadeh Z. Seroepidemiology of HIV, syphilis, hepatitis B and C in intravenous drug users at Loghman Hakim hospital]. *Iran J Med Meicrobiol* 2007,**1**:53-56.
- 24. Eskandarieh S, Nikfarjam A, Tarjoman T, Nasehi A, Jafari F, Saberi-Zafarghandi MB. Descriptive Aspects of Injection Drug Users in Iran's National Harm Reduction Program by Methadone Maintenance Treatment. *Iran J Public Health* 2013,**42**:588-593.
- 25. Ghasemian R, Najafi N, Amirkhanloo K. The study of infections due to injection drug abuse in the injecting drug users hospitalized at Imam Khomeini Hospital in Sari and Razi Hospital in Ghaemshahr in 2007-2009. *Journal of Mazandaran University of Medical Sciences* 2011,**21**:8-15.
- 26. Zamani S, Radfar R, Nematollahi P, Fadaie R, Meshkati M, Mortazavi S, *et al.* Prevalence of HIV/HCV/HBV infections and drug-related risk behaviours amongst IDUs recruited through peer-driven sampling in Iran. *Int J Drug Policy* 2010,**21**:493-500.
- 27. Javadi A, Ataei B, Yaran M, Nokhodian Z, Kassaian N, Tayeri K, *et al.* Prevalence of HIV infection and related risk factors in Isfahan Drop in Centers. *Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences* 2013, **29**:346-350.
- 28. Dibaj R, Ataei B, Yaran M, Nokhodian Z, Tayeri K, Ali Z. Prevalence of HIV infection in inmates with history of injection drug use and evaluation of risk factors, in Isfahan, Iran. *Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences* 2013,**29**:399-402.
- 29. Ilami O, Sarkari B, Khosravani A, Akbartabar Tori M, Hosseini Z. HIV Seroprevalence among High-Risk Groups in Kohgiloyeh and Boyerahmad Province, Southwest of Iran, a Behavioral Surveillance Survey. *AIDS Behav* 2012,**16**:86-90.
- 30. Alipour A, Haghdoost AA, Sajadi L, F Z. HIV infection among Injecting drug users and their partners, Iran 2010. In press. 2012.
- 31. Alavian SM, Mirahmadizadeh A, Javanbakht M, Keshtkaran A, Heidari A, Mashayekhi A, *et al.* Effectiveness of methadone maintenance treatment in prevention of hepatitis C virus transmission among injecting drug users. *Hepatitis Monthly* 2013,**13**:9.
- 32. Honarvar B, Odoomi N, Moghadami M, Afsar Kazerooni P, Hassanabadi A, Zare Dolatabadi P, *et al.* Blood-borne hepatitis in opiate users in iran: a poor outlook and urgent need to change nationwide screening policy. *PLoS One* 2013,**8**:e82230.

- 33. Morocco Ministry of Health, National Aids Control Program, National Institute of Hygiene, UNAIDS, Global Fund to Fight AIDS Tuberculosis and Malaria. HIV Integrated Behavioral and Biological Surveillance Surveys-Morocco 2011-2012: Injecting Drug Users in Tanger and Nador, Morocco. Rabat, Morocco. 2012.
- Hadi D.H.M.H, Shujaat P.D.M.G.S.H, Waheed P.D.W.u.Z, Masood P.D.M.G.M.A.
 Incidence of hepatitis C virus and HIV among injecting drug users in Northern Pakistan:
 a prospective cohort study. Abstract no. MoOa0104. In: *IAS 2005 The 3rd IAS Conference on HIV Pathogenesis and Treatment*. . Rio de Janeiro, Brazil; 2005.
- 35. Abbasi S, Faqir F, Khan S, Zaidi SK, Ahmed SQ, Abdulsattar, *et al.* A serological study of hepatitis C and human immunodeficiency virus in a cohort of intravenous drug users in Quetta, Balochistan. *Journal of Postgraduate Medical Institute* 2009,**23**:3-6.
- 36. Altaf A, Shah SA, Zaidi NA, Memon A, Nadeem ur R, Wray N. High risk behaviors of injection drug users registered with harm reduction programme in Karachi, Pakistan. *Harm Reduct J* 2007,**4**:7.
- 37. Bokhari A, Nizamani NM, Jackson DJ, Rehan NE, Rahman M, Muzaffar R, *et al.* HIV risk in Karachi and Lahore, Pakistan: an emerging epidemic in injecting and commercial sex networks. *Int J STD AIDS* 2007,**18**:486-492.
- 38. Achakzai M, Kassi M, Kasi PM. Seroprevalences and co-infections of HIV, hepatitis C virus and hepatitis B virus in injecting drug users in Quetta, Pakistan. *Trop Doct* 2007,**37**:43-45.
- 39. Khanani MR, Ansari AS, Khan S, Somani M, Kazmi SU, Ali SH. Concentrated epidemics of HIV, HCV, and HBV among Afghan refugees. *Journal of Infection* 2010,**61**:434-437.
- 40. Platt L, Vickerman P, Collumbien M, Hasan S, Lalji N, Mayhew S, *et al.* Prevalence of HIV, HCV and sexually transmitted infections among injecting drug users in Rawalpindi and Abbottabad, Pakistan: evidence for an emerging injection-related HIV epidemic. *Sex Transm Infect* 2009,**85 Suppl 2**:ii17-22.
- 41. Tunisia Ministry of Health. Synthèse des enquêtes de séroprévalence et sérocomportementales auprès de trois populations à vulnérables au VIH : Les usagers de drogues injectables, les hommes ayant des rapports sexuels avec des hommes et les travailleuses du sexe clandestines en Tunisie [French]. Synthesis of biobehavioral surveillance among the three populations vulnerable to HIV in Tunisia: Injecting drug users, men who have sex with men, and female sex workers. Tunis, Tunisia. 2010.
- 42. Tunisia Ministry of Health, Tunisian Association for Information and Orientation on HIV. Enquête sérocomportementale du VIH et des hépatites virales C auprès des usagers de drogues injectables en Tunisie [French]. Biobehavioral surveillance of HIV and Hepatitis C among injecting drug users in Tunisia. Tunis, Tunisia. 2013.

Figure S1

Study	Country	Sample size		RR (95% CI)	Weight %
Nasir,2011	Afghanistan	340	+	15.18 (8.40, 27.42)	6.22
Todd,2007	Afghanistan	463	-	12.14 (7.15, 20.62)	6.45
MOH,2012	Afghanistan	236		6.00 (2.58, 13.97)	5.25
MOH,2012	Afghanistan	369		11.33 (5.82, 22.06)	5.94
MOH,2012	Afghanistan	254		10.00 (4.40, 22.73)	5.34
MOH,2012	Afghanistan	117		33.00 (4.59, 237.31)	2.22
Todd,2011	Afghanistan	483	• •	17.40 (9.32, 32.50)	6.10
NAP,2010	Afghanistan	286	- • ·	11.78 (6.08, 22.80)	5.96
NAP,2010	Afghanistan	102		26.00 (3.60, 188.00)	2.21
Javadi,2013	Iran	531		41.67 (18.71, 92.80)	5.42
Dibaj,2013	Iran	943	+	6.32 (4.91, 8.14)	7.28
Mirahmadizadeh,2004	Iran	464		62.00 (27.96, 137.47)	5.44
MOH,2012	Morocco	261		110.00 (15.47, 781.99)	2.24
Hadi,2005	Pakistan	500	-	12.35 (7.66, 19.93)	6.63
Platt,2009	Pakistan	302		6.50 (3.14, 13.45)	5.70
Bokhari,2007	Pakistan	397		182.31 (45.74, 726.63)	3.47
Abbasi,2009	Pakistan	300		134.00 (18.86, 952.02)	2.24
Altaf,2007	Pakistan	161		→ 151.00 (21.39, 1065.88)	2.25
MOH,2010	Tunisia	715		9.46 (6.17, 14.50)	6.80
MOH,2012	Tunisia	506		6.92 (4.59, 10.42)	6.86
Overall (I-squared = 80.2%, p = 0.000)			♦	16.28 (11.47, 23.09)	100.00
			1	1 1066	

Low level HIV epidemic
Study	Country	Sample size	RR (95% CI)	Weight (%
MOH,2012	Afghanistan	185	4.52 (3.19, 6.39)	6.31
NAP,2010	Afghanistan	159	→ 3.17 (2.22, 4.52)	6.26
Khodadadizadeh,2003	Iran	31	1.67 (0.44, 6.38)	1.87
Zamani,2010	Iran	117	35.50 (8.92, 141.35)	1.79
Alavi,2010	Iran	333 -	► 1.72 (1.30, 2.27)	6.71
Davoodian,2009	Iran	249	→ 4.29 (3.16, 5.83)	6.56
Sharif,2009	Iran	177	7.00 (2.13, 23.05)	2.22
Alavi,2009	Iran	142	4.11 (2.60, 6.51)	5.59
lmani,2008	Iran	133	15.00 (2.01, 111.94)	0.96
Mir Nasseri,2011	Iran	90	4.68 (2.22, 9.86)	3.90
Mir Nasseri,2011	Iran	371	✤ 4.74 (3.77, 5.97)	6.98
Behnaz,2007	Iran	22	5.25 (2.15, 12.80)	3.23
Zamani,2007	Iran	202	➡ 2.19 (1.65, 2.90)	6.71
Pourahmad,2007	Iran	401	➡ 5.50 (4.29, 7.05)	6.88
Sharifi-Mood,2006	Iran	31	- 0.88 (0.36, 2.12)	3.26
Amini,2005	Iran	34	7.33 (2.42, 22.22)	2.46
Alizadeh,2005	Iran	149	47.00 (6.57, 336.23)	1.00
Rahbar,2004	Iran	101	8.57 (4.12, 17.83)	3.97
MOH,2012	Morocco	277	✤ 3.31 (2.63, 4.18)	6.96
Khanani,2010	Pakistan	42 -	2.38 (1.17, 4.81)	4.11
Bokhari,2007	Pakistan	402	✤ 3.76 (3.13, 4.51)	7.20
Achakzai,2007	Pakistan	50 -	2.50 (1.45, 4.30)	5.06
Overall (I-squared = 79.5	6%, p = 0.000)		3.83 (3.10, 4.73)	100.00

Figure S2

Study	Country	Sample size		RR (95% CI)	Weight %
Alipour,2012	Iran	42		5.00 (1.56, 16.01)	3.38
Alipour,2012	Iran	226		4.10 (2.64, 6.36)	8.44
llami,2010	Iran	158	-	4.19 (2.54, 6.90)	7.88
Alavian,2013	Iran	144	-	1.20 (0.93, 1.55)	10.12
Eskandarieh,2013	Iran	258	-	3.36 (2.58, 4.38)	10.05
Honarvar,2013	Iran	233		5.22 (3.26, 8.36)	8.15
Ghasemian,2011	Iran	88		2.06 (1.23, 3.47)	7.69
Rahimi Movaghar,2010	Iran	38		4.22 (1.56, 11.44)	4.15
Rahimi Movaghar,2010	Iran	861		3.19 (2.58, 3.96)	10.43
Kheirandish,2010	Iran	454	-	3.24 (2.74, 3.83)	10.74
Mirahmadizadeh,2009	Iran	936	-	2.11 (1.83, 2.45)	10.86
Aminzadeh,2007	Iran	70		1.19 (0.74, 1.92)	8.09
Overall (I-squared = 87.2%, p =	0.000)		\diamond	2.77 (2.15, 3.58)	100.00

Figure S3

8.4. APPENDIX D – RESEARCH PAPER 4 SUPPLEMENTARY ONLINE MATERIAL

Outline

Additional file 1. Mathematical models description and other analyses

Additional file 1 Description of mathematical model and other analyses

A. Original Kwon et al model

Below is the derivation of the original model developed by Kwon et al [1], which we used and further adapted for estimating HIV incidence among people who inject drugs (PWID) in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA). The model is a static mathematical model of HIV transmission among PWID who share needles/syringes. The model assumes that sharing of needles/syringes occurs in sharing groups of specific average size, where PWID share needles/syringes in a random order, and where each PWID injects once per sharing event.

Table 1. Parameters used in the original Kwon et al model [1]

Parameter	Description
N	Total number of PWID
т	Average number of PWID in a sharing group
п	Average number of injections per PWID per year
S	Proportion of PWID who share injections
$oldsymbol{q}_0$	Proportion of the injections that are shared
r	Number of PWID infected in the sharing group
$oldsymbol{ ho}_0$	HIV prevalence among PWID
β	Probability of transmission from a contaminated needle/syringe
E _c	Effectiveness of needle/syringe cleaning
Pc	Proportion of shared injections that are cleaned
δ_{s}	Average number of times a shared needle/syringe is used before disposal

The following series of equations describe the Kwon et al model:

• Total number of shared injections per year:

S = Nnsq

• Average number of sharing events per year:

$$SE = \frac{Nnsq}{m}$$

• Total number of transmissions per year for all PWID (incidence):

$$I = SE * T$$

where T is the average number of transmissions per sharing event

Deriving *T*, the average number of transmissions per sharing event:

• Probability of having *r* infected people in a sharing group of size *m* using binomial theory:

$$\mathbf{P}_{r/m} = \binom{m}{r} p_0^{r} (1-p_0)^{m-r} = \frac{m!}{r! (m-r)!} p_0^{r} (1-p_0)^{m-r}$$

• Average number of uninfected who will inject *before* the first infected in a sharing event:

$$U_b = \frac{m-r}{r+1}$$

• Average number of uninfected who will inject *after* an infected person in a sharing event:

$$U_a = m - r - U_b = \frac{mr - r^2}{r+1}$$

• Average number of needles/syringes used per sharing event:

$$Sy = \frac{m}{\delta_s}$$

• Average number of uninfected who will use the *same needle/syringe after* an infected person in a sharing event:

$$U_s = \frac{U_a}{Sy} = \frac{mr - r^2}{r + 1} \frac{\delta_s}{m}$$

• Probability of transmission per shared injection:

$$\beta_c = \beta(1 - p_c) + \beta p_c(1 - \varepsilon_c) = \beta(1 - p_c \varepsilon_c)$$

• Number of transmissions in the sharing group (per sharing event):

$$T = \sum_{r=1}^{m-1} U_{s} \beta_{c} P_{r/m} = \sum_{r=1}^{m-1} \frac{mr - r^{2}}{r+1} \frac{\delta_{s}}{m} * \beta (1 - \rho_{c} \varepsilon_{c}) * {m \choose r} \rho_{0}^{r} (1 - \rho_{0})^{m-r}$$
$$T = \frac{\delta_{s} \beta (1 - \rho_{c} \varepsilon_{c})}{m} \sum_{r=1}^{m-1} \frac{mr - r^{2}}{r+1} {m \choose r} \rho_{0}^{r} (1 - \rho_{0})^{m-r}$$

• Total number of transmissions per year for all PWID (incidence):

$$I = SE * T$$

$$I = \frac{Nnsq\delta_{s}\beta(1-p_{c}\varepsilon_{c})}{m^{2}}\sum_{r=1}^{m-1}\frac{mr-r^{2}}{r+1}{m \choose r}p_{0}^{r}(1-p_{0})^{m-r}$$

• Incidence rate:

$$\lambda = \frac{l}{N(1-p_0)}$$

B. Modifications to the original Kwon et al model

We further adapted the above model by Kwon et al [1] using the following extensions:

1) Antiretroviral therapy (ART)

We adjusted for the use of antiretroviral therapy (ART) on HIV incidence by incorporating ART effect into the transmission probability per shared injection/coital act:

$\beta' = \beta(1 - \Omega ART)$

Where:

 β ' = ART-adjusted transmission probability per unprotected exposure

- β = Original/unadjusted (for ART) transmission probability per unprotected exposure
- Ω = Reduction in HIV transmission per exposure due to ART
- ART = Proportion of the population on ART (ART coverage)

2) Heterogeneity in risk behavior

The original Kwon et al model [1] uses a fixed level of injecting risk behavior for all PWID. To account for heterogeneity in risk behavior, we accommodated different sizes of the sharing group m. Specifically, we assumed that m follows a gamma distribution with a mean equal to $m_{average}$. The gamma distribution is right skewed, and therefore assumes that the majority of the PWID population shares injections in smaller groups whereas a small fraction shares in larger groups (such as at shooting galleries). Therefore m is gamma distributed with shape (k) and scale (θ) parameters:

$$P(m) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(m)\theta^{k}} m^{k-1} e^{-\frac{m}{\theta}}$$

In absence of clear data to parameterize the variability in injecting risk behavior in a given PWID population, the structure of the model was informed by data on the variability in sexual risk behavior and networking, where we assumed that the variance of the gamma distribution is equal to its mean [2]. Accordingly, the scale parameter $\theta = 1$ and the shape parameter $k = m_{average}$.

 $m_{average}$ was estimated using a deterministic compartmental model [3] to fit the trend in HIV prevalence in two countries with sufficient available trend data (Pakistan and Iran), and then using the estimated incidence rate and the present adapted Kwon et al model to predict using fitting the value of the sharing group size in our model. The fitting was implemented by minimizing the residual sum of squares between all data points and model predictions [4]. Based on the fitting, a value of $m_{average} = 2$ was found for Pakistan and of $m_{average} = 3$ for Iran.

In the remaining countries, we did not have sufficient data to inform a country-specific estimation of $m_{average}$. Based on the range of 2-3 obtained for Iran and Pakistan, and as informed by epidemiological data from Iran [5, 6], we used a value of $m_{average} = 3$ in the remaining countries.

3) Needle/Syringe reuse

In the original Kwon et al model [1], the number of times a needle/syringe is reused before disposal (δ_s) is fixed and is independent of the size of the sharing group m. Since the model also assumes a fixed total number of injections in the population, fixing δ_s will constrain the transmission system after a certain value of m leading to smaller HIV incidence with larger sharing groups. This was a fair assumption in the study setting of Australia where there are effective needle and syringe exchange programs (NSPs) leading to less needle/syringe reuse, where the size of the sharing group is small (m=2), and where HIV incidence among PWID is low [1].

In the MENA context of emerging HIV epidemics among PWID [7], high levels of needle/syringe reuse, and weak interventions including NSPs among PWIDs, we have modified the above assumption by relating the number of times a needle/syringe is reused before disposal (δ_s) to the size of the sharing group (m). We assumed that if m < 10, then $\delta_s = 10$; that is all the PWID in the sharing group will use the same needle/syringe. If $m \ge 10$, then $\delta_s = m$; that is a needle/syringe is reused for a maximum of ten times in any sharing event.

259

C. Additional analyses

1) Estimating HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium

To estimate HIV prevalence at endemic equilibrium (P_e) using the estimated HIV incidence rate, the following generic model was used:



The above deterministic compartmental mathematical model describes the parenteral transmission of HIV through sharing unsterile needles/syringes among PWID. Individuals become PWID, and hence enter into the PWID population, at a rate $b \dots \mu$. is the natural mortality rate, γ is the leaving injecting career rate, and α is the HIV/AIDS disease mortality rate. λ is the incidence rate (or force of infection) experienced by the susceptible population S. The model is expressed with the below system of coupled differential equations:

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = b - \mu S - \gamma S - \lambda S$$
$$\frac{dI}{dt} = \lambda S - \mu I - \gamma I - \alpha I$$

At endemic equilibrium:

 $rac{dI}{dt}$ = 0 , and hence $P_e = rac{\lambda}{\mu + \gamma + lpha + \lambda}$

2) Past exposures in PWID

To estimate the total number of HIV infections that occurred in PWID since the start of the HIV epidemic among PWID, we retraced the course of the HIV epidemic among PWID at country-level starting from epidemic emergence. The year of epidemic emergence was informed by epidemiological data from each country [7]. We ran, in each country, the model x number of times, where x is the number of years since HIV epidemic emergence. We assumed that at year 0, HIV prevalence is 1% ($p_{y_0} = 0.01$).

The total number of infected PWID in year 1 includes both prevalent infections from the previous year and incident infections in this year, and is given by:

 $Inf_{y_{1}} = Incident_{y_{1}} + prevalent_{y_{0}}$ $Inf_{y_{1}} = I_{y_{1}} + Np_{y_{0}}$

Assuming that the incident infections occur in the middle of the year, the number of HIV infected PWID who will leave the PWID population in year 1 due to leaving injection (γ), natural mortality (μ), or disease mortality (α) is given by:

$$n_{out}^{y_1} = (\frac{I_{y_1}}{2} + Np_{y_0}) \times (\mu + \gamma + \alpha)$$

Therefore, HIV prevalence at the end of year 1 will be given by:

$$p_{y_1} = \frac{Inf_{y_1} - n_{out}^{y_1}}{N}$$
 (Note: we assume a fixed total PWID population size ' N ')

The model is then run for year 2 starting with HIV prevalence p_{y_1} . The same calculations and processes are repeated x times.

It bears notice that the number of HIV infected PWID who will leave the PWID population in year 1 due only to leaving injection is given by:

$$n_{past}^{y_1} = (\frac{I_{y_1}}{2} + Np_{y_0}) \times \gamma$$

Accordingly, the number of HIV infected PWID who left the PWID population due to leaving injection in each subsequent year is calculated the same way.

Iterating this process until the last (current) year will provide an estimate for HIV prevalence in the last year. However, in the runs for countries, we were not often able to reach observed HIV prevalence, with the last year estimated prevalence being lower than observed prevalence. We therefore increased the level of risk behavior at year 0, to account for higher risk behavior in earlier years of the epidemic, and used linear interpolation for the level of injecting risk behavior from year 0 to the last year, in order to reach observed levels of risk behavior and HIV prevalence at the last (current) year.

In Libya, the measured HIV prevalence (87% [8]) was not consistent with reported levels of current risk behavior. With such levels of risk behavior, the maximum current HIV prevalence the model could reach was 52%; and hence, estimations of past exposures were not possible in Libya.

3) HIV incidence in PWID sexual partners

In a sero-discordant partnership where the PWID is HIV-infected and the sexual partner (opposite sex; only heterosexual transmission was considered) is seronegative, the probability of HIV transmission after one year is given by:

$$z = 1 - (1 - \beta_s)^{y(1-c)}$$

where:

 β_s = HIV transmission probability per unprotected coital act

y = Number of coital acts per year

c = Proportion of the coital acts that are protected (condom use at last sex)

The number of sero-discordant partnerships is given by:

$$n_{disc} = Nvp_0(1-p_p)$$

where:

N = Total number of PWID

v = Proportion of PWID who had a sexual partner in the last year

 p_0 = HIV prevalence among PWID

 p_p = HIV prevalence among sexual partners of PWID (which was assumed to be equal to one third of HIV prevalence among PWID)

HIV incidence among PWID sexual partners is therefore given by:

$$I_{fsp} = n_{disc} z$$

$$I_{fsp} = Nvp_0(1 - p_p)(1 - (1 - \beta_s)^{y(1 - c)})$$

4) Past exposures in PWID sexual partners

HIV incidence in PWID heterosexual sex partners was calculated for each year since start of the HIV PWID epidemic in each MENA country using the year-specific HIV prevalence measures in PWID (P_{y_r}) as estimated in section C2 above (Past exposures in PWID).

References of Additional file 1

1. Kwon JA, Iversen J, Maher L, Law MG, Wilson DP. The impact of needle and syringe programs on HIV and HCV transmissions in injecting drug users in Australia: a model-based analysis. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2009;51(4):462-9. doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e3181a2539a. PubMed PMID: 19387355.

2. Omori R, Chemaitelly H, Abu-Raddad LJ. Dynamics of non-cohabiting sex partnering in sub-Saharan Africa: a modelling study with implications for HIV transmission. Sex Transm Infect. 2015. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2014-051925. PubMed PMID: 25746040.

3. Akbarzadeh V, Mumtaz GR, Awad SF, Awad SF, Abu-Raddad LJ. HCV prevalence can predict HIV epidemic potential among people who inject drugs: Mathematical modeling analysis, Under review. 2016.

4. Lagarias JC, J. A. Reeds, M. H. Wright, and P. E. Wright. Convergence Properties of the Nelder-MeadSimplex Method in Low Dimensions. SIAM Journal of Optimization. 1998;9(1):112-47.

5. Zamani S, Vazirian M, Nassirimanesh B, Razzaghi EM, Ono-Kihara M, Mortazavi Ravari S, et al. Needle and syringe sharing practices among injecting drug users in Tehran: a comparison of two neighborhoods, one with and one without a needle and syringe program. AIDS Behav. 2010;14(4):885-90. Epub 2008/05/17. doi: 10.1007/s10461-008-9404-2. PubMed PMID: 18483849.

6. Zamani S, Radfar R, Nematollahi P, Fadaie R, Meshkati M, Mortazavi S, et al. Prevalence of HIV/HCV/HBV infections and drug-related risk behaviours amongst IDUs recruited through peer-driven sampling in Iran. Int J Drug Policy. 2010;21(6):493-500. Epub 2010/05/21. doi: S0955-3959(10)00074-5 [pii]

10.1016/j.drugpo.2010.04.006. PubMed PMID: 20483578.

7. Mumtaz GR, Weiss HA, Thomas SL, Riome S, Setayesh H, Riedner G, et al. HIV among people who inject drugs in the Middle East and North Africa: Systematic review and data synthesis. PLoS Med. 2014;11(6):e1001663. Epub 2014/06/18. doi:

10.1371/journal.pmed.1001663. PubMed PMID: 24937136; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4061009.

8. Mirzoyan L, Berendes S, Jeffery C, Thomson J, Ben Othman H, Danon L, et al. New evidence on the HIV epidemic in Libya: why countries must implement prevention programs among people who inject drugs. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013;62(5):577-83. Epub 2013/01/23. doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e318284714a. PubMed PMID: 23337363.